Retinal degeneration in AryIsulfatase G-deficient mice and neural stem cell-based neuroprotective approaches in mouse models of retinal degeneration.

Dissertation with the aim of achieving the doctoral degree Doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.) at the Faculty of Mathematics, Informatics and Natural Sciences Department of Biology University of Hamburg

> submitted by Katharina Kruszewski

> > 2015 in Hamburg

Day of oral defense: 27.11.2015

The following reviewers recommend the admission of the dissertation:

Prof. Dr. Udo Bartsch

Prof. Dr. Thorsten Burmester

The present work was performed in the Experimental Ophthalmology of the Department of Ophthalmology at the University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf in the time of August 2011 until July 2015 under supervision of:

Adviser: Prof. Dr. Udo Bartsch Co-adviser: Prof. Dr. Thorsten Burmester

- 1. Reviewer: Prof. Dr. Udo Bartsch
- 2. Reviewer: Prof. Dr. Thorsten Burmester

Quotation:

Anyone who thinks science is trying to make human life easier or more pleasant is utterly mistaken (*New York Times*, by Albert Einstein, 1931)

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deep gratitude to Prof. Dr. Udo Bartsch, for giving me the chance to work in his laboratory, and for having the patients to explain the complexity of the eye and other neurological structures. I learned a lot about manuscript writing and general scientific work.

I am very grateful for the excellent technical support of Sabine Helbing, Elke Becker, Stephen Peters and Stefanie Schlichting. Most of all, I would like to give thanks to Sabine, who taught me to get a feel for all the cell lines and for being my emotional support through the whole thesis. Furthermore, I appreciate the talks with my PhD comrades Dr. Kai Flachsbarth and Wanda Jankowiak.

I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Thorsten Burmester for examining the dissertation and Prof. Dr. Ralf Thiel, Dr. Annika Herwig and Dr. Andrej Fabrizius who all consented to be member of the examination commission for the thesis. I am grateful for the help of Dr. Krisoffer Riecken, for his support in working with the lentiviruses, the FACS sorting core unit for helping to establish clonal cell lines, as well as Ali Derin and Susanne Conrad for their exceptional animal care. Finally, I am very grateful to have a family which supports me in every decision, my friends who always provided distraction from work, and my life partner Sven for always having a sympathetic ear, all the good times, travels and experiences we had and will have together.

Table of contents

| Abstract |
|---|
| Zusammenfassung |
| 1. Introduction and Summary 12 |
| 1.1. Retinal disorders and animal models for preclinical studies |
| 1.2. Pathomechanisms and apoptotic pathways in retinal degeneration 17 |
| 1.2.1. Apoptotic pathways 18 |
| 1.2.2. Neurotrophic factor deprivation19 |
| 1.3. Therapeutic approaches |
| 1.3.1. Electronic retinal implants 20 |
| 1.3.2. Cell replacement 20 |
| 1.3.3. Enzyme replacement therapy 21 |
| 1.3.4. Gene-based therapy 22 |
| 1.3.5. Neuroprotection |
| 2. General discussion |
| 2.1. Identification of new gene mutation to cause retinal dysfunction |
| 2.2. Therapeutic approaches for an ocular treatment independent of the etiology |
| 2.2.1. Genetically modified neural stem cells for a sustained intraocular administration of |
| neurotrophic factors |
| 2.2.2. Lentiviral modification of NS cells to achieve a stable expression of neurotrophic |
| factors |
| 2.2.3. Sustained neural stem cell-based intraocular administration of CNTF attenuates |
| photoreceptor cell loss in different mouse models |
| 3. Project 1: |
| Degeneration of photoreceptor cells in AryIsulfatase G-deficient mice. |
| 4. Project 2: |
| Intravitreal transplantations of VEGF-B expressing neural stem cells delay the |
| degeneration of axotomized retinal ganglion cells in adult mice. |
| 5. References |
| I. Abbreviations |
| II. Publications, grants and participations |

Abstract

Visual impairment as a result of retinal disorders may result from the dysfunction of loss of different retinal cell types such as photoreceptors, the photosensitive cells, or retinal ganglion cells (RGCs), which relay the visual signals through their axons to the brain. Among inherited degenerative retinal disorders with an involvement of photoreceptor cells, retinitis pigmentosa (RP) is the most frequent retinopathy. The retinal cells affected in glaucomatous neuropathies are the RGCs and their axons in the optic nerve. An elevated intraocular pressure (IOP) is considered as the major risk factor to develop glaucoma, and lowering the IOP is the only clinically proven treatment of glaucoma. Despite the successful reduction of the elevated IOP, some patients present with glaucoma never develop an elevated IOP. Another group of diseases with a frequent involvement of the retina are the lysosomal storage disorders (LSDs). LSDs are characterized by mutations in genes encoding lysosomal transporters or enzymes, subsequent intracellular accumulation of metabolites and eventually cell death. For all these retinal dystrophies, there are currently no effective therapies available.

The present thesis has analyzed the retinal phenotype of a novel LSD mouse model of mucopolysaccharidosis (MPS) type IIIE. MPSs are caused by systemic and neural accumulation of glycosaminoglycans (GAGs). The seven subtypes of MPS are classified according to the specific enzyme involved and the clinical manifestation. In MPSIII, also termed Sanfilippo syndrome, retinopathies are moderate to severe with retinal dysfunction caused by the deposition of GAGs within the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) and the photoreceptor cell layer. The new mouse model of MPSIIIE carries a mutation in the Arylsulfatase G (*Arsg*) gene. Analyses of the retina of *Arsg* knockout mice revealed a progressive degeneration of photoreceptors starting between 1 and 6 months of age. At the age of 24 months more than 50% of photoreceptor cells were lost. Photoreceptor loss was accompanied by reactive astrogliosis and microgliosis and elevated expression levels of some lysosomal proteins. Expression of ARSG protein in wild-type mice was restricted to the RPE. However, RPE cells in the knockout mouse appeared normal at the ultrastructural level, and evidence for the presence of storage vacuoles was not found.

Neurotrophic factor deprivation is among the various stress signals that may lead to the apoptotic cell death of retinal cells. Neurotrophic factors are diffusible molecules that confer survival effects on degenerating central nervous system neurons. The administration of exogenous neurotrophic factors aims to delay retinal degeneration and offers a widely applicable therapy across a range of conditions. Therefore, a cell-based

intraocular delivery system for a sustained administration of neurotrophic factors was established in two mouse models of RP and a CLN6 mouse model of juvenile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (for photoreceptor degeneration) and an optic nerve crush (ONC) mouse model (for RGC degeneration). Murine neural stem (NS) cells were modified with a polycistronic lentiviral vector to express a secretable variant of ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), a fluorescent reporter protein and a resistance gene. Because expression levels of the reporter protein and the neurotrophic factor from the polycistronic lentiviral vector are proportional to each other, clonally derived NS cell lines with high expression levels of the neurotrophic factor could be established by selection of single cells with high expression levels of the reporter gene using fluorescence activated cell sorting and subsequent clonal expansion. These modified clonal NS cell lines were transplanted into the vitreal cavity of the different mouse models prior to the onset of photoreceptor degeneration or one day after the optic nerve crush. The reporter protein enabled the analysis of the differentiation behaviour and the survival of the grafted cells. In all mouse models analyzed, CNTF-secreting NS cells significantly protected photoreceptors or ganglion cells. Furthermore, the CNTF-secreting NS cells stimulated long distance regeneration of the axotomized RGCs in the ONC mouse model. In addition to CNTF, the protective effects of vascular endothelial growth factor factor-B (VEGF-B) secreting NS cells were analyzed in the ONC mouse model. The VEGF-B-secreting NS cells significantly protected the lesioned RGCs for up to 2 months post-lesion but did not induce regeneration of RGC axons in the optic nerve. Despite the fact that members of the VEGF family promote vascularization, retinas from eyes with grafted VEGF-B expressing NS cells showed no pathological alterations of their vasculature.

In summary, this thesis has analyzed the retinal phenotype of a novel MPS mouse model, and thus provides further insights into the pathomechanisms of retinal disorders associated with LSDs. In addition, the present thesis has demonstrated that a sustained NS cell-based intraocular administration of CNTF attenuates photoreceptor loss in two mouse models of RP and a mouse model of CLN6 disease. The present work has also demonstrated that a NS cell-based intraocular administration of CNTF or VEGF-B attenuates the loss of axotomized RGCs in a mouse model of glaucoma. These combined data demonstrate that a sustained NS cell-based administration of neurotrophic factors might serve as a valuable tool for preclinical studies aimed at evaluating the protective effects of known or novel neurotrophic factors or factor combinations on retinal cells *in vivo*.

Zusammenfassung

Retinale Dystrophien können zu Beeinträchtigungen des Sehvermögens bis hin zur Erblindung führen. Dabei sind je nach Art der retinalen Dystrophie unterschiedliche Zellen betroffen, wie z.B. die Licht-sensitiven Photorezeptoren oder die retinalen Ganglienzellen (RGCs), die die visuellen Signale von der Retina über ihre Axone im optischen Nerven hin zum Gehirn leiten. Innerhalb der Retinopathien ist Retinitis pigmentosa (RP) die häufigste erblich bedingte retinale Erkrankung mit einer Degeneration der Photorezeptoren. Beim Glaukom, einer weiteren retinalen Erkrankung, degenerieren primär die RGCs und deren Axone. Ein erhöhter Augeninnendruck (IOP) gilt als Haupt-Risikofaktor für die Entwicklung eines Glaukoms. Daher ist die Reduktion des IOPs momentan die einzige Erfolg versprechende Therapie für Betroffene. Trotz einer erfolgreichen Reduktion des IOPs schreitet bei einigen Glaukompatienten die Krankheit unverändert voran. Hinzu kommt, dass eine beträchtliche Anzahl von Patienten ein sogenanntes Normal-Druck-Glaukom entwickelt, bei dem es trotz eines normalen IOPs zu einer fortschreitenden Degeneration der Gangleinzellen kommt. Lysosomale Speichererkrankungen (LSDs) bilden eine weitere Gruppe von Erkrankungen, bei denen oftmals eine retinale Degeneration zu den typischen Symptomen gehört. LSDs werden durch Mutationen in Genen verursacht, die für lysosomale Transporters oder Enzyme kodieren. Bei diesen Erkrankungen kommt es zu einer intrazellulären Akkumulation von Metaboliten und eventuell zum Zelltod. Für alle retinalen Dystrophien sind derzeit keine effektiven Therapien verfügbar.

Im Rahmen dieser Arbeit wurde der retinale Phänotyp eines neuen LSD Mausmodells für die Mukopolysaccharidose (MPS) IIIE analysiert. Ursache für MPSs ist eine systemische und neurale Akkumulation von Glykosaminoglykanen (GAGs). Dabei werden sieben Subtypen von MPS anhand der dysfunktionalen Enzyme und des klinischen Krankheitsbildes unterschieden. Bei MPS III, auch als Sanfilippo-Syndrom bezeichnet, sind Retinopathien mittelschwer bis stark ausgeprägt, wobei die retinale Fehlfunktion durch die Ablagerung von GAGs innerhalb des retinalen Pigmentepithels (RPE) und der Photorezeptoren verursacht wird. Das untersuchte Mausmodell für die MPS Variante IIIE weist eine Mutation im Arylsulfatase G (*Arsg*) Gen auf. Die Analyse der Retina von *Arsg* knockout Mäusen zeigte eine progrediente Photorezeptordegeneration mit einem Beginn, zwischen dem ersten und sechsten postnatalen Monate. In 24 Monate alten Tieren waren mehr als 50% der Photorezeptoren degeneriert. Begleitend zum Photorezeptorverlust waren eine reaktive Astrogliose und eine reaktive Mikrogliose, sowie eine erhöhte Expression von verschiedenen lysosomalen Proteinen nachweisbar. Wie in gesunden Mäusen durch immunhistochemische Untersuchungen gezeigt werden

konnte, beschränkt sich die Expression des ARSG Proteins auf das RPE. Ultrastrukturelle Analysen des RPEs von *Arsg* knockout Mäusen zeigten jedoch keine pathologischen Veränderungen, und typische Speichervakuolen waren ebenfalls nicht nachweisbar.

Innerhalb der verschiedenen Stresssignale, die zur Apoptose von retinalen Zellen führen können, wurde in der vorliegenden Arbeit primär der Mangel an neurotrophen Faktoren untersucht. Neurotrophe Faktoren sind kleine diffusible Moleküle, die eine protektive Wirkung auf Neurone des zentralen Nervensystems ausüben. Die Zufuhr neurotropher Faktoren hat zum Ziel, die retinale Degeneration zu verzögern und bietet somit ein breites Anwendungsfeld für viele degenerative Erkrankungen der Netzhaut. Zu diesem Zweck wurde ein zellbasiertes intraokuläres Applikationssystem für eine kontinuierliche Versorgung der Netzhaut mit neurotrophen Faktoren entwickelt, und dessen Anwendbarkeit in zwei RP Mausmodellen und dem CLN6 Mausmodel der juvenile neuronalen Ceroid-Lipofuszinose (für degenerierende Photorezeptoren) und in einem Mausmodell für das Glaukom (mit degenerierenden Ganglienzellen) analysiert. Hierzu wurden murine neurale Stammzellen (NS-Zellen) mit einem polycistronischen lentiviralen Virus modifiziert. Dieser Vektor kodierte eine sezernierbare Variante des ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), ein fluoreszierendes Reporterprotein und ein Resistenzgen. Da die Expressionsstärke des neurotrophen Faktors und des Reportergens vom polycistronischen Vektor proportional zueinander sind, konnte durch eine Selektion einzelner stark fluoreszierender Zellen mittels fluorescence activated cell sorting und einer anschließenden klonalen Expansion dieser Zellen klonalen Zelllinien mit einer starken Expression des neurotrophen Faktors abgeleitet werden. Diese modifizierten NS-Zellen wurden in den Vitreus der unterschiedlichen Mausmodelle vor Beginn der Photorezeptordegeneration oder einen Tag nach der Läsion des optischen Nervs injiziert. Das Reportergen ermöglichte, die Differenzierung und das Überleben der transplantierten Zellen in vivo zu analysieren. In allen verwendeten Mausmodellen resultierte die kontinuierliche Applikation von CNTF in einer signifikanten Protektion der Photorezeptoren bzw. RGCs. Zusätzlich stimulierte CNTF im Läsionsmodell die Regeneration der RGC Axone über weite Strecken in den distalen Stumpf des optischen Nervs. Neben CNTF wurde der protektive Effekt von vascular endothelial growth factor-B (VEGF-B) exprimierenden NS-Zellen auf degenerierende RGCs im einem Mausmodell für das Glaukom analysiert. Die VEGF-B sezernierenden NS-Zellen übten eine signifikante Protektion auf axotomierte RGCs über einen Zeitraum von bis zu zwei Monaten nach der Läsion aus, induzierten aber keine Regeneration der RGC Axone. Obwohl die Mitglieder der VEGF Familie für ihre pro-angiogene Aktivität bekannt sind, waren keine Veränderungen des Gefäßsystems in den mit VEGF-B behandelten Augen nachweisbar.

Zusammengefasst wurde in der vorliegenden Arbeit der retinale Phänotyp eines neuen Mausmodels für MPS analysiert, um weitere Einblicke in die Pathomechanismen von Retinopathien zu gewinnen, die mit LSDs assoziiert sind. Zusätzlich konnte diese Arbeit zeigen, dass eine kontinuierliche zellbasierte okuläre Applikation des neurotrophen Faktors CNTF eine protektive Wirkung auf degenerierende Photorezeptoren in zwei RP-Mausmodellen und einem Mausmodell für CLN6 hat. Des Weiteren konnte gezeigt werden, dass CNTF und VEGF-B die Degeneration axotomierter RGCs in einem Mausmodell für das Glaukom verlangsamte. Diese Daten demonstrieren, dass eine kontinuierliche NS-Zell-basierte Applikation neurotropher Faktoren eine geeignete Methode für präklinische Studien darstellt, die zum Ziel haben, die protektiven Effekte bekannter und neuer neurotropher Faktoren und Faktorkombinationen *in vivo* zu untersuchen.

1. Introduction and Summary

This thesis describes a new mouse model of retinal degeneration and a novel neural stem cell-based neuroprotective therapeutic approach that was evaluated in various mouse models of retinal degeneration. The following introduction provides an overview of different neurodegenerative retinal disorders in mice which are related to similar retinal dystrophies in humans, and proceeds with the description of the molecular mechanisms of photoreceptor and ganglion cell degeneration as well as possible therapeutic approaches that are currently in preclinical and clinical studies and aimed at delaying or preventing progressive retinal degeneration.

1.1. Retinal disorders and animal models for preclinical studies

To better understand retinal disorders and the retinal cells affected in different retinal diseases it is first necessary to understand the visual pathway and the function of the retinal cell types involved. In humans, vision is one of the primary senses to perceive the environment. Vision is a complex sensory process which starts in the retina (a neural tissue which is a compartment of the central nervous system) where light is transduced into a pattern of electrical signals that provides information to the brain (Gaillard and Sauve 2007).

The structure of the mammalian retina is composed of six different neuronal cell types and one type of glia. The retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) represents the outer margin of the retina. The RPE is a monolayer of cells that connects to the outer segments of photoreceptors. The photoreceptors form the outer nuclear layer (ONL), which is composed of rod and cone photoreceptors. Rod photoreceptors are responsible for scotopic vision while three different types of cones are responsible for photopic and colour vision (Yau and Hardie 2009). Photoreceptors transduce visual stimuli into electrical signals which are further processed by interneurons in the inner nuclear layer (INL). Therefore, cells of the outer nuclear layer are synaptically connected with the cells of the inner nuclear layer and these connections form the outer plexiform layer (OPL). The INL is composed of the cell bodies of three types of interneurons (horizontal cells, bipolar cells and amacrine cells) and the cell bodies of the Müller glia. Müller glia cells in the retina perform all the classical functions normally performed by astrocytes in the brain, and additionally serve as "living optical fibres" that conduct the light from the vitreous through all retinal cell layers to the outer segments of the photoreceptor cells. The processed visual information in the INL is further transmitted to the dendrites of the retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) in the inner plexiform layer (IPL). Ganglion cells bodies are located at the vitreal side of the retina and the axons of RGCs relay the visual information to the brain (Fig. 1.1) (Karl and Reh 2010).



Figure 1.1: Cross section of a human retina illustrating the different retinal layers and cell types.

Müller cells serve as "living optical fibres" and guide the light from the vitreal side of the retina to the outer segments of photoreceptor cells at the outer margin of the retina. Photosensitive rods and cones transform light photons into electrical signals. The visual information is conducted through the inner nuclear layer to the ganglion cells located at the vitreal side of the retina. Finally electrical impulses are transmitted via the ganglion cell axons to the brain. Retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) phagocytes shed outer segments and restores the photopigments of photoreceptors, whereas microglia and astrocytes are supportive cell types within the retina. GCL: ganglion cell layer; ILM: inner limiting membrane; INL: inner nuclear layer; IPL: inner plexiform layer; OLM: outer limiting membrane; ONL: outer nuclear layer; OPL: outer plexiform layer (from West et al. 2009).

Dysfunction of any of these retinal cell types can lead to degeneration of these and possibly also other related retinal cell types, resulting in visual impairment or even blindness. The leading causes of visual impairment and blindness in patients over 40 years are cataracts (a clouding of the lens) and different retinal dystrophies. Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) is the most common form of retinal dystrophies, and is characterized by the primary dysfunction of RPE cells or defects of the Bruch's membrane, a thin limiting structure composed of extracellular matrix constituents and located between the RPE and the choroidea. The macula is a specialized area of the human retina and encloses the fovea centralis, the retina region with the highest visual acuity and the highest density of cone photoreceptor cells. Since photoreceptor metabolic activity is highly dependent on a proper function of the RPE, dysfunction or loss of RPE cells leads to a secondary degeneration of photoreceptors. Another frequent retinopathy is the diabetic retinopathy (DR), characterized by the degeneration of retinal cells as a result of long term diabetes, followed by glaucoma, a group of degenerative retinal disorders characterized by optic nerve damage and subsequent apoptotic RGC loss, and retinitis pigmentosa (RP), a clinically and genetically heterogeneous group of

degenerative retinal disorders caused by mutations in a large number of different genes (Gaillard and Sauve 2007). Glaucoma and RP are described in more detail below.

Glaucoma is the most common cause of irreversible blindness worldwide and estimated to affect about 80 million people by 2020 (Quigley and Broman 2006). This optic neuropathy is characterized by progressive optic disc cupping, which is caused by thinning of the neuroretinal rim of the optic nerve. The cupping is the result of the progressive loss of RGC axons, along with supporting structures like glia and vasculature and subsequent degeneration of RGC cell bodies. Patients with glaucoma typically experience visual field loss, starting in the periphery, and may become blind if not treated (You et al. 2013). Glaucoma is subdivided into three major subclasses: open-angle glaucoma (OAG), angle closure glaucoma (ACG) and developmental glaucomatous neuropathies. The predominant form is the OAG, where the outflow of the aqueous humor through the iridocorneal angle (the angle formed by the iris and cornea) is impaired, resulting in an elevated intraocular pressure (IOP). Elevated IOP is considered as a major cause of neurodegeneration in the inner retina. Mutations in the gene encoding myocilin (MYOC) have been identified to cause OAG. However, the genetic basis of glaucoma is not well understood. ACG can result from inflammation or can have neovascular causes (Fingert et al. 1999; Kwon et al. 2009). While the pathomechanisms of this complex and multifactorial optic neuropathy are only poorly understood, there are several risk factors and molecular pathways that have been implicated in optic nerve damage and RGC loss in glaucoma. Clinically, an elevated IOP is the major and only proven risk factor for glaucoma. However, some glaucoma patients never develop an elevated IOP and some patients show progressive glaucomatous alterations despite a successful reduction of the IOP (Caprioli 1997; Agarwal et al. 2009). Reduced ocular blood-flow (Butt et al. 1995; Kaiser et al. 1997; Zeitz et al. 2006) and a decreased central cornea thickness are other risk factors implicated in glaucoma (Medeiros et al. 2003; Brandt 2004; Brandt et al. 2008). The molecular changes associated with glaucoma, and the signalling and apoptotic pathways involved in RGC survival or death are discussed below.

Retinitis pigmentosa has a prevalence of 1 in 3,000, and is the most common cause of inherited photoreceptor degeneration in 20-64 year old patients (Buch et al. 2004). Mutations in more than 60 different genes and more than 3,000 pathogenic mutations in RP these genes have been identified to cause (RetNet: http://www.sph.uth.tmc.edu/RetNet/; Human Gene Mutation Database: http://www.hgmd.cf.ac.uk/) (Sahni et al. 2011). The highest number of pathogenic mutations causing RP have been identified in the genes encoding GFPase regulator (RPGR) (Breuer et al. 2002), rhodopsin (RHO) (Briscoe et al. 2004) and usherin

(USH2A) (Hartong et al. 2006). Typical clinical features of affected patients include poor night vision in early or middle life which progresses to loss of mid-peripheral field of vision. In late stage RP patients, a small area of central vision remains because of a long-term preservation of macular cone photoreceptor cells. The most common variant of RP is the rod-cone dystrophy, where rod photoreceptors degenerate in the first place resulting in poor night vision. This almost invariably leads to secondary cone photoreceptor degeneration late in the course of the disease. In other variants of RP, rods and cones are affected to a similar content, or cones are more severely affected than rods or is the only photoreceptor cell type involved (Wright et al. 2010).

Another heterogeneous group of rare inherited diseases with a frequent involvement of the retina are the lysosomal storage diseases (LSDs). LSDs are metabolic disorders that are usually inherited in an autosomal recessive manner. The mutations result in dysfunctional lysosomal transporters or enzymes and consequently in an intracellular accumulation of metabolites and eventually cell death (Klein and Futerman 2013). LSDs comprise at least 50 distinct genetic diseases and the incidence of single forms ranges from 1 in 57,000 for Gaucher disease to as low as 1 in 4.2 million for sialidosis, but is calculated to be 1 in 7,700 for LSDs as a group. As additional LSDs are likely to be discovered, it is expected that the incidence for LSDs might increase up to 1 in 5,000. Based on the accumulated substances, LSDs have been subdivided into oligosaccharidoses, mucopolysaccharidoses, lipidoses and glycogenoses. Although LSDs comprise an extremely heterogeneous group of metabolic disorders, many of them share clinical features like central nervous system dysfunctions, organomegaly, bone abnormalities and visual impairment due to retinal degeneration (Fuller et al. 2006).

The mucopolysaccharidoses (MPSs) are LSDs caused by systemic and neuronal accumulation of glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) which are ubiquitously present on the cell surface and extracellular matrix. There are seven subtypes of MPS (MPS I, II, III, IV, VI, VII and IX) which are subdivided in 13 variants according to the specific enzyme involved and the clinical manifestations. All types show diverse phenotypes, ranging from those with a fatal outcome in the first months of life to forms that are compatible with a normal lifespan. The overall incidence for all MPS subtypes is approximately 1 in 20,000 live births (Ganesh et al. 2013). Clinical symptoms common to all subtypes include hepatosplenomegaly, recurrent umbilical and inguinal hernia, middle ear disease and deafness, dental caries and abscesses, with variable skeletal, cardiac, respiratory, and central nervous system manifestations. Of interest in the present context are the frequent ocular manifestations of MPS patients (Ashworth et al. 2006a). The ocular involvement usually occurs early in MPS and depending on the MPS subtypes can include hyperopia, corneal clouding, ocular hypertension, retinal degeneration, optic disc swelling and optic

nerve atrophy. These changes may impair visual function, eventually leading to vision loss. Corneal opacification due to abnormal GAG deposition, is a prominent feature in MPS I and MPS VI but can appear in patients of all MPS subtypes (Azevedo et al. 2004; Ashworth et al. 2006b). The accumulation of GAGs in the angle of the anterior chamber may interfere with the outflow of the aqueous humor thereby elevating the IOP and eventually causing open-angle glaucoma. Because of GAG deposition a thickening of the iris and peripheral cornea can result in secondary angle-closure glaucoma in some patients. Furthermore, optic nerve abnormalities may occur due to an infiltrative swelling of GAG accumulation within the nerve and the meningeal sheath (Schumacher et al. 2008). Retinopathies are abundant in the MPS I, MPS II Hunter and MPS III subtypes, where progressive photoreceptor degeneration and retinal dysfunction are caused by the deposition of GAGs within the RPE and the ONL. In MPS III, also termed Sanfilipposyndrome, retinopathies are moderate to severe and typically present with reduced scotopic electroretinograms (ERGs) because of rod photoreceptor degeneration. Secondary cone degeneration may be seen with a corresponding decrease in photopic ERG responses (Azevedo et al. 2004; Ashworth et al. 2006b; Valstar et al. 2008).

Neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (NCL or CLN) comprises a group of inherited neurodegenerative disorders with an onset mainly in childhood and youth. These lysosomal storage disorders are also known as Batten disease, according to a British pioneer of the field. So far, mutations in 14 different genes have been shown to cause NCL, and NCL subtypes have been classified accordingly from CLN 1 to CLN 14. The NCL-associated genes encode either soluble lysosomal enzymes or membrane proteins located in lysosomes or the endoplasmic reticulum, depending on the NCL variant. The different NCL forms all together represent the most common cause of inherited neurodegenerative disorder in childhood, with an incidence between 1:12,500 and 1:100,000 (Faller et al. 2015). Despite the heterogeneity of the disease-associated genes, several clinical symptoms are common to most of the storage diseases with childhood-onset, including progressive loss of vision, mental and motor deterioration, epileptic seizures and premature death. Adult-onset variants, in comparison, are much rarer with dementia as the predominant clinical symptom. Typically autofluorescent, electrondense material, resistant to lipid solvents and closely resembling lipofuscin, accumulates in the cytoplasm of most nerve cells and, to a lesser extent, in other cell types (Haltia and Goebel 2013). So far loss of vision has been described for CLN 1, CLN 2 and CLN 3, and the late-infantile variants CLN 5, CLN 6 and CLN 7. However, only little information is available on the progression of visual impairment in NCL patients, and no information is available on a retinal involvement in CLN 8, CLN 9 and CLN 10 (Anderson et al. 2013; Schulz et al. 2013).

1.2. Pathomechanisms and apoptotic pathways in retinal degeneration

The possible causes of photoreceptor degeneration are extremely diverse. For instance, photoreceptor cell death may occur as a result of a separation of the ONL from the underlying RPE and the choroidal vessels, which provide the metabolic support to photoreceptors. Retinal detachment is characteristic for retinal disorders such as AMD (Dunaief et al. 2002) or DR (Barber et al. 1998). Mutations in genes implicated in a variety of different functions might also result in photoreceptor degeneration, as exemplified in retinitis pigmentosa (Murakami et al. 2013). Other mechanisms shown to cause photoreceptor and RGC degeneration include mitochondrial dysfunction, excitotoxic damage caused by activated glial cells, and nitric oxide mediated toxicity or oxidative stress (Almasieh et al. 2012; Murakami et al. 2013; You et al. 2013). Cell death of photoreceptors and RGCs almost invariably occurs by apoptosis (Portera-Cailliau et al. 1994; Travis 1998; Buch et al. 2007). Increased oxygen free radicals (OFR) levels have also been implicated for both, RGC and photoreceptor degeneration, because OFR are known to induce the release of cytochrome c, which is involved in pro-apoptotic signalling cascades (Raha and Robinson 2001; Almasieh et al. 2012; Murakami et al. 2013). There are three major forms of cell death defined by morphological appearance: autophagy, necrosis, and apoptosis (Murakami et al. 2013). Autophagy is a degradation of organelles and macromolecules by the lysosome. Macroautophagy is the major pathway and involves the formation of membranes around cytoplasmic substrates resulting in the formation of organelles known as autophagosomes (Mizushima et al. 2002; Mizushima et al. 2008). Although autophagy mediates cell death in specific circumstances, there is also evidence that autophagy is crucial for cell survival by regulating the turnover of intracellular contents (Mizushima and Levine 2010). Necrosis was long believed to be an uncontrolled process of cell death. Studies on death receptorinduced cell death found that tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNFα) is not only involved in apoptotic pathways but also induces necrosis (Laster et al. 1988). Death receptorinduced necrosis is mediated by the activation of receptor-interacting protein 1 (RIP1) (Holler et al. 2000), which in turn is regulated by RIP3 (Cho et al. 2009; He et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2009a). However, there are also RIP kinase-independent mechanisms to induce necrosis (Murakami et al. 2013). Apoptosis, also termed programmed cell death, is the best characterized form of cell death and the apoptotic pathways are discussed in more detail below.

1.2.1. Apoptotic pathways

Similar to other neurons in the central nervous system (CNS) two major apoptotic pathways are involved in RGC and photoreceptor loss, the extrinsic or receptor mediated pathway and the intrinsic or mitochondrial pathway. Both pathways are triggered by stress stimuli and can occur independently or interact with each other (Qu et al. 2010; Almasieh et al. 2012; Murakami et al. 2013; You et al. 2013).

The intrinsic apoptotic pathway is triggered by mitochondrial damage caused by a variety of stress signals such as neurotrophic factor deprivation or oxidative stress which increase the permeability of the mitochondrial membrane (Scaffidi et al. 1998). First stress signals activate the apoptosis regulating kinase 1 (ASK1), which plays a key role in human neurodegenerative diseases (Hattori et al. 2009). Both the pro-apoptotic mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) c-jun n-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38 are direct targets of ASK1. Activation of BH3-only members of the Bcl-2 family such as Bax and Bak promote the release of cytochrome c and play a pivotal role in the regulation of RGC death (Li et al. 2000; Almasieh et al. 2012). Some Bcl-2 family members antagonize the pro-apoptotic molecules. Among these proteins Bcl-XL is the predominant anti-apoptotic protein in rat retina (Levine et al. 2008). When the concentration of pro-apoptotic proteins exceeds the concentration of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members the mitochondrial membrane permeability increases and cytochrome c is released into the cytosol. Cytochrome c then binds to the apoptosis protease-activating factor 1 (APAF1) to form the apoptosome, which activates the procaspase-9 which in turn activates caspase-3 and -7. These caspases activate other caspases and induce the digestion of cellular contents, resulting in cell death (Li et al. 1997; Qu et al. 2010; Almasieh et al. 2012; You et al. 2013). Other cell death mediators released from mitochondria into the cytosol include second mitochondrial-derived activator of caspases and Drosophila melanogaster homologue (SMAC/DIABLO), apoptosis inducing factor (AIF), endonuclease G (EndoG) and high temperature requirement serine protease 2 (HTRA2/OMI) (Fig. 1.2) (Benn and Woolf 2004).

The extrinsic apoptotic pathway is initiated by death mediating receptors which are activated by ligands such as TNF α , Fas ligand (FasL) or TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligands (TRAIL). Studies have shown that TNF α is upregulated in a mouse model of glaucoma (Nakazawa et al. 2006) and that under different stress conditions RGC death is mediated by increased expression of TNF α in glial cells (Tezel and Wax 2000). Activation of these receptors results in an intracellular adaptor Fas-associated death domain (FADD) recruitment, leading to the activation of caspase-8, subsequent activation of caspase-3 and -7, and finally cell death (Fig. 1.2) (Qu et al. 2010; Almasieh et al. 2012; Murakami et al. 2013; You et al. 2013).



Figure 1.2: Main apoptotic pathways in cells.

The extrinsic pathway is mediated through the activation of death receptors like TNFR and FasR. This leads to the activation of caspase-8 which in turn activates caspase-3, ultimately resulting in cell death. In the intrinsic pathway mitochondrial damage leads to cytochrome c release and the formation of apoptosomes with APAF1 and finally an activation of caspase-3. Mitochondria can also release other cell death mediators into the cytosol that activate transcription factors in the nucleus (from Almasieh et al. 2012).

1.2.2. Neurotrophic factor deprivation

Another pathomechanisms implicated in the progressive apoptotic degeneration of RGCs is their deprivation from target-derived neurotrophic factors. Neurotrophic factors or neurotrophins are diffusible molecules that wield a survival effect on degenerating CNS neurons (Almasieh et al. 2012). It is commonly accepted that neurotrophic factors promote neuronal survival by inhibiting apoptotic pathways (Raff et al. 1993). During development neurons require trophic factors for survival, differentiation and establishment of synaptic connections or otherwise succumb to apoptosis (Lewin et al. 1998). In glaucoma, neurotrophic factor deprivation may occur due to impaired retrograde axonal transport through the optic nerve to the RGC bodies (Anderson and Hendrickson 1974; Quigley et al. 2000) or because of reduced neurotrophic factor expression levels within the retina as a result of ocular hypertension (Rudzinski et al. 2004). For whatever reasons the photoreceptors or RGCs die, apoptotic pathways are finally induced, ultimately resulting initially in night blindness in RP and in visual field defects in glaucoma. Because of the often slowly progressing neurodegenerative disorders, such as RP or glaucoma, they are often diagnosed at advanced stages of the disease when a considerable proportion of cells is already lost (Almasieh et al. 2012; You et al. 2013; Abed et al. 2015).

1.3. Therapeutic approaches

Currently there are no effective therapies for the treatment of neurodegenerative retinal disorders affecting the RPE, the photoreceptors and/or the RGCs. Animal models of these conditions not only help to understand the disease mechanisms but eventually also to develop treatments for these disorders. In fact, a large number of naturally occurring animal models and a constantly increasing number of genetically engineered animal models of degenerative retinal disorders are currently being used to assess the efficacy of therapeutic interventions to delay or prevent retinal degeneration and vision loss. The major therapeutic approaches include pharmacological treatments, electronic retinal implants, cell replacement strategies, corrective gene therapy, optogenetic therapy, enzyme replacement therapy (ERT) and neuroprotection (Sahni et al. 2011; Almasieh et al. 2012).

1.3.1. Electronic retinal implants

For advanced stages of retinal diseases, restoration of visual function is required. A retinal electronic device could provide means to translate visual information into electrical signals that are then transmitted to the RGCs and subsequently to the brain (Chader et al. 2009). However, glaucoma requires an intracortical microstimulation with electronic devices that bridge the interrupted connections between the retina and visual cortex (Schmidt et al. 1996). Thus far technologies have advanced to restore light perception (Chader et al. 2009; Zrenner et al. 2011), but there are issues with retinal devices concerning real-time vision, material stability, biocompatibility and a permanent power supply.

1.3.2. Cell replacement

Cell replacement strategies have been investigated intensively. The idea is to functionally replace irreversibly lost cells, such as RPE cells or photoreceptor cells, to restore vision. For photoreceptor replacement, numerous studies have been performed during the last years. Most of these studies were of limited success because the donor cells either failed to integrate into the host retinas or did not differentiate into mature retinal cell types. Subsequently, MacLaren and colleagues (2006) found that committed postmitotic photoreceptor progenitor cells have to be transplanted in order to successfully replace photoreceptor cells in the mature mammalian retina. A subsequent study extended this work, and defined rod progenitors isolated from the retina of 4 or 5 days old mice as the cell population that showed the highest capacity of integration and differentiation into mature rods (Bartsch et al. 2008). Recent transplantation of rod precursors into *Gnat1*^{-/-} mice (a model of congenital stationary night blindness, which

lacks rod function) showed that newly integrated photoreceptors formed synaptic connections with bipolar and horizontal cells and were light sensitive in a similar manner as wild-type photoreceptors. Furthermore, the transplanted and integrated cells mediated optokinetic head tracking under scotopic conditions (Pearson et al. 2012; Pearson 2014), demonstrating their functionality. Beside the isolation of photoreceptors from neonatal tissue several studies have demonstrated differentiation of photoreceptors from embryonic stem (ES) cells (Osakada et al. 2008; Yue et al. 2010; Eiraku et al. 2011). Although the eye is an immune tolerant compartment transplantation of ES cell derived photoreceptors requires immunosuppression. To circumvent additional treatments and ethical concerns regarding the use of ES cells, induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells are currently being analyzed as an alternative source for photoreceptor cells. iPS cells display the properties of ES cells, and are generated by reprogramming differentiated somatic cells, such as skin fibroblasts (Singh and MacLaren 2011; Tucker et al. 2013).

In many retinal dystrophies, such as AMD, photoreceptor degeneration is the result of a dysfunction or loss of RPE cells. As for photoreceptor replacement, many studies have evaluated the possibility to replace RPE cells by cell transplantation. RPE cells derived from ES cells or iPS cells resemble major characteristics of mature RPE cells, such as cell polarity, the ability to phagocytose shed photoreceptor outer segments, or the expression of specific RPE proteins (Singh and MacLaren 2011; Krohne et al. 2012; Ramsden et al. 2013). In a recent study, human ES cell-derived RPE cells have been transplanted into the subretinal space of patients with AMD. The RPE cells showed good integration and survival, and were tolerated in the recipient eyes. Of note, the treated patients experienced an improvement in visual acuity (Schwartz et al. 2012).

In glaucoma, cell replacement strategies are unlikely to be successful given that RGCs not only have to correctly integrate into the host retinas and to differentiate into mature and functional ganglion cells, but additionally have to extend axons over long distances to innervate in a topographical correct manner into the visual centres of the brain (Harvey et al. 2006; Almasieh et al. 2012; Wilson and Di Polo 2012).

1.3.3. Enzyme replacement therapy

The first correcting effect on the metabolic defect of cultured fibroblasts isolated from Hurler or Hunter patients (two types of MPS) was seen after mixing these cultures with each other or with normal fibroblasts, or after cultivation of the affected fibroblasts with conditioned medium from normal fibroblasts. This effect was attributed to secretion of corrective factors from healthy cells or cells having another defect (Fratantoni et al. 1968). Later studies revealed the uptake of enzymes into the lysosomes by receptor-mediated endocytosis via the mannose-6-phosphate (M6P) receptor. Cross-correction is

based on replacing a defective soluble enzyme by the extracellular administration of a healthy variant of this enzyme, a treatment strategy designated as ERT. Particularly LSDs with defects in soluble lysosomal enzyme are considered to benefit from ERT. Intriguingly, ERT in different LSDs required a restoration of the dysfunctional enzyme activity to only 1-5% of the activity in healthy subjects to decrease accumulation of storage material and correct the metabolic defect (Beck 2007). Currently ERT is available for MPS I, II and VI. Of note, a systemic administration of a functional enzyme has been shown to exert positive effects on many tissues. However, this holds not true for the affected CNS, because systemically administered enzymes are incapable to cross the blood-brain-barrier (Harmatz et al. 2008; Wraith et al. 2008; Clarke et al. 2009; Beck 2010). Furthermore, some safety and tolerability concerns remain with this therapeutic strategy. For instance patients receiving regular intravenous injections of proteins may develop antibodies which may inactivate the administered enzyme and lead to allergic reactions. In addition, this approach requires repetitive injections due to short half-life time of the enzymes (Beck 2010). A sustained delivery system would circumvent the need of multiple injections and additionally ensure stable concentrations of the supplied enzyme.

1.3.4. Gene-based therapy

Corrective gene therapy targets the primary genetic defect of an inherited disease, and was studied intensively for retinal disorders (Farrar et al. 2012). Genomics are more and more easily accessible, for instance through next-generation sequencing, and facilitate a rapid identification of disease-causing mutations in patients with retinal degeneration (Bowne et al. 2011). Most corrective gene therapy studies in animal models of retinal degeneration have used adenoviral, adeno-associated viral (AAV), lentiviral or herpes simplex-I vectors to transfer a functional gene variant into affected retinal cell types (Harvey et al. 2006). Adenoviruses are non-enveloped, linear, double-stranded DNA viruses, which can bear genes up to 8 kb. In the past adenoviral vectors have been reported to induce local inflammatory reactions and cell-mediated immune-response (Hoffman et al. 1997; Cayouette et al. 1998; Isenmann et al. 2001; Isenmann et al. 2004) but a recent clinical phase I trial using adenoviruses for administration of pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) in patients with AMD reported no serious side-effects over several months (Campochiaro et al. 2006). AAV is the viral vector of choice for gene-based therapy because of several reasons. AAV are non-enveloped single- or double-stranded DNA viruses that are replication defective, non-pathogenic and nontoxic. There are several frequently used serotypes for gene transfer strategies into retinal cell types, with AAV2/5 (AAV5) and AAV2/8 (AAV8) exhibiting a particularly high tropism

for photoreceptor cells and AAV2/4 preferentially transducing RPE cells (Weber et al. 2003; Surace and Auricchio 2008). A recent clinical trial for Leber's congenital amaurosis (LCA) which is caused by mutations in a gene encoding RPE-specific protein 65 kDa (RPE65) used subretinal AAV2/2 injections to express a functional RPE65 protein in the host RPE. Of note, these studies observed beneficial functional effects in the treated eye, including an increased retinal sensitivity to light (Cideciyan et al. 2008; Maguire et al. 2008; Simonelli et al. 2010). Despite this tremendous visual improvement later examinations showed a progressive thinning of the ONL to a similar extend as in untreated eyes. Remarkably however, experiments in a canine animal model of LCA (with a dysregulation of RPE65 and a photoreceptor cell degeneration starting later in life) revealed progressive retinal degeneration when the RPE65 gene transfer into RPE cells was performed after the onset of photoreceptor degeneration, whereas no photoreceptor loss was observed when injection of the viral vector was performed prior to the onset of retinal degeneration. Because therapeutic intervention in retinal degenerations are usually performed after the onset of the disease, a combination of gene therapeutic interventions with neuroprotective, anti-apoptotic factors or antioxidants might be necessary to preserve both, retinal function and retinal structure (Cideciyan et al. 2013).

1.3.5. Neuroprotection

Many retinal dystrophies, such as AMD or glaucoma, are not amenable to corrective gene therapy, and for others genetic mutations have not yet been identified (Hartong et al. 2006). For these conditions, a treatment independent of the etiology of the degeneration is required. Neuroprotective strategies do not target the specific cause of a disease but rather its consequences, and attempt to limit pro-apoptotic pathways to prevent the death of affected cells across a wide range of diseases characterized by retinal degeneration (Buch et al. 2007). Neurotrophic factors are basically soluble proteins secreted by target cells of neuronal growth. Upon binding to their specific receptors, neurotrophic factors prevent apoptosis in neurons (Purves et al. 2001) by upregulating anti-apoptotic signalling pathways (Buch et al. 2007).

The first neurotrophic factor described was nerve growth factor (NGF) which promoted neuronal survival in the CNS (Hamburger et al. 1981). Subsequently, a number of other neurotrophic factors was identified, including brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Hofer and Barde 1988), ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) (Sendtner et al. 1990), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) (Faktorovich et al. 1990), glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) (Henderson et al. 1994), pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) (Tombran-Tink et al. 1991; Cayouette et al. 1999), rod derived cone viability

factor (RdCVF) (Leveillard et al. 2004) and Osteopontin (Del Rio et al. 2011). The still increasing number of newly identified neurotrophic factors improves the insight into molecular mechanisms mediating neuronal survival and degeneration. There are three main categories of neurotrophic factor receptors involved in neuroprotection: receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) family (including tropomyosin receptor kinase proteins A-C) (Buch et al. 2007), p75 neurotrophin receptor (Dechan and Neumann 2005), and GDNF family receptors (GFRs), which form heterodimers with the receptor tyrosine kinase RET (Airaksinen and Saarma 2002).

CNTF is one of the most extensively studied growth factor in retinal degeneration. It was purified from chicken embryo and protected ciliary ganglion neurons from death (Helfand et al. 1976; Adler et al. 1979; Barbin et al. 1984). CNTF is a cytosolic protein and contains 200 amino acids with a molecular weight of 22.7 kDa. Although this trophic factor lacks a signal peptide it is secreted through an unknown pathway (Stockli et al. 1989). Based on its structural similarities CNTF belongs to the interleukin-6 family of cytokines (Taga and Kishimoto 1997; Bauer et al. 2007). The CNTF receptor (CNTF α) initiates downstream signalling upon CNTF binding and formation of heterodimers with the co-receptor molecules gp130 and leukaemia inhibitor factor receptor- β (LIFR- β) (Sleeman et al. 2000). This formation leads to the activation of Jak/Tyk kinases which in turn phosphorylate the signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3). STAT3 forms hetero- and homodimers with phosphorylated STAT1 and subsequently modifies gene transcription and mediates cell protection (Fig. 1.3) (Thanos and Emerich 2005; Wen et al. 2012).



Figure 1.3: Scheme of signalling pathway of CNTF.

Binding of CNTF to the receptor CNTFR α leads to binding of the co-receptor LIFR β and gp130. This activates the intracellular Jak/Tyk kinases which phosphorylates STAT3. Finally, the STAT3 dimers modify gene transcription in the nucleus (from Wen et al. 2012).

Several studies have shown strong protective effects of CNTF on the morphology of RGCs and photoreceptor cells. Intravitreal administration of recombinant CNTF in an elevated ocular hypertension rat model protected RGCs up to 4 weeks after injection (Ji et al. 2004). Injections of AAVs expressing a secretable form of CNTF have been shown to also confer significant protective effects on RGCs in different investigations (MacLaren et al. 2006; Hellstrom and Harvey 2011). In addition to RGC survival, CNTF has been demonstrated to promote regrowth of injured RGC axons after an optic nerve lesion (Leaver et al. 2006; Muller et al. 2009; Hellstrom and Harvey 2011; Pernet et al. 2013). Protective effects of CNTF on photoreceptors have been first shown in a photoreceptor degeneration mouse model induced by white light exposure. Intravitreal injections of CNTF significantly protected photoreceptors from degenerating up to 2 weeks (LaVail et al. 1998). Subsequent studies confirmed a significant neuroprotective effect of intraocularly administered CNTF in other animal models of photoreceptor loss such as the rd2 mouse (Cayouette et al. 1998; Liang et al. 2001; Schlichtenbrede et al. 2003), the rhodopsin S334ter and P23H transgenic rats (Liang et al. 2001), and the RCS rat (Huang et al. 2004).

Although CNTF exerts strong morphological protection on photoreceptors, functional analyses with ERGs showed decreasing light sensitivity of rods in response to sustained CNTF administration due to a negative impact of CNTF on the phototransduction cascade (Liang et al. 2001; Bok et al. 2002; Schlichtenbrede et al. 2003; Wen et al. 2006; McGill et al. 2007; Rhee et al. 2007). However, another study reported that a low dose application of CNTF protected photoreceptors without negatively affected ERG functions (Bush et al. 2004). Additionally, CNTF treatment in a rat model showed stable ERG data of cones (Li et al. 2010). In clinical trials protective effects of CNTF on photoreceptors are currently tested in patients with RP or AMD and have given promising results concerning the morphological and functional preservation of cone photoreceptors (Sieving et al. 2006; Talcott et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2011). In fact, a recent study with long-term CNTF application in a mouse model with retinal degeneration has shown that surviving cone photoreceptors retain function (Lipinski et al. 2015). Since cones are responsible for visual acuity, protection of cones with CNTF would represent a promising therapeutic approach and has to be investigated further.

Another growth factor family that has been intensively studied is the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family. It consists of five secreted growth factors in mammals: VEGF (or VEGF-A), VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D and placenta growth factor (PIGF) (Rosenstein and Krum 2004; Holmes and Zachary 2005; Shibuya 2006). All VEGF growth factors are known for their functions in vascular development in physiological and pathological conditions (Carmeliet et al. 1996; Ferrara et al. 1996; Carmeliet and Jain

2000; Carmeliet et al. 2001; Luttun et al. 2002; Alitalo et al. 2005). VEGF-B is the only member of this family which has been reported to exert no or only limited angiogenic effects *in vivo* (Li et al. 2008; Bry et al. 2014). The VEGF growth factors bind to three transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptors (VEGFR-1 or fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (Flt1), VEGFR-2 or mouse fetal liver kinase 1 (Flk1) and VEGFR-3 or fms-like tyrosine kinase 4 (Flt4)) and two semaphorin receptors (neuropilin-1 (NRP-1) and NRP-2) with differing specificities (Fig. 1.4) (Bry et al. 2014).



Figure 1.4: Transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptors of the VEGF family. The VEGF-B family members bind with differing specificities to the three receptors VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 and their co-receptors NRP-1 and NRP-2. Angiogenic effects of VEGF result from VEGF binding to the VEGFR-2, whereas VEGF-B effects are mainly mediated through VEGFR-1 and NRP-1 (from Bry et al. 2014).

VEGF-B, also known as VEGF-related factor (VGF), was first discovered as a structural homologue of VEGF (Grimmond et al. 1996; Olofsson et al. 1996). In contrast to VEGF, VEGF-B does not have a crucial role in embryonic vasculature development and VEGF-B deficient mice are viable (Aase et al. 2001). VEGF-B rather acts as a survival factor for endothelial cells (Zhang et al. 2009b). Involvement of VEGF-B in fatty acid transport in endothelial cells has also been reported (Hagberg et al. 2010). Interestingly, anti-apoptotic and neuroprotective effects of VEGF-B *in vitro* and *in vivo* have been reported recently. VEGF-B was first described to stimulate proliferation in neuronal cell cultures (Sun et al. 2004) and has subsequently been implicated in the regulation of neurogenesis in adults (Sun et al. 2006). Later studies delineated neuroprotective effects of exogenously administrated VEGF-B on motor neurons, brain and retinal cell types (Li et al. 2008; Poesen et al. 2008). Further investigations on Parkinson disease models showed protective effects of VEGF-B on dopaminergic and sensory neurons *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Falk et al. 2009; Dhondt et al. 2011; Falk et al. 2011).

In initial experiments, neurotrophic factor administration to the retina was achieved by injections of recombinant proteins into the vitreous cavity. To estimate potential neuroprotective effects of intravitreal injections of recombinant growth factors, a variety of different factors was tested in a number of different animal models of inherited retinal degeneration, including bFGF in the Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) rat (Faktorovich et al. 1990), PEDF in Pde6b^{rd1} and rd2 mouse model (Cayouette et al. 1999) and CNTF in the *Pde6b^{rd1}* and Q334ter mouse with photoreceptor degeneration (LaVail et al. 1998). Intravitreal injections or different recombinant growth factors were also performed in animal models of glaucoma (Chen and Weber 2001; van Adel et al. 2003; Zhang et al. 2005; Lingor et al. 2008; Parrilla-Reverter et al. 2009). In all these experiments, some protection of photoreceptor cells or ganglion cells was observed. However, the neuroprotective effects were weak and only detectable for a short period of time after growth factor administration. As mentioned above for the administration of enzymes in ERT, the short half-life time of proteins requires multiple injections to achieve significant long-term therapeutic effects. Furthermore, a systemic administration of neurotrophic factors for ocular treatment is ineligible because of the blood-retina barrier. Consequently, a long-term therapy with neuroprotective factors requires a sustained intraocular administration of these proteins. Application systems that are currently being evaluated for a prolonged intraocular neurotrophic factor delivery include implantable miniature pumps (Saati et al. 2009), biodegradable factor-loaded slow release devices (Aburahma and Mahmoud 2011) or therapeutic strategies that either use viral vectors encoding neurotrophic factors or cell-based neuroprotective strategies.

Preclinical studies using adeno-associated or lentiviral vectors to express neurotrophic factors in endogenous ocular cell types gave promising results in protecting RGCs in glaucoma (in optic nerve crush (ONC) models (Leaver et al. 2006; MacLaren et al. 2006) or in laser-induced ocular hypertension models (Pease et al. 2009) and in protecting photoreceptors in RP models (Liang et al. 2001; Dalkara et al. 2011; Ali 2012). However, gene-based strategies for neurotrophic factor delivery face several problems. For instance, there is only limited control of the genetic modification of the host cells and the effective concentrations of neurotrophic factors derived to the retina. To circumvent genetic modifications of host cells and to deliver defined quantities of neurotrophic factors to the retina, cell-based neuroprotective strategies are currently being investigated intensively.

Cell transplantation strategies with a variety of different cell types have been evaluated as another possibility to prevent or delay retinal cell degeneration. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are the most frequent applied cell type in the context, because MSCs display some characteristics that make them a promising candidate cell type for cellbased neuroprotective strategies. For instance, they can be isolated from a variety of tissues from affected patients, including the adult bone marrow, adipose tissue, muscle and umbilical cord (Caplan 1991; Erices et al. 2000; Qu-Petersen et al. 2002; Zuk et al. 2002), and can thus be used in autologous transplantation settings. Several studies have demonstrated that transplantation of MSCs into the eye results in attenuation of photoreceptor or ganglion cell loss in various animal models (Yu et al. 2006; Inoue et al. 2007; Li et al. 2009; Zwart et al. 2009; Joe and Gregory-Evans 2010; Johnson et al. 2010; Wang et al. 2010). For example subretinal transplantation of bone marrow MSCs delayed photoreceptor degeneration in the RCS rat model (Inoue et al. 2007) and intravitreal injections of MSC into a laser induced hypertension rat model of glaucoma resulted in significant RGC axon survival (Johnson et al. 2010). The protective effects of MSCs are most likely mediated through secretion of endogenously expressed neurotrophic factors and/or the induction of neurotrophic factor expression in endogenous ocular cells by the transplanted cells (Li et al. 2009; Johnson et al. 2010). Transplantation experiments of MSCs into the vitreous cavity of an ischemic retina rat model have shown that MSCs secrete CNTF, bFGF and BDNF after maturation over a time period of at least 4 weeks (Li et al. 2009). A number of studies have suggested that MSCs are capable of "transdifferentiate" into neurons (Sanchez-Ramos et al. 2000; Woodbury et al. 2000; Deng et al. 2001; Suzuki et al. 2004) but recent investigations have provided conflicting results concerning the ability of MSCs to generate authentic nerve cells (Phinney and Prockop 2007; Joe and Gregory-Evans 2010). Therefore, neural stem (NS) cells likely represent a better cell type for therapeutic applications in neural tissue such as the retina.

NS cells are multipotent cells that display the ability of self-renewal through symmetric or asymmetric divisions and the capability to differentiate into the three major neural cell types, neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (McKay 1997; Breunig et al. 2011). Ongoing neurogenesis has been demonstrated in most regions of the postnatal brain (Gage 2000), and NS cells have been identified in adult brains (Reynolds and Weiss 1996; Eriksson et al. 1998). Of interest, in the context of potential therapeutic applications, NS cells can be isolated from the embryonic or adult brain, or derived from ES and iPS cells (Temple 1989; Reynolds and Weiss 1992; Okabe et al. 1996; Thomson et al. 1998; Wernig et al. 2008). To evaluate whether NS cells comprise a suitable cell type for retinal cell protection, NS cells have been grafted intravitreally or subretinally into differentiated preferentially into astrocytes and neurons, and in contrast to MSCs neither integrated into the host retinas nor exerted adverse effects on the host eyes. NS cells, like MSCs, secrete different neurotrophic factors which protect retinal structure and

function (McGill et al. 2007). Long-term survival of intraocularly grafted neural stem or progenitor cells has also been reported in other studies (Ader et al. 2000; Pressmar et al. 2001; Conti et al. 2005; Glaser et al. 2007; Wang et al. 2008; Francis et al. 2009; Jung et al. 2013).

To enhance the neuroprotective potential of grafted stem cells, genetic modifications prior to transplantations have been performed to increase neurotrophic factor expression in these cells. In the context of glaucoma, cell-based delivery systems have mainly focused on the growth factors CNTF and BDNF. A study with mesenchymal stem cells lentivirally modified to express BDNF has demonstrated protective effects on RGCs in vitro in models of glutamate- and hydrogen peroxidase-mediated cell death (Harper et al. 2009) and in vivo in a rat model of laser-induced chronic ocular hypertension (Harper et al. 2011). Subretinal transplantations of MSCs adenovirally modified to express PEDF into the RCS rat resulted in significant protection of photoreceptor cells. Additionally, the grafted MSCs resembled RPE cells and integrated into the host RPE (Arnhold et al. 2007). Other investigative approaches for a sustained delivery of neurotrophic factors used encapsulated cell technology (ECT) devices filled with genetically engineered cells secreting recombinant proteins. The encapsulated cell implants contained immortalized human RPE cells that were modified to express CNTF. To evaluate the therapeutic potential of these implants, they were transplanted intravitreally into the rapid retinal degeneration S334ter-S rat model and the *rcd1* canine model of RP. Rats were injected at postnatal day 9 and CNTF-treated eyes showed a significant protection of photoreceptors after 2 weeks of treatment compared to the contralateral eye which received nonmodified cells. Dogs were grafted at 7 weeks of age and after 7 weeks eyes treated with CNTF showed significantly higher photoreceptor numbers compared to untreated contralateral eyes. After explantation, the implants still showed low level expression of CNTF, and the encapsulated RPE cells were still viable. In addition, protection of CNTF was dose dependent with a minimum protection at CNTF doses of 0.2 to 1.0 ng/day (Tao et al. 2002). Another study in New Zealand White albino rabbits showed a correlation between the morphological and functional changes and the amount of CNTF secreted from the implants. CNTF doses below 5 ng/day neither induced alterations in retinal morphology nor in ERG recordings (Bush et al. 2004).

Because the encapsulated cell implants are too big for the use in small-sized animals, such as mice, other investigations used NS cells as a vehicle to deliver for neurotrophic factors to the dystrophic retina. Recently, intravitreal transplantations of NS cells lentivirally modified to express CNTF gave promising results in hereditary and acutely induced retinal degeneration mouse models and are discussed below (Jung et al. 2013; Flachsbarth et al. 2014; Jankowiak et al. 2015).

Of note, the therapeutic potential of cell-based neuroprotective strategies is currently also being investigated in clinical trials in patients with RP or geographic atrophy using the encapsulated cell technology (Wen et al. 2012). This technology is based on the spontaneously immortalized human RPE cell line ARPE19 that has been modified to overexpress CNTF. The modified cells are encapsulated in a small device with semipermeable membranes, and implanted into the vitreous cavity of the patients. Patients of first clinical trials reported an improvement in visual acuity suggesting that therapeutically effective CNTF dose is below the threshold for suppression of retinal function (see above) but high enough to protect retinal structure. Furthermore, after two years of treatment anti-CNTF antibodies were not detected in the serum of patients (Sieving et al. 2006; Talcott et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2011; Kauper et al. 2012; Wen et al. 2012; Birch et al. 2013).

The preclinical and clinical studies discussed above indicate that a sustained cell-based intraocular administration of neurotrophic factors represents a promising therapeutic strategy to delay retinal degeneration. Importantly, this therapeutic approach might be efficient in different degenerative retinal disorders irrespective of the specific cause of the diseases, making it particularly interesting for potential clinical applications. The search for new neurotrophic factors and the evaluation of their efficacy to attenuate retinal degeneration in appropriate animal models is therefore among the important future tasks of studies aimed at further improving the therapeutic potential of neuroprotective treatment strategies for degenerative retinal disorders.

2. General discussion

The causes of progressive dysfunction and degeneration of retinal cells are diverse. Glaucomatous optic neuropathies are among the leading causes of blindness in patients aged over 40, and are characterized by a progressive degeneration of retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) and their axons in the optic nerve (Quigley and Broman 2006; Qu et al. 2010; Almasieh et al. 2012). While the exact pathomechanisms leading to the apoptotic death of RGCs are not fully understood, an elevated intraocular pressure (IOP) is considered as a major risk factor to develop this multifactorial and age-related disease (Agarwal et al. 2009; Pascale et al. 2012). Retinitis pigmentosa (RP) is the most common cause of inherited photoreceptor degeneration and mutations in more than 60 genes have been identified to cause RP (Sahni et al. 2011). A frequent ocular involvement is also present in lysosomal storage disorders (LSDs), a heterogeneous group of rare inherited diseases. LSDs are subdivided according to the accumulated substances resulting from dysfunctional lysosomal transporters or enzymes (Klein and Futerman 2013). Effective therapies for all these degenerative retinal disorders are currently not available.

2.1. Identification of new gene mutation to cause retinal dysfunction

In numerous retinopathies, photoreceptor cells comprise the retinal nerve cell type that is primarily affected. In genetically heterogeneous groups, such as RP or age related macular degeneration (AMD), mutations in many different genes can cause a dysfunction and subsequent loss of photoreceptor cells, or of other retinal cell types which in turn might cause a secondary degeneration of photoreceptors (Wright et al. 2010). Recently the impact of neurodegenerative lysosomal storage disorders on retinal structure and function has gained more attention. Advances in molecular biology and animal reproductive physiology have increased the generation of transgenic animal models, in particular rodent models that closely resemble human diseases, both genetically and phenotypically. Although much progress has been made in defining the molecular basis of inherited diseases, the phenotypic expression abnormalities of the underlying genetic defects are not fully understood (Haskins et al. 2006).

In the present thesis we describe the retinal phenotype of a novel LSD mouse model of mucopolysaccharidosis (MPS) type IIIE. MPSs are characterized by pathogenic mutations in lysosomal enzymes that are involved in the degradation of sulfated glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) (Muenzer 1986; Neufeld 2001; Muenzer 2011; Coutinho et al. 2012). One MPSs subtype is the Sanfilippo syndrome, also known as MPS III. MPS III

is caused by mutations in genes encoding enzymes involved in the degradation of heparan sulfate (HS), including N-sulfoglucosamine sulfohydrolase (*SGSH*; MPS IIIA), N- α -acetylglucosaminidase (*NAGLU*; MPS IIIB), heparan- α -glucosaminide N-acetyltransferase (*HGSNAT*; MPS IIIC), and N-acetylglucosamine-6-sulfatase (*GNS*; MPS IIIE) (Valstar et al. 2008; Coutinho et al. 2012). It has recently been shown that arylsulfatase G (ARSG, also termed N-sulfoglucosamine-3-O-sulfatase) is another enzyme that is involved in the degradation of HS (Fig. 2.1) (Kowalewski et al. 2012; Kowalewski et al. 2014).



Figure 2.1: Schematic presentation of all nine enzymes involved in sequential catabolism of nonreducing ends (NRE) saccharides containing N-sulfoglucosamine-3-O-sulfate. Defective enzymes involved in the degradation of different NRE saccharides and the resulting MPS types are indicated. Mutations in the *Arsg* gene and thus loss of ARSG activity leads to an accumulation of 3-O-sulfated substrate (from Kowalewski et al. 2012).

A recent analysis of *Arsg* knockout (KO) mice has demonstrated accumulation of HS in many different organs (Kowalewski et al. 2012). In comparison to mouse models of other

MPS III subtypes (Bhaumik et al. 1999; Li et al. 1999; Martins et al. 2015) Arsg KO mice display a milder phenotype with Purkinje cell degeneration in the cerebellum as the prominent neurological defect (Kowalewski et al. 2014). In the first part of this thesis we extended this initial phenotypic characterization of Arsg KO mice. This more detailed analysis revealed that ARSG deficiency in mice results in a degeneration of photoreceptor cells, starting between 1 month and 6 months of age (Kruszewski et al., submitted for publication), when neuronal loss in the brain is not yet detectable (Kowalewski et al. 2014). The slowly progressing degeneration of photoreceptor cells was accompanied by a reactive astrogliosis and a dysregulation of several lysosomal proteins. A more detailed analysis of the outer nuclear layer of 24 months old Arsg KO mice revealed that rod photoreceptor cells comprise the photoreceptor cell type that is mainly affected in the mutant mouse, whereas the number of cone photoreceptors remained normal. These results are in line with findings in a mouse model of MPS IIIB, where diminished electroretinographic (ERG) dark-adapted retinal responses indicated a loss of rod function, whereas normal retinal function after light adaptation suggested normal cone function (Heldermon et al. 2007). Of note, in most genetic conditions primary rod photoreceptor degeneration is followed by secondary cone degeneration. Normal numbers of cones in aged Arsg KO mice are likely related to the fact that rod photoreceptor degeneration progresses slowly, and cones are thus not yet affected in 2 year old mutant mice (Madreperla et al. 1990; Hamel 2007; Punzo et al. 2009). The thinning of the outer nuclear layer was accompanied by an accumulation of microglia cells / macrophages in the outer retina suggesting that retinal nerve cell types other than photoreceptor cells were not affected in the Arsg KO mutant. In addition, a recent study identified a novel mutation in the HGSNAT gene in patients displaying symptoms characteristic for RP (Haer-Wigman et al. 2015).

In an attempt to identify the actual cause of the photoreceptor cell degeneration in *Arsg* KO mice, we found that expression of ARSG in healthy adult murine retinas was restricted to the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE). Of interest in this context, RPE cells are vital for normal photoreceptor function and for photoreceptor survival, and a dysfunctional RPE causes photoreceptor cell degeneration (Strauss 2005). Furthermore, previous studies showed that RPE cells significantly contributed to the synthesis and degradation of all major mucopolysaccharides and impaired GAG degradation was suggested to contribute to RP (Del Monte et al. 1991). However, ultrastructural analyses of the RPE of aged *Arsg* KO retinas did not reveal obvious pathological alterations, such as storage vacuoles which are typically found in different tissues of animal models or patients of other MPS III subtypes (Del Monte et al. 1983; Lavery et al. 1983; Bhaumik et al. 1999; Heldermon et al. 2007; Jolly et al. 2007). While it is possible that RPE cells in

Arsg KO mice are functionally impaired but morphologically intact, we cannot exclude the possibility of a low level expression of ARSG in photoreceptor cells that was below the detection level of the immunohistochemical technique used in our study.

In summary, our work extends the phenotypic characterization of *Arsg* KO mice and demonstrates that in addition to Purkinje cell degeneration in the cerebellum. ARSG deficiency additionally causes a slowly progressing degeneration of rod photoreceptor cells. Loss of rod photoreceptor cells was accompanied by reactive astrogliosis, reactive microgliosis and a dysregulation of several lysosomal proteins. We suggest that the retinal phenotype caused by ARSG deficiency might help to identify human patients suffering from MPS caused by mutations in *ARSG*.

2.2. Therapeutic approaches for an ocular treatment independent of the etiology

Currently, there are no effective therapies for the treatment of degenerative retinal disorders affecting different retinal cell types, such as RPE cells, photoreceptor cells or RGCs. Animal models of degenerative retinal disorders provide the possibility to develop novel therapies for these conditions, and to assess the efficacy of these therapeutic interventions in delaying retinal degeneration and preserving visual function. The major strategies to establish effective therapies for retinal dystrophies include pharmacological treatments, the implantation of electronic retinal implants, cell replacement strategies, corrective gene therapy, optogenetic therapy, and neuroprotection (Sahni et al. 2011; Almasieh et al. 2012).

The aim of neuroprotective strategies is not to target the specific cause of the disease but rather its consequences, i.e. to delay the progressive degeneration of retinal cells such as photoreceptors or RGCs. In numerous preclinical studies several proteins have been identified that exert neuroprotective effects on different retinal cell types. One of the first identified neurotrophic factor is nerve growth factor (NGF), which has been shown to protect various nerve cell types from degeneration, including photoreceptor cells (Hamburger et al. 1981). Since then a number of other neuroprotective factors has been identified (Buch et al. 2007). Among those, ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) is by far the most extensively studied neuroprotective factor in the context of degenerative retinal disorders (Wenzel et al. 2005; Wen et al. 2012). For instance, injections of recombinant CNTF into the vitreous cavity of an elevated ocular hypertension rat model of glaucoma significantly protected RGCs from degeneration for up to 4 weeks after the treatment (Ji et al. 2004). In a photoreceptor degeneration mouse model where retinal degeneration was induced by white light exposure, CNTF significantly protected photoreceptors up to 2 weeks after an intravitreal injection of the recombinant protein (LaVail et al. 1998). A number of subsequent studies confirmed the neuroprotective effects of intravitreally

injected recombinant CNTF on photoreceptor cells and RGCs (Maier et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2005; Wen et al. 2006; Lingor et al. 2008; Parrilla-Reverter et al. 2009). However, attenuation of photoreceptor loss or RGC loss in all these studies was only detectable over a short period of time, most likely due to the short half-life of the cytokine. These results indicate that a continuous intraocular administration of neuroprotective factors is required in order to achieve significant and long-lasting therapeutic effects on diseased photoreceptors or RGCs.

2.2.1. Genetically modified neural stem cells for a sustained intraocular administration of neurotrophic factors

The main aim of this thesis was to establish a cell-based delivery system that allows a sustained and controlled administration of neurotrophic factors to the dystrophic mouse retina, and that is suitable for the application in a wide range of preclinical animal models. Of interest in the cell-based neuroprotective strategies is the fact that various unmodified cell types have been demonstrated to exert neuroprotective effects on photoreceptor cells or RGCs after intraocular transplantations into various animal models of retinal dystrophies. The most frequently cell type used in these intraocular transplantation experiments are mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). For instance, intravitreal injections of mouse bone marrow cells in two mouse models of RP, the Pde6b^{rd1} and the Pde6b^{rd10} mouse mutant, attenuated photoreceptor degeneration and preserved ERG recordings (Otani et al. 2004). MSC transplantations also preserved the photoreceptor layer of rhodopsin knockout mice, another animal model of RP (Arnhold et al. 2007). In an ischemia/reperfusion rat model, grafted bone marrow-derived MSCs delayed the loss of RGCs by approximately 25% for up to 4 weeks (Li et al. 2009). Furthermore, intravitreal transplantations of MSCs have been shown to promote RGC survival in an ocular hypertension rat model (Johnson et al. 2010). It has been suggested that MSCs confer their neuroprotective activity on retinal nerve cell types through the secretion of endogenously expressed neurotrophic factors, or through an induction of neurotrophic factor expression in the host cells. In fact, intravitreal transplantations of genetically modified MSCs with an elevated expression of neurotrophic factors, such as neurotrophin-4, resulted in significantly higher protection of damaged retinal cells in an acute retinal injury mouse model (Machalinska et al. 2013). In a chronic ocular hypertension rat model, MSCs modified to secrete brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) preserved retina and optic nerve function more efficiently than MSCs modified to express green fluorescent protein only (GFP). Preservation of RGCs numbers was also greater in BDNF-MSC treated eyes compared to GFP-MSC treated eyes (Harper et al. 2011).

In addition to MSCs, other unmodified and modified cell types have also been tested for their ability to attenuate retinal degeneration, also with promising results regarding retinal Intraocular transplantations of unmodified NS cells exerted cell protection. neuroprotective effects on photoreceptor cells in dystrophic Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) rats, an animal model for RP (Gamm et al. 2007), and on RGCs in the optic nerve crush (ONC) rat model, an animal model for glaucoma (Satarian et al. 2013). We also tested several cell types as cellular vectors to administer neurotrophic factors to the murine retina, including MSCs, the immortalized neural progenitor cell line C17.2, neurosphere cells or primary retinal progenitor cells. However, all these cell types either did not survive for a prolonged period of time in the vitreal cavity after intraocular transplantation, or they integrated and damaged the host retina. Adherently cultivated neural stem (NS) cells isolated from the cerebral cortex of embryonic mice, in contrast, survived for extended periods of time after intravitreal transplantations and exerted no adverse effects on the host retina (Jung et al. 2013; Flachsbarth et al. 2014). NS cell were therefore selected to establish a cell-based intraocular delivery system for neurotrophic factors. The cultivation of NS cells under adherent conditions in the presence of endothelial growth factor (EGF) and fibroblasts growth factor-2 (FGF-2) gives rise to pure populations of symmetrically dividing clonogenic neural stem cells (Conti et al. 2005). Furthermore, NS cells remain tripotent after prolonged expansions of over 100 passages and give rise to neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes when induced to differentiate in vitro and after transplantation into the adult brain or spinal cord in vivo (Conti et al. 2005; Glaser et al. 2007). Based on all these properties, we selected NS cells as the cell type to establish a cell-based intraocular delivery system for neurotrophic factors, and evaluated the neuroprotective potential of unmodified NS cells on dysfunctional photoreceptor cells and axotomized RGCs. These experiments revealed no evidence for neuroprotective effects of intravitreally grafted NS cells on photoreceptor cells in *Pde6b^{rd1}* and *Pde6b^{rd10}* mutant mice, nor on RGCs in the mouse ONC model. We therefore decided to establish genetically modified clonal NS cell lines with an ectopic expression of neurotrophic factors that are known to exert neuroprotective effects on retinal cell types.

2.2.2. Lentiviral modification of NS cells to achieve a stable expression of neurotrophic factors

After selecting NS cells as a vehicle for intraocular neurotrophic factor delivery, we next evaluated how to modify the NS cells to achieve a stable neurotrophic factor expression in undifferentiated NS cells and their differentiated progeny. To this aim, we tested different techniques, including electroporation, nucleofection or lipofection and finally
ended up with lentiviral vectors that are based on the lentiviral "gene ontology" (LeGO) vectors (Fig. 2.2) (Weber et al. 2008; Weber et al. 2010).



Figure 2.2: Structure of lentiviral "gene ontology" (LeGO) vectors.

Shown are different LeGO vectors that are derived from pLentiLox3.7. Unique restriction sites facilitate the exchange of the gene of interest or the reporter gene. The basic construct is available with different fluorescent markers (from Weber et al. 2008).

First, we evaluated which promoter ensures strong and long-lasting expression of transgenes in undifferentiated and neutrally differentiated NS cells. To this aim, we tested a number of different promoters, including cytomegalovirus (CMV), spleen focusforming virus (SFFV), phosphoglycerate kinase 1 (PGK), elongation factor 1 alpha (EF1 alpha) and cytomegalovirus enhancer/chicken β -actin (CAG) promoter (data not shown). We decided to use the CAG promoter because we observed stable expression of different genes of interest and different fluorescent reporter proteins in undifferentiated NS cells for more than 20 passages *in vitro*. Furthermore, the CAG promoter also ensured stable transgene expression in neurons and astrocytes derived from lentivirally modified NS cells. The internal ribosome entry site (IRES) was used to separate the genes of interest from the reporter genes to ensure expression of a fully functional neurotrophic protein without fusion to the fluorescent reporter protein.

2.2.3. Sustained neural stem cell-based intraocular administration of CNTF attenuates photoreceptor cell loss in different mouse models

2.2.3.1. CNTF preserves photoreceptor cells in two mouse models of RP

The aim of the first therapeutic approach was to establish a sustained cell-based neurotrophic factor delivery to the dystrophic mouse retina. To this aim, we cloned a secretable variant of mouse ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), a Venus reporter gene and a zeocin resistance gene into the LeGO vector under regulatory control of the CAG promoter. The CNTF and the reporter gene were separated from each other by an IRES sequence, while the reporter and the resistance gene were separated from each other by a P2A sequence of porcine teschovirus-1, giving rise to the polycistronic lentiviral vector pCAG-CNTF-IRES-Venus-2A-Zeo. The same vector but lacking the CNTF cDNA (pCAG-IRES-Venus-2A-Zeo) was generated for control experiments. CNTF was selected as a neurotrophic factor in these initial experiments, because this cytokine has been shown to exert strong neuroprotective effects on photoreceptor cells and RGCs in different animal models of retinal dystrophies (Wenzel et al. 2005; Harvey et al. 2006; Almasieh et al. 2012; Wen et al. 2012; Wilson and Di Polo 2012).

Of particular interest in this context, encapsulated human RPE cells modified to express CNTF are currently used in clinical trials to evaluate the therapeutic potential of cellbased neuroprotective approaches in patient with RP or AMD (Sieving et al. 2006; Talcott et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2011; Kauper et al. 2012). The CNTF-secreting implant is composed of a semi-permeable membrane which allows oxygen and nutrients to diffuse in and CNTF to diffuse out of the device, thus keeping the cells alive and protecting them from immune responses after intravitreal implantations into the patients' eyes. In comparison to a virus-mediated gene transfer of neurotrophic factors, this encapsulated cell technology offers the advantage to continuously administer neurotrophic factors to dystrophic retinas without the need to genetically modify endogenous retinal cells. Other advantages of this cell-based delivery approach include (i) the possibility to determine the amount of the neurotrophic factor secreted from the encapsulated cell devices prior to implantation and (ii) the possibility to simply retrieve the implant from the eye in case of possible adverse effects of the treatment. In a phase I clinical trial, encapsulated cell devices secreting either low or high amounts of CNTF were implanted into the vitreous cavity of the patients. This safety study revealed a good survival of the encapsulated cells over extended periods of time, and intraocular tolerability of the devices (Sieving et al. 2006). A phase II trial then demonstrated that therapeutically relevant amounts of CNTF were delivered to the diseased retinas, as indicated by an attenuation of cone photoreceptor cells loss over a time period of 24 months when compared with sham-treated eyes (Talcott et al. 2011). The increase in

retinal thickness and the stabilization of visual acuity in CNTF-treated eyes was dosedependent, with a significantly better preservation of visual acuity after implantation of encapsulated cell devices secreting high amounts of the cytokine (20 ng/day). These findings suggest that a cell-based sustained intraocular administration of CNTF via implantations of encapsulated and genetically modified cells can slow the progression of photoreceptor degeneration in patients with geographic atrophy (Zhang et al. 2011). A further study showed that the intraocular delivery of CNTF through encapsulated cells over a time period of up to 2 years did not result in the production of antibodies against CNTF or the encapsulated cell. Thus the encapsulated cell technology seems to represent a safe and suitable neuroprotective approach for the treatment of slowly progressing retinal dystrophies (Kauper et al. 2012). While the encapsulated cell technology is applicable in human patients and large animal models of retinal dystrophies, the large size of the cell implants precludes their use for experiments on the numerous genetic and acutely induced mouse models of degenerative disorders, making a systemic evaluation and optimization of this approach difficult. We therefore aimed at establishing a cell-based intraocular delivery system for neurotrophic factors with nonencapsulated cells that closely mimics properties of the encapsulated cell technology and that can be used to continuously deliver neurotrophic factors and other secretable proteins to the dystrophic mouse retina.

To examine the efficacy of a NS cell-based intraocular delivery of CNTF to attenuate retinal degeneration, we used two animal models of RP, the Pde6b^{rd1} and Pde6b^{rd10}mutant mouse. Both animal models represent naturally occurring mouse mutants carrying mutations in the β -subunit of the *PDE6B* gene. Mutations in the β subunit of the PDE6B gene lead to an impaired activity of cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP)-phosphodiesterase type 6 (cGMP-PDE) of rod photoreceptors. Thus, retinal degeneration results from accumulation of cGMP in rods. cGMP is a messenger molecule in rod photoreceptors which is involved in transduction of light photons into electrical signals. In *Pde6b^{rd1}* mice, rod photoreceptor degeneration starts around postnatal day 8. At postnatal day 15 all rod photoreceptors are degenerated while cone photoreceptors are completely lost by 4 weeks of age. *Pde6b^{rd10}* mice bear another mutation in the Pde6b gene which leads to a later onset of rod photoreceptor degeneration, starting at 2 weeks of age. In contrast to Pde6b^{rd1} mice, photoreceptor degeneration of *Pde6b^{rd10}* mice is light dependent and no ERG recordings are detectable at 2 months of age. Of note, mutations in the PDE6B gene have also been identified in patients with autosomal recessive RP. Thus, both the *Pde6b^{rd1}* and the *Pde6b^{rd10}* mouse represent suitable animal models of RP (Chang et al. 2002; Chang et al. 2007).

Intravitreal transplantations of modified NS cells were performed at postnatal day 7 in Pde6b^{rd1} mice and at postnatal day 14 in Pde6b^{rd10} mice, prior to the onset of photoreceptor degeneration. The grafted NS cells survived for at least two weeks in the host eyes, mainly differentiated into astrocytes and exerted no adverse effects on the morphology of the host retinas. Importantly, the CAG promoter ensured a high and stable expression of CNTF in undifferentiated and differentiated NS cells in vitro and in grafted cells in vivo. Determination of photoreceptor numbers in CNTF treated eyes of Pde6b^{rd1} mice 8 days post-transplantation and of *Pde6b^{rd10}* mice 16 days post-transplantation revealed significant protection of photoreceptors throughout the entire retina in both mouse models when compared with control retinas. These observations indicate that the modified NS cells had secreted functionally relevant amounts of CNTF into the aqueous humour from where the cytokine entered the dystrophic retinas to attenuate retinal degeneration. Clonal selection and subsequent expansion of modified NS cells with high expression levels of the fluorescent reporter protein gave rise to homogeneous clonal NS cell lines with defined and increased expression levels of the cytokine, when compared to the original bulk cultures composed of cells with different expression levels of CNTF. Furthermore, we demonstrated that CNTF protected photoreceptors in both mouse models in a dose-dependent manner, with more surviving photoreceptors in eyes that had received grafts of clonal NS cells with high expression levels of CNTF than in eyes that had received grafts of bulk NS cell cultures with lower expression levels of the cytokine (Jung et al. 2013).

Administration of CNTF to the retina has previously been shown to preserve photoreceptor morphology in a variety of animal models (Wen et al. 2012) but functional analyses of rod photoreceptors revealed a negative impact of CNTF on the light sensitivity of rods and their phototransduction cascade (Wen et al. 2006; Wen et al. 2008). However, some studies showed that low doses of CNTF did not affect ERG functions (Bush et al. 2004; Li et al. 2010). Additionally, clinical trials provided evidence that a long-term administration of CNTF preserved the morphology and function of cone photoreceptors (Sieving et al. 2006; Talcott et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2011). Of note, a recent study confirmed that CNTF protected cone photoreceptors and preserved their function (Lipinski et al. 2015).

In summary, we have demonstrated that a sustained NS cell-based intraocular delivery of CNTF resulted in the administration of functionally relevant amounts of the cytokine to the dystrophic mouse retina, as indicated by the significant attenuation of photoreceptor cell loss in two mouse models of RP that normally display a rapid degeneration of photoreceptor cells. Moreover, we have also demonstrated that the neuroprotective effect of CNTF in both mouse models was widespread and evident over the entire retina. Importantly, adverse effects of the grafted NS cells on the morphology of the host retinas were not observed.

2.2.3.2. CNTF preserves photoreceptors in a mouse model of NCL

To further evaluate the therapeutic potential of a sustained NS cell-based neurotrophic factor delivery in mouse models of retinal dystrophies, we intravitreally transplanted CNTF-NS cells into the *nclf* mouse, an animal model of variant late infantile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (vLINCL). NCL is a genetically heterogeneous group of LSDs with an onset mainly in childhood and youth. Although mutations in various genes (encoding either soluble lysosomal enzymes or intracellular transmembrane proteins) have been identified to cause NCL, the clinical manifestation of these mutations results in similar symptoms, including progressive mental and motor deterioration, brain atrophy, seizures, and premature death. Retinal degeneration and vision loss represent another typical symptom of some NCL variants (Jalanko and Braulke 2009; Anderson et al. 2013; Schulz et al. 2013).

vLINCL is caused by mutations in the *CLN6* gene, which encodes a transmembrane protein of the endoplasmic reticulum with yet unknown function (Gao et al. 2002; Wheeler et al. 2002; Heine et al. 2004; Mole et al. 2004). Dependent on the pathogenic mutation, age of onset and severity of the disease can differ greatly (Kousi et al. 2012). The *nclf* mouse is a naturally occurring mouse model of vLINCL (Bronson et al. 1998). The retinal phenotype of the *nclf* mouse is characterized by an early-onset retinal degeneration, beginning in the first postnatal month. In one year old mutants, photoreceptor cells are almost completely lost. The progressive degeneration of photoreceptors is accompanied by an accumulation of storage material in various retinal cell types, and a dysregulation of several lysosomal proteins. Furthermore, amplitudes of ERG recordings decrease with increasing age of the mutants, and *nclf* mice perform poorly in optokinetic tracking experiments and visual cliff tests (Bartsch et al. 2013; Mirza et al. 2013; Morgan et al. 2013).

Several therapeutic approaches are currently being tested as potential treatment options of NCL, including enzyme replacement therapy (ERT), gene therapy, stem cell therapy and pharmaceutical treatment (Wong et al. 2010; Kohan et al. 2011; Shacka 2012; Bond et al. 2013). In the context of retinal degenerations associated with NCL, neural progenitor cell injections into the vitreal cavity of CLN8 mice and adeno-associated virus (AAV) mediated gene transfer of palmitoyl protein thioesterase-1 into the retina of CLN1 mutant mice significantly delayed photoreceptor degeneration (Griffey et al. 2005; Meyer et al. 2006). Another study reported reduced reactive microgliosis in the degenerating retina of *nclf* mice in response to dietary supplementation enriched in immuno-regulatory compounds (Mirza et al. 2013).

General discussion

In the second neuroprotection study, we used the lentivirally modified NS cells to continuously administer CNTF to the dystrophic nclf mouse retina. We first established a clonal CNTF-NS cell line that expressed higher levels of the cytokine than the cell line used for the experiments on the Pde6b^{rd1} and Pde6b^{rd10} mutant mice. To this aim, we transduced the original clonally derived CNTF-NS cell line again, selected single cells with the highest expression level of the fluorescent reporter protein by fluorescent activated cell sorting (FACS), and clonally expanded these cells. This procedure was repeated several times until a clonally derived CNTF-NS cell culture with high expression of the cytokine was established for all further experiments. Intravitreal transplantations were performed in 2 week old mice, prior to the onset of photoreceptor degeneration. The intravitreally injected NS cells survived over a time period of at least 6 weeks in the host eyes where they predominantly differentiated into glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)-positive astrocytes. Six weeks after transplantation, expression of CNTF was detectable in astrocytes derived from grafted CNTF-NS cells, but not in astrocytes derived from grafted control-NS cells. Analyses of CNTF treated eyes 2, 4, and 6 weeks post-transplantation revealed significantly higher photoreceptor numbers when compared to eyes that had received injections of control-NS cells. The protective effects of CNTF on photoreceptors were evident in all retinal regions, similar to observations in $Pde6b^{rd1}$ and *Pde6b^{rd10}* mice, indicating a sustained delivery of CNTF to the entire *nclf* retina over a period of at least 6 weeks. Similar to the results obtained for the Pde6b^{rd1} and Pde6b^{rd10} retinas, we observed no adverse effects of the transplanted NS cells on the host retina of nclf mice. However, we occasionally found small-sized retinal folds in restricted retinal regions of nclf mice treated with CNTF-NS cells, which were absent from retinas of mice that had received injections of control-NS cells. Similar retinal folds were found in healthy or dystrophic feline retinas after repeated intravitreal injections of the CNTF analogue axokine (Chong et al. 1999). Therefore, we concluded that the retinal folds represent a complication of the prolonged administration of CNTF rather than a complication of the NS cell transplantation itself (Jankowiak et al. 2015). Thus, retinal fold are among the complications of long-term administration of high-doses of CNTF, in addition to the dose-dependent dysregulation of some components of the phototransduction cascade (Liang et al. 2001; Schlichtenbrede et al. 2003; Bush et al. 2004; Wen et al. 2006; McGill et al. 2007).

Taken together, this study provides evidence that a sustained intraocular NS cell-based delivery of CNTF attenuates retinal degeneration in another mouse model of photoreceptor cell loss. Although the pathomechanisms leading to the photoreceptor degeneration in *nclf* mice and both *Pde6b* mouse mutants are different, application of CNTF significantly attenuated photoreceptor cell loss in all three mouse models.

Accordingly, we conclude that a sustained cell-based CNTF delivery results in significant protection of photoreceptors over a prolonged period of time, irrespective of the specific etiology of the photoreceptor degeneration.

2.2.3.3. CNTF attenuates RGC loss and promotes axonal regeneration in a mouse ONC model

It has been proposed that an elevated IOP can result in an impaired axonal transport of neurotrophic factors, ultimately leading to the apoptotic death of RGCs (Fig. 2.3) (Anderson and Hendrickson 1974; Quigley et al. 2000; Pease et al. 2009; Almasieh et al. 2012). Several investigations have identified a number of neurotrophic factors that are capable to delay RGC degeneration in various animal models of glaucomatous optic neuropathies (Harvey et al. 2006; Lebrun-Julien and Di Polo 2008; Johnson et al. 2011; Wilson and Di Polo 2012). For instance, protective effects of BDNF have been intensively investigated in preclinical animal models of optic nerve injury and ocular hypertension (Mansour-Robaey et al. 1994; Di Polo et al. 1998; Isenmann et al. 1998; Ko et al. 2000; Martin et al. 2003). CNTF is another neurotrophic factor that has been shown to rescue RGCs from degeneration in various studies (Mey and Thanos 1993; Weise et al. 2000; van Adel et al. 2003; Ji et al. 2004; Maier et al. 2004; MacLaren et al. 2006; Parrilla-Reverter et al. 2009; Pease et al. 2009; Hellstrom and Harvey 2011). Additionally, CNTF not only promoted survival of degenerating RGCs but additionally induced long-distance regrowth of injured RGC axons into the distal optic nerve stump in animal models of a lesion-induced RGC loss (Cui et al. 2003; Leaver et al. 2006; Lingor et al. 2008; Muller et al. 2009; Hellstrom and Harvey 2011; Pernet et al. 2013).



Figure 2.3: Apoptotic RGC degeneration in glaucoma as a result of neurotrophic factor deprivation.

Elevated IOP leads to an impaired axonal transport of target-derived neurotrophic factors which may represent one pathomechanism in glaucoma (from Almasieh et al. 2012).

To further investigate whether a NS cell-based intraocular delivery of CNTF is capable to attenuate the degeneration of retinal nerve cell types other than photoreceptor cells, and to evaluate whether neuroprotective effects of this approach can be detected over a time period longer than six weeks, CNTF expressing NS cells were transplanted into an ONC mouse model. In this study, we established another clonally derived NS cell line with an ectopic expression of high levels of CNTF. Immunocytochemical and immunoblot analyses confirmed a stable expression of CNTF for more than 30 passages also in this cell line. To induce degeneration of RGCs in adult mice, animals received an intraorbital crush of the optic nerve. The modified CNTF secreting clonal NS cell line was intravitreally grafted one day after the lesion. Determination of the number of surviving RGCs in flat-mounted retinas 1, 2, 3, and 4 months post-lesion revealed a significant protection of the axotomized RGCs in CNTF treated retinas when compared to control retinas at all post-lesion intervals analyzed. Examination of the transplanted NS cells confirmed that the donor cells had survived in the vitreous cavity over a time period of at least four months, the longest post-transplantation interval investigated. The transplanted NS cells were preferentially attached to the posterior pole of the lenses and were differentiated into astrocytes, similar to our previous observations in the Pde6b^{rd1}, Pde6b^{rd10}, and nclf mouse models of inherited photoreceptor degeneration. As mentioned before for CNTF treated nclf retinas, adverse effects of the transplanted NS cells on the host retinas were not observed, with the only exception of regionally restricted retinal folds that formed as a consequence of the sustained administration of high doses of the cytokine (Chong et al. 1999). Because CNTF is also known to promote axonal regeneration, we additionally analyzed whether sustained intraocular CNTF delivery had induced regrowth of the lesioned RGC axons in the ONC mouse model. To this aim, we performed anterograde axonal tracing experiments in NS cell treated animals one month after the optic nerve crush. While the grafted CNTF expressing NS cells promoted long distance regeneration of the axotomized RGC axons with some axons extended for more than 2 mm across the lesion site into the distal nerve stump, grafted control-NS cells induced only aberrant axonal sprouting over a distance of approximately 0.5 mm across the lesion site (Flachsbarth et al. 2014).

In summary, this study demonstrates that intravitreally grafted CNTF secreting NS cells not only efficiently attenuate the degeneration of photoreceptor cells, but also the lesioninduced loss of RGCs. This observation confirms and extends the view that therapeutic neuroprotective approaches can be potentially applied to diverse neurodegenerative diseases, irrespective of the specific etiology of the disease or the specific cell type affected. Another important result of the present study is the finding that intravitreally grafted NS cells survived for at least four months in the host eyes without exerting adverse effects on the host retinas. The NS cell-based delivery system can therefore be used in long-term studies that are aimed to evaluate the therapeutic potential of secreted gene products in mouse models of retinal disorders.

2.2.3.4. VEGF-B, a novel neurotrophic factor for axotomized RGCs

After having demonstrated the therapeutic potential of a sustained NS cell-based delivery of CNTF in four different mouse models of retinal dystrophies, we next wanted to use this approach to investigate the neuroprotective effects of new neurotrophic factors on retinal cell types *in vivo*. Specifically, we decided to test the therapeutic potential of vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGF-B) in a mouse model of lesion-induced RGC loss.

VEGF-B is a member of the VEGF family which consists of 5 structurally related proteins, VEGF (or VEGF-A), VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, and placental growth factor (PIGF). Because VEGFs and their receptors are known to play a pivotal role in both vasculogenesis and angiogenesis, VEGF-B has long been implicated in angiogenesis as well (Brockington et al. 2004; Holmes and Zachary 2005; Bry et al. 2014). However, studies aimed at evaluating the angiogenic activity of VEGF-B have provided only inconsistent results (Bellomo et al. 2000; Aase et al. 2001; Li et al. 2008; Lahteenvuo et al. 2009; Zentilin et al. 2010). Furthermore, recent investigations surprisingly demonstrated potent neurotrophic activities of classical angiogenic factors, such as VEGF-A. However, the use of VEGF for neuroprotective interventions is limited due to its potent angiogenic and permeability promoting activity (Sondell et al. 2000; Oosthuyse et al. 2001; Jin et al. 2002; Rosenstein et al. 2003; Khaibullina et al. 2004; Storkebaum et al. 2004; Kingham et al. 2014; Pelletier et al. 2015). The novel findings of neuroprotective functions of classical angiogenic factors stimulated work aimed at identifying possible neuroprotective activities of VEGF-B. Interestingly, various studies indeed showed that VEGF-B exerts neuroprotective effects on cerebral cortical neurons, dorsal root ganglion neurons and motor neurons in vitro (Sun et al. 2004; Poesen et al. 2008; Dhondt et al. 2011), and on sensory neurons and dopaminergic neurons in vivo (Poesen et al. 2008; Dhondt et al. 2011).

In our study, we cloned the mouse VEGF-B cDNA of the isoform 167 into a lentiviral vector additionally encoding the fluorescent reporter gene tdTomato in fusion with the resistance gene blasticidin under regulatory control of the CAG promoter, giving rise to the bicistronic vector pCAG-VEGF-B-IRES-tdTomato/BSD. For control experiments, the same vector but lacking the VEGF-B cDNA was used (pCAG-IRES-tdTomato/-BSD). After having established clonally derived NS cell lines with high expression levels of VEGF-B, cells were first characterized *in vitro*. Immunocytochemical analyses with anti-VEGF-B antibodies confirmed a stable expression of VEGF-B and reporter protein in undifferentiated NS cells, and in differentiated neurons and astrocytes derived from the

modified stem cells. To evaluate the neuroprotective potential of the VEGF-B-NS cell line in vivo, intravitreal injections of the modified NS cells were performed one day after an optic nerve lesion in adult wild-type mice. Quantitative analyses of flat-mounted retinas revealed the presence of significantly more surviving RGCs in VEGF-B treated retinas than in control retinas 14, 28, and 56 days after the nerve lesion. The results are in line with a recent report demonstrating significant protection of axotomized RGCs two weeks after an intravitreal injection of recombinant VEGF-B₁₆₇ into adult mice (Li et al. 2008). The sustained NS cell-based treatment used in the present study significantly prolonged the protective effects of VEGF-B on lesioned RGCs for up to 1.5 month after the optic nerve injury when compared to the injections of recombinant VEGF-B. To further confirm that the delay of RGC loss was a specific effect of VEGF-B, several studies injected VEGFR-1 inhibitors which abolished VEGF-B mediated neuroprotection (Li et al. 2008). Unlike VEGF-B₁₈₇, VEGF-B₁₆₇ is partly sequestered in the extracellular matrix, which possibly reduces the neuroprotective effects of the latter VEGF-B isoform. It will thus be interesting to compare the neuroprotective activities of both VEGF-B isoforms in future studies (Grimmond et al. 1996; Olofsson et al. 1996; Bry et al. 2014). In addition to analyzing RGC survival, we also performed anterograde axonal tracing experiments one month after the optic nerve crush to evaluate whether VEGF-B promotes axonal regeneration. In contrast to the long-distance regrowth of axotomized axons observed in CNTF-NS cell treated eyes, we did not observe significant regrowth of injured axons in VEGF-B cell treated eyes. A study in superoxide dismutase 1 mutant mice, an animal model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, also failed to observe neurite outgrowth promoting effects of VEGF-B on motor neurons (Poesen et al. 2008). Another investigation also confirmed that administration of VEGF-B does not induce axonal regeneration of the central nervous system neurons. However, VEGF-B restored sensation in the peripheral nervous system suggesting that the protein stimulates peripheral neurons to regrow their axons (Guaiquil et al. 2014). Finally, we analyzed the retinal vasculature of VEGF-B treated and control retinas, but found no differences with regard to total vessel length and number of vessel branching points between those two treatments, confirming that VEGF-B does not induce retinal neovascularization, even after prolonged intraocular administration of the protein. Of interest, a genome survey of the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans identified four receptors which are structurally related to VEGF receptors. Since nematodes lack a vascular system and the receptors are expressed on cells of neural origin it is intriguing to conclude that VEGFs and their receptors developed from one protein which may have had a neuroprotective rather than an angiogenic function (Popovici et al. 2002).

In summary, we confirmed that a sustained intraocular NS cell-based administration of VEGF-B significantly protected axotomized RGCs from degeneration over a time period of at least 2 months post-lesion. Furthermore, results of the present study also demonstrate that a continuous delivery of VEGF-B to the dystrophic retina does not induce retinal neovascularization. In contrast to CNTF which rescued axotomized RGCs from death and promoted long distance regeneration of injured RGC axons, VEGF-B protected lesioned RGCs from degeneration but exerted no effects on axonal regrowth.

3. Project 1:

Degeneration of photoreceptor cells in AryIsulfatase G-deficient mice.

Abstract

Purpose. Retinal degeneration is a common feature of several lysosomal storage disorders including the mucopolysaccharidoses, a group of metabolic disorders that is characterized by widespread accumulation of glycosaminoglycans due to lysosomal enzyme dysfunction. Here, we used a new mouse model of mucopolysaccharidosis IIIE to study the effect of Arylsulfatase G (ARSG) deficiency on retina integrity.

Methods. The retina of *Arsg* knockout mice aged between 1 and 24 months was analyzed by immunohistochemistry. Electron microscopic analyses were performed on retinas from 15 and 22 months old animals. Photoreceptor and microglia cell numbers and retina thickness was determined to quantitatively characterize retinal degeneration in ARSG-deficient mice.

Results. *Arsg* knockout mice showed a progressive degeneration of photoreceptor cells starting between 1 and 6 months of age, resulting in the loss of more than 50% of photoreceptor cells in 24 months old mice. Photoreceptor loss was accompanied by reactive astrogliosis, reactive microgliosis that was evident in the outer but not the inner retina, and elevated expression levels of some lysosomal proteins. Ultrastructural analyses of retinas revealed no evidence for the presence of storage vacuoles. Of note, expression of ARSG protein in wild-type mice was only detectable in the retinal pigment epithelium which, however, appeared unaffected in knockout mice at the ultrastructural level.

Conclusions. This is the first study demonstrating that ARSG deficiency results in progressive photoreceptor degeneration. The ARSG-related retinal phenotype might help to identify possible patients suffering from mucopolysaccharidosis caused by mutations in *ARSG*.

3.1. Introduction

The lysosomal degradative pathway of sulfated glycosaminoglycans (GAG) comprises a sophisticated hydrolytic network of highly specific glycosidases and sulfatases for complete degradation of these complex polysaccharides to sulfate and monosaccharides (Muenzer 1986; Neufeld 2001; Clarke 2008; Muenzer 2011; Coutinho et al. 2012). For each sulfate residue in different positions of the sugar moiety, distinct sulfatases are indispensable for their desulfation, which in turn is a prerequisite for glycosidic hydrolysis. Pathogenic mutations in genes coding for these hydrolytic enzymes lead to impaired degradation of GAGs and as a consequence to an accumulation of the corresponding substrates in lysosomes, a clinical situation described as lysosomal storage disorder (LSD). Disorders resulting from impaired lysosomal degradation of sulfated GAGs (heparan sulfate, dermatan sulfate, chondroitin sulfate and keratan sulfate) are summarized as mucopolysaccharidoses (MPSs) (Muenzer 1986; Neufeld 2001; Clarke 2008; Muenzer 2011; Coutinho et al. 2012; Kowalewski et al. 2012). One sub-group of the MPSs is Sanfilippo syndrome (MPS type III), which exclusively affects the degradation of heparan sulfate (HS). Mutations in genes coding for four different enzymes, needed for the removal of sulfated glucosamine residues of HS, are known to cause MPS III subtypes in humans, including N-sulfoglucosamine sulfohydrolase (encoded by SGSH; MPS IIIA), N-α-acetylglucosaminidase (encoded by NAGLU; MPS IIIB), heparan- α -glucosaminide N-acetyltransferase (encoded by HGSNAT; MPS IIIC) and N-acetylglucosamine-6-sulfatase (encoded by GNS; MPS IIID) (Valstar et al. 2008; Coutinho et al. 2012). Taking all pathogenic mutations in these four genes together, MPS III is the most frequently occurring type of MPS with a reported prevalence in different populations of 0.28 to 4.1 per 100,000 births (Valstar et al. 2008). We have recently shown that a fifth enzyme is critical for complete degradation of HS glucosamine residues when sulfated in the C3 position of glucosamine: Arylsulfatase G (ARSG), also termed N-sulfoglucosamine-3-O-sulfatase (Kowalewski et al. 2012; Kowalewski et al. 2014). We have generated Arsg knockout (KO) mice, and have demonstrated accumulation of HS in different organ systems including liver, kidney and brain (Kowalewski et al. 2012). Due to its assigned role in the degradation of HS and the resulting Sanfilippo syndrome-like pathological alterations, we tentatively assigned this MPS type as MPS IIIE. Compared to mouse models of the other MPS III subtypes (Bhaumik et al. 1999; Li et al. 1999; Martins et al. 2015), Arsq KO mice presented with a milder phenotype and a later onset of the disease, with Purkinje cell degeneration in the cerebellum as the major neurological phenotype (Kowalewski et al. 2015). Severe ataxia and Purkinje cell degeneration was also observed in an American Staffordshire Terrier dog pedigree that lacks functional ARSG due to a point mutation in the ARSG gene (Abitbol et al. 2010). This canine model was assigned as a model of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (NCL) because of the large amounts of accumulated lipofuscin in neurons. Human patients carrying pathogenic mutations in *ARSG* have not been identified until now.

MPSs are multisystemic disorders affecting most cell types of the body. However, the impaired cellular clearance of GAGs and the resulting lysosomal dysfunction is of particular detrimental significance for postmitotic cells such as neurons, as reflected by the profound neurological symptoms of most MPS patients. In MPS III patients, neurodegeneration is the key clinical feature, ultimately leading to premature death (Valstar et al. 2008; Muenzer 2011; Coutinho et al. 2012). The four human MPS III subtypes are clinically similar, with typical symptoms including developmental delay, mild coarse facial features, progressive loss of mental and motor functions, and epileptic seizures. Cortical atrophy and ventricular enlargement are common findings. Patients usually die at the end of the second or beginning of the third decade of life, often due to respiratory insufficiencies (Muenzer 1986; Zafeiriou et al. 2001; Valstar et al. 2008; Muenzer 2011; Coutinho et al. 2012; Wijburg et al. 2013). In addition to the brain, the retina is affected to a significant extent in two prominent groups of LSDs: retinal degeneration is a characteristic feature of several neuronal ceroid lipofuscinoses (NCL) (Koike et al. 2003; Weleber et al. 2004; Bozorg et al. 2009; Jalanko and Braulke 2009; Anderson et al. 2013; Bartsch et al. 2013; Schulz et al. 2013) and is also frequently seen in MPSs. Ocular involvement was reported in both patients and animal models of the majority of MPS subtypes, including MPSIII (Caruso et al. 1986; Lazarus et al. 1993; Bhaumik et al. 1999; Ashworth et al. 2006b; Ashworth et al. 2006a; Heldermon et al. 2007; Ferrari et al. 2011; Haer-Wigman et al. 2015). MPS III patients typically present with progressive photoreceptor loss closely resembling that occurring in retinitis pigmentosa, whereas the ganglion cells and optic nerve are usually unaffected (Del Monte et al. 1983; Lavery et al. 1983; Caruso et al. 1986; Ashworth et al. 2006b; Ashworth et al. 2006a; Ferrari et al. 2011; Ganesh et al. 2013; Haer-Wigman et al. 2015). In this study we describe degenerative changes in the retina of ARSG-deficient mice, a new mouse model of mucopolysaccharidosis type III. Progressive photoreceptor loss in the mouse starts between 1 and 6 months of age and is accompanied by reactive astrogliosis and microgliosis, and a dysregulation of several lysosomal proteins. We define retinal degeneration as an important and early onset pathological feature of ARSG-deficiency which might serve as a new predictive criterion to identify possible human MPS IIIE patients.

3.2. Materials and Methods

3.2.1. Animals

Arylsulfatase G knockout (*Arsg* KO) mice were generated as described elsewhere (Kowalewski et al. 2012). Mice were maintained on a mixed C57BL/6 129/Ola genetic background and housed according to the institutional guidelines of the University Bielefeld, with ad libitum access to food and water. Genotyping of mice was performed as described (Kowalewski et al. 2012). In all experiments, age-matched C57BL/6 129/Ola wild-type mice served as a control.

3.2.2. Electron microscopy

For electron microscopy, 15 and 22 months old *Arsg* KO and age-matched wild-type mice were deeply anesthetized and transcardially perfused with phosphate-buffered saline followed by perfusion with 6% glutaraldehyde (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) in phosphate buffer. Eyes were enucleated, the lenses were removed, and the bulbs were post-fixed with 2% osmium tetroxide, dehydrated and embedded in Araldite. Ultrathin sections were stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate and examined with a Zeiss EM900 electron microscope (Zeiss, Jena, Germany) equipped with a Megaview III digital camera (Albert Tröndle, Moorenweis, Germany).

3.2.3. Immunohistochemistry of retina sections

Immunohistochemical analyses were performed on retinas from 1, 6, 12 and 24 months old Arsg KO and age-matched wild-type mice. Animals were sacrificed and eyes were quickly removed and fixed overnight in phosphate buffered saline (PBS; pH 7.4) containing 4% paraformaldehyde (PA). After dehydration in an ascending series of sucrose, eyes were frozen in Tissue-Tek (Sakura Finetek, Zouterwoude, Netherlands) and serially sectioned with a cryostat at a thickness of 25 µm. Central (i.e. in the plane of the optic disc) retina sections were first blocked in PBS containing 0.1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 0.3% Triton X-100 (both from Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, CA) for 1 hour and then incubated with primary antibodies (see table 1) overnight at room temperature. After washing with PBS, sections were incubated with Cy2- or Cy3-conjugated secondary antibodies (Jackson ImmunoResearch, West Grove, PA) for 4 hours, stained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; Sigma-Aldrich) and mounted onto slides. For detection of mannose 6-phosphate- (M6P) containing proteins, retina sections were incubated with the myc-tagged single-chain antibody fragment scFv M6P-1 (Muller-Loennies et al. 2010) followed by polyclonal rabbit anti-myc antibodies (Sigma-Aldrich) and Cy3-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit antibodies. To visualize cones, sections were stained with biotinylated peanut agglutinin (BPA; Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA)

overnight at room temperature, followed by Cy3-conjugated Streptavidin (Jackson ImmunoResearch) and DAPI. In all experiments sections from *Arsg* KO and agematched wild-type mice were processed in parallel and under identical conditions. At least 6 animals were analyzed for each antigen, developmental age and genotype.

For immunohistochemical analyses of ARSG expression in retinal pigment epithelial (RPE) cells, the melanin pigment was bleached (Mishima et al. 1999). Sections were incubated in 0.05% potassium permanganate (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) for 25 minutes, washed with PBS, incubated for 5 minutes in 0.5% oxalic acid (Carl Roth GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany) and washed again with PBS before they were incubated with anti-ARSG antibodies.

| antigen | dilution | Company/reference |
|--|----------|--------------------------------|
| Arylsulfatase G (ARSG) | 1:100 | R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN |
| Brain-specific homeobox/POU domain | 1:200 | Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., |
| protein 3A (Brn-3a) | | Santa Cruz, CA |
| Cathepsin D | 1:4.000 | (Claussen et al. 1997) |
| Cluster of Differentiation 68 (CD68) | 1:1.000 | AbD Serotec, Kidlington, UK |
| Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) | 1:500 | Dako Cytomation GmbH, |
| | | Hamburg, Germany |
| Ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule 1 | 1:200 | Wako Chemicals GmbH, |
| (lba1) | | Neuss, Germany |
| Lysosomal-associated membrane protein 1 | 1:200 | Developmental Studies |
| (Lamp1) | | Hybridoma Bank, Iowa City, IA |
| Mannose 6-phosphate (M6P) | 1:2.000 | (Muller-Loennies et al. 2010) |
| Protein kinase C alpha (PKCα) | 1:500 | Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., |
| | | Santa Cruz, CA |
| Recoverin (Rec) | 1:3.000 | Merck, Darmstadt, Germany |
| Retinal pigment epithelium-specific 65 kDa | 1:2.000 | Neuromics Antibodies, Edina, |
| protein (RPE65) | | MN |
| Rhodopsin (Rho) | 1:5.000 | Merck, Darmstadt, Germany |
| Saposin D | 1:2.000 | (Klein et al. 1994) |

Table 3.1: Primary antibodies used for immunohistochemistry

For each antigen, sections from *Arsg* KO and age-matched wild-type mice were analyzed in parallel and with the same microscope settings using an Olympus FV 1000 confocal microscope (Olympus, Hamburg, Germany).

3.2.4. Photoreceptor counts and retina and outer nuclear layer thickness

To quantify the loss of photoreceptor cells in *Arsg* KO mice, central retina sections from mutant and age-matched wild-type mice were stained with anti-recoverin antibodies and DAPI. A merged confocal image of the entire retina section was prepared using Photoshop CS6 software (Adobe Systems Inc., San Jose, CA), and photoreceptor nuclei were counted at three defined positions corresponding to 25%, 50% and 75% of the distance between the optic disc and the peripheral margin of the nasal and temporal retina, respectively. Each area defined for photoreceptor counts covered the outer nuclear layer over a length of 220 μ m (Jung et al. 2013). Statistical analyses of data were performed with the Student's *t*-test using GraphPad software (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA).

The thickness of the retina and the outer nuclear layer (i.e. photoreceptor cell bodies and inner and outer photoreceptor segments) was measured in central retina sections at nine equidistant positions between the optic disc and the periphery of the nasal and the temporal retinal half, respectively. Numbers of Iba1- and CD68-positive cells with a clearly visible DAPI-positive nucleus were determined in the inner retina (i.e. nerve fiber layer, ganglion cell layer, inner plexiform layer and inner nuclear layer) and outer retina (i.e. outer plexiform layer, photoreceptor cell bodies and inner and outer photoreceptor segments) of *Arsg* KO and wild-type mice aged between 1 and 24 months. The area of the inner and outer retina was measured using Photoshop CS6 software, and the density of positive cells was calculated. Statistical analyses of data were performed with the two-way ANOVA test followed by a Bonferroni Posthoc test using GraphPad software.

To determine the density of retinal ganglion cells (RGCs), eyes of 18 months old *Arsg* KO and age-matched wild-type mice (n=5 for each genotype) were fixed in 4% PA and retinas were flat-mounted on nitrocellulose membranes (Sartorius AG, Göttingen, Germany) as described (Flachsbarth et al. 2014). After blocking in PBS containing 0.1% BSA and 1% Triton X-100, retinas were incubated with polyclonal goat anti-Brn-3a antibodies overnight at room temperature. Primary antibodies were detected with Cy3-conjugated secondary antibodies, and flat-mounted retinas were stained with DAPI and mounted onto slides. Five images were taken from the center to the periphery of the superior, inferior, nasal and temporal retinal quadrant, covering a total area of approximately 1.9 mm². All Brn-3a-positive RGCs visible on these images were counted using Adobe Photoshop CS6 software, and the density of RGCs per mm² retinal area was calculated. Statistical analysis of data was performed using the Student's *t*-test.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Retinal degeneration in ARSG-deficient mice

To characterize the retinal phenotype of mice deficient in Arylsulfatase G (ARSG) (Kowalewski et al. 2012; Kowalewski et al. 2015), we stained central retina sections from *Arsg* KO and age-matched wild-type mice with antibodies to glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP). In 1 month old mutants (Fig. 3.1b) and wild-type mice (Fig. 3.1a), expression of GFAP was restricted to retinal astrocytes located at the vitreal margin of the retinas. A similar pattern of GFAP expression was observed in the retina of wild-type mice aged between 6 and 24 months (not shown). In 6 (Fig. 3.1c), 12 (Fig. 3.1d) and 24 (Fig. 3.1e) months old *Arsg* KO mice, in comparison, expression of GFAP was elevated in retinal astrocytes and became additionally detectable in Müller cells. Reactive astrogliosis in *Arsg* KO was accompanied by a progressive thinning of the outer nuclear layer. Analyses of retina sections from 1 month old *Arsg* KO and age-matched wild-type mice stained with anti-recoverin antibodies to label photoreceptor cells revealed a similar thickness of the outer nuclear layer of both genotypes (compare Fig. 3.1f and g). In 6 (Fig. 3.1h), 12 (Fig. 3.1i) and 24 months (Fig. 3.1j) old *Arsg* KO mice, the thickness of the photoreceptor layer decreased with increasing age of the animals.



Figure 3.1: Expression of GFAP and recoverin in retinas of *Arsg* KO and wild-type mice at different developmental ages.

In 1 month old wild-type (a) and *Arsg* KO mice (b), expression of GFAP was restricted to astrocytes located at the vitreal margin of the retina. In 6 (c), 12 (d) and 24 (e) months old mutants, in comparison, expression of GFAP was strongly elevated in retinal astrocytes and was additionally detectable in Müller cells. Immunostainings with anti-recoverin antibodies revealed a similar thickness of the outer nuclear layer (onl) in 1 month old wild-type (f) and age-matched *Arsg* KO mice (g). In 6 (h), 12 (i) and 24 (j) months old mutants, the thickness of the outer nuclear layer decreased significantly with increasing age of the animals. All sections were stained with DAPI to label cell nuclei. gcl: ganglion cell layer; GFAP: glial fibrillary acidic protein; inl: inner nuclear layer; ipl: inner plexiform layer, Rec: recoverin. Scale bar in j (for a-j): 50 µm.

Measurements of the retina thickness at 9 equidistant positions between the optic disc and the periphery of the nasal and temporal retina, respectively (Fig. 3.2A), revealed similar values for 1 month old wild-type and age-matched *Arsg* KO mice at all retinal positions analyzed (Fig. 3.2Ba). In 6 months old mutants, in comparison, retina thickness was significantly decreased at all retinal positions when compared to 1 month old Arsg KO mice (Fig. 3.2Ba). Retina thickness was further decreased in 24 months old mutants when compared to 6 months old Arsg KO mice (Fig. 3.2Ba), in line with the immunohistochemical data. Similarly, we observed no significant differences in the thickness of the outer nuclear layer between one month old Arsg KO and wild-type mice, but a progressive thinning of this layer in older Arsg KO mice (Fig. 3.2Bb). The thickness of the inner retina, in contrast, was similar in mutant and wild-type mice at all ages analyzed (data not shown), indicating that the retinal dystrophy in Arsg KO mice is mainly or exclusively due to a progressive loss of photoreceptor cells. In line with these results, we found similar densities of PKCa-positive bipolar cells in 24 months old animals of both genotypes (data not shown). Furthermore, the density of retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) in 18 months old animals did not differ significantly between both genotypes, with 3,688 ±165 RGCs/mm2 retina area (mean ±SEM) in wild-type mice and 3,932 ±180 RGCs/mm2 retina area in Arsg KO mutants (n=5 for each genotype; Supplementary Fig. 3.S1).



Figure 3.2: Thickness of the retina and the outer nuclear layer of *Arsg* KO and wild-type mice.

The thickness of the retina and the outer nuclear layer (i.e. photoreceptor cell bodies and inner and outer photoreceptor segments) was measured in central retina sections stained with anti-recoverin antibodies and DAPI (A) at nine equidistant positions (indicated with white lines in A) between the optic nerve head (ONH) and the periphery of the nasal and temporal retinal half, respectively. Analyses revealed a similar thickness of the retina and the outer nuclear layer in 1 month old *Arsg* KO (grey squares in Ba and Bb, respectively) and age-matched wild-type mice (black circles in Ba and Bb, respectively). In 6 months old mutants, the thickness of the retina and outer nuclear layer (green triangles 475 in Ba and Bb, respectively) was significantly decreased at all positions when compared with 1 month old mutants. Retina and outer nuclear layer thickness was further decreased in 24 months old mutants (red triangles in Ba and Bb, respectively) when compared with 6 months old *Arsg* KO mice. Each symbol represents the mean value (±SEM) of 6 animals. *: p < 0.05; **: p < 0.01; ***: p < 0.001 according to the two-way ANOVA followed by a Bonferroni posthoc test. M: month; Rec: recoverin. Scale bar in A: 200 µm.

To further quantify the loss of photoreceptor cells in the mutant, photoreceptor cell nuclei were counted in three areas located at defined positions of the nasal and temporal retina, respectively, each covering the outer nuclear layer over a length of 220 µm. In 1 month old animals, we found similar numbers of photoreceptor cells in wild-type mice (427.1 ± 3.5 photoreceptor cells/area; mean \pm SEM; n=6) and Arsg KO mutants (434.3 ± 9.5 ; n=6; Fig. 3.3). In older mutants, the number of photoreceptor cells decreased significantly with increasing age of the animals. In 6, 12 and 24 months old mutants, we found 302.1 ±7.6, 258.0 ±8.3, and 179.5 ±6.6 photoreceptor cells/area, respectively (Fig. 3.3). Retinas from wild-type mice analyzed for comparison contained 424.8 ±5.3, 404.4 ±4.7, and 404.2 ±5.6 photoreceptor cells/area at the age of 6, 12 and 24 months, respectively (Fig. 3.3). To analyze whether the retinal dystrophy is the result of a progressive loss of rods or cones or both photoreceptor cell types, retina sections were labelled with anti-rhodopsin antibodies or peanut agglutinin. These experiments revealed the presence of apparently normal numbers of rods and cones with normal inner and outer segments in one month old mutants (Supplementary Fig. 3.S2). In older ARSG-deficient mice, the length of the outer segments of rods and cones was shortened when compared to wild-type mice. Furthermore, we found a similar density of cones in Arsq KO mice and wild-type mice at all developmental ages analyzed (for 24 months old mice, see Supplementary Fig. 3.S2).



Figure 3.3: Photoreceptor numbers in *Arsg* KO and wild-type mice at different developmental ages.

Photoreceptor counts in 1 month old *Arsg* KO (black bar) and wild-type mice (grey bar) revealed similar cell numbers in both genotypes. In 6, 12 and 24 months old animals, photoreceptor numbers were significantly lower in *Arsg* KO mice when compared with age-matched wild-type mice, and decreased significantly with increasing age of the mutant. Each bar represents the mean value (±SEM) from 6 animals. n.s.: not significant; **: p < 0.01; ***: p < 0.001 according to the Student's *t*-test; mo: month.

3.3.2. Microglial cells in ARSG-deficient and wild-type retinas

Retina sections from mutant and wild-type mice of different developmental ages were stained with antibodies to Iba1 and CD68 to study reactive microgliosis in Arsg KO mice. In 1 month old animals, ramified Iba1-positive cells were found in the ganglion cell layer, inner plexiform layer, inner nuclear layer and outer plexiform layer, with no obvious differences in cell density or cell morphology between both genotypes (compare Fig. 3.4Aa and Ab). In older Arsg KO mice, Iba1-positive cells with a rounded amoeboid-like morphology became additionally detectable in the subretinal space of Arsg KO retinas (Fig. 3.4Ad). CD68-positive activated microglia/macrophages were essentially absent from wild-type retinas (for a 24 months old wild-type retina, see Fig. 3.4e) and from 1 month old Arsg KO retinas. In comparison, CD68-positive cells with an amoeboid morphology were frequently found in 6, 12 and 24 months old mutant retinas where they were mainly localized in the subretinal space (Fig. 3.4Af). Quantitative analyses revealed a similar density of Iba1-positive cells in the inner retina (defined as ganglion cell layer, inner plexiform layer and inner nuclear layer) of Arsg KO mutants and wild-type mice aged between 1 and 24 months, and in the outer retina (defined as outer plexiform layer, photoreceptor cell bodies and inner and outer photoreceptor segments) of 1 month old wild-type and Arsg KO mice (Fig. 3.4Ba). In the outer retina of older Arsg KO mice, however, the number of Iba1-positive cells increased significantly with increasing age of the mutants (Fig. 3.4Ba). CD68-positive cells were essentially absent from wild-type retinas, and were only rarely observed in the inner retina of the ARSG-deficient mice (Fig. 3.4Bb). In the outer retina of the mutant, in contrast, CD68-positive cells were frequently found in 6 months old animals, and their number was significantly increased in 24 months old *Arsg* KO mice (Fig. 3.4Bb).

3.3.3. Arylsufatase G expression in the adult mouse retina

Immunohistochemical analyses of the expression pattern of ARSG were performed on sections of adult wild-type retinas. The melanin pigment in RPE cells was bleached prior to the immunostainings to exclude quenching of the immunofluorescence. Double immunostainings revealed expression of ARSG in RPE65-positive retinal pigment epithelial cells of wild-type retinas (Fig. 3.5a-f). In retina sections from *Arsg* KO mice that were processed in parallel as a negative control, RPE cells were ARSG-negative as expected (Fig. 3.5g-l). The weak fluorescence associated with photoreceptor outer segments, the outer and inner plexiform layer and the ganglion cell layer of wild-type retinas was also observed in *Arsg* KO retinas (Fig. 3.5), and thus likely represents unspecific background labelling. Given that RPE cells were the only retinal cell type with detectable expression levels of ARSG, the retinal pigment epithelium of aged *Arsg* KO

mice was analyzed at the ultrastructural level. These experiments revealed no obvious morphological alterations of RPE cells in 15 or 22 months old ARSG-deficient mice when compared with age-matched wild-type mice (Supplementary Fig. 3.S3). Macrophages were frequently observed in the subretinal space of mutant retinas, but not in the subretinal space of wild-type retinas (Supplementary Fig. 3.S3).



Figure 3.4: Distribution and density of Iba1-positive and CD68-positive cells in the retina of *Arsg* KO and wild-type mice.

Analyses of 1 month old animals revealed a similar distribution and density of Iba1-positive cells in wild-type (Aa) and Arsg KO mice (Ab). In 24 months old Arsg KO retinas (Ad), the number of Iba1-positive cells was significantly increased when compared to age-matched wild-type retinas (Ac), and positive cells were now additionally detectable between photoreceptor outer segments and the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE). CD68-positive cells were absent from retinas of 24 months old wild-type mice (Ae) but numerous in retinas 501 of age-matched Arsg KO mice where they were mainly located in the subretinal space (Af). Quantitative analyses revealed similar numbers of Iba1-positive cells in the inner retina (i.e. nerve fiber layer, ganglion cell layer, inner plexiform layer and inner nuclear layer) of Arsg KO (black bars in Ba) and wild-type mice (grey bars in Ba) aged between 1 and 24 months, and in the outer retina (i.e. outer plexiform layer, photoreceptor cell bodies and inner and outer photoreceptor segments) of 1 month old Arsg KO and wild-type mice (Ba). In the outer retina of 6, 12 and 24 months old mutants, the number of Iba1-positive cells increased significantly with increasing age of the animals, and was significantly higher than in age-matched wild-type mice (Ba). CD68-positive cells were essentially absent from wild-type retinas at all developmental ages analyzed, and were only occasionally observed in the inner retina of Arsq KO mice aged between 1 and 24 months and in the outer retina of 1 month old mutants (Bb). In the outer retina of older Arsg KO mice, the number of CD68-positive cells increased with increasing age of the animals (Bb). Each bar represents the mean value (±SEM) of 6 animals. gcl: ganglion cell layer; inl: inner nuclear layer; ipl: inner plexiform layer; mo: month; ns: not significant; onl: outer nuclear layer; opl: outer plexiform layer; ***: p<0.001 according to a twoway ANOVA followed by a Bonferroni posthoc test. Scale bar in f (for a-f): 50 µm.



Figure 3.5: Expression of ARSG in the mouse retina.

In adult wild-type mice, ARSG-immunoreactivity (b, e) colocalized with RPE65 (a, d) in retinal pigment epithelial (RPE) cells. RPE cells in *Arsg* KO retinas, in comparison, were ARSG-negative as expected (h, k). The weak fluorescence of photoreceptor outer segments, outer plexiform layer, inner plexiform layer and ganglion cell layer in wild-type retinas stained with anti-ARSG antibodies (b) was also evident in *Arsg* KO retinas (h), and thus likely represents unspecific background labelling. (c), (f), (i) and (l) are phase contrast photomicrographs of (a, b), (d, e), (g, h) and (j, k), respectively to demonstrate complete bleaching of the melanin pigment in RPE cells. (d), (e), (j) and (k) are higher magnifications of the RPE shown in (a), (b), (g) and (h), respectively. All sections were stained with DAPI to label cell nuclei. gcl: ganglion cell layer; inl: inner nuclear layer; ipl: inner plexiform layer; onl: outer nuclear layer; opl: outer plexiform layer; RPE65: retinal pigment epithelium-specific 65 kDa protein. Scale bar in i (for a-c and g-i): 50 µm; in I (for d-f and j-l): 20 µm

3.3.4. Expression of lysosomal proteins in ARSG-deficient and wild-type retinas

To study the impact of ARSG-deficiency on the expression of lysosomal proteins, we analyzed the expression pattern of lysosomal enzymes containing the mannose 6-phosphate (M6P) recognition marker and the expression pattern of the lysosomal marker lysosomal-associated membrane protein-1 (Lamp1), the lysosomal protease cathepsin D (Ctsd) and Saposin D in retinas of 1 and 24 months old *Arsg* KO mice and age-matched wild-type mice (Fig. 3.6).



Figure 3.6: Expression of lysosomal proteins in the retina of *Arsg* KO and age-matched wild-type mice.

The distribution and expression levels of M6P, Lamp1, Ctsd and Saposin D were similar in 1 month old *Arsg* KO and wild-type retinas (compare a and b, e and f, i and j, and m and n, respectively). In 24 months old animals, expression of M6P, Ctsd and Saposin D were significantly increased in *Arsg* KO retinas when compared to age-matched wild-type retinas (compare c and d, k and l, and o and p, respectively). Expression levels of Lamp1, in comparison, were not detectably different between both genotypes at this age (compare g and h). Note the accumulation of lysosomal proteins in macrophages (labelled with white arrows in h, l and p) located between the outer nuclear layer (onl) and the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) of 24 months old mutant mice. All sections were stained with DAPI to label cell nuclei. Ctsd: cathepsin D; gcl: ganglion cell layer; inl: inner nuclear layer; ipl: inner plexiform layer; Lamp1: lysosomal associated membrane protein 1; M6P: mannose 6-phosphate; opl: outer plexiform layer. Scale bar in p (for a-p): 50 µm.

No detectable differences in the expression pattern and expression level of M6P and the different lysosomal proteins were observed between 1 month old *Arsg* KO retinas and age-matched wild-type retinas (Fig. 3.6; compare a and b for M6P, e and f for Lamp1, i and j for Ctsd, and m and n for Saposin D). In 24 months old animals, in comparison, expression levels of M6P were significantly increased in *Arsg* KO retinas when compared to wild-type retinas, particularly in the ganglion cell layer (compare Fig. 3.6c and d). Expression of Lamp1 was only slightly elevated in 24 months old mutants (compare Fig. 3.6g and h), while immunoreactivity for Ctsd (compare Fig. 3.6k and I) and Saposin D (compare Fig. 3.6o and p) was strongly increased in *Arsg* KO retinas when compared to age-matched wild-type retinas. Upregulation of Ctsd was particularly evident in the ganglion cell layer, inner nuclear layer and outer nuclear layer (Fig. 3.6l), while elevated expression of Saposin D was mainly detected in the ganglion cell layer (Fig. 3.6p). Furthermore, Lamp1, Ctsd and Saposin D were strongly accumulated in phagocytotic microglial cells located in the subretinal space of 24 months old *Arsg* KO retinas (Fig. 3.6h, I, p).

3.4. Discussion

A recent analysis of the *Arsg* KO mouse provided further insight into the degradative pathway of heparan sulfate (HS) and the endogenous substrate of ARSG, 3-O sulfated glucosamine. Moreover, we depicted the *in vivo* relevance of the substrate and its degradation by ARSG through manifestation of Iysosomal storage in several tissues including the liver, the kidney and the brain in the absence of ARSG, and identified Purkinje cell degeneration and ataxia as prominent neurological symptoms in *Arsg* KO mice (Kowalewski et al. 2012; Kowalewski et al. 2015). In the present study, we extended the phenotypic characterization of the *Arsg* KO mouse, tentatively assigned as a mouse model of MPS IIIE (Kowalewski et al. 2012), to an early onset degeneration of photoreceptor cells starting between 1 and 6 months of age, when neuronal loss in the brain is not yet detectable. Retinal degeneration was accompanied by reactive astrogliosis, the appearance of phagocytic microglia/macrophages in the outer retina, and elevated expression of several lysosomal proteins. Loss of photoreceptor cells is thus among the earliest phenotypic manifestations of ARSG deficiency in the central nervous system.

An intriguing question raised by our observations is the actual cause of the progressive photoreceptor degeneration in the Arsq KO mouse. Of interest in this context, we found that expression of ARSG in the adult murine retina is confined to the RPE. RPE cells perform multiple functions that are vital for normal photoreceptor cell function and photoreceptor cell survival, and loss or dysfunction of RPE cells results in photoreceptor degeneration (Strauss 2005). However, ultrastructural analyses or ARSG-deficient retinas did not reveal obvious pathological alterations of the RPE, such as RPE atrophy or typical storage vacuoles as they have been observed in the kidney of Arsg KO mice and the RPE of animal models or patients of other MPS variants and MPS III subtypes (Del Monte et al. 1983; Lavery et al. 1983; Bhaumik et al. 1999; Ashworth et al. 2006a; Heldermon et al. 2007; Jolly et al. 2007; Kowalewski et al. 2012). Although the specific cause of the progressive photoreceptor cell loss in Arsg KO mouse has thus to be elucidated, it is tempting to speculate that heparan sulfate fragments and oligosaccharides released into the extracellular matrix might interfere with the proper function of the RPE (Valstar et al. 2008) or that a subtle lysosomal dysfunction causes functional alterations of RPE cells, ultimately resulting in photoreceptor cell death. Of note, the RPE is known to significantly contribute to the synthesis and degradation of all major mucopolysaccharides in the interphotoreceptor matrix (Del Monte et al. 1991).

Significant thinning of the outer nuclear layer and preferential accumulation of activated microglia cells/macrophages in the outer retina suggests that neurodegeneration in the retina of *Arsg* KO mice is mainly or exclusively confined to the photoreceptor cell layer.

Analysis of the outer nuclear layer revealed essentially normal numbers of cone photoreceptor cells in *Arsg* KO mice as old as 24 months, demonstrating that rod photoreceptor cells comprise the retinal cell type that is mainly affected in the absence of ARSG. Evidence for a significant loss of other retinal cell types than rod photoreceptors was not observed, as indicated by the normal thickness of the inner retina, normal numbers of bipolar cells and normal numbers of retinal ganglion cells in *Arsg* KO mice.

While immunohistochemical analyses revealed detectable levels of ARSG expression in RPE cells only, elevated levels of mannose 6-phosphate, Saposin D and Cathepsin D were mainly observed in the inner retina, particularly in retinal ganglion cells. The expression of most lysosomal proteins is coordinated and regulated by the transcription factor EB (TFEB) (Sardiello et al. 2009). Retinal ganglion cells and other retinal cell types might therefore respond to extrinsic pathological stimuli by upregulating TFEB-mediated lysosomal biogenesis or react to intrinsic alterations in the endolysosomal/lysosomal system such as a subtle accumulation of 3-O sulfated heparan sulfate. The latter hypothesis implies weak expression of ARSG below the detection level of our immunohistochemical analyses in retinal cell types other than RPE cells.

A characteristic feature of degenerating Purkinje cells in the cerebellum of *Arsg* KO mice was the presence of large intracellular aggregates that were immunoreactive for ubiquitin and p62, an autophagy adapter protein (Kowalewski et al. 2015). We hypothesized that these aggregates were the result of an impaired clearance of damaged lysosomes by autophagy. In the retina, however, similar p62-positive aggregates were not observed (data not shown), indicating that neuronal cell death in the cerebellum and the retina follows different mechanisms.

MPS IIIC is caused by mutations in *HGSNAT*, the gene encoding heparan- α glucosaminide N-acetyltransferase, and retinal degeneration is among the typical symptoms of MPS IIIC patients (Ashworth et al. 2006a; Ganesh et al. 2013). Interestingly, a recent study identified novel mutations in *HGSNAT* in six patients that presented with retinitis pigmentosa but without any other clinical symptoms normally associated with MPS IIIC, such as neurological deterioration or visceral manifestations (Haer-Wigman et al. 2015). The mutations led to significantly reduced HGSNAT activities in these patients, ranging slightly above the level of typical MPS IIIC patients but considerably below the level of healthy subjects. As none of the patients manifested additional extraocular symptoms, the authors concluded that tissues usually affected by mutations in *HGSNAT* (especially the brain) express sufficient levels of residual enzymatic activity, but that the retina requires higher levels of HGSNAT activity to maintain normal structure and function (Haer-Wigman et al. 2015). Basically similar findings have recently been reported for another lysosomal storage disorder, CLN7 disease (Haer-Wigman et al. 2015). Similar to MPS IIIC, progressive photoreceptor loss is a typical feature of CLN7 disease both in patients (Kousi et al. 2009) and in a mouse model of this condition (Damme et al. 2014). Using genome-wide linkage analysis and exome sequencing, the study identified compound heterozygous variants in *MFSD8*, the gene affected in CLN7 disease, in two families presenting with macular dystrophy with central cone involvement (Roosing et al. 2015). Characteristic neurological symptoms normally associated with CLN7 disease, including mental regression, motor impairment or seizures were, however, not observed in these patients. Because both families carried a severe heterozygous mutation in combination with a missense mutation predicted to have a mild effect on the protein, it was proposed that there was sufficient residual activity of MFSD8 in all tissues of the patients, except in the retina (Roosing et al. 2015). Together, these studies point to a high susceptibility of the retina already to subtle changes in the lysosomal system, and might thus provide an explanation for the frequent involvement of the retina in various LSDs and for the progressive photoreceptor loss in *Arsg* KO mice despite the absence of detectable lysosomal storage.

American Staffordshire Terrier dogs suffering from ataxia have been shown to carry a point mutation in Arsq in a triplet coding for an amino acid in the vicinity of the catalytic domain of the protein (Abitbol et al. 2010). Evidence was presented that this missense mutation resulted in a significant reduction of ARSG activity (Abitbol et al. 2010). In close analogy to Arsg KO mice (Kowalewski et al. 2012; Kowalewski et al. 2015), affected dogs showed marked Purkinje cell degeneration in the cerebellum (Abitbol et al. 2010). However, different from our observations in the mouse model, retinal degeneration was not observed in this canine model of MPS IIIE (Abitbol et al. 2010). Similar to photoreceptor cells, Purkinje cells are affected in various LSDs (Sleat et al. 2004; Ko et al. 2005; Macauley et al. 2008; Macauley et al. 2009; Damme et al. 2011; Kollmann et al. 2012; Hassiotis et al. 2014), indicating that this neuronal cell type is also highly susceptible to lysosomal dysfunction. It is thus tempting to speculate that the speciesspecific differences in the phenotypic expression of ARSG dysfunction are related to the residual enzyme activity in dogs which is sufficient to maintain photoreceptor cells but not Purkinje cells as opposed to the complete absence of ARSG in the Arsg KO mouse where both nerve cell types are affected. Alternatively, these findings may reflect species-specific differences in the functional relevance of ARSG for photoreceptor cell integrity.

In conclusion, the present study demonstrates an early onset retinal degeneration in *Arsg* KO mice that in many aspects resembles the retinal dystrophy observed in other MPS III types and other LSDs. We suggest that the retinal phenotype caused by ARSG

deficiency might be helpful in the identification of possible human subjects suffering from MPS IIIE caused by mutations in *ARSG*.

3.5. Supplementary figures



Supplementary Fig. 3.S1: Retinal ganglion cell density in 18 months old Arsg KO mutants and age-matched wild-type mice.

Representative images of retina flat mounts from wild-type mice (Aa) and Arsg KO mutants (Ab) stained with anti-Brn-3a antibodies. Quantitative analyses revealed similar densities of retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) in mutant (black bars in B) and wild-type mice (grey bars in B). Bars indicate mean values \pm SEM from 5 animals for each genotype. Brn3a: brain-specific homeobox/POU domain protein 3A. ns: not significant. Statistical analysis of data was performed with the Student's t-test. Scale bar in b (for a and b): 50 µm.



Supplementary Fig. 3.S2: Analyses of rod and cone photoreceptor cells in Arsg KO and wild-type mice.

In 1 month old animals, the morphology and density of rod (a, b) and cone (e, f) photoreceptor cells was similar in both genotypes. In 24 months old Arsg KO mice, outer segments (os) of rod (d) and cone (h) photoreceptor cells were reduced in length when compared to age-matched wild-type mice (c for rods, g for cones). Note the similar density of cones in mutant (h) and wild-type (g) retinas at this age. All sections were stained with DAPI. BPA: biotinylated peanut agglutinin; gcl: ganglion cell layer; inl: inner nuclear layer; ipl: inner plexiform layer; onl: outer nuclear layer; Rho: rhodopsin. Scale bar in h (for a-h): 50 µm.



Supplementary Fig. 3.S3: Electron microscopic analysis of the retinal pigment epithelium in 22 months old Arsg KO and wild-type mice.

The ultrastructure of retinal pigment epithelial (RPE) cells in aged Arsg KO mice (b) showed no obvious pathological alterations when compared to RPE cells of age-matched wild-type mice (a). Activated microglia cells with an amoeboid-like morphology were observed in the subretinal space of ARSG-deficient mice (asterisks in b, c and d), but not of wild-type mice (a). (d) is a higher magnification of the microglia cell shown in (b). Scale bar in b (for a and b): 5 μ m; scale bar in d (for c and d): 1 μ m.

4. Project 2:

Intravitreal transplantations of VEGF-B expressing neural stem cells delay the degeneration of axotomized retinal ganglion cells in adult mice.

Abstract

A sustained intraocular delivery of neurotrophic factors is among the strategies to develop treatments for yet untreatable retinal dystrophies. In the present study we analyzed the neuroprotective effects of a sustained cell-based intraocular delivery of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF-B) on axotomized retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) in adult mice. To this aim, we generated clonally derived neural stem (NS) cell lines lentivirally modified to stably express VEGF-B and the fluorescent protein tdTomato (VEGF-B-NS cells). NS cell lines for control experiments expressed tdTomato but not VEGF-B (control-NS cells). The modified NS cells were intravitreally grafted into adult mice one day after an intraorbital nerve crush. VEGF-B-NS and control-NS cells survived for at least 2 months in vivo and preferentially differentiated into astrocytes that were attached to the posterior pole of the lenses and stably expressed the transgenes. Analyses of flat mounted retinas 14, 28 and 56 days after the lesion revealed a significant neuroprotective effect of VEGF-B on the axotomized RGCs at all post-lesion time-points. The neuroprotective effect of VEGF-B-NS cells was strongest 1 month after the optic nerve crush with 1.9-fold more surviving RGCs than in control eyes, and decreased to 1.5-fold more surviving RGCs than in controls 56 days after the lesion. Anterograde tracing experiments performed 1 month after the optic nerve crush revealed no growth promoting effect of VEGF-B on the injured RGC axons. Although members of the VEGF family have strong angiogenic activities, VEGF-B did not induce angiogenesis. Moreover, adverse effects of the transplanted NS cells on the host retinas were not observed. Taken together, the present study demonstrates that a sustained cell-based intravitreal delivery of VEGF-B attenuates a lesion-induced loss of RGCs for up to two months in a mouse model of glaucoma.

4.1. Introduction

Glaucomatous optic neuropathies are among the leading causes of blindness worldwide, with an estimated 80 million glaucoma patients in 2020 (Quigley and Broman 2006). These retinal disorders are characterized by a progressive degeneration of retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) and their axons in the optic nerve (Qu et al. 2010; Almasieh et al. 2012). The pathomechanisms leading to glaucomatous optic neuropathies are not fully understood. Risk factors implicated in glaucoma include age, genetic background, reduced thickness of the cornea, vascular dysregulation, inflammation, exocitoxicity, and oxidative stress (Qu et al. 2010; Almasieh et al. 2012; You et al. 2013). Furthermore, an elevated intraocular pressure (IOP) is considered as a major risk factor for glaucomatous optic neuropathies (Newman 1996; O'Neill et al. 2009; You et al. 2013). Lowering the IOP is currently the only clinically proven treatment of glaucoma. However, degeneration of RGCs progresses in a significant portion of patients despite successful reduction of the IOP (Caprioli 1997; Leske et al. 2003).

Deprivation of target-derived neurotrophic factors due to an impaired axonal transport as a result of an elevated IOP has also been proposed to result in RGC degeneration (Pease et al. 2000; Quigley et al. 2000). The administration of neurotrophic factors to glaucomatous retinas has therefore been extensively studied as a strategy to protect RGCs and their axons from degeneration. These preclinical studies have identified a number of neurotrophic factors that are capable to attenuate the loss of RGCs in a variety of animal models of glaucoma, including glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) or ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) (Klocker et al. 1997; Isenmann et al. 1998; Koeberle and Ball 2002; Ji et al. 2004; MacLaren et al. 2006).

The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family consists of five secreted growth factors in mammals: VEGF (or VEGF-A), VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, and placental growth factor (PIGF) (Brockington et al. 2004; Holmes and Zachary 2005; Bry et al. 2014). The VEGF growth factors bind with differing specificities to three transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptors (VEGFR-1 or fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (Flt1), VEGFR-2 or mouse fetal liver kinase 1 (Flk1) and VEGFR-3 or fms-like tyrosine kinase 4 (Flt4)) and two semaphorin receptors (neuropilin-1 (NRP-1) and NRP-2). Members of the VEGF families and their receptors are known to play a pivotal role in both vasculogenesis and angiogenesis in embryos and adults (Brockington et al. 2004; Holmes and Zachary 2005; Bry et al. 2014).

VEGF is the best studied member of this family due to its prominent role in vascular development under physiological and pathological conditions (Carmeliet et al. 1996; Ferrara et al. 1996; Carmeliet and Jain 2000). VEGF was first identified as a

permeability-inducing factor secreted by tumor cells (Senger et al. 1983). Subsequent studies revealed a role of VEGF as a growth factor for vascular endothelial cells (Ferrara and Henzel 1989; Leung et al. 1989). PIGF has been implicated in angiogenesis and arteriogenesis in different diseases (Carmeliet et al. 2001; Luttun et al. 2002), while VEGF-C and VEGF-D have been demonstrated to be mainly involved in lymphangiogenesis (Alitalo et al. 2005). VEGF-B is the only member of this family with only minor angiogenic activity *in vivo* (Li et al. 2008; Bry et al. 2014).

Recent investigations demonstrated neuroprotective effects of VEGF on various nerve cell types, including motor neurons, cortical neurons, superior cervical ganglion neurons, and dorsal root ganglion neurons *in vitro* (Sondell et al. 2000; Jin et al. 2002; Rosenstein et al. 2003; Khaibullina et al. 2004; Storkebaum et al. 2004).

Furthermore, deletion of the hypoxia-response element of the VEGF promoter led to motor neuron fibre degeneration resulting in amyotrophic later sclerosis (Oosthuyse et al. 2001) and intraventricular administration of VEGF has been shown to stimulate neurogenesis in vivo (Jin et al. 2002). In addition, an investigation demonstrated a VEGF-mediated pro-angiogenic capacity during cronic nerve compression in rats which switched to a neurotrophic role after nerve decompression to promote recovery and nerve regeneration (Pelletier et al. 2015). However, the potent angiogenic activity of VEGF limits its use for neuroprotective therapeutic interventions. Thus, these data stimulated studies aimed at evaluating the other members of the VEGF family for potential neurotrophic functions. VEGF-B, also known as VEGF-related factor (VRF), was first discovered as a structural homologue of VEGF (Grimmond et al. 1996; Olofsson et al. 1996). VEGF-B is expressed in two isoforms that are generated by alternative splicing of exon 6, the short heparin-binding isoform VEGF-B₁₆₇ and the long and more diffusible isoform VEGF-B₁₈₆ (Grimmond et al. 1996; Olofsson et al. 1996). Unlike VEGF, VEGF-B is not essential for vasculature development, and mice deficient for VEGF-B are viable with atrial conduction abnormalities as the major phenotype (Aase et al. 2001). VEGF-B has been shown to act as a survival factor for endothelial cells (Zhang et al. 2009b). Furthermore, recent studies have reported anti-apoptotic and protective effects of VEGF-B on a variety of nerve cell types in vitro and in vivo. In a cerebral ischemia model, for instance, brain infarct volumes were increased by approximately 40% and neurologic impairment was more pronounced in VEGF-B-deficient mice when compared to wild-type control animals (Sun et al. 2004). Subsequent studies revealed proliferative effects of VEGF-B on neurons in vitro and in vivo, and an impaired neurogenesis in VEGF-B deficient mice (Sun et al. 2006). Later studies delineated neuroprotective effects of exogenously administrated VEGF-B on primary motor neurons (Poesen et al. 2008), on cerebral neurons in a middle cerebral artery occlusion stroke mouse model (Li et al.

2008) on dopaminergic neurons *in vitro* (Falk et al. 2009), in a rat model of Parkinson disease *in vivo* (Falk et al. 2011), and on dorsal root ganglion neurons *in vitro* and in a mouse model of distal neuropathy (Dhondt et al. 2011). Of note in the present context, exogenously administered recombinant VEGF-B has also been shown to attenuate the loss of axotomized RGCs in the optic nerve crush (ONC) mouse model (Li et al. 2008).

Given the potent neuroprotective effects of VEGF-B on a variety of neuronal cell types, the present study was performed to evaluate the neuroprotective effects of a sustained cell-based administration of VEGF-B on RGCs in a mouse model of glaucoma. To this aim, we generated clonally derived neural stem cell cultures overexpressing VEGF-B and grafted the modified clonal stem cell into the vitreous cavity of adult wild-type mice one day after an intraorbital optic nerve lesion.

4.2. Material and Methods

4.2.1. Animals

Neural stem (NS) cells were isolated from the cerebral cortex of 14 days old C57BL/6J mouse embryos. Intraorbital lesions of the optic nerve and intravitreal injections of cells were performed on adult (i.e. at least two months old) C57BL/6J mice. All animal experiments were approved by the University and State of Hamburg Animal Care Committees and were in accordance with the ARVO Statement for the Use of Animals in Ophthalmic and Vision Research.

4.2.2. Lentiviral vectors, generation of modified clonal NS cell lines and Western blot analysis

The mouse VEGF-B₁₆₇ cDNA was cloned into the bicistronic lentiviral vector pCAG-IRES-tdTomato/BSD, giving rise to pCAG-VEGF-B-IRES-tdTomato/BSD. This vector is based on the lentiviral "gene ontology" (LeGO) vectors (Weber et al. 2010) and encodes the internal ribosome entry site (IRES) from the encephalomyocarditis virus and a tdTomato reporter gene in fusion with a blasticidin resistance gene under regulatory control of the cytomegalovirus enhancer/chicken β -actin (CAG) promoter. Lentiviral particles were pseudotyped with the envelope G protein of the vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV-G), produced by transient transfection of HEK 293T cells as described elsewhere (http://www.LentiGO-Vectors.de).

Generation of clonal NS cell lines with high expression levels of transgenes was performed as described elsewhere (Jung et al. 2013; Flachsbarth et al. 2014). In brief, adherently cultivated cells were seeded into plates coated with 0.1% Matrigel (BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany) and spinoculated with pCAG-VEGF-B-IREStdTomato/BSD (VEGF-B-NS cells) or pCAG-IRES-tdTomato/BSD (control-NS cells) in the presence of 8 µg/ml hexadimethrine bromide (Polybrene; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, CA). To select for positive cells, the transduced NS cells were further expanded in the presence of 4 µg/ml blasticidin (Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany) in NS cell medium (DMEM/F12 (Life Technologies) supplemented with 2 mM glutamine, 5 mM Hepes, 3 mM sodium bicarbonate, 0.3% glucose (all from Sigma-Aldrich), 10 ng/ml epidermal growth factor (EGF) and 10 ng/ml fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2; both from TEBU, Offenbach, Germany), and 1% N2 and 1% B27 (both from Life Technologies). To establish clonal NS-cell lines with high expression levels of VEGF-B, single cells with the highest expression level of the fluorescent reporter protein were selected using fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS; FACSArialllu, BD Bioscience, San Diego, CA), and clonally expanded. To determine secretion levels of VEGF-B₁₆₇, 5 x 10⁵ VEGF-B-NS cells or control-NS cells were cultivated in 0.5 ml NS cell medium for 24 h in the

presence of 100 µg/ml heparin (Sigma-Aldrich) to release VEGF-B₁₆₇ from the extracellular matrix (ECM) (Olofsson et al. 1996). Culture supernatants of the clonal cell lines were analyzed by Western blot using polyclonal goat anti-VEGF-B_{167/186} antibodies (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) and horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-goat secondary antibodies (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA). Serial dilutions of recombinant mouse VEGF-B₁₆₇ (R&D Systems) were loaded as a reference. SuperSignal West Dura Extended Duration Substrate (ThermoFisher Scientific, Rockford, IL) was used to visualize immunoreactive bands, and the amount of secreted VEGF-B in the culture supernatants was estimated by densiometric analyses of immunoreactive bands using ImageJ software (http://imagej.nih.gov/ij/).

4.2.3. Intraorbital optic nerve lesions and intravitreal NS cell transplantations

Animals were deeply anesthetized by an intraperitoneal injection of Ketanest S (Parke Davis GmbH, Berlin, Germany) and Rompun (Bayer Vital GmbH, Leverkusen, Germany), and the optic nerve crush was intraorbitally crushed for 15 sec with a watchmaker's forceps as described elsewhere (Bartsch et al. 1992; Bartsch et al. 1995; Flachsbarth et al. 2014). Criteria for a successful nerve crush included loss of the pupillary light reflex, presence of well-preserved blood vessels and lack of retinal bleeding. One day after the crush 2 μ I of PBS containing either 7.6x10⁵ VEGF-B-NS cells or control-NS cells were slowly injected into the vitreous cavity as described elsewhere (Jung et al. 2013; Flachsbarth et al. 2014; Jankowiak et al. 2015). Particular care was taken to not damage the lens during the injection procedure.

4.2.4. Immunocytochemical analyses of NS cells in vitro and in vivo

To analyze transgene expression in differentiated neural cell types, NS cells were induced to differentiate into astrocytes by cultivation for 5 days in NS cell medium supplemented with 1% fetal calf serum (Life Technologies) and 2% B27. Differentiation of NS cells into neurons was induced by maintaining the cells for 3 days in NS cell medium containing 5 ng/ml FGF-2, 1% N2 and 2% B27, followed by a cultivation period of 3 days in a 1:1 mixture of NS cell medium and Neurobasal medium (Life Technologies) supplemented with 0.25% N2 and 2% B27.

For immunocytochemical analyses of VEGF-B expression, cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PA; Carl Roth GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany) in phosphate buffered saline (PBS; pH 7.4), and blocked in PBS containing 0.1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 0.3% Triton X-100 (both from Sigma-Aldrich). Undifferentiated NS cell cultures were incubated with polyclonal goat anti-VEGF-B antibodies (R&D Systems) only. NS cell cultures that had been differentiated into astrocytes or neurons were simultaneously
incubated with anti-VEGF-B antibodies and polyclonal rabbit anti-glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) antibodies (Dako Cytomation GmbH, Hamburg, Germany) or monoclonal mouse anti-microtubule associated protein 2 (MAP2) antibodies (Sigma-Aldrich), respectively. Primary antibodies were detected with Cy2- and Cy5-conjugated secondary antibodies (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories), and cell nuclei were stained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; Sigma-Aldrich).

For the characterization of intravitreally grafted NS cells, animals were sacrificed 2 months after the ONC, and eyes were fixed for 1 h in 4% PA. To evaluate the expression of VEGF-B and to analyse the differentiation of the grafted NS cells, lenses with attached donor cells were removed from the eyes and incubated with goat anti-VEGF-B antibodies (R&D Systems) and rabbit anti-GFAP antibodies (DAKO Cytomation GmbH) or mouse anti-MAP2 antibodies (Sigma-Aldrich). Primary antibodies were detected with anti-goat Cy2- and anti-rabbit Cy5-conjugated secondary antibodies (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories). Lenses with attached donor cells were stained with DAPI, and confocal z-stacks were prepared with an Olympus FV 1000 confocal microscope (Olympus, Hamburg, Germany) and further processed using FV10-ASW software (Olympus) and Adobe Photoshop CS6 software (Adobe Systems, Inc., San Jose, CA, USA).

4.2.5. Anterograde axonal tracing

For anterograde labelling of RGC axons, a saturated solution of biotin-Nhydroxysuccinimidester (Sigma-Aldrich) in dimethylformamide (Carl Roth GmbH) was diluted 1:1 with ethanol. Intravitreal injection of anterograde tracer was performed 1 month after the optic nerve lesion. 24 hours later, animals were sacrificed and eyes with attached optic nerves were immersion-fixed in 4% PA, cryoprotected and frozen. Longitudinal sections of optic nerves were prepared at a thickness of 25 µm in thickness, Cy3-conjugated and incubated with streptavidin (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories). The distance between the distal margin of the lesion site and the tip of the longest regrown axon was determined in mice with grafted VEGF-B-NS or control-NS cells (n=6 for each experimental group). Analysis of optic nerve sections was done with an Olympus IX51 fluorescence microscope (Olympus). Statistical analysis of data was performed using the Student's *t*-test.

4.2.6. Analyses of retinal ganglion cell survival

To analyze survival of axotomized RGCs, animals were sacrificed 14 days post lesion (dpl), 28 dpl and 56 dpl. Eyes were fixed and retinas were flat-mounted on nitrocellulose membranes as described above. After blocking in PBS containing 0.1% BSA and 1% Triton X-100, retinas were incubated with polyclonal goat anti-Brn-3a antibodies (Santa

Cruz Biotechnology Inc.) overnight at room temperature. Subsequently, retinas were incubated with Cy3-conjugated secondary antibodies, stained with DAPI and mounted onto slides. Retinas from eyes with grafted VEGF-B-NS or control-NS cells were number-coded and 5 images were taken from the center to the periphery of the superior, inferior, nasal and temporal retinal quadrant, covering a total area of approximately 1.9 mm² (Flachsbarth et al. 2014). Brn-3a-positive RGCs were counted using Adobe Photoshop CS6 software (Adobe Systems Incorporated, San Jose, CA) and the density of RGCs per mm² was calculated. Retinas from eight animals with grafted VEGF-B-NS cells or control-NS cells were analyzed for each post-lesion interval. Statistical analyses of data were performed using the Student's *t*-test.

4.2.7. Analysis of retinal vascularization

To analyse retinal vascularization in mice with grafted VEGF-B-NS cells or control-NS cells, animals were sacrificed two months after the optic nerve crush and eyes were fixed for 15 min in 4% PA. Retinas were flat-mounted on nitrocellulose membranes (Sartorius AG, Göttingen, Germany), fixed again for 1 h, blocked in PBS containing 0.1% BSA and 1% Triton X-100 and incubated with biotinylated isolectin B₄ (IB₄; Life Technologies) in the presence of 1 mM CaCl₂ overnight at room temperature. Subsequently, retinas were incubated with Cy2-conjugated Streptavidin (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories), stained with DAPI and mounted onto slides. For analyses of vascularization in VEGF-B-NS and control-NS cell treated eyes (n=6 for each experimental group), confocal images of the superficial, intermediate and deep vascular layer were taken from each retinal quadrant, and the total length of all vessels and the total number of branching points were quantified using ImageJ software. Statistical analyses of data were performed using the Student's *t*-test.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Derivation and characterization of genetically modified clonal NS cell lines

To establish VEGF-B expressing clonal NS cell lines, NS cells were isolated from the cerebral cortex of embryonic C57BL/6J mice and adherently cultivated. Modification of NS cells with lentiviral vectors encoding the mouse vascular endothelial growth factor B 167 isoform (VEGF-B) together with the reporter gene tdTomato and a blasticidin resistance gene under regulatory control of the CAG promoter gave rise to VEGF-B secreting cells (in the following termed VEGF-B-NS cells). NS cells for control experiments were modified with the same vector but lacking the VEGF-B cDNA (in the following termed control-NS cells). To generate clonal VEGF-B-NS or control-NS cell lines with high expression levels of the transgenes, modified NS cells were cultivated in the presence of blasticidin giving rise to pure tdTomato-positive NS cell cultures. Single cells with the highest reporter gene expression in these bulk cultures were selected by FACS and clonally expanded.

Analyses of undifferentiated clonal VEGF-B-NS and control-NS cell lines revealed expression of tdTomato in all cells (Fig. 4.1Aa, Ac). Expression of VEGF-B, in comparison, was only detectable in the VEGF-B-NS cell line (Fig. 1Ab) but not in the control-NS cell line (Fig. 4.1Ad). Western Blot analyses revealed the presence of VEGF-B in culture supernatants from the VEGF-B-NS cell clone, but not in culture supernatants from the VEGF-B-NS cell clone, but not in culture supernatants from the control-NS cell clone (Fig. 4.1B). Quantitative analyses of culture supernatants from a clonal VEGF-B-NS cell line that was selected for all transplantation experiments revealed secretion of 270.4 \pm 12.9 ng (mean \pm SEM; n=3) VEGF-B per 10⁶ cells in 24 hours at passage 25. Analysis of this cell line at passage 42 revealed similar VEGF-B expression levels, indicating stable transgene expression over at least 17 passages.



Figure 4.1: Expression of VEGF-B and tdTomato in lentivirally modified clonal NS cell lines. All cells in the clonal VEGF-B-NS cell line co-expressed the tdTomato reporter gene (Aa) and VEGF-B (Ab). Modified control-NS cells, in comparison, expressed the fluorescent reporter tdTomato (Ac) but no detectable levels of VEGF-B (Ad). Immunoblot analyses revealed VEGF-B in culture supernatants of VEGF-B-NS cells, but not in culture supernatants of control-NS cells (B). DAPI, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; rmVEGF-B, recombinant mouse vascular endothelial growth factor. Scale bar in Ad (for Aa-Ad): 25µm.

4.3.2. Characterization of NS cells in vitro and after transplantation in vivo

NS cells differentiate into neural cell types after intravitreal transplantations. Transplantation of undifferentiated NS cells results in differentiation of grafted cells *in vivo*. We therefore differentiated the VEGF-B-NS and control-NS cell line into astrocytes (Fig. 4.2a-f) and neurons (Fig. 4.2g-I) to analyze transgene expression in differentiated neural cell types. Immunocytochemical analyses of these cultures revealed that all GFAP-positive astrocytes (Fig. 4.2a, d) and MAP2-positive neurons (Fig. 4.2g, j) expressed the fluorescent protein tdTomato. VEGF-B immunoreactivity was only detectable in astrocytes (Fig. 4.2c) and neurons (Fig. 4.2i) derived from VEGF-B-NS cells, whereas differentiated astrocytes (Fig. 4.2f) and nerve cells (Fig. 4.2I) derived from control-NS cells lacked detectable levels of VEGF-B.



Figure 4.2: Analysis of VEGF-B and reporter gene expression in differentiated NS cells *in vitro*.

Clonally derived VEGF-B-NS cells (a-c, g-i) and control-NS cells (d-f, j-l) were differentiated into astrocytes (a-f) and neurons (g-l). All GFAP-positive astrocytes and MAP2-positive neurons derived from VEGF-B-NS cells co-expressed tdTomato (a, g) and VEGF-B immunoreactivity (c, i), whereas astrocytes and neurons derived from control-NS cells expressed tdTomato (d, j) but no detectable levels of VEGF-B (f, l). DAPI, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; MAP2, microtubule-associated protein 2; VEGF-B, vascular endothelial growth factor. Scale bar in I (for a-I): 25µm.

Analyses of intravitreally grafted VEGF-B-NS and control-NS cells 2 months after intravitreal transplantation revealed a layer of tdTomato-positive cells that was attached to the posterior poles of the lenses (Fig. 4.3b, e). Immunostainings of the grafted cells with antibodies to cell type-specific antigens revealed that virtually all grafted VEGF-B-NS and control-NS cells were differentiated into GFAP-positive astrocytes (Fig. 4.3a, d). Differentiation of grafted VEGF-B-NS or control-NS cells into MAP2-positive nerve cells or myelin-basic protein-positive oligodendrocytes was not observed (data not shown). A

robust VEGF-B expression was only detectable in astrocytes derived from VEGF-B-NS cells (Fig. 4.3c) for at least two months, the longest post-transplantation period analyzed. Astrocytes derived from grafted control-NS cells expressed no detectable levels of VEGF-B (Fig. 4.3f). Of note, tumor formation or integration of grafted VEGF-B-NS or control-NS cells into host retinas was not observed.





Analyses of recipient eyes 2 months after intravitreal transplantation of VEGF-B-NS cells (a-c) and control-NS cells (d-f) revealed tdTomato-positive donor cells (b, e) that were attached to the posterior pole of the lenses. VEGF-B-NS cells and control-NS cells were differentiated into GFAP-positive astrocytes (a, d). Expression of VEGF-B was detectable in astrocytes derived from VEGF-B-NS cells (c), but not in astrocytes derived from control-NS cells (f). DAPI, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; VEGF-B, vascular endothelial growth factor. Scale bar in f (for a-f): 50µm.

4.3.3. Intravitreally grafted VEGF-B-NS cells attenuate the loss of axotomized RGCs

To analyze the neuroprotective effects of exogenously administered VEGF-B on axotomized RGCs, VEGF-B treated and control retinas were flat-mounted 14, 28 and 56 days after the optic nerve crush and stained with anti-Brn3a antibodies, a reliable marker of RGCs (Nadal-Nicolas et al., 2009). Qualitative inspections of these retinas consistently revealed the presence of more surviving RGCs in eyes with grafted VEGF-B-NS cells than in eyes with grafted control-NS cells (Fig. 4.4). Determination of RGC numbers in VEGF-B treated retinas revealed 484.4 \pm 19.6 (mean \pm SEM) RGCs/mm² 14dpl, 314.0 \pm 12.7 RGCs/mm² 28dpl, and 144.6 \pm 5.6 RGCs/mm² 56dpl (n=8 for each postlesion time point analyzed; Fig. 4.5). In comparison, eyes with grafted control-NS cells contained 316.0 \pm 9.8 RGCs/mm², 162.6 \pm 12.2 RGCs/mm², and 95.0 \pm 4.2 RGCs/mm² 14, 28, and 56dpl, respectively (n=8 for each post-lesion time point analyzed; Fig. 4.5).

Thus, eyes with grafted VEGF-B-NS cells contained 53.3%, 93.1%, and 52.2% more RGCs than eyes with grafted control-NS cells 14, 28, and 56 dpl, respectively. Statistical analyses revealed a significant rescue of axotomized RGCs in VEGF-B treated retinas when compared to control retinas at all post-lesion time points analyzed (P<0.001 according to the Student's *t*-test).



Figure 4.4: Intravitreally transplanted VEGF-B-NS cells attenuate degeneration of axotomized retinal ganglion cells in adult mice.

VEGF-B-NS cells (a-c) and control-NS cells (d-f) were intravitreally injected into adult mice one day after an intraorbital optic nerve crush. Flat-mounted retinas stained with anti-Brn3a antibodies 14 days post lesion (dpl; a, d), 28 dpl (b, e) and 56 dpl (c, f) revealed the presence of significantly more Brn3a-positive ganglion cells in animals with grafted VEGF-B-NS cells (a-c) compared to animals with grafted control-NS cells (d-f) at all post-lesion intervals. Brn3a, brain-specific homeobox/POU domain 3A; DAPI, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; VEGF-B, vascular endothelial growth factor B. Scale bar in f (for a-f): 50µm.



Figure 4.5: Quantitative analysis of the survival of axotomized retinal ganglion cells in VEGF-B treated and control retinas.

The numbers of Brn3a-positive ganglion cells were determined in flat-mounted retinas from animals with grafted VEGF-B-NS cells (filled bars) and control-NS cells (open bars) 14, 28 and 56 days post lesion (dpl). VEGF-B-treated retinas contained significantly more ganglion cells than control retinas at all post-lesion intervals. Each bar represents the mean number (±SEM) of RGCs per mm² from eight retinas. ****P* < 0.001 according to the Student's *t*-test. VEGF-B, vascular endothelial growth factor B.

4.3.4. Analysis of axonal regeneration and vascularization in VEGF-B treated retinas

To analyze whether a sustained intraocular administration of VEGF-B stimulates regeneration of axotomized RGC axons, we performed anterograde axonal tracings of the optic nerve one month after the nerve crush. Regrowth of lesioned RGC axons was assessed by measuring the distance between the distal margin of the lesion site and the tip of the longest regrown axon in longitudinal sections of the traced nerves (Fig. 4.6). In both VEGF-B treated (Fig. 4.6a) and control animals (Fig. 4.6b), injured RGC axons regrew for only a short distance across the lesion site into the distal optic nerve stump. In eyes with grafted VEGF-B-NS cells, the length of the longest regrown axons was $361.1 \pm 20.4 \mu m$ (mean \pm SEM), compared to $369.5 \pm 28.7 \mu m$ in eyes with grafted control-NS cells (n=6 for each experimental group; Fig. 4.6c).



Figure 4.6: Regrowth of axotomized RGC axons in animals with grafted VEGF-B-NS and control-NS cells.

RGC axons were anterogradely labeled one month after an intraorbital optic nerve crush and intravitreal transplantation of VEGF-B-NS cells (a) or control-NS cells (b). In both VEGF-B-treated (a) and control retinas (b), axons extended for only a short distance across the lesion site (asterisk in a and b) into the distal optic nerve stump. The length of the longest regrown axon was not significantly different between VEGF-B-treated eyes (filled circles in c) and control eyes (open circles in c; n=6 for each experimental group, c) according to the Student's *t*-test. Arrows in c indicate mean values. VEGF-B, vascular endothelial growth factor B. Scale bar in a (for a and b): 50µm.

Because members of the VEGF family are known for their potent angiogenic activity, we additionally analyzed the retinal vascular network of the superficial, intermediate and deep retinal layers in eyes with transplanted VEGF-B-NS cells or control-NS cells 2 months after an optic nerve crush (Fig. 4.7). The arterial and venous vascular network in VEGF-B treated (Fig. 4.7Aa-Ac) and control retinas (Fig. 4.7Ad-Af) were visualized using isolectin B_4 , and the complexity of the vascular network was evaluated by analyzing vessel branching and vessel length. This analysis revealed no significant differences in the number of vessel branching points between VEGF-B treated retinas (59.6 ± 3.8 branching points per mm² (mean ± SEM)) and control retinas (57.3 ± 3.8 branching

points per mm²; n=6 for each experimental group; *P*>0.05 according to the Student's *t*-test; Fig. 4.7Ba). Similarly, intravitreally grafted VEGF-B-NS cells had no significant effect on vessel density ($21.4 \pm 12.0 \text{ mm}$ vessel length/mm²) when compared to control-NS cells ($21.2 \pm 6.6 \text{ mm}$ vessel length/mm2; n=6 for each experimental group; P>0.05 according to the Student's *t*-test; Fig. 4.7Bb).



Figure 4.7: Comparison of the retinal vasculature in eyes with grafted VEGF-B-NS or control-NS cells.

The retinal vasculature of animals with grafted VEGF-B-NS (Aa-Ac) and control-NS cells (Ad-Af) was labelled with isolectin IB_4 56 days post lesion. Analyses of the superficial (Aa, Ad), intermediate (Ab, Ae) and deep (Ac, Af) retinal layers revealed no significant differences in the number of branches (Ba) and the total length of vessels (Bb) per retinal area between VEGF-B-treated (filled circles in Ba and Bb) and control retinas (open circles in Ba and Bb; n=6 for each experimental group). ns, not significant according to Student's *t*-test. VEGF-B, vascular endothelial growth factor B. Scale bar in Af (for Aa-Af): 50µm.

4.4. Discussion

Glaucomatous optic neuropathies, a leading cause of visual impairment in developed countries, are characterized by a progressive degeneration of retinal ganglion cells and their axons in the optic nerve (Quigley and Broman 2006; Qu et al. 2010; Almasieh et al. 2012). Efficient therapies for these degenerative disorders of the inner retina are currently not available. Risk factors implicated in glaucomatous optic neuropathies include an age, genetic disposition, vascular dysfunction, or an elevated intraocular pressure (Agarwal et al. 2009; Qu et al. 2010; Almasieh et al. 2012). Neurotrophic factor deprivation of RGCs as a result of an impaired axonal transport has been suggested as another cause of glaucomatous optic neuropathies (Pease et al. 2000; Quigley et al. 2000; Almasieh et al. 2012; Pascale et al. 2012). The administration of exogenous neurotrophic factors to glaucomatous retinas is therefore being evaluated in various preclinical studies as a potential strategy to treat glaucoma (Caprioli 1997; Lebrun-Julien and Di Polo 2008; Johnson et al. 2011).

Because neurotrophic factors usually have a short half-life time, do not cross the bloodretina barrier and may exert side effects when administered systematically, a local and sustained intraocular delivery of these proteins is required to achieve long-term neuroprotective effects in the retina. A continuous intraocular administration of neurotrophic factors and significant attenuation of RGC loss has been achieved in various animal models of glaucoma by genetically modifying endogenous retinal cells with viral and nonviral expression vectors or by intraocular transplantation of slowrelease devices (Harvey et al. 2006; Johnson et al. 2011; Almasieh et al. 2012; Wilson and Di Polo 2012). Intraocular transplantation of genetically modified cells represents another strategy to continuously deliver neurotrophic factors to the glaucomatous retina. For instance, transplantation of lentivirally modified BDNF-secreting mesenchymal stem cells have been shown to attenuate RGC loss in a rat model of ocular hypertension (Harper et al. 2011). The simultaneous intravitreal transplantation of fibroblasts ectopically expressing BDNF, FGF-2 or neurotrophin-3 synergistically promoted survival of axotomized RGCs and synergistically stimulated axonal regeneration in the ONC rat model (Logan et al. 2006). Furthermore, we have recently shown that intravitreally grafted clonal neural stem (NS) cell lines lentivirally modified to secrete ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) attenuate the loss of RGCs and stimulate long distance axonal regrowth in a mouse ONC model (Flachsbarth et al. 2014). In the present study, we used this NS cell-based delivery approach to investigate the effects of a continuous intraocular administration of VEGF-B on survival and axonal regeneration of intraorbitally lesioned RGCs in the adult mouse.

Initially, VEGF-B has been mainly implicated in angiogenesis because of its high sequence homology to VEGF and other members of the VEGF family. Functional analyses of VEGF-B, however, revealed only a minor role of the protein in angiogenesis (Bellomo et al. 2000; Aase et al. 2001; Li et al. 2008; Lahteenvuo et al. 2009; Zentilin et al. 2010). Of note in the present context, other studies revealed evidence for neuroprotective activities of several angiogenic factors, including VEGF (Sondell et al. 2000; Oosthuyse et al. 2001; Jin et al. 2002; Rosenstein et al. 2003; Khaibullina et al. 2004; Storkebaum et al. 2004; Kingham et al. 2014; Pelletier et al. 2015). However, the therapeutic potential of VEGF as a neuroprotective factor is limited due to its potent angiogenic and permeability promoting activity. These neuroprotective effects drew attention on VEGF-B as a possible new neurotrophic factor in regard of its low angiogenic activity. Indeed, several studies have demonstrated neuroprotective effects of VEGF-B on different nerve cell types *in vitro*, such as cerebral cortical neurons, dorsal root ganglion neurons or motor neurons (Sun et al. 2004; Poesen et al. 2008; Dhondt et al. 2011). Of note, VEGF-B has also been shown to exert neuroprotective effects on sensory neurons, in a mouse model of paclitaxel-induced sensory nerve degeneration and on dopaminergic neurons in a mouse model of Parkinson disease in vivo (Poesen et al. 2008; Dhondt et al. 2011).

In the present study, we used genetically modified NS cells as a vehicle to continuously administer VEGF-B to the dystrophic retina. To this aim, we transduced NS cells with a polycistronic lentiviral vector encoding VEGF-B together with the reporter gene tdTomato and a resistance gene blasticidin. Single cells with high expression levels of tdTomato were selected using FACS, and clonally expanded to derive cells lines with high expression levels of VEGF-B. Clonal NS cell lines for control experiments were modified with a lentiviral vector encoding the reporter and resistance gene but lacking the VEGF-B cDNA. Analyses of the modified cell lines revealed stable expression of the transgene in undifferentiated NS cells over several passages, and in neutrally differentiated NS cells in vitro. Following intravitreal transplantations, VEGF-B-NS cells preferentially differentiated into astrocytes which expressed VEGF-B and tdTomato for at least two months, the longest post-transplantation period analyzed. Grafted control-NS cells also differentiated into astrocytes which expressed the reporter gene but no detectable levels of VEGF-B. Adverse effects of the grafted cells on the morphology of the host eyes or integration of donor cells into the host retinas was not observed. All these observations are in line with our previous work where we grafted CNTF secreting NS cell lines into the Pde6b^{rd1} and Pde6b^{rd10} mouse models of retinitis pigmentosa (Jung et al. 2013), the nclf mouse model of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (Jankowiak et al. 2015) and a mouse optic nerve crush model (Flachsbarth et al. 2014). The combined data suggest that intravitreal transplantations of lentivirally modified clonal NS cell lines represent a useful methodology to continuously deliver secreted gene products to the retina of mouse models of degenerative retinal disorders.

Of note, quantitative analyses of RGC survival 14, 28, and 56 days after the optic nerve crush revealed the presence of significantly more surviving RGCs in eyes with grafted VEGF-B-NS cells than in eyes with grafted control-NS cells at all post-lesion intervals analyzed. This neuroprotective effect of a sustained cell-based administration of VEGF-B on axotomized RGCs is in line with a previous study which demonstrated neuroprotective effects of intravitreally injected recombinant VEGF-B₁₆₇ on intraorbitally lesioned RGCs in a mouse ONC model two weeks after the nerve injury (Li et al. 2008). The latter work and several other studies of various nerve cell types additionally provided evidence that the neuroprotective effects of VEGF-B are mediated through VEGF receptor-1 (Storkebaum et al. 2004; Poesen et al. 2008; Falk et al. 2009; Dhondt et al. 2011; Falk et al. 2011). In future studies, it will be interesting to evaluate the neuroprotective effects of VEGF-B₁₈₆, because VEGF-B₁₆₇ is partly sequestered in the ECM which might limit its therapeutic effects (Grimmond et al. 1996; Olofsson et al. 1996; Bry et al. 2014).

Given that VEGF-B protects axotomized nerve cells from degeneration and based on the recent observation that VEGF-B stimulates axonal regeneration in the peripheral nervous system (Guaiquil et al. 2014), we additionally analyzed whether the sustained administration of VEGF-B induced regeneration of the injured RGC axons. To this aim, we performed anterograde axonal tracing experiments one month after the optic nerve injury. These experiments revealed no significant difference between the length of the longest regrown axon in animals that received grafts of VEGF-B-NS cells and animals that received grafts of VEGF-B-NS cells and animals that received grafts of VEGF-B-NS cells and animals that administration of VEGF-B to a superoxide dismutase 1 mutant mouse, an animal model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, failed to induce axonal regrowth (Poesen et al. 2008).

Finally, we also evaluated whether the sustained intraocular delivery of VEGF-B had induced neovascularization in the glaucomatous mouse retina. Morphometric analyses of the superficial, intermediate and deep retinal vasculature two months after transplantation of VEGF-B-NS cell revealed no effect of VEGF-B on total vessel length and the number of vessel branching points when compared to control retinas thus confirming the view that VEGF-B exerts only limited angiogenic activity (Li et al. 2008; Bry et al. 2014).

In summary, we have used a lentivirally modified NS cells as cellular vectors to continuously administer VEGF-B to the retina of a mouse model of glaucoma. Results demonstrate that VEGF-B promotes survival, but not axonal regeneration, of intraorbitally

lesioned RGCs. Evidence for an angiogenic activity of VEGF-B was not observed. We thus conclude that VEGF-B is among the candidate factors to develop neuroprotective strategies for degenerative retinal disorders. We also conclude that intravitreal transplantations of lentivirally modified clonal neural stem cell lines represent a useful methodology for preclinical studies aimed at evaluating the therapeutic potential of a cell-based administration of secreted gene products in mouse models of retinal disorders.

5. References

- Aase, K., Von Euler, G., Li, X., Ponten, A., Thoren, P., Cao, R., Cao, Y., Olofsson, B., Gebre-Medhin, S., Pekny, M., Alitalo, K., Betsholtz, C. & Eriksson, U. 2001. Vascular endothelial growth factor-B-deficient mice display an atrial conduction defect. *Circulation*, 104, 358-64.
- Abed, E., Corbo, G. & Falsini, B. 2015. Neurotrophin family members as neuroprotectants in retinal degenerations. *BioDrugs*, 29, 1-13.
- Abitbol, M., Thibaud, J. L., Olby, N. J., Hitte, C., Puech, J. P., Maurer, M., Pilot-Storck, F., Hedan, B., Dreano, S., Brahimi, S., Delattre, D., Andre, C., Gray, F., Delisle, F., Caillaud, C., Bernex, F., Panthier, J. J., Aubin-Houzelstein, G., Blot, S. & Tiret, L. 2010. A canine Arylsulfatase G (ARSG) mutation leading to a sulfatase deficiency is associated with neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107, 14775-80.
- Aburahma, M. H. & Mahmoud, A. A. 2011. Biodegradable ocular inserts for sustained delivery of brimonidine tartarate: preparation and in vitro/in vivo evaluation. *AAPS PharmSciTech*, 12, 1335-47.
- Ader, M., Meng, J., Schachner, M. & Bartsch, U. 2000. Formation of myelin after transplantation of neural precursor cells into the retina of young postnatal mice. *Glia*, 30, 301-10.
- Adler, R., Landa, K. B., Manthorpe, M. & Varon, S. 1979. Cholinergic neuronotrophic factors: intraocular distribution of trophic activity for ciliary neurons. *Science*, 204, 1434-6.
- Agarwal, R., Gupta, S. K., Agarwal, P., Saxena, R. & Agrawal, S. S. 2009. Current concepts in the pathophysiology of glaucoma. *Indian J Ophthalmol*, 57, 257-66.
- Airaksinen, M. S. & Saarma, M. 2002. The GDNF family: signalling, biological functions and therapeutic value. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 3, 383-94.
- Ali, R. R. 2012. Gene therapy for retinal dystrophies: twenty years in the making. *Hum Gene Ther,* 23, 337-9.
- Alitalo, K., Tammela, T. & Petrova, T. V. 2005. Lymphangiogenesis in development and human disease. *Nature*, 438, 946-953.
- Almasieh, M., Wilson, A. M., Morquette, B., Cueva Vargas, J. L. & Di Polo, A. 2012. The molecular basis of retinal ganglion cell death in glaucoma. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 31, 152-81.
- Anderson, D. R. & Hendrickson, A. 1974. Effect of intraocular pressure on rapid axoplasmic transport in monkey optic nerve. *Invest Ophthalmol,* 13, 771-83.
- Anderson, G. W., Goebel, H. H. & Simonati, A. 2013. Human pathology in NCL. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1832, 1807-26.
- Arnhold, S., Absenger, Y., Klein, H., Addicks, K. & Schraermeyer, U. 2007. Transplantation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells rescue photoreceptor cells in the dystrophic retina of the rhodopsin knockout mouse. *Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol*, 245, 414-22.
- Ashworth, J. L., Biswas, S., Wraith, E. & Lloyd, I. C. 2006a. Mucopolysaccharidoses and the eye. *Surv Ophthalmol*, 51, 1-17.
- Ashworth, J. L., Biswas, S., Wraith, E. & Lloyd, I. C. 2006b. The ocular features of the mucopolysaccharidoses. *Eye (Lond)*, 20, 553-63.
- Azevedo, A. C., Schwartz, I. V., Kalakun, L., Brustolin, S., Burin, M. G., Beheregaray, A. P., Leistner, S., Giugliani, C., Rosa, M., Barrios, P., Marinho, D., Esteves, P., Valadares, E., Boy, R., Horovitz, D., Mabe, P., Da Silva, L. C., De Souza, I. C., Ribeiro, M., Martins, A. M., Palhares, D., Kim, C. A. & Giugliani, R. 2004. Clinical and biochemical study of 28 patients with mucopolysaccharidosis type VI. *Clin Genet*, 66, 208-13.
- Barber, A. J., Lieth, E., Khin, S. A., Antonetti, D. A., Buchanan, A. G. & Gardner, T. W. 1998. Neural apoptosis in the retina during experimental and human diabetes. Early onset and effect of insulin. *J Clin Invest*, 102, 783-91.
- Barbin, G., Manthorpe, M. & Varon, S. 1984. Purification of the chick eye ciliary neuronotrophic factor. J Neurochem, 43, 1468-78.
- Bartsch, U., Bartsch, S., Dorries, U. & Schachner, M. 1992. Immunohistological Localization of Tenascin in the Developing and Lesioned Adult Mouse Optic Nerve. *Eur J Neurosci*, 4, 338-352.
- Bartsch, U., Bandtlow, C. E., Schnell, L., Bartsch, S., Spillmann, A. A., Rubin, B. P., Hillenbrand, R., Montag, D., Schwab, M. E. & Schachner, M. 1995. Lack of evidence that myelinassociated glycoprotein is a major inhibitor of axonal regeneration in the CNS. *Neuron*, 15, 1375-81.

- Bartsch, U., Oriyakhel, W., Kenna, P. F., Linke, S., Richard, G., Petrowitz, B., Humphries, P., Farrar, G. J. & Ader, M. 2008. Retinal cells integrate into the outer nuclear layer and differentiate into mature photoreceptors after subretinal transplantation into adult mice. *Exp Eye Res*, 86, 691-700.
- Bartsch, U., Galliciotti, G., Jofre, G. F., Jankowiak, W., Hagel, C. & Braulke, T. 2013. Apoptotic photoreceptor loss and altered expression of lysosomal proteins in the nclf mouse model of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 54, 6952-9.
- Bauer, S., Kerr, B. J. & Patterson, P. H. 2007. The neuropoietic cytokine family in development, plasticity, disease and injury. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 8, 221-32.
- Beck, M. 2007. New therapeutic options for lysosomal storage disorders: enzyme replacement, small molecules and gene therapy. *Hum Genet*, 121, 1-22.
- Beck, M. 2010. Therapy for lysosomal storage disorders. IUBMB Life, 62, 33-40.
- Bellomo, D., Headrick, J. P., Silins, G. U., Paterson, C. A., Thomas, P. S., Gartside, M., Mould, A., Cahill, M. M., Tonks, I. D., Grimmond, S. M., Townson, S., Wells, C., Little, M., Cummings, M. C., Hayward, N. K. & Kay, G. F. 2000. Mice lacking the vascular endothelial growth factor-B gene (Vegfb) have smaller hearts, dysfunctional coronary vasculature, and impaired recovery from cardiac ischemia. *Circ Res*, 86, E29-35.
- Benn, S. C. & Woolf, C. J. 2004. Adult neuron survival strategies--slamming on the brakes. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 5, 686-700.
- Bhaumik, M., Muller, V. J., Rozaklis, T., Johnson, L., Dobrenis, K., Bhattacharyya, R., Wurzelmann, S., Finamore, P., Hopwood, J. J., Walkley, S. U. & Stanley, P. 1999. A mouse model for mucopolysaccharidosis type III A (Sanfilippo syndrome). *Glycobiology*, 9, 1389-96.
- Birch, D. G., Weleber, R. G., Duncan, J. L., Jaffe, G. J., Tao, W. & Ciliary Neurotrophic Factor Retinitis Pigmentosa Study, G. 2013. Randomized trial of ciliary neurotrophic factor delivered by encapsulated cell intraocular implants for retinitis pigmentosa. Am J Ophthalmol, 156, 283-292 e1.
- Bok, D., Yasumura, D., Matthes, M. T., Ruiz, A., Duncan, J. L., Chappelow, A. V., Zolutukhin, S., Hauswirth, W. & Lavail, M. M. 2002. Effects of adeno-associated virus-vectored ciliary neurotrophic factor on retinal structure and function in mice with a P216L rds/peripherin mutation. *Exp Eye Res*, 74, 719-35.
- Bond, M., Holthaus, S. M., Tammen, I., Tear, G. & Russell, C. 2013. Use of model organisms for the study of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1832, 1842-65.
- Bowne, S. J., Sullivan, L. S., Koboldt, D. C., Ding, L., Fulton, R., Abbott, R. M., Sodergren, E. J., Birch, D. G., Wheaton, D. H., Heckenlively, J. R., Liu, Q., Pierce, E. A., Weinstock, G. M. & Daiger, S. P. 2011. Identification of disease-causing mutations in autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa (adRP) using next-generation DNA sequencing. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 52, 494-503.
- Bozorg, S., Ramirez-Montealegre, D., Chung, M. & Pearce, D. A. 2009. Juvenile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (JNCL) and the eye. *Surv Ophthalmol,* 54, 463-71.
- Brandt, J. D. 2004. Corneal thickness in glaucoma screening, diagnosis, and management. *Curr Opin Ophthalmol*, 15, 85-9.
- Brandt, J. D., Gordon, M. O., Beiser, J. A., Lin, S. C., Alexander, M. Y., Kass, M. A. & Ocular Hypertension Treatment Study, G. 2008. Changes in central corneal thickness over time: the ocular hypertension treatment study. *Ophthalmology*, 115, 1550-6, 1556 e1.
- Breuer, D. K., Yashar, B. M., Filippova, E., Hiriyanna, S., Lyons, R. H., Mears, A. J., Asaye, B., Acar, C., Vervoort, R., Wright, A. F., Musarella, M. A., Wheeler, P., Macdonald, I., Iannaccone, A., Birch, D., Hoffman, D. R., Fishman, G. A., Heckenlively, J. R., Jacobson, S. G., Sieving, P. A. & Swaroop, A. 2002. A comprehensive mutation analysis of RP2 and RPGR in a North American cohort of families with X-linked retinitis pigmentosa. *Am J Hum Genet*, 70, 1545-54.
- Breunig, J. J., Haydar, T. F. & Rakic, P. 2011. Neural stem cells: historical perspective and future prospects. *Neuron*, 70, 614-25.
- Briscoe, A. D., Gaur, C. & Kumar, S. 2004. The spectrum of human rhodopsin disease mutations through the lens of interspecific variation. *Gene*, 332, 107-18.
- Brockington, A., Lewis, C., Wharton, S. & Shaw, P. J. 2004. Vascular endothelial growth factor and the nervous system. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol,* 30, 427-46.
- Bronson, R. T., Donahue, L. R., Johnson, K. R., Tanner, A., Lane, P. W. & Faust, J. R. 1998. Neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (nclf), a new disorder of the mouse linked to chromosome 9. *Am J Med Genet*, 77, 289-97.
- Bry, M., Kivela, R., Leppanen, V. M. & Alitalo, K. 2014. Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-B in Physiology and Disease. *Physiological Reviews*, 94, 779-794.

- Buch, H., Vinding, T., La Cour, M., Appleyard, M., Jensen, G. B. & Nielsen, N. V. 2004. Prevalence and causes of visual impairment and blindness among 9980 Scandinavian adults: the Copenhagen City Eye Study. *Ophthalmology*, 111, 53-61.
- Buch, P. K., Maclaren, R. E. & Ali, R. R. 2007. Neuroprotective gene therapy for the treatment of inherited retinal degeneration. *Curr Gene Ther,* 7, 434-45.
- Bush, R. A., Lei, B., Tao, W., Raz, D., Chan, C. C., Cox, T. A., Santos-Muffley, M. & Sieving, P. A. 2004. Encapsulated cell-based intraocular delivery of ciliary neurotrophic factor in normal rabbit: dose-dependent effects on ERG and retinal histology. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 45, 2420-30.
- Butt, Z., Mckillop, G., Obrien, C., Allan, P. & Aspinall, P. 1995. Measurement of Ocular Blood-Flow Velocity Using Color Doppler Imaging in Low-Tension Glaucoma. *Eye*, 9, 29-33.
- Campochiaro, P. A., Nguyen, Q. D., Shah, S. M., Klein, M. L., Holz, E., Frank, R. N., Saperstein, D. A., Gupta, A., Stout, J. T., Macko, J., Dibartolomeo, R. & Wei, L. L. 2006. Adenoviral vector-delivered pigment epithelium-derived factor for neovascular age-related macular degeneration: results of a phase I clinical trial. *Hum Gene Ther*, 17, 167-76.
- Caplan, A. I. 1991. Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res, 9, 641-50.
- Caprioli, J. 1997. Neuroprotection of the optic nerve in glaucoma. Acta Ophthalmol Scand, 75, 364-7.
- Carmeliet, P., Ferreira, V., Breier, G., Pollefeyt, S., Kieckens, L., Gertsenstein, M., Fahrig, M., Vandenhoeck, A., Harpal, K., Eberhardt, C., Declercq, C., Pawling, J., Moons, L., Collen, D., Risau, W. & Nagy, A. 1996. Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. *Nature*, 380, 435-9.
- Carmeliet, P. & Jain, R. K. 2000. Angiogenesis in cancer and other diseases. *Nature*, 407, 249-57.
- Carmeliet, P., Moons, L., Luttun, A., Vincenti, V., Compernolle, V., De Mol, M., Wu, Y., Bon, F., Devy, L., Beck, H., Scholz, D., Acker, T., Dipalma, T., Dewerchin, M., Noel, A., Stalmans, I., Barra, A., Blacher, S., Vandendriessche, T., Ponten, A., Eriksson, U., Plate, K. H., Foidart, J. M., Schaper, W., Charnock-Jones, D. S., Hicklin, D. J., Herbert, J. M., Collen, D. & Persico, M. G. 2001. Synergism between vascular endothelial growth factor and placental growth factor contributes to angiogenesis and plasma extravasation in pathological conditions. *Nature Medicine*, 7, 575-583.
- Caruso, R. C., Kaiser-Kupfer, M. I., Muenzer, J., Ludwig, I. H., Zasloff, M. A. & Mercer, P. A. 1986. Electroretinographic findings in the mucopolysaccharidoses. *Ophthalmology*, 93, 1612-6.
- Cayouette, M., Behn, D., Sendtner, M., Lachapelle, P. & Gravel, C. 1998. Intraocular gene transfer of ciliary neurotrophic factor prevents death and increases responsiveness of rod photoreceptors in the retinal degeneration slow mouse. *J Neurosci*, 18, 9282-93.
- Cayouette, M., Smith, S. B., Becerra, S. P. & Gravel, C. 1999. Pigment epithelium-derived factor delays the death of photoreceptors in mouse models of inherited retinal degenerations. *Neurobiol Dis*, 6, 523-32.
- Chader, G. J., Weiland, J. & Humayun, M. S. 2009. Artificial vision: needs, functioning, and testing of a retinal electronic prosthesis. *Prog Brain Res*, 175, 317-32.
- Chang, B., Hawes, N. L., Hurd, R. E., Davisson, M. T., Nusinowitz, S. & Heckenlively, J. R. 2002. Retinal degeneration mutants in the mouse. *Vision Res*, 42, 517-25.
- Chang, B., Hawes, N. L., Pardue, M. T., German, A. M., Hurd, R. E., Davisson, M. T., Nusinowitz, S., Rengarajan, K., Boyd, A. P., Sidney, S. S., Phillips, M. J., Stewart, R. E., Chaudhury, R., Nickerson, J. M., Heckenlively, J. R. & Boatright, J. H. 2007. Two mouse retinal degenerations caused by missense mutations in the beta-subunit of rod cGMP phosphodiesterase gene. *Vision Res*, 47, 624-33.
- Chen, H. & Weber, A. J. 2001. BDNF enhances retinal ganglion cell survival in cats with optic nerve damage. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 42, 966-74.
- Cho, Y. S., Challa, S., Moquin, D., Genga, R., Ray, T. D., Guildford, M. & Chan, F. K. 2009. Phosphorylation-driven assembly of the RIP1-RIP3 complex regulates programmed necrosis and virus-induced inflammation. *Cell*, 137, 1112-23.
- Chong, N. H., Alexander, R. A., Waters, L., Barnett, K. C., Bird, A. C. & Luthert, P. J. 1999. Repeated injections of a ciliary neurotrophic factor analogue leading to long-term photoreceptor survival in hereditary retinal degeneration. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 40, 1298-305.
- Cideciyan, A. V., Aleman, T. S., Boye, S. L., Schwartz, S. B., Kaushal, S., Roman, A. J., Pang, J. J., Sumaroka, A., Windsor, E. A., Wilson, J. M., Flotte, T. R., Fishman, G. A., Heon, E., Stone, E. M., Byrne, B. J., Jacobson, S. G. & Hauswirth, W. W. 2008. Human gene

therapy for RPE65 isomerase deficiency activates the retinoid cycle of vision but with slow rod kinetics. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 15112-7.

- Cideciyan, A. V., Jacobson, S. G., Beltran, W. A., Sumaroka, A., Swider, M., Iwabe, S., Roman, A. J., Olivares, M. B., Schwartz, S. B., Komaromy, A. M., Hauswirth, W. W. & Aguirre, G. D. 2013. Human retinal gene therapy for Leber congenital amaurosis shows advancing retinal degeneration despite enduring visual improvement. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110, E517-25.
- Clarke, L. A. 2008. The mucopolysaccharidoses: a success of molecular medicine. *Expert Rev Mol Med*, 10, e1.
- Clarke, L. A., Wraith, J. E., Beck, M., Kolodny, E. H., Pastores, G. M., Muenzer, J., Rapoport, D. M., Berger, K. I., Sidman, M., Kakkis, E. D. & Cox, G. F. 2009. Long-term efficacy and safety of laronidase in the treatment of mucopolysaccharidosis I. *Pediatrics*, 123, 229-40.
- Claussen, M., Kubler, B., Wendland, M., Neifer, K., Schmidt, B., Zapf, J. & Braulke, T. 1997. Proteolysis of insulin-like growth factors (IGF) and IGF binding proteins by cathepsin D. *Endocrinology*, 138, 3797-803.
- Conti, L., Pollard, S. M., Gorba, T., Reitano, E., Toselli, M., Biella, G., Sun, Y., Sanzone, S., Ying, Q. L., Cattaneo, E. & Smith, A. 2005. Niche-independent symmetrical self-renewal of a mammalian tissue stem cell. *PLoS Biol*, 3, e283.
- Coutinho, M. F., Lacerda, L. & Alves, S. 2012. Glycosaminoglycan storage disorders: a review. *Biochem Res Int*, 2012, 471325.
- Cui, Q., Yip, H. K., Zhao, R. C., So, K. F. & Harvey, A. R. 2003. Intraocular elevation of cyclic AMP potentiates ciliary neurotrophic factor-induced regeneration of adult rat retinal ganglion cell axons. *Mol Cell Neurosci*, 22, 49-61.
- Dalkara, D., Kolstad, K. D., Guerin, K. I., Hoffmann, N. V., Visel, M., Klimczak, R. R., Schaffer, D. V. & Flannery, J. G. 2011. AAV mediated GDNF secretion from retinal glia slows down retinal degeneration in a rat model of retinitis pigmentosa. *Mol Ther*, 19, 1602-8.
- Damme, M., Stroobants, S., Walkley, S. U., Lullmann-Rauch, R., D'hooge, R., Fogh, J., Saftig, P., Lubke, T. & Blanz, J. 2011. Cerebellar alterations and gait defects as therapeutic outcome measures for enzyme replacement therapy in alpha-mannosidosis. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 70, 83-94.
- Damme, M., Brandenstein, L., Fehr, S., Jankowiak, W., Bartsch, U., Schweizer, M., Hermans-Borgmeyer, I. & Storch, S. 2014. Gene disruption of Mfsd8 in mice provides the first animal model for CLN7 disease. *Neurobiol Dis*, 65, 12-24.
- Dechan, G. & Neumann, H. 2005. *Structure and Physiological Functions of Neurotrophins and Their Receptors*, Molecular and Cellular Biology of Neuroprotection in the CNS.
- Del Monte, M. A., Maumenee, I. H., Green, W. R. & Kenyon, K. R. 1983. Histopathology of Sanfilippo's syndrome. *Arch Ophthalmol*, 101, 1255-62.
- Del Monte, M. A., Maumenee, I. H. & Edwards, R. B. 1991. Glycosaminoglycan degradation by cultured retinal pigment epithelium from patients with retinitis pigmentosa. *Curr Eye Res*, 10, 241-8.
- Del Rio, P., Irmler, M., Arango-Gonzalez, B., Favor, J., Bobe, C., Bartsch, U., Vecino, E., Beckers, J., Hauck, S. M. & Ueffing, M. 2011. GDNF-induced osteopontin from Muller glial cells promotes photoreceptor survival in the Pde6brd1 mouse model of retinal degeneration. *Glia*, 59, 821-32.
- Deng, W., Obrocka, M., Fischer, I. & Prockop, D. J. 2001. In vitro differentiation of human marrow stromal cells into early progenitors of neural cells by conditions that increase intracellular cyclic AMP. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 282, 148-52.
- Dhondt, J., Peeraer, E., Verheyen, A., Nuydens, R., Buysschaert, I., Poesen, K., Van Geyte, K., Beerens, M., Shibuya, M., Haigh, J. J., Meert, T., Carmeliet, P. & Lambrechts, D. 2011. Neuronal FLT1 receptor and its selective ligand VEGF-B protect against retrograde degeneration of sensory neurons. *FASEB J*, 25, 1461-73.
- Di Polo, A., Aigner, L. J., Dunn, R. J., Bray, G. M. & Aguayo, A. J. 1998. Prolonged delivery of brain-derived neurotrophic factor by adenovirus-infected Muller cells temporarily rescues injured retinal ganglion cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 3978-83.
- Dunaief, J. L., Dentchev, T., Ying, G. S. & Milam, A. H. 2002. The role of apoptosis in age-related macular degeneration. *Arch Ophthalmol*, 120, 1435-42.
- Eiraku, M., Takata, N., Ishibashi, H., Kawada, M., Sakakura, E., Okuda, S., Sekiguchi, K., Adachi, T. & Sasai, Y. 2011. Self-organizing optic-cup morphogenesis in three-dimensional culture. *Nature*, 472, 51-6.
- Erices, A., Conget, P. & Minguell, J. J. 2000. Mesenchymal progenitor cells in human umbilical cord blood. *Br J Haematol*, 109, 235-42.

- Eriksson, P. S., Perfilieva, E., Bjork-Eriksson, T., Alborn, A. M., Nordborg, C., Peterson, D. A. & Gage, F. H. 1998. Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. *Nat Med*, 4, 1313-7.
- Faktorovich, E. G., Steinberg, R. H., Yasumura, D., Matthes, M. T. & Lavail, M. M. 1990. Photoreceptor degeneration in inherited retinal dystrophy delayed by basic fibroblast growth factor. *Nature*, 347, 83-6.
- Falk, T., Zhang, S. & Sherman, S. J. 2009. Vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGF-B) is upregulated and exogenous VEGF-B is neuroprotective in a culture model of Parkinson's disease. *Mol Neurodegener*, 4, 49.
- Falk, T., Yue, X., Zhang, S., Mccourt, A. D., Yee, B. J., Gonzalez, R. T. & Sherman, S. J. 2011. Vascular endothelial growth factor-B is neuroprotective in an in vivo rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci Lett*, 496, 43-7.
- Faller, K. M., Gutierrez-Quintana, R., Mohammed, A., Rahim, A. A., Tuxworth, R. I., Wager, K. & Bond, M. 2015. The neuronal ceroid lipofuscinoses: Opportunities from model systems. *Biochim Biophys Acta*.
- Farrar, G. J., Millington-Ward, S., Chadderton, N., Humphries, P. & Kenna, P. F. 2012. Genebased therapies for dominantly inherited retinopathies. *Gene Ther*, 19, 137-44.
- Ferrara, N. & Henzel, W. J. 1989. Pituitary follicular cells secrete a novel heparin-binding growth factor specific for vascular endothelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 161, 851-8.
- Ferrara, N., Carver-Moore, K., Chen, H., Dowd, M., Lu, L., O'shea, K. S., Powell-Braxton, L., Hillan, K. J. & Moore, M. W. 1996. Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. *Nature*, 380, 439-42.
- Ferrari, S., Ponzin, D., Ashworth, J. L., Fahnehjelm, K. T., Summers, C. G., Harmatz, P. R. & Scarpa, M. 2011. Diagnosis and management of ophthalmological features in patients with mucopolysaccharidosis. *Br J Ophthalmol*, 95, 613-9.
- Fingert, J. H., Heon, E., Liebmann, J. M., Yamamoto, T., Craig, J. E., Rait, J., Kawase, K., Hoh, S. T., Buys, Y. M., Dickinson, J., Hockey, R. R., Williams-Lyn, D., Trope, G., Kitazawa, Y., Ritch, R., Mackey, D. A., Alward, W. L., Sheffield, V. C. & Stone, E. M. 1999. Analysis of myocilin mutations in 1703 glaucoma patients from five different populations. *Hum Mol Genet*, 8, 899-905.
- Flachsbarth, K., Kruszewski, K., Jung, G., Jankowiak, W., Riecken, K., Wagenfeld, L., Richard, G., Fehse, B. & Bartsch, U. 2014. Neural stem cell-based intraocular administration of ciliary neurotrophic factor attenuates the loss of axotomized ganglion cells in adult mice. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 55, 7029-39.
- Francis, P. J., Wang, S., Zhang, Y., Brown, A., Hwang, T., Mcfarland, T. J., Jeffrey, B. G., Lu, B., Wright, L., Appukuttan, B., Wilson, D. J., Stout, J. T., Neuringer, M., Gamm, D. M. & Lund, R. D. 2009. Subretinal transplantation of forebrain progenitor cells in nonhuman primates: survival and intact retinal function. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 50, 3425-31.
- Fratantoni, J. C., Hall, C. W. & Neufeld, E. F. 1968. Hurler and Hunter syndromes: mutual correction of the defect in cultured fibroblasts. *Science*, 162, 570-2.
- Fuller, M., Meikle, P. J. & Hopwood, J. J. 2006. Epidemiology of lysosomal storage diseases: an overview. In: MEHTA, A., BECK, M. & SUNDER-PLASSMANN, G. (eds.) Fabry Disease: Perspectives from 5 Years of FOS. Oxford.
- Gage, F. H. 2000. Mammalian neural stem cells. Science, 287, 1433-8.
- Gaillard, F. & Sauve, Y. 2007. Cell-based therapy for retina degeneration: the promise of a cure. *Vision Res,* 47, 2815-24.
- Gamm, D. M., Wang, S., Lu, B., Girman, S., Holmes, T., Bischoff, N., Shearer, R. L., Sauve, Y., Capowski, E., Svendsen, C. N. & Lund, R. D. 2007. Protection of visual functions by human neural progenitors in a rat model of retinal disease. *PLoS One*, 2, e338.
- Ganesh, A., Bruwer, Z. & Al-Thihli, K. 2013. An update on ocular involvement in mucopolysaccharidoses. *Curr Opin Ophthalmol*, 24, 379-88.
- Gao, H., Boustany, R. M., Espinola, J. A., Cotman, S. L., Srinidhi, L., Antonellis, K. A., Gillis, T., Qin, X., Liu, S., Donahue, L. R., Bronson, R. T., Faust, J. R., Stout, D., Haines, J. L., Lerner, T. J. & Macdonald, M. E. 2002. Mutations in a novel CLN6-encoded transmembrane protein cause variant neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis in man and mouse. *Am J Hum Genet*, 70, 324-35.
- Glaser, T., Pollard, S. M., Smith, A. & Brustle, O. 2007. Tripotential differentiation of adherently expandable neural stem (NS) cells. *PLoS One*, 2, e298.
- Griffey, M., Macauley, S. L., Ogilvie, J. M. & Sands, M. S. 2005. AAV2-mediated ocular gene therapy for infantile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. *Mol Ther*, 12, 413-21.
- Grimmond, S., Lagercrantz, J., Drinkwater, C., Silins, G., Townson, S., Pollock, P., Gotley, D., Carson, E., Rakar, S., Nordenskjold, M., Ward, L., Hayward, N. & Weber, G. 1996.

Cloning and characterization of a novel human gene related to vascular endothelial growth factor. *Genome Research*, 6, 124-131.

- Guaiquil, V. H., Pan, Z., Karagianni, N., Fukuoka, S., Alegre, G. & Rosenblatt, M. I. 2014. VEGF-B selectively regenerates injured peripheral neurons and restores sensory and trophic functions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111, 17272-7.
- Haer-Wigman, L., Newman, H., Leibu, R., Bax, N. M., Baris, H. N., Rizel, L., Banin, E., Massarweh, A., Roosing, S., Lefeber, D. J., Zonneveld-Vrieling, M. N., Isakov, O., Shomron, N., Sharon, D., Den Hollander, A. I., Hoyng, C. B., Cremers, F. P. & Ben-Yosef, T. 2015. Non-syndromic retinitis pigmentosa due to mutations in the mucopolysaccharidosis type IIIC gene, heparan-alpha-glucosaminide N-acetyltransferase (HGSNAT). *Hum Mol Genet*, 24, 3742-51.
- Hagberg, C. E., Falkevall, A., Wang, X., Larsson, E., Huusko, J., Nilsson, I., Van Meeteren, L. A., Samen, E., Lu, L., Vanwildemeersch, M., Klar, J., Genove, G., Pietras, K., Stone-Elander, S., Claesson-Welsh, L., Yla-Herttuala, S., Lindahl, P. & Eriksson, U. 2010. Vascular endothelial growth factor B controls endothelial fatty acid uptake. *Nature*, 464, 917-21.
- Haltia, M. & Goebel, H. H. 2013. The neuronal ceroid-lipofuscinoses: a historical introduction. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1832, 1795-800.
- Hamburger, V., Brunso-Bechtold, J. K. & Yip, J. W. 1981. Neuronal death in the spinal ganglia of the chick embryo and its reduction by nerve growth factor. *J Neurosci*, 1, 60-71.
- Hamel, C. P. 2007. Cone rod dystrophies. Orphanet J Rare Dis, 2, 7.
- Harmatz, P., Giugliani, R., Schwartz, I. V., Guffon, N., Teles, E. L., Miranda, M. C., Wraith, J. E., Beck, M., Arash, L., Scarpa, M., Ketteridge, D., Hopwood, J. J., Plecko, B., Steiner, R., Whitley, C. B., Kaplan, P., Yu, Z. F., Swiedler, S. J., Decker, C. & Group, M. V. S. 2008. Long-term follow-up of endurance and safety outcomes during enzyme replacement therapy for mucopolysaccharidosis VI: Final results of three clinical studies of recombinant human N-acetylgalactosamine 4-sulfatase. *Mol Genet Metab*, 94, 469-75.
- Harper, M. M., Adamson, L., Blits, B., Bunge, M. B., Grozdanic, S. D. & Sakaguchi, D. S. 2009. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor released from engineered mesenchymal stem cells attenuates glutamate- and hydrogen peroxide-mediated death of staurosporinedifferentiated RGC-5 cells. *Exp Eye Res*, 89, 538-48.
- Harper, M. M., Grozdanic, S. D., Blits, B., Kuehn, M. H., Zamzow, D., Buss, J. E., Kardon, R. H. & Sakaguchi, D. S. 2011. Transplantation of BDNF-secreting mesenchymal stem cells provides neuroprotection in chronically hypertensive rat eyes. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 52, 4506-15.
- Hartong, D. T., Berson, E. L. & Dryja, T. P. 2006. Retinitis pigmentosa. Lancet, 368, 1795-809.
- Harvey, A. R., Hu, Y., Leaver, S. G., Mellough, C. B., Park, K., Verhaagen, J., Plant, G. W. & Cui, Q. 2006. Gene therapy and transplantation in CNS repair: the visual system. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 25, 449-89.
- Haskins, M. E., Giger, U. & Patterson, D. F. 2006. Animal models of lysosomal storage diseases: their development and clinical relevance. *In:* MEHTA, A., BECK, M. & SUNDER-PLASSMANN, G. (eds.) *Fabry Disease: Perspectives from 5 Years of FOS.* Oxford.
- Hassiotis, S., Jolly, R. D. & Hemsley, K. M. 2014. Development of cerebellar pathology in the canine model of mucopolysaccharidosis type IIIA (MPS IIIA). *Mol Genet Metab*, 113, 283-93.
- Hattori, K., Naguro, I., Runchel, C. & Ichijo, H. 2009. The roles of ASK family proteins in stress responses and diseases. *Cell Commun Signal*, 7, 9.
- He, S., Wang, L., Miao, L., Wang, T., Du, F., Zhao, L. & Wang, X. 2009. Receptor interacting protein kinase-3 determines cellular necrotic response to TNF-alpha. *Cell*, 137, 1100-11.
- Heine, C., Koch, B., Storch, S., Kohlschutter, A., Palmer, D. N. & Braulke, T. 2004. Defective endoplasmic reticulum-resident membrane protein CLN6 affects lysosomal degradation of endocytosed arylsulfatase A. J Biol Chem, 279, 22347-52.
- Heldermon, C. D., Hennig, A. K., Ohlemiller, K. K., Ogilvie, J. M., Herzog, E. D., Breidenbach, A., Vogler, C., Wozniak, D. F. & Sands, M. S. 2007. Development of sensory, motor and behavioral deficits in the murine model of Sanfilippo syndrome type B. *PLoS One, 2*, e772.
- Helfand, S. L., Smith, G. A. & Wessells, N. K. 1976. Survival and development in culture of dissociated parasympathetic neurons from ciliary ganglia. *Dev Biol*, 50, 541-7.
- Hellstrom, M. & Harvey, A. R. 2011. Retinal ganglion cell gene therapy and visual system repair. *Curr Gene Ther*, 11, 116-31.
- Henderson, C. E., Phillips, H. S., Pollock, R. A., Davies, A. M., Lemeulle, C., Armanini, M., Simmons, L., Moffet, B., Vandlen, R. A., Simpson, L. C. C. T. S. L., Koliatsos, V. E.,

Rosenthal, A. & Et Al. 1994. GDNF: a potent survival factor for motoneurons present in peripheral nerve and muscle. *Science*, 266, 1062-4.

- Hofer, M. M. & Barde, Y. A. 1988. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor prevents neuronal death in vivo. *Nature*, 331, 261-2.
- Hoffman, L. M., Maguire, A. M. & Bennett, J. 1997. Cell-mediated immune response and stability of intraocular transgene expression after adenovirus-mediated delivery. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 38, 2224-33.
- Holler, N., Zaru, R., Micheau, O., Thome, M., Attinger, A., Valitutti, S., Bodmer, J. L., Schneider, P., Seed, B. & Tschopp, J. 2000. Fas triggers an alternative, caspase-8-independent cell death pathway using the kinase RIP as effector molecule. *Nature Immunology*, 1, 489-495.
- Holmes, D. I. & Zachary, I. 2005. The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family: angiogenic factors in health and disease. *Genome Biol*, 6, 209.
- Huang, S. P., Lin, P. K., Liu, J. H., Khor, C. N. & Lee, Y. J. 2004. Intraocular gene transfer of ciliary neurotrophic factor rescues photoreceptor degeneration in RCS rats. *J Biomed Sci*, 11, 37-48.
- Inoue, Y., Iriyama, A., Ueno, S., Takahashi, H., Kondo, M., Tamaki, Y., Araie, M. & Yanagi, Y. 2007. Subretinal transplantation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells delays retinal degeneration in the RCS rat model of retinal degeneration. *Exp Eye Res*, 85, 234-41.
- Isenmann, S., Klocker, N., Gravel, C. & Bahr, M. 1998. Short communication: protection of axotomized retinal ganglion cells by adenovirally delivered BDNF in vivo. *Eur J Neurosci*, 10, 2751-6.
- Isenmann, S., Engel, S., Kugler, S., Gravel, C., Weller, M. & Bahr, M. 2001. Intravitreal adenoviral gene transfer evokes an immune response in the retina that is directed against the heterologous lacZ transgene product but does not limit transgene expression. *Brain Res*, 892, 229-40.
- Isenmann, S., Schmeer, C. & Kretz, A. 2004. How to keep injured CNS neurons viable--strategies for neuroprotection and gene transfer to retinal ganglion cells. *Mol Cell Neurosci*, 26, 1-16.
- Jalanko, A. & Braulke, T. 2009. Neuronal ceroid lipofuscinoses. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1793, 697-709.
- Jankowiak, W., Kruszewski, K., Flachsbarth, K., Skevas, C., Richard, G., Ruther, K., Braulke, T. & Bartsch, U. 2015. Sustained Neural Stem Cell-Based Intraocular Delivery of CNTF Attenuates Photoreceptor Loss in the nclf Mouse Model of Neuronal Ceroid Lipofuscinosis. *PLoS One,* 10, e0127204.
- Ji, J. Z., Elyaman, W., Yip, H. K., Lee, V. W., Yick, L. W., Hugon, J. & So, K. F. 2004. CNTF promotes survival of retinal ganglion cells after induction of ocular hypertension in rats: the possible involvement of STAT3 pathway. *Eur J Neurosci,* 19, 265-72.
- Jin, K., Zhu, Y., Sun, Y., Mao, X. O., Xie, L. & Greenberg, D. A. 2002. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) stimulates neurogenesis in vitro and in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99, 11946-50.
- Joe, A. W. & Gregory-Evans, K. 2010. Mesenchymal Stem Cells and Potential Applications in Treating Ocular Disease. *Current Eye Research*, 35, 941-952.
- Johnson, T. V., Bull, N. D., Hunt, D. P., Marina, N., Tomarev, S. I. & Martin, K. R. 2010. Neuroprotective Effects of Intravitreal Mesenchymal Stem Cell Transplantation in Experimental Glaucoma. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 51, 2051-2059.
- Johnson, T. V., Bull, N. D. & Martin, K. R. 2011. Neurotrophic factor delivery as a protective treatment for glaucoma. *Exp Eye Res*, 93, 196-203.
- Jolly, R. D., Johnstone, A. C., Norman, E. J., Hopwood, J. J. & Walkley, S. U. 2007. Pathology of mucopolysaccharidosis IIIA in Huntaway dogs. *Vet Pathol,* 44, 569-78.
- Jung, G., Sun, J., Petrowitz, B., Riecken, K., Kruszewski, K., Jankowiak, W., Kunst, F., Skevas, C., Richard, G., Fehse, B. & Bartsch, U. 2013. Genetically modified neural stem cells for a local and sustained delivery of neuroprotective factors to the dystrophic mouse retina. *Stem Cells Transl Med*, 2, 1001-10.
- Kaiser, H. J., Schoetzau, A., Stumpfig, D. & Flammer, J. 1997. Blood-flow velocities of the extraocular vessels in patients with high-tension and normal-tension primary open-angle glaucoma. *Am J Ophthalmol*, 123, 320-7.
- Karl, M. O. & Reh, T. A. 2010. Regenerative medicine for retinal diseases: activating endogenous repair mechanisms. *Trends Mol Med*, 16, 193-202.
- Kauper, K., Mcgovern, C., Sherman, S., Heatherton, P., Rapoza, R., Stabila, P., Dean, B., Lee, A., Borges, S., Bouchard, B. & Tao, W. 2012. Two-year intraocular delivery of ciliary

neurotrophic factor by encapsulated cell technology implants in patients with chronic retinal degenerative diseases. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 53, 7484-91.

- Khaibullina, A. A., Rosenstein, J. M. & Krum, J. M. 2004. Vascular endothelial growth factor promotes neurite maturation in primary CNS neuronal cultures. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res*, 148, 59-68.
- Kingham, P. J., Kolar, M. K., Novikova, L. N., Novikov, L. N. & Wiberg, M. 2014. Stimulating the neurotrophic and angiogenic properties of human adipose-derived stem cells enhances nerve repair. Stem Cells Dev, 23, 741-54.
- Klein, A., Henseler, M., Klein, C., Suzuki, K., Harzer, K. & Sandhoff, K. 1994. Sphingolipid activator protein D (sap-D) stimulates the lysosomal degradation of ceramide in vivo. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 200, 1440-8.
- Klein, A. D. & Futerman, A. H. 2013. Lysosomal storage disorders: old diseases, present and future challenges. *Pediatr Endocrinol Rev*, 11 Suppl 1, 59-63.
- Klocker, N., Braunling, F., Isenmann, S. & Bahr, M. 1997. In vivo neurotrophic effects of GDNF on axotomized retinal ganglion cells. *Neuroreport*, 8, 3439-42.
- Ko, D. C., Milenkovic, L., Beier, S. M., Manuel, H., Buchanan, J. & Scott, M. P. 2005. Cellautonomous death of cerebellar purkinje neurons with autophagy in Niemann-Pick type C disease. *PLoS Genet*, 1, 81-95.
- Ko, M. L., Hu, D. N., Ritch, R. & Sharma, S. C. 2000. The combined effect of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and a free radical scavenger in experimental glaucoma. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 41, 2967-71.
- Koeberle, P. D. & Ball, A. K. 2002. Neurturin enhances the survival of axotomized retinal ganglion cells in vivo: combined effects with glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor and brainderived neurotrophic factor. *Neuroscience*, 110, 555-67.
- Kohan, R., Cismondi, I. A., Oller-Ramirez, A. M., Guelbert, N., Anzolini, T. V., Alonso, G., Mole, S. E., De Kremer, D. R. & De Halac, N. I. 2011. Therapeutic approaches to the challenge of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinoses. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol*, 12, 867-83.
- Koike, M., Shibata, M., Ohsawa, Y., Nakanishi, H., Koga, T., Kametaka, S., Waguri, S., Momoi, T., Kominami, E., Peters, C., Figura, K., Saftig, P. & Uchiyama, Y. 2003. Involvement of two different cell death pathways in retinal atrophy of cathepsin D-deficient mice. *Mol Cell Neurosci*, 22, 146-61.
- Kollmann, K., Damme, M., Markmann, S., Morelle, W., Schweizer, M., Hermans-Borgmeyer, I., Rochert, A. K., Pohl, S., Lubke, T., Michalski, J. C., Kakela, R., Walkley, S. U. & Braulke, T. 2012. Lysosomal dysfunction causes neurodegeneration in mucolipidosis II 'knock-in' mice. *Brain*, 135, 2661-75.
- Kousi, M., Siintola, E., Dvorakova, L., Vlaskova, H., Turnbull, J., Topcu, M., Yuksel, D., Gokben, S., Minassian, B. A., Elleder, M., Mole, S. E. & Lehesjoki, A. E. 2009. Mutations in CLN7/MFSD8 are a common cause of variant late-infantile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. *Brain*, 132, 810-9.
- Kousi, M., Lehesjoki, A. E. & Mole, S. E. 2012. Update of the mutation spectrum and clinical correlations of over 360 mutations in eight genes that underlie the neuronal ceroid lipofuscinoses. *Hum Mutat*, 33, 42-63.
- Kowalewski, B., Lamanna, W. C., Lawrence, R., Damme, M., Stroobants, S., Padva, M., Kalus, I., Frese, M. A., Lubke, T., Lullmann-Rauch, R., D'hooge, R., Esko, J. D. & Dierks, T. 2012. Arylsulfatase G inactivation causes loss of heparan sulfate 3-O-sulfatase activity and mucopolysaccharidosis in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109, 10310-5.
- Kowalewski, B., Lubke, T., Kollmann, K., Braulke, T., Reinheckel, T., Dierks, T. & Damme, M. 2014. Molecular characterization of arylsulfatase G: expression, processing, glycosylation, transport, and activity. *J Biol Chem*, 289, 27992-8005.
- Kowalewski, B., Heimann, P., Ortkras, T., Lullmann-Rauch, R., Sawada, T., Walkley, S. U., Dierks, T. & Damme, M. 2015. Ataxia is the major neuropathological finding in arylsulfatase G-deficient mice: similarities and dissimilarities to Sanfilippo disease (mucopolysaccharidosis type III). *Hum Mol Genet*, 24, 1856-68.
- Krohne, T. U., Westenskow, P. D., Kurihara, T., Friedlander, D. F., Lehmann, M., Dorsey, A. L., Li, W., Zhu, S., Schultz, A., Wang, J., Siuzdak, G., Ding, S. & Friedlander, M. 2012. Generation of retinal pigment epithelial cells from small molecules and OCT4 reprogrammed human induced pluripotent stem cells. *Stem Cells Transl Med*, 1, 96-109.
- Kwon, Y. H., Fingert, J. H., Kuehn, M. H. & Alward, W. L. 2009. Primary open-angle glaucoma. *N* Engl J Med, 360, 1113-24.
- Lahteenvuo, J. E., Lahteenvuo, M. T., Kivela, A., Rosenlew, C., Falkevall, A., Klar, J., Heikura, T., Rissanen, T. T., Vahakangas, E., Korpisalo, P., Enholm, B., Carmeliet, P., Alitalo, K., Eriksson, U. & Yla-Herttuala, S. 2009. Vascular endothelial growth factor-B induces

myocardium-specific angiogenesis and arteriogenesis via vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1- and neuropilin receptor-1-dependent mechanisms. *Circulation*, 119, 845-56.

- Laster, S. M., Wood, J. G. & Gooding, L. R. 1988. Tumor Necrosis Factor Can Induce Both Apoptic and Necrotic Forms of Cell-Lysis. *Journal of Immunology*, 141, 2629-2634.
- Lavail, M. M., Yasumura, D., Matthes, M. T., Lau-Villacorta, C., Unoki, K., Sung, C. H. & Steinberg, R. H. 1998. Protection of mouse photoreceptors by survival factors in retinal degenerations. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 39, 592-602.
- Lavery, M. A., Green, W. R., Jabs, E. W., Luckenbach, M. W. & Cox, J. L. 1983. Ocular histopathology and ultrastructure of Sanfilippo's syndrome, type III-B. Arch Ophthalmol, 101, 1263-74.
- Lazarus, H. S., Sly, W. S., Kyle, J. W. & Hageman, G. S. 1993. Photoreceptor degeneration and altered distribution of interphotoreceptor matrix proteoglycans in the mucopolysaccharidosis VII mouse. *Exp Eye Res*, 56, 531-41.
- Leaver, S. G., Cui, Q., Plant, G. W., Arulpragasam, A., Hisheh, S., Verhaagen, J. & Harvey, A. R. 2006. AAV-mediated expression of CNTF promotes long-term survival and regeneration of adult rat retinal ganglion cells. *Gene Ther*, 13, 1328-41.
- Lebrun-Julien, F. & Di Polo, A. 2008. Molecular and cell-based approaches for neuroprotection in glaucoma. *Optom Vis Sci*, 85, 417-24.
- Leske, M. C., Heijl, A., Hussein, M., Bengtsson, B., Hyman, L., Komaroff, E. & Early Manifest Glaucoma Trial, G. 2003. Factors for glaucoma progression and the effect of treatment: the early manifest glaucoma trial. Arch Ophthalmol, 121, 48-56.
- Leung, D. W., Cachianes, G., Kuang, W. J., Goeddel, D. V. & Ferrara, N. 1989. Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen. *Science*, 246, 1306-9.
- Leveillard, T., Mohand-Said, S., Lorentz, O., Hicks, D., Fintz, A. C., Clerin, E., Simonutti, M., Forster, V., Cavusoglu, N., Chalmel, F., Dolle, P., Poch, O., Lambrou, G. & Sahel, J. A. 2004. Identification and characterization of rod-derived cone viability factor. *Nat Genet*, 36, 755-9.
- Levine, B., Sinha, S. & Kroemer, G. 2008. Bcl-2 family members: dual regulators of apoptosis and autophagy. *Autophagy*, 4, 600-6.
- Lewin, A. S., Drenser, K. A., Hauswirth, W. W., Nishikawa, S., Yasumura, D., Flannery, J. G. & Lavail, M. M. 1998. Ribozyme rescue of photoreceptor cells in a transgenic rat model of autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa. *Nat Med*, 4, 967-71.
- Li, H. H., Yu, W. H., Rozengurt, N., Zhao, H. Z., Lyons, K. M., Anagnostaras, S., Fanselow, M. S., Suzuki, K., Vanier, M. T. & Neufeld, E. F. 1999. Mouse model of Sanfilippo syndrome type B produced by targeted disruption of the gene encoding alpha-Nacetylglucosaminidase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96, 14505-10.
- Li, N., Li, X. R. & Yuan, J. Q. 2009. Effects of bone-marrow mesenchymal stem cells transplanted into vitreous cavity of rat injured by ischemia/reperfusion. *Graefes Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology*, 247, 503-514.
- Li, P., Nijhawan, D., Budihardjo, I., Srinivasula, S. M., Ahmad, M., Alnemri, E. S. & Wang, X. 1997. Cytochrome c and dATP-dependent formation of Apaf-1/caspase-9 complex initiates an apoptotic protease cascade. *Cell*, 91, 479-89.
- Li, Y., Schlamp, C. L., Poulsen, K. P. & Nickells, R. W. 2000. Bax-dependent and independent pathways of retinal ganglion cell death induced by different damaging stimuli. *Exp Eye Res*, 71, 209-13.
- Li, Y., Zhang, F., Nagai, N. B., Tang, Z. S., Zhang, S. H., Scotney, P., Lennartsson, J., Zhu, C. Y., Qu, Y., Fang, C. G., Hua, J. Y., Matsuo, O., Fong, G. H., Ding, H., Cao, Y. H., Becker, K. G., Nash, A., Heldin, C. H. & Li, X. R. 2008. VEGF-B inhibits apoptosis via VEGFR-1mediated suppression of the expression of BH3-only protein genes in mice and rats. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 118, 913-923.
- Li, Y., Tao, W., Luo, L., Huang, D., Kauper, K., Stabila, P., Lavail, M. M., Laties, A. M. & Wen, R. 2010. CNTF induces regeneration of cone outer segments in a rat model of retinal degeneration. *PLoS One,* 5, e9495.
- Liang, F. Q., Dejneka, N. S., Cohen, D. R., Krasnoperova, N. V., Lem, J., Maguire, A. M., Dudus, L., Fisher, K. J. & Bennett, J. 2001. AAV-mediated delivery of ciliary neurotrophic factor prolongs photoreceptor survival in the rhodopsin knockout mouse. *Mol Ther*, 3, 241-8.
- Lingor, P., Tonges, L., Pieper, N., Bermel, C., Barski, E., Planchamp, V. & Bahr, M. 2008. ROCK inhibition and CNTF interact on intrinsic signalling pathways and differentially regulate survival and regeneration in retinal ganglion cells. *Brain*, 131, 250-63.

- Lipinski, D. M., Barnard, A. R., Singh, M. S., Martin, C., Lee, E. J., Davies, W. I. & Maclaren, R. E. 2015. CNTF Gene Therapy Confers Lifelong Neuroprotection in a Mouse Model of Human Retinitis Pigmentosa. *Mol Ther.*
- Logan, A., Ahmed, Z., Baird, A., Gonzalez, A. M. & Berry, M. 2006. Neurotrophic factor synergy is required for neuronal survival and disinhibited axon regeneration after CNS injury. *Brain*, 129, 490-502.
- Luttun, A., Tjwa, M., Moons, L., Wu, Y., Angelillo-Scherrer, A., Liao, F., Nagy, J. A., Hooper, A., Priller, J., De Klerck, B., Compernolle, V., Daci, E., Bohlen, P., Dewerchin, M., Herbert, J. M., Fava, R., Matthys, P., Carmeliet, G., Collen, D., Dvorak, H. F., Hicklin, D. J. & Carmeliet, P. 2002. Revascularization of ischemic tissues by PIGF treatment, and inhibition of tumor angiogenesis, arthritis and atherosclerosis by anti-Flt1. *Nature Medicine*, 8, 831-840.
- Macauley, S. L., Sidman, R. L., Schuchman, E. H., Taksir, T. & Stewart, G. R. 2008. Neuropathology of the acid sphingomyelinase knockout mouse model of Niemann-Pick A disease including structure-function studies associated with cerebellar Purkinje cell degeneration. *Exp Neurol*, 214, 181-92.
- Macauley, S. L., Wozniak, D. F., Kielar, C., Tan, Y., Cooper, J. D. & Sands, M. S. 2009. Cerebellar pathology and motor deficits in the palmitoyl protein thioesterase 1-deficient mouse. *Exp Neurol*, 217, 124-35.
- Machalinska, A., Kawa, M., Pius-Sadowska, E., Stepniewski, J., Nowak, W., Roginska, D., Kaczynska, K., Baumert, B., Wiszniewska, B., Jozkowicz, A., Dulak, J. & Machalinski, B. 2013. Long-term neuroprotective effects of NT-4-engineered mesenchymal stem cells injected intravitreally in a mouse model of acute retinal injury. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 54, 8292-305.
- Maclaren, R. E., Pearson, R. A., Macneil, A., Douglas, R. H., Salt, T. E., Akimoto, M., Swaroop, A., Sowden, J. C. & Ali, R. R. 2006. Retinal repair by transplantation of photoreceptor precursors. *Nature*, 444, 203-7.
- Madreperla, S. A., Palmer, R. W., Massof, R. W. & Finkelstein, D. 1990. Visual acuity loss in retinitis pigmentosa. Relationship to visual field loss. *Arch Ophthalmol*, 108, 358-61.
- Maguire, A. M., Simonelli, F., Pierce, E. A., Pugh, E. N., Jr., Mingozzi, F., Bennicelli, J., Banfi, S., Marshall, K. A., Testa, F., Surace, E. M., Rossi, S., Lyubarsky, A., Arruda, V. R., Konkle, B., Stone, E., Sun, J., Jacobs, J., Dell'osso, L., Hertle, R., Ma, J. X., Redmond, T. M., Zhu, X., Hauck, B., Zelenaia, O., Shindler, K. S., Maguire, M. G., Wright, J. F., Volpe, N. J., Mcdonnell, J. W., Auricchio, A., High, K. A. & Bennett, J. 2008. Safety and efficacy of gene transfer for Leber's congenital amaurosis. N Engl J Med, 358, 2240-8.
- Maier, K., Rau, C. R., Storch, M. K., Sattler, M. B., Demmer, I., Weissert, R., Taheri, N., Kuhnert, A. V., Bahr, M. & Diem, R. 2004. Ciliary neurotrophic factor protects retinal ganglion cells from secondary cell death during acute autoimmune optic neuritis in rats. *Brain Pathol*, 14, 378-87.
- Mansour-Robaey, S., Clarke, D. B., Wang, Y. C., Bray, G. M. & Aguayo, A. J. 1994. Effects of ocular injury and administration of brain-derived neurotrophic factor on survival and regrowth of axotomized retinal ganglion cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 91, 1632-6.
- Martin, K. R., Quigley, H. A., Zack, D. J., Levkovitch-Verbin, H., Kielczewski, J., Valenta, D., Baumrind, L., Pease, M. E., Klein, R. L. & Hauswirth, W. W. 2003. Gene therapy with brain-derived neurotrophic factor as a protection: retinal ganglion cells in a rat glaucoma model. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 44, 4357-65.
- Martins, C., Hulkova, H., Dridi, L., Dormoy-Raclet, V., Grigoryeva, L., Choi, Y., Langford-Smith, A., Wilkinson, F. L., Ohmi, K., Dicristo, G., Hamel, E., Ausseil, J., Cheillan, D., Moreau, A., Svobodova, E., Hajkova, Z., Tesarova, M., Hansikova, H., Bigger, B. W., Hrebicek, M. & Pshezhetsky, A. V. 2015. Neuroinflammation, mitochondrial defects and neurodegeneration in mucopolysaccharidosis III type C mouse model. *Brain*, 138, 336-55.
- Mcgill, T. J., Prusky, G. T., Douglas, R. M., Yasumura, D., Matthes, M. T., Nune, G., Donohue-Rolfe, K., Yang, H., Niculescu, D., Hauswirth, W. W., Girman, S. V., Lund, R. D., Duncan, J. L. & Lavail, M. M. 2007. Intraocular CNTF reduces vision in normal rats in a dosedependent manner. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 48, 5756-66.
- Mckay, R. 1997. Stem cells in the central nervous system. Science, 276, 66-71.
- Medeiros, F. A., Sample, P. A., Zangwill, L. M., Bowd, C., Aihara, M. & Weinreb, R. N. 2003. Corneal thickness as a risk factor for visual field loss in patients with preperimetric glaucomatous optic neuropathy. *American Journal of Ophthalmology*, 136, 805-813.
- Mey, J. & Thanos, S. 1993. Intravitreal injections of neurotrophic factors support the survival of axotomized retinal ganglion cells in adult rats in vivo. *Brain Res*, 602, 304-17.

- Meyer, J. S., Katz, M. L., Maruniak, J. A. & Kirk, M. D. 2006. Embryonic stem cell-derived neural progenitors incorporate into degenerating retina and enhance survival of host photoreceptors. *Stem Cells*, 24, 274-83.
- Mirza, M., Volz, C., Karlstetter, M., Langiu, M., Somogyi, A., Ruonala, M. O., Tamm, E. R., Jagle, H. & Langmann, T. 2013. Progressive retinal degeneration and glial activation in the CLN6 (nclf) mouse model of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis: a beneficial effect of DHA and curcumin supplementation. *PLoS One*, 8, e75963.
- Mishima, K., Handa, J. T., Aotaki-Keen, A., Lutty, G. A., Morse, L. S. & Hjelmeland, L. M. 1999. Senescence-associated beta-galactosidase histochemistry for the primate eye. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 40, 1590-3.
- Mizushima, N., Ohsumi, Y. & Yoshimori, T. 2002. Autophagosome formation in mammalian cells. *Cell Struct Funct*, 27, 421-9.
- Mizushima, N., Levine, B., Cuervo, A. M. & Klionsky, D. J. 2008. Autophagy fights disease through cellular self-digestion. *Nature*, 451, 1069-75.
- Mizushima, N. & Levine, B. 2010. Autophagy in mammalian development and differentiation. *Nat Cell Biol*, 12, 823-30.
- Mole, S. E., Michaux, G., Codlin, S., Wheeler, R. B., Sharp, J. D. & Cutler, D. F. 2004. CLN6, which is associated with a lysosomal storage disease, is an endoplasmic reticulum protein. *Exp Cell Res*, 298, 399-406.
- Morgan, J. P., Magee, H., Wong, A., Nelson, T., Koch, B., Cooper, J. D. & Weimer, J. M. 2013. A murine model of variant late infantile ceroid lipofuscinosis recapitulates behavioral and pathological phenotypes of human disease. *PLoS One*, 8, e78694.
- Muenzer, J. 1986. Mucopolysaccharidoses. Adv Pediatr, 33, 269-302.
- Muenzer, J. 2011. Overview of the mucopolysaccharidoses. *Rheumatology (Oxford),* 50 Suppl 5, v4-12.
- Muller-Loennies, S., Galliciotti, G., Kollmann, K., Glatzel, M. & Braulke, T. 2010. A novel singlechain antibody fragment for detection of mannose 6-phosphate-containing proteins: application in mucolipidosis type II patients and mice. *Am J Pathol*, 177, 240-7.
- Muller, A., Hauk, T. G., Leibinger, M., Marienfeld, R. & Fischer, D. 2009. Exogenous CNTF stimulates axon regeneration of retinal ganglion cells partially via endogenous CNTF. *Mol Cell Neurosci*, 41, 233-46.
- Murakami, Y., Notomi, S., Hisatomi, T., Nakazawa, T., Ishibashi, T., Miller, J. W. & Vavvas, D. G. 2013. Photoreceptor cell death and rescue in retinal detachment and degenerations. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 37, 114-40.
- Nakazawa, T., Nakazawa, C., Matsubara, A., Noda, K., Hisatomi, T., She, H., Michaud, N., Hafezi-Moghadam, A., Miller, J. W. & Benowitz, L. I. 2006. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha mediates oligodendrocyte death and delayed retinal ganglion cell loss in a mouse model of glaucoma. *J Neurosci*, 26, 12633-41.
- Neufeld, E. M., J. 2001. The mucopolysaccharidoses, New York. NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Newman, N. J. 1996. Optic neuropathy. Neurology, 46, 315-22.
- O'neill, E. C., Mackey, D. A., Connell, P. P., Hewitt, A. W., Danesh-Meyer, H. V. & Crowston, J. G. 2009. The optic nerve head in hereditary optic neuropathies. *Nat Rev Neurol*, *5*, 277-87.
- Okabe, S., Forsberg-Nilsson, K., Spiro, A. C., Segal, M. & Mckay, R. D. 1996. Development of neuronal precursor cells and functional postmitotic neurons from embryonic stem cells in vitro. *Mech Dev*, 59, 89-102.
- Olofsson, B., Pajusola, K., Kaipainen, A., Voneuler, G., Joukov, V., Saksela, O., Orpana, A., Petersson, R. F., Alitalo, K. & Eriksson, U. 1996. Vascular endothelial growth factor B, a novel growth factor for endothelial cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93, 2576-2581.
- Oosthuyse, B., Moons, L., Storkebaum, E., Beck, H., Nuyens, D., Brusselmans, K., Van Dorpe, J., Hellings, P., Gorselink, M., Heymans, S., Theilmeier, G., Dewerchin, M., Laudenbach, V., Vermylen, P., Raat, H., Acker, T., Vleminckx, V., Van Den Bosch, L., Cashman, N., Fujisawa, H., Drost, M. R., Sciot, R., Bruyninckx, F., Hicklin, D. J., Ince, C., Gressens, P., Lupu, F., Plate, K. H., Robberecht, W., Herbert, J. M., Collen, D. & Carmeliet, P. 2001. Deletion of the hypoxia-response element in the vascular endothelial growth factor promoter causes motor neuron degeneration. *Nat Genet*, 28, 131-8.
- Osakada, F., Ikeda, H., Mandai, M., Wataya, T., Watanabe, K., Yoshimura, N., Akaike, A., Sasai, Y. & Takahashi, M. 2008. Toward the generation of rod and cone photoreceptors from mouse, monkey and human embryonic stem cells. *Nat Biotechnol,* 26, 215-24.
- Otani, A., Dorrell, M. I., Kinder, K., Moreno, S. K., Nusinowitz, S., Banin, E., Heckenlively, J. & Friedlander, M. 2004. Rescue of retinal degeneration by intravitreally injected adult bone marrow-derived lineage-negative hematopoietic stem cells. *J Clin Invest*, 114, 765-74.

- Parrilla-Reverter, G., Agudo, M., Sobrado-Calvo, P., Salinas-Navarro, M., Villegas-Perez, M. P. & Vidal-Sanz, M. 2009. Effects of different neurotrophic factors on the survival of retinal ganglion cells after a complete intraorbital nerve crush injury: a quantitative in vivo study. *Exp Eye Res*, 89, 32-41.
- Pascale, A., Drago, F. & Govoni, S. 2012. Protecting the retinal neurons from glaucoma: lowering ocular pressure is not enough. *Pharmacol Res*, 66, 19-32.
- Pearson, R. A., Barber, A. C., Rizzi, M., Hippert, C., Xue, T., West, E. L., Duran, Y., Smith, A. J., Chuang, J. Z., Azam, S. A., Luhmann, U. F., Benucci, A., Sung, C. H., Bainbridge, J. W., Carandini, M., Yau, K. W., Sowden, J. C. & Ali, R. R. 2012. Restoration of vision after transplantation of photoreceptors. *Nature*, 485, 99-103.
- Pearson, R. A. 2014. Advances in repairing the degenerate retina by rod photoreceptor transplantation. *Biotechnol Adv*, 32, 485-91.
- Pease, M. E., Mckinnon, S. J., Quigley, H. A., Kerrigan-Baumrind, L. A. & Zack, D. J. 2000. Obstructed axonal transport of BDNF and its receptor TrkB in experimental glaucoma. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 41, 764-74.
- Pease, M. E., Zack, D. J., Berlinicke, C., Bloom, K., Cone, F., Wang, Y., Klein, R. L., Hauswirth, W. W. & Quigley, H. A. 2009. Effect of CNTF on retinal ganglion cell survival in experimental glaucoma. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 50, 2194-200.
- Pelletier, J., Roudier, E., Abraham, P., Fromy, B., Saumet, J. L., Birot, O. & Sigaudo-Roussel, D. 2015. VEGF-A promotes both pro-angiogenic and neurotrophic capacities for nerve recovery after compressive neuropathy in rats. *Mol Neurobiol*, 51, 240-51.
- Pernet, V., Joly, S., Dalkara, D., Jordi, N., Schwarz, O., Christ, F., Schaffer, D. V., Flannery, J. G. & Schwab, M. E. 2013. Long-distance axonal regeneration induced by CNTF gene transfer is impaired by axonal misguidance in the injured adult optic nerve. *Neurobiol Dis*, 51, 202-13.
- Phinney, D. G. & Prockop, D. J. 2007. Concise review: mesenchymal stem/multipotent stromal cells: the state of transdifferentiation and modes of tissue repair--current views. *Stem Cells*, 25, 2896-902.
- Poesen, K., Lambrechts, D., Van Damme, P., Dhondt, J., Bender, F., Frank, N., Bogaert, E., Claes, B., Heylen, L., Verheyen, A., Raes, K., Tjwa, M., Eriksson, U., Shibuya, M., Nuydens, R., Van Den Bosch, L., Meert, T., D'hooge, R., Sendtner, M., Robberecht, W. & Carmeliet, P. 2008. Novel role for vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor-1 and its ligand VEGF-B in motor neuron degeneration. *J Neurosci*, 28, 10451-9.
- Popovici, C., Isnardon, D., Birnbaum, D. & Roubin, R. 2002. Caenorhabditis elegans receptors related to mammalian vascular endothelial growth factor receptors are expressed in neural cells. *Neurosci Lett*, 329, 116-20.
- Portera-Cailliau, C., Sung, C. H., Nathans, J. & Adler, R. 1994. Apoptotic photoreceptor cell death in mouse models of retinitis pigmentosa. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 91, 974-8.
- Pressmar, S., Ader, M., Richard, G., Schachner, M. & Bartsch, U. 2001. The fate of heterotopically grafted neural precursor cells in the normal and dystrophic adult mouse retina. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 42, 3311-9.
- Punzo, C., Kornacker, K. & Cepko, C. L. 2009. Stimulation of the insulin/mTOR pathway delays cone death in a mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa. *Nat Neurosci*, 12, 44-52.
- Purves, D., Augustine, G. J., Fitzpatrick, D., Katz, L. C., Lamantia, A.-S., Mcnamara, J. O. & Williams, S. M. 2001. *Molecular Basis of Trophic Interactions*, MA, Neuroscience, Sinauer, Sunderland.
- Qu-Petersen, Z., Deasy, B., Jankowski, R., Ikezawa, M., Cummins, J., Pruchnic, R., Mytinger, J., Cao, B., Gates, C., Wernig, A. & Huard, J. 2002. Identification of a novel population of muscle stem cells in mice: potential for muscle regeneration. *J Cell Biol*, 157, 851-64.
- Qu, J., Wang, D. & Grosskreutz, C. L. 2010. Mechanisms of retinal ganglion cell injury and defense in glaucoma. *Exp Eye Res*, 91, 48-53.
- Quigley, H. A., Mckinnon, S. J., Zack, D. J., Pease, M. E., Kerrigan-Baumrind, L. A., Kerrigan, D. F. & Mitchell, R. S. 2000. Retrograde axonal transport of BDNF in retinal ganglion cells is blocked by acute IOP elevation in rats. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 41, 3460-6.
- Quigley, H. A. & Broman, A. T. 2006. The number of people with glaucoma worldwide in 2010 and 2020. *Br J Ophthalmol,* 90, 262-7.
- Raff, M. C., Barres, B. A., Burne, J. F., Coles, H. S., Ishizaki, Y. & Jacobson, M. D. 1993. Programmed cell death and the control of cell survival: lessons from the nervous system. *Science*, 262, 695-700.
- Raha, S. & Robinson, B. H. 2001. Mitochondria, oxygen free radicals, and apoptosis. *Am J Med Genet*, 106, 62-70.

- Ramsden, C. M., Powner, M. B., Carr, A. J., Smart, M. J., Da Cruz, L. & Coffey, P. J. 2013. Stem cells in retinal regeneration: past, present and future. *Development*, 140, 2576-85.
- Reynolds, B. A. & Weiss, S. 1992. Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. *Science*, 255, 1707-10.
- Reynolds, B. A. & Weiss, S. 1996. Clonal and population analyses demonstrate that an EGFresponsive mammalian embryonic CNS precursor is a stem cell. *Dev Biol*, 175, 1-13.
- Rhee, K. D., Ruiz, A., Duncan, J. L., Hauswirth, W. W., Lavail, M. M., Bok, D. & Yang, X. J. 2007. Molecular and cellular alterations induced by sustained expression of ciliary neurotrophic factor in a mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 48, 1389-400.
- Roosing, S., Van Den Born, L. I., Sangermano, R., Banfi, S., Koenekoop, R. K., Zonneveld-Vrieling, M. N., Klaver, C. C., Van Lith-Verhoeven, J. J., Cremers, F. P., Den Hollander, A. I. & Hoyng, C. B. 2015. Mutations in MFSD8, encoding a lysosomal membrane protein, are associated with nonsyndromic autosomal recessive macular dystrophy. *Ophthalmology*, 122, 170-9.
- Rosenstein, J. M., Mani, N., Khaibullina, A. & Krum, J. M. 2003. Neurotrophic effects of vascular endothelial growth factor on organotypic cortical explants and primary cortical neurons. J *Neurosci*, 23, 11036-44.
- Rosenstein, J. M. & Krum, J. M. 2004. New roles for VEGF in nervous tissue--beyond blood vessels. *Exp Neurol*, 187, 246-53.
- Rudzinski, M., Wong, T. P. & Saragovi, H. U. 2004. Changes in retinal expression of neurotrophins and neurotrophin receptors induced by ocular hypertension. *J Neurobiol*, 58, 341-54.
- Saati, S., Lo, R., Li, P. Y., Meng, E., Varma, R. & Humayun, M. S. 2009. Mini drug pump for ophthalmic use. *Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc*, 107, 60-70.
- Sahni, J. N., Angi, M., Irigoyen, C., Semeraro, F., Romano, M. R. & Parmeggiani, F. 2011. Therapeutic challenges to retinitis pigmentosa: from neuroprotection to gene therapy. *Curr Genomics*, 12, 276-84.
- Sanchez-Ramos, J., Song, S., Cardozo-Pelaez, F., Hazzi, C., Stedeford, T., Willing, A., Freeman, T. B., Saporta, S., Janssen, W., Patel, N., Cooper, D. R. & Sanberg, P. R. 2000. Adult bone marrow stromal cells differentiate into neural cells in vitro. *Exp Neurol*, 164, 247-56.
- Sardiello, M., Palmieri, M., Di Ronza, A., Medina, D. L., Valenza, M., Gennarino, V. A., Di Malta, C., Donaudy, F., Embrione, V., Polishchuk, R. S., Banfi, S., Parenti, G., Cattaneo, E. & Ballabio, A. 2009. A gene network regulating lysosomal biogenesis and function. *Science*, 325, 473-7.
- Satarian, L., Javan, M., Kiani, S., Hajikaram, M., Mirnajafi-Zadeh, J. & Baharvand, H. 2013. Engrafted human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived anterior specified neural progenitors protect the rat crushed optic nerve. *PLoS One*, 8, e71855.
- Scaffidi, C., Fulda, S., Srinivasan, A., Friesen, C., Li, F., Tomaselli, K. J., Debatin, K. M., Krammer, P. H. & Peter, M. E. 1998. Two CD95 (APO-1/Fas) signaling pathways. *EMBO J*, 17, 1675-87.
- Schlichtenbrede, F. C., Macneil, A., Bainbridge, J. W., Tschernutter, M., Thrasher, A. J., Smith, A. J. & Ali, R. R. 2003. Intraocular gene delivery of ciliary neurotrophic factor results in significant loss of retinal function in normal mice and in the Prph2Rd2/Rd2 model of retinal degeneration. *Gene Ther*, 10, 523-7.
- Schmidt, E. M., Bak, M. J., Hambrecht, F. T., Kufta, C. V., O'rourke, D. K. & Vallabhanath, P. 1996. Feasibility of a visual prosthesis for the blind based on intracortical microstimulation of the visual cortex. *Brain*, 119 (Pt 2), 507-22.
- Schulz, A., Kohlschutter, A., Mink, J., Simonati, A. & Williams, R. 2013. NCL diseases clinical perspectives. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1832, 1801-6.
- Schumacher, R. G., Brzezinska, R., Schulze-Frenking, G. & Pitz, S. 2008. Sonographic ocular findings in patients with mucopolysaccharidoses I, II and VI. *Pediatr Radiol,* 38, 543-50.
- Schwartz, S. D., Hubschman, J. P., Heilwell, G., Franco-Cardenas, V., Pan, C. K., Ostrick, R. M., Mickunas, E., Gay, R., Klimanskaya, I. & Lanza, R. 2012. Embryonic stem cell trials for macular degeneration: a preliminary report. *Lancet*, 379, 713-20.
- Sendtner, M., Kreutzberg, G. W. & Thoenen, H. 1990. Ciliary neurotrophic factor prevents the degeneration of motor neurons after axotomy. *Nature*, 345, 440-1.
- Senger, D. R., Galli, S. J., Dvorak, A. M., Perruzzi, C. A., Harvey, V. S. & Dvorak, H. F. 1983. Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. *Science*, 219, 983-5.
- Shacka, J. J. 2012. Mouse models of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinoses: useful pre-clinical tools to delineate disease pathophysiology and validate therapeutics. *Brain Res Bull*, 88, 43-57.

- Shibuya, M. 2006. Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 (VEGFR-1/Flt-1): a dual regulator for angiogenesis. *Angiogenesis*, 9, 225-30; discussion 231.
- Sieving, P. A., Caruso, R. C., Tao, W., Coleman, H. R., Thompson, D. J., Fullmer, K. R. & Bush, R. A. 2006. Ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) for human retinal degeneration: phase I trial of CNTF delivered by encapsulated cell intraocular implants. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 3896-901.
- Simonelli, F., Maguire, A. M., Testa, F., Pierce, E. A., Mingozzi, F., Bennicelli, J. L., Rossi, S., Marshall, K., Banfi, S., Surace, E. M., Sun, J., Redmond, T. M., Zhu, X., Shindler, K. S., Ying, G. S., Ziviello, C., Acerra, C., Wright, J. F., Mcdonnell, J. W., High, K. A., Bennett, J. & Auricchio, A. 2010. Gene therapy for Leber's congenital amaurosis is safe and effective through 1.5 years after vector administration. *Mol Ther*, 18, 643-50.
- Singh, M. S. & Maclaren, R. E. 2011. Stem cells as a therapeutic tool for the blind: biology and future prospects. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 278, 3009-3016.
- Sleat, D. E., Wiseman, J. A., El-Banna, M., Kim, K. H., Mao, Q., Price, S., Macauley, S. L., Sidman, R. L., Shen, M. M., Zhao, Q., Passini, M. A., Davidson, B. L., Stewart, G. R. & Lobel, P. 2004. A mouse model of classical late-infantile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis based on targeted disruption of the CLN2 gene results in a loss of tripeptidyl-peptidase I activity and progressive neurodegeneration. *J Neurosci*, 24, 9117-26.
- Sleeman, M. W., Anderson, K. D., Lambert, P. D., Yancopoulos, G. D. & Wiegand, S. J. 2000. The ciliary neurotrophic factor and its receptor, CNTFR alpha. *Pharm Acta Helv*, 74, 265-72.
- Sondell, M., Sundler, F. & Kanje, M. 2000. Vascular endothelial growth factor is a neurotrophic factor which stimulates axonal outgrowth through the flk-1 receptor. *Eur J Neurosci*, 12, 4243-54.
- Stockli, K. A., Lottspeich, F., Sendtner, M., Masiakowski, P., Carroll, P., Gotz, R., Lindholm, D. & Thoenen, H. 1989. Molecular cloning, expression and regional distribution of rat ciliary neurotrophic factor. *Nature*, 342, 920-3.
- Storkebaum, E., Lambrechts, D. & Carmeliet, P. 2004. VEGF: once regarded as a specific angiogenic factor, now implicated in neuroprotection. *Bioessays*, 26, 943-54.
- Strauss, O. 2005. The retinal pigment epithelium in visual function. *Physiol Rev*, 85, 845-81.
- Sun, Y., Jin, K., Childs, J. T., Xie, L., Mao, X. O. & Greenberg, D. A. 2004. Increased severity of cerebral ischemic injury in vascular endothelial growth factor-B-deficient mice. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 24, 1146-52.
- Sun, Y., Jin, K., Childs, J. T., Xie, L., Mao, X. O. & Greenberg, D. A. 2006. Vascular endothelial growth factor-B (VEGFB) stimulates neurogenesis: evidence from knockout mice and growth factor administration. *Dev Biol*, 289, 329-35.
- Surace, E. M. & Auricchio, A. 2008. Versatility of AAV vectors for retinal gene transfer. *Vision Res*, 48, 353-9.
- Suzuki, H., Taguchi, T., Tanaka, H., Kataoka, H., Li, Z., Muramatsu, K., Gondo, T. & Kawai, S. 2004. Neurospheres induced from bone marrow stromal cells are multipotent for differentiation into neuron, astrocyte, and oligodendrocyte phenotypes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 322, 918-22.
- Taga, T. & Kishimoto, T. 1997. Gp130 and the interleukin-6 family of cytokines. *Annu Rev Immunol,* 15, 797-819.
- Talcott, K. E., Ratnam, K., Sundquist, S. M., Lucero, A. S., Lujan, B. J., Tao, W., Porco, T. C., Roorda, A. & Duncan, J. L. 2011. Longitudinal study of cone photoreceptors during retinal degeneration and in response to ciliary neurotrophic factor treatment. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 52, 2219-26.
- Tao, W., Wen, R., Goddard, M. B., Sherman, S. D., O'rourke, P. J., Stabila, P. F., Bell, W. J., Dean, B. J., Kauper, K. A., Budz, V. A., Tsiaras, W. G., Acland, G. M., Pearce-Kelling, S., Laties, A. M. & Aguirre, G. D. 2002. Encapsulated cell-based delivery of CNTF reduces photoreceptor degeneration in animal models of retinitis pigmentosa. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 43, 3292-8.
- Temple, S. 1989. Division and differentiation of isolated CNS blast cells in microculture. *Nature*, 340, 471-3.
- Tezel, G. & Wax, M. B. 2000. Increased production of tumor necrosis factor-alpha by glial cells exposed to simulated ischemia or elevated hydrostatic pressure induces apoptosis in cocultured retinal ganglion cells. *J Neurosci*, 20, 8693-700.
- Thanos, C. & Emerich, D. 2005. Delivery of neurotrophic factors and therapeutic proteins for retinal diseases. *Expert Opin Biol Ther*, 5, 1443-52.

- Thomson, J. A., Itskovitz-Eldor, J., Shapiro, S. S., Waknitz, M. A., Swiergiel, J. J., Marshall, V. S. & Jones, J. M. 1998. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. *Science*, 282, 1145-7.
- Tombran-Tink, J., Chader, G. G. & Johnson, L. V. 1991. PEDF: a pigment epithelium-derived factor with potent neuronal differentiative activity. *Exp Eye Res*, 53, 411-4.
- Travis, G. H. 1998. Mechanisms of cell death in the inherited retinal degenerations. *Am J Hum Genet*, 62, 503-8.
- Tucker, B. A., Mullins, R. F., Streb, L. M., Anfinson, K., Eyestone, M. E., Kaalberg, E., Riker, M. J., Drack, A. V., Braun, T. A. & Stone, E. M. 2013. Patient-specific iPSC-derived photoreceptor precursor cells as a means to investigate retinitis pigmentosa. *Elife,* 2, e00824.
- Valstar, M. J., Ruijter, G. J., Van Diggelen, O. P., Poorthuis, B. J. & Wijburg, F. A. 2008. Sanfilippo syndrome: a mini-review. *J Inherit Metab Dis*, 31, 240-52.
- Van Adel, B. A., Kostic, C., Deglon, N., Ball, A. K. & Arsenijevic, Y. 2003. Delivery of ciliary neurotrophic factor via lentiviral-mediated transfer protects axotomized retinal ganglion cells for an extended period of time. *Hum Gene Ther*, 14, 103-15.
- Wang, S., Girman, S., Lu, B., Bischoff, N., Holmes, T., Shearer, R., Wright, L. S., Svendsen, C. N., Gamm, D. M. & Lund, R. D. 2008. Long-term vision rescue by human neural progenitors in a rat model of photoreceptor degeneration. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 49, 3201-6.
- Wang, S. M., Lu, B., Girman, S., Duan, J., Mcfarland, T., Zhang, Q. S., Grompe, M., Adamus, G., Appukuttan, B. & Lund, R. 2010. Non-Invasive Stem Cell Therapy in a Rat Model for Retinal Degeneration and Vascular Pathology. *Plos One*, 5.
- Weber, K., Bartsch, U., Stocking, C. & Fehse, B. 2008. A multicolor panel of novel lentiviral "gene ontology" (LeGO) vectors for functional gene analysis. *Mol Ther,* 16, 698-706.
- Weber, K., Mock, U., Petrowitz, B., Bartsch, U. & Fehse, B. 2010. Lentiviral gene ontology (LeGO) vectors equipped with novel drug-selectable fluorescent proteins: new building blocks for cell marking and multi-gene analysis. *Gene Ther*, 17, 511-20.
- Weber, M., Rabinowitz, J., Provost, N., Conrath, H., Folliot, S., Briot, D., Cherel, Y., Chenuaud, P., Samulski, J., Moullier, P. & Rolling, F. 2003. Recombinant adeno-associated virus serotype 4 mediates unique and exclusive long-term transduction of retinal pigmented epithelium in rat, dog, and nonhuman primate after subretinal delivery. *Mol Ther*, 7, 774-81.
- Weise, J., Isenmann, S., Klocker, N., Kugler, S., Hirsch, S., Gravel, C. & Bahr, M. 2000. Adenovirus-mediated expression of ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) rescues axotomized rat retinal ganglion cells but does not support axonal regeneration in vivo. *Neurobiol Dis*, 7, 212-23.
- Weleber, R. G., Gupta, N., Trzupek, K. M., Wepner, M. S., Kurz, D. E. & Milam, A. H. 2004. Electroretinographic and clinicopathologic correlations of retinal dysfunction in infantile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (infantile Batten disease). *Mol Genet Metab*, 83, 128-37.
- Wen, R., Song, Y., Kjellstrom, S., Tanikawa, A., Liu, Y., Li, Y., Zhao, L., Bush, R. A., Laties, A. M.
 & Sieving, P. A. 2006. Regulation of rod phototransduction machinery by ciliary neurotrophic factor. *J Neurosci*, 26, 13523-30.
- Wen, R., Song, Y., Liu, Y., Li, Y., Zhao, L. & Laties, A. M. 2008. CNTF negatively regulates the phototransduction machinery in rod photoreceptors: implication for light-induced photostasis plasticity. Adv Exp Med Biol, 613, 407-13.
- Wen, R., Tao, W., Li, Y. & Sieving, P. A. 2012. CNTF and retina. Prog Retin Eye Res, 31, 136-51.
- Wenzel, A., Grimm, C., Samardzija, M. & Reme, C. E. 2005. Molecular mechanisms of lightinduced photoreceptor apoptosis and neuroprotection for retinal degeneration. *Prog Retin Eye Res*, 24, 275-306.
- Wernig, M., Zhao, J. P., Pruszak, J., Hedlund, E., Fu, D., Soldner, F., Broccoli, V., Constantine-Paton, M., Isacson, O. & Jaenisch, R. 2008. Neurons derived from reprogrammed fibroblasts functionally integrate into the fetal brain and improve symptoms of rats with Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 5856-61.
- West, E. L., Pearson, R. A., Maclaren, R. E., Sowden, J. C. & Ali, R. R. 2009. Cell transplantation strategies for retinal repair. *Prog Brain Res*, 175, 3-21.
- Wheeler, R. B., Sharp, J. D., Schultz, R. A., Joslin, J. M., Williams, R. E. & Mole, S. E. 2002. The gene mutated in variant late-infantile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (CLN6) and in nclf mutant mice encodes a novel predicted transmembrane protein. Am J Hum Genet, 70, 537-42.
- Wijburg, F. A., Wegrzyn, G., Burton, B. K. & Tylki-Szymanska, A. 2013. Mucopolysaccharidosis type III (Sanfilippo syndrome) and misdiagnosis of idiopathic developmental delay,

attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder or autism spectrum disorder. Acta Paediatr, 102, 462-70.

- Wilson, A. M. & Di Polo, A. 2012. Gene therapy for retinal ganglion cell neuroprotection in glaucoma. *Gene Ther*, 19, 127-36.
- Wong, A. M., Rahim, A. A., Waddington, S. N. & Cooper, J. D. 2010. Current therapies for the soluble lysosomal forms of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 38, 1484-8.
- Woodbury, D., Schwarz, E. J., Prockop, D. J. & Black, I. B. 2000. Adult rat and human bone marrow stromal cells differentiate into neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 61, 364-370.
- Wraith, J. E., Scarpa, M., Beck, M., Bodamer, O. A., De Meirleir, L., Guffon, N., Meldgaard Lund, A., Malm, G., Van Der Ploeg, A. T. & Zeman, J. 2008. Mucopolysaccharidosis type II (Hunter syndrome): a clinical review and recommendations for treatment in the era of enzyme replacement therapy. *Eur J Pediatr*, 167, 267-77.
- Wright, A. F., Chakarova, C. F., Abd El-Aziz, M. M. & Bhattacharya, S. S. 2010. Photoreceptor degeneration: genetic and mechanistic dissection of a complex trait. *Nat Rev Genet*, 11, 273-84.
- Yau, K. W. & Hardie, R. C. 2009. Phototransduction motifs and variations. Cell, 139, 246-64.
- You, Y., Gupta, V. K., Li, J. C., Klistorner, A. & Graham, S. L. 2013. Optic neuropathies: characteristic features and mechanisms of retinal ganglion cell loss. *Rev Neurosci*, 24, 301-21.
- Yu, S., Tanabe, T., Dezawa, M., Ishikawa, H. & Yoshimura, N. 2006. Effects of bone marrow stromal cell injection in an experimental glaucoma model. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 344, 1071-9.
- Yue, F., Johkura, K., Shirasawa, S., Yokoyama, T., Inoue, Y., Tomotsune, D. & Sasaki, K. 2010. Differentiation of primate ES cells into retinal cells induced by ES cell-derived pigmented cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 394, 877-83.
- Zafeiriou, D. I., Savvopoulou-Augoustidou, P. A., Sewell, A., Papadopoulou, F., Badouraki, M., Vargiami, E., Gombakis, N. P. & Katzos, G. S. 2001. Serial magnetic resonance imaging findings in mucopolysaccharidosis IIIB (Sanfilippo's syndrome B). *Brain Dev*, 23, 385-9.
- Zeitz, O., Galambos, P., Wagenfeld, L., Wiermann, A., Wlodarsch, P., Praga, R., T Matthiessen, E., Richard, G. & Klemm, M. 2006. Glaucoma progression is associated with decreased blood flow velocities in the short posterior ciliary artery. *British Journal of Ophthalmology*, 90, 1245-1248.
- Zentilin, L., Puligadda, U., Lionetti, V., Zacchigna, S., Collesi, C., Pattarini, L., Ruozi, G., Camporesi, S., Sinagra, G., Pepe, M., Recchia, F. A. & Giacca, M. 2010. Cardiomyocyte VEGFR-1 activation by VEGF-B induces compensatory hypertrophy and preserves cardiac function after myocardial infarction. *FASEB J*, 24, 1467-78.
- Zhang, C. W., Lu, Q., You, S. W., Zhi, Y., Yip, H. K., Wu, W., So, K. F. & Cui, Q. 2005. CNTF and BDNF have similar effects on retinal ganglion cell survival but differential effects on nitric oxide synthase expression soon after optic nerve injury. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 46, 1497-503.
- Zhang, D. W., Shao, J., Lin, J., Zhang, N., Lu, B. J., Lin, S. C., Dong, M. Q. & Han, J. 2009a. RIP3, an energy metabolism regulator that switches TNF-induced cell death from apoptosis to necrosis. *Science*, 325, 332-6.
- Zhang, F., Tang, Z., Hou, X., Lennartsson, J., Li, Y., Koch, A. W., Scotney, P., Lee, C., Arjunan, P., Dong, L., Kumar, A., Rissanen, T. T., Wang, B., Nagai, N., Fons, P., Fariss, R., Zhang, Y., Wawrousek, E., Tansey, G., Raber, J., Fong, G. H., Ding, H., Greenberg, D. A., Becker, K. G., Herbert, J. M., Nash, A., Yla-Herttuala, S., Cao, Y., Watts, R. J. & Li, X. 2009b. VEGF-B is dispensable for blood vessel growth but critical for their survival, and VEGF-B targeting inhibits pathological angiogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 6152-7.
- Zhang, K., Hopkins, J. J., Heier, J. S., Birch, D. G., Halperin, L. S., Albini, T. A., Brown, D. M., Jaffe, G. J., Tao, W. & Williams, G. A. 2011. Ciliary neurotrophic factor delivered by encapsulated cell intraocular implants for treatment of geographic atrophy in age-related macular degeneration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108, 6241-5.
- Zrenner, E., Bartz-Schmidt, K. U., Benav, H., Besch, D., Bruckmann, A., Gabel, V. P., Gekeler, F., Greppmaier, U., Harscher, A., Kibbel, S., Koch, J., Kusnyerik, A., Peters, T., Stingl, K., Sachs, H., Stett, A., Szurman, P., Wilhelm, B. & Wilke, R. 2011. Subretinal electronic chips allow blind patients to read letters and combine them to words. *Proc Biol Sci*, 278, 1489-97.

- Zuk, P. A., Zhu, M., Ashjian, P., De Ugarte, D. A., Huang, J. I., Mizuno, H., Alfonso, Z. C., Fraser, J. K., Benhaim, P. & Hedrick, M. H. 2002. Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. *Mol Biol Cell*, 13, 4279-95.
- Zwart, I., Hill, A. J., Al-Allaf, F., Shah, M., Girdlestone, J., Sanusi, A. B. R., Mehmet, H., Navarrete, R., Navarrete, C. & Jen, L. S. 2009. Umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stromal cells are neuroprotective and promote regeneration in a rat optic tract model. *Experimental Neurology*, 216, 439-448.

I. Abbreviations

| μg | microgram |
|-------------------|---|
| μm | micrometer |
| AAV | adeno-associated virus |
| ACG | angle closure glaucoma |
| AIF | apoptosis inducing factor |
| AMD | age-related macula degeneration |
| ANOVA | analysis of variance |
| APAF | apoptosis protease-activating factor |
| ARSG | arylsulfatase G |
| ARVO | statement for the use of animal in ophthalmic and vision research |
| ASK | apoptosis regulating kinase |
| BDNF | brain-derived neurotrophic factor |
| bFGF | basic fibroblast growth factor |
| BPA | biotinylated peanut agglutinin |
| Brn-3a | brain-specific homeobox/POU domain protein 3a |
| BSA | bovine serum albumin |
| BSD | blasticidin |
| CaCl ₂ | calcium chloride |
| CAG | CMV enhancer/chicken β-actin |
| CD68 | cluster of differentiation 68 |
| cDNA | complementary DNA |
| cGMP | cyclic guanosine monophosphate |
| CMV | cytomegalovirus |
| CNS | central nervous system |
| CNTF | ciliary neurotrophic factor |
| CNTFa | CNTF receptor alpha |
| Ctsd | cathepsin D |
| Су | cyanine |
| DNA | desoxyribonucleic acid |
| DAPI | 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole |
| dpl | days post lesion |
| DR | diabetic retinopathy |
| ECM | extracellular matrix |
| ECT | encapsulated cell technology |
| EF | elongation factor |
| EGF | endothelial growth factor |
| EndoG | endonuclease G |
| ERG | electroretinogram |
| ERT | enzyme replacement therapy |
| ES | embryonic stem |
| FACS | fluorescent activated cell sorting |
| FADD | Fas-associated death domain |
| FasL | Fas ligand |
| FASR | Fas receptor |
| FGF | fibroblast growth factor |

| Flk | fetal liver kinase |
|------------|--|
| Flt | fms-like tyrosine kinase |
| GAG | glycosaminoglycans |
| GCL | ganglion cell layer |
| GDNF | glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor |
| GFAP | glial fibrillary acidic protein |
| GFP | green fluorescent protein |
| GNS | N-acetylglucosamine-6-sulfatase |
| HEK | human embryonic kidney |
| HGSNAT | heparan-α-glucosaminide N-acetyltransferase |
| HS | heparan sulfate |
| HTRA2/OMI | high temperature requirement serine protease 2 |
| i.e. | id est |
| lba1 | ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule 1 |
| IRES | internal ribosome entry site |
| ILM | inner limiting membrane |
| INL | inner nuclear layer |
| IOP | intraocular pressure |
| IPL | inner plexiform layer |
| iPS | induced pluripotent stem |
| JAK | janus kinase |
| JNK | c-jun n-terminal kinase |
| kb | kilobase |
| kDa | kilodalton |
| КО | knockout |
| Lamp1 | Lysosomal-associated membrane protein 1 |
| LCA | Leber's congenital amaurosis |
| LeGO | lentiviral gene ontology |
| LIFR-β | leukaemia inhibitor factor receptor-β |
| LSD | lysosomal storage disorder |
| M/mo | month |
| M6P | mannose-6-phosphate |
| MAP2 | microtubule associated protein 2 |
| MAPK | mitogen-activated protein kinase |
| ml | milliliter |
| mm | millimeter |
| mm | millimolar |
| MPS | mucopolysaccharidosis |
| MSC | mesenchymal stem cell |
| MYOC | myocilin |
| n | statistical sample |
| NAGLU | N-α-acetylglucosaminidase |
| NCL or CLN | neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis |
| ng | nanogram |
| NGF | nerve growth factor |
| NRE | nonreducing ends |
| NRP | neuropilin |

| NS | neural stem |
|-------------|---|
| OAG | open angle glaucoma |
| OFR | oxygen free radicals |
| OLM | outer limiting membrane |
| ONC | optic nerve crush |
| ONH | optic nerve head |
| ONL | outer nuclear layer |
| OPL | outer plexiform layer |
| Р | phosphate |
| PA | paraformaldehyde |
| PBS | phosphate buffered saline |
| Pde6b | phosphodiesterase 6b |
| PEDF | pigment epithelium-derived factor |
| PGK | phosphoglycerate kinase |
| ΡΚCα | protein kinase C alpha |
| PIGF | placental growth factor |
| Polybrene | hexadimethrine bromide |
| RCS | Royal College of Surgeons |
| rd | retinal degeneration |
| RdCVF | rod derived cone viability factor |
| Rec | recoverin |
| RGC | retinal ganglion cell |
| RHO/Rho | rhodopsin |
| RIP | receptor interacting protein |
| RP | retinitis pigmentosa |
| RPE | retinal pigment epithelium |
| RPE65 | RPE-specific protein 65 kDa |
| RPGR | retinitis pigmentosa GFPase regulator |
| SEM | standard error of the mean |
| SFFV | spleen focus-forming virus |
| SGSH | N-sulfoglucosamine sulfohydrolase second mitochondrial-derived activator of caspases and Drosophila |
| SMAC/DIABLO | melanogaster homologue |
| STAT | signal transducer and activator of transcription |
| TNFR | tumor necrosis factor receptor |
| ΤΝFα | tumor necrosis factor-alpha |
| TRAIL | TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligands |
| ТҮК | tyrosine kinase |
| USH2A | usherin |
| VEGF | vascular endothelial growth factor |
| VEGFR | VEGF receptor |
| VGF | VEGF-related factor |
| VLINCL | variant late infantile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis |
| VSV-G | envelope G protein of the vesicular stomatitis virus |
| zeo | zeocin |

II. Publications, grants and participations

Publications:

Jung, G., Sun, J., Petrowitz, B., Riecken, K., Kruszewski, K., Jankowiak, W., Kunst, F., Skevas, C., Richard, G., Fehse, B. & Bartsch, U. 2013. Genetically modified neural stem cells for a local and sustained delivery of neuroprotective factors to the dystrophic mouse retina. *Stem Cells Transl Med*, 2, 1001-10.

- Experimental procedure (neural stem cell culture (CNTF-NS and control-NS cell culture), histological analyses)
- Preparation, review, and approval of the manuscript

Flachsbarth, K., Kruszewski, K., Jung, G., Jankowiak, W., Riecken, K., Wagenfeld, L., Richard, G., Fehse, B. & Bartsch, U. 2014. Neural stem cell-based intraocular administration of ciliary neurotrophic factor attenuates the loss of axotomized ganglion cells in adult mice. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 55, 7029-39

- Experimental procedure (neural stem cell culture (CNTF-NS and control-NS cells), histological analyses, Western Blot analyses of CNTF expression levels, preparation of lentiviral particles, cell transductions, generation of clonal cell lines by FACS)
- Preparation, review, and approval of the manuscript

Jankowiak, W., Kruszewski, K., Flachsbarth, K., Skevas, C., Richard, G., Ruther, K., Braulke, T. & Bartsch, U. 2015. Sustained neural stem cell-based intraocular delivery of CNTF attenuates photoreceptor loss in the nclf mouse model of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. *PLoS One*, 10, e0127204

- Experimental procedure (neural stem cell culture (CNTF-NS and control-NS cells), Western Blot analyses of CNTF expression levels, preparation of lentiviral particles, cell transductions, generation of clonal cell lines by FACS)
- Preparation, review, and approval of the manuscript

Kruszewski, K., Lüllmann-Rauch, R., Dierks, T., Bartsch, U. & Damme, M. Degeneration of photoreceptor cells in Arylsulfatase G-deficient mice. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, in revision (part of the present thesis)

- All experimental work (except electron microscopy)
- Preparation, review, and approval of the manuscript
- First author of the manuscript

Kruszewski, K., Flachsbarth, K. & Bartsch, U. Intravitreal transplantations of VEGF-B expressing neural stem cells delay the degeneration of axotomized retinal ganglion cells in adult mice. Manuscript in preparation (part of the present thesis)

- All experimental work (except cloning of lentiviral vector, optic nerve lesions and cell transplantations)
- Preparation, review, and approval of the manuscript
- First author of the manuscript

Altmeppen, H. C., Prox., J., Krasemann, S., Puig, B., Kruszewski, K., Dohler, F., Bernreuther, C., Hoxha, A., Linsenmeier, L., Sikorska, B., Liberski, P. P., Bartsch, U., Saftig, P. & Glatzel, M. 2015. The sheddase ADAM10 is a potent modulator of prion disease. *ELife*, 5, doi: 10.7554/eLife.04260 (not part of the present thesis)

- Experimental procedure (neural stem cell culture of ADAM10 cell lines, cell transductions, differentiations and immunocytochemistry)
- Preparation, review, and approval of the manuscript

Grants:

Katharina Kruszewski, Udo Bartsch

Stammzellbasierte Neuroprotektion von Zapfen in Mausmodellen für erbliche Netzhautdystrophien.

Dr.-Karl-Robert-Brauns-Forschungspreis für Augenheilkunde (2013)

Approval of the participations

Hele Rabel

signature (Prof. Dr. Udo Bartsch

Hamburg, 29.09.2015 place and date

Stem Cells Translational Medicine'

TISSUE ENGINEERING AND REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

Genetically Modified Neural Stem Cells for a Local and Sustained Delivery of Neuroprotective Factors to the Dystrophic Mouse Retina

GILA JUNG,"," JING SUN,"," BETTINA PETROWITZ," KRISTOFFER RIECKEN," KATHARINA KRUSZEWSKI," Wanda Jankowiak," Frank Kunst," Christos Skevas," Gisbert Richard," Boris Fehse," Udo Bartsch"

Key Words. Neural stem cell • Stem cell transplantation • Retinal photoreceptors • Lentiviral vector • Ciliary neurotrophic factor

ABSTRACT

A continuous intraocular delivery of neurotrophic factors (NFs) is being explored as a strategy to rescue photoreceptor cells and visual functions in degenerative retinal disorders that are currently untreatable. To establish a cell-based intraocular delivery system for a sustained administration of NFs to the dystrophic mouse retina, we used a polycistronic lentiviral vector to genetically modify adherently cultivated murine neural stem (NS) cells. The vector concurrently encoded a gene of interest, a reporter gene, and a resistance gene and thus facilitated the selection, cloning, and in vivo tracking of the modified cells. To evaluate whether modified NS cells permit delivery of functionally relevant guantities of NFs to the dystrophic mouse retina, we expressed a secretable variant of ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) in NS cells and grafted the cells into the vitreous space of Pde6b^{rd1} and Pde6b^{rd10} mice, two animal models of retinitis pigmentosa. In both mouse lines, grafted cells attached to the retina and lens, where they differentiated into astrocytes and some neurons. Adverse effects of the transplanted cells on the morphology of host retinas were not observed. Importantly, the CNTF-secreting NS cells significantly attenuated photoreceptor degeneration in both mutant mouse lines. The neuroprotective effect was significantly more pronounced when clonally derived NS cell lines selected for high expression levels of CNTF were grafted into Pde6b"42 mice. Intravitreal transplantations of modified NS cells may thus represent a useful method for preclinical studies aimed at evaluating the therapeutic potential of a cell-based intraocular delivery of NFs in mouse models of photoreceptor degeneration. STEM CELLS TRANSLATIONAL MEDICINE 2013; 2:1001-1010

INTRODUCTION

Progressive dysfunction and degeneration of photoreceptors, as it occurs in retinitis pigmentosa or age-related macular degeneration, results in currently incurable visual impairment or blindness [1]. Corrective gene therapy, optogenetic therapy, implantations of electronic retinal prostheses, cell replacement strategies and neuroprotective strategies are among the approaches aimed at establishing treatments for such conditions [2–6]. All these therapeutic strategies have achieved remarkable results in animal models, and some have entered clinical trials [4, 7–9].

Neuroprotective strategies do not target the specific cause of a disease but instead attempt to limit the consequences (i.e., degeneration of photoreceptors and deterioration of visual function) and may thus be applicable across a broad range of degenerative retinal disorders. During the last two decades, a number of neurotrophic factors (NFs) have been shown to attenuate photoreceptor degeneration and to partly preserve retinal function in a variety of animal models of hereditary retinal degeneration and other diseases involving photoreceptor loss [3, 10]. Because NFs normally have short half-life times, do not ordinarily cross the blood-retina barrier, and bear the risk of unacceptable side effects when administered systemically, strategies are being developed that permit a local and sustained delivery of these factors to the retina. These include intravitreal implantations of biodegradable factor-loaded delivery devices, forced expression of NFs in endogenous retinal cells using viral or nonviral vectors, and intraocular transplantations of cells genetically modified to secrete such factors [11-16].

Intraocular implantations of encapsulated and genetically modified cells provide a straightforward strategy to use cells as vectors to deliver NFs to dystrophic retinas, as the encapsulation

STEM CELLS TRANSLATIONAL MEDICINE 2013;2:1001–1010 www.StemCellsTM.com @AlphaMed Press 2013

*Department of Ophthalmology and *Research Department Cell and Gene Therapy, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

*Contributed equally as first authors.

Correspondence: Udo Bartsch, Ph.D., Department of Ophthalmology, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Martinistrasse 52, 20246 Hamburg, Germany. Telephone: 49-40-7410-55945; Fax: 49-40-7410-55017; E-Mail: ubartsch@uke.uni-hamburg.de

Received January 22, 2013; accepted for publication July 3, 2013; first published online in SCTM Exmess October 28, 2013.

©AlphaMed Press 1066-5099/2013/\$20.00/0

http://dx.doi.org/ 10.5966/sctm.2013-0013
-8

protects not only the grafted cells from the immune system of the host but also the host retina from potential adverse effects of the grafted cells. Studies with encapsulated human retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) cells modified to secrete ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) have indeed demonstrated the feasibility of this approach in large animal models [17, 18] and human patients with degenerative retinal disorders [19–22]. However, the size of the encapsulated cell implants precludes their use in preclinical studies aimed at evaluating and optimizing this therapeutic approach in small species, such as the mouse with its numerous genetic or acutely induced models of degenerative retinal disorders.

Because stem cells are highly expandable and amenable to genetic modifications, they not only hold promise for cell replacement strategies but also may serve as cellular vectors to deliver therapeutic gene products to diseased retinas. Neurally committed stem and progenitor cells are of particular interest in this context, as they have been shown to survive for extended periods of time in host eyes after transplantation [23-27] and to confer some neuroprotective activity to photoreceptors even when grafted without prior genetic modifications [13, 23, 28, 29]. Neural stem/progenitor cells are usually expanded as free-floating cellular aggregates, called neurospheres [30], which contain only a few stem cells but instead are mainly composed of committed neural progenitor cells [31]. When neurosphere cells are cultured under adherent conditions, however, they give rise to pure populations of continuously self-renewing clonogenic neural stem cells, which can be extensively expanded in culture [32]. These cells, which in analogy to continuously selfrenewing embryonic stem (ES) cells have been termed neural stem (NS) cells, differentiate into neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes in vitro and after transplantation into the brain and spinal cord [32, 33] and are thus among the candidate cell types to deliver therapeutic gene products to the diseased nervous system.

CNTF is a member of the interleucin-6 cytokine family and has neuroprotective effects on various nerve cell types of the central and peripheral nervous system [34]. In the retina, CNTF protects photoreceptors and ganglion cells from degeneration, and it is probably the most extensively studied NF in the context of degenerative retinal disorders [3, 7]. Although CNTF potently attenuates photoreceptor loss in various animal models of inherited and acquired retinal disorders, it negatively affects retinal function in a dose-dependent and reversible manner [35–38]. Of note, CNTF is currently being evaluated in clinical trials for the treatment of inherited retinal degenerations and geographic atrophy, and some positive effects have been reported [19–22].

To establish a cell-based intraocular delivery system for a sustained administration of NFs to the dystrophic mouse retina, we took advantage of the strong protective effect of CNTF on retinal structure and expressed this cytokine in NS cells. The neuroprotective effect of the CNTF-secreting NS cells on photoreceptor cells was evaluated in Pde6b^{rd12} and Pde6b^{rd10} mutant mice, two animal models of autosomal recessive retinitis pigmentosa [39, 40].

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Neural stem cells were isolated from the cerebral cortex of 14-day-old C578L/6J wild-type mouse embryos. Pde6b^{rd2} and Pde6b^{rd30} mutant mice were maintained on a C578L/6J background and genotyped by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) [40, 41]. All animal experiments were approved by the local ethics committee and were in accordance with the Association for Research in Vision and Ophthalmology (ARVO) Statement for the Use of Animais in Ophthalmic and Vision Research.

Isolation, Cultivation, and Differentiation of NS Cells

To establish NS cell cultures [32] from the cerebral cortex of mouse embryos, we first generated neurosphere cultures according to standard protocols [24, 42]. After two or three passages, neurospheres were enzymatically dissociated, and cells were further cultivated under adherent conditions in tissue culture flasks coated with 0.1% Matrigel (BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany, http://www.bd.com) in NS-A medium (Euroclone, Pero, Italy, http://www.euroclonegroup.it) supplemented with 10 ng/ml fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2) and 10 ng/ml epidermal growth factor (EGF; both from TEBU, Offenbach, Germany, http://www.tebu-bio.com), 1% modified N2 [32], and 1% 827 {Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany, http://www. lifetech.com). Astrocytic differentiation of NS cells was induced by maintaining cultures for 5 days in NS-A medium containing 1% fetal calf serum (Life Technologies) and 2% B27. Neuronal differentiation was induced by cultivating NS cells for 5 days in NS-A medium supplemented with 5 ng/ml FGF-2, 1% N2, and 2% B27. followed by a further cultivation period of 5 days in a 1:1 mixture of NS-A and Neurobasal medium (Life Technologies) containing 0.25% N2 and 2% B27.

Lentiviral Vectors and NS Cell Transduction

The open reading frame of mouse CNTF was PCR amplified from mouse brain cDNA and ligated in-frame with the lg κ -chain leader sequence of pSecTag2 B (Life Technologies). The secretable variant of CNTF was then cloned into pCAG-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO, giving rise to pCAG-CNTF-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO. The vector is based on the lentiviral "gene ontology" (LeGO) vectors [43, 44] and contains the internal ribosome entry site (IRES) of the encephalomyocarditis virus and a Venus reporter gene separated from a zeocin (ZEO) resistance gene by a P2A sequence of porcine teschovirus-1 under regulatory control of the cytomegalovirus enhancer/chicken β -actin (CAG) promoter (Fig. 1A). Lentiviral particles, pseudotyped with the envelope G protein of the vesicular stomatitis virus, were produced as described (http:// www.lentigo-vectors.de).

NS cells were spinoculated with pCAG-CNTF-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO to derive CNTF-secreting NS cells (CNTF-NS cells) or with pCAG-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO to derive NS cells for control experiments (control-NS cells), and further expanded in the presence of 200 µg/ml zeocin (InvivoGen, San Diego, CA, http://www. invivogen.com/) to select for positive cells. To establish clonally derived control-NS and CNTF-NS cell lines, single cells with the highest expression levels of the reporter gene were plated into 96-well plates by fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS; FAC-SAria; BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA, http://www.bdbiosciences. com).

Immunocytochemistry, Immunoblot Analysis, and Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay

Cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PA), blocked, and stained with polyclonal rabbit anti-CNTF antibodies (kind gift of Dr. M. Sendtner). Astrocytes and neurons in differentiated NS cell cultures were identified with monoclonal mouse anti-glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) and anti-microtubule associated protein 2 antibodies (both from Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO,

Supplements



Figure 1. Generation of CNTF-secreting neural stem (N5) cell cultures. (A): The lentiviral vector used in this study encoded a secretable variant of mouse CNTF under regulatory control of the human CAG promoter. The vector additionally encoded a Venus reporter gene and a zeocin resistance gene, both being located downstream of an internal ribosome entry site of the encephalomyocarditis virus and separated from each other by a P2A sequence (top). The same construct, but lacking the CNTF cDNA, served as a control vector (bottom). (B): NS cells were transduced with pCAG-CNTF-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO. Cells with high expression levels of the reporter gene were clonally expanded and immunostained with anti-CNTF antibodies (Ba, 8b). Note that all cells in the CNTF-NS clone were positive for Venus (Ba) and showed strong CNTF immunoreactivity in a perinuclear location (Bb). A clonal NS cell line derived from cultures transduced with the control vector pCAG-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO, in comparison, expressed Venus (Bc) but no detectable levels of CNTF (Bd). Scale bar = 20 µm. (C): CNTF was detected in the culture supernatants from CNTF-NS cell bulk cultures (bulk) and clonally derived CNTF-NS cell lines (clone), but not in supernatants from control-NS cell cultures (control). Abbreviations: Ψ , packaging signal; CAG, cytomegalovirus enhancer/chicken ß-actin; CNTF, ciliary neurotrophic factor; cPPT, central polypurine tract; DAPI, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; IRES, internal ribosome entry site; LoxP, recognition site of Cre recombinase; rhCNTF, recombinant human ciliary neurotrophic factor; RRE, rev-responsive element; SIN-LTR, self-inactivating long-terminal repeat; wPRE, woodchuck hepatitis virus posttranscriptional regulatory element; ZEO, zeocin.

http://www.sigmaaldrich.com), respectively. Primary antibodies were detected with Cy3- or Cy5-conjugated secondary antibodies (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA, http://www.jacksonimmuno.com).

To evaluate secretion of CNTF, culture supernatants were concentrated with Amicon Ultra Centrifugal Filter devices (Milli-

www.StemCellsTM.com

pore, Bedford, MA, http://www.millipore.com} and analyzed in immunoblots using polyclonal rabbit anti-CNTF antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., Santa Cruz, CA, http://www.scbt. com) and horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (Jackson immunoresearch Laboratories). Immunoreactive bands were visualized using SuperSignal West Dura Extended Duration Substrate (ThermoFisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, http://www.thermofisher.com/global/en/home.asp). Secretion of CNTF was quantified with an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit for mouse CNTF (USCN Life Science Inc., Wuhan, China, http://www.uscnk.com). ELISA plates were analyzed with a Sunrise microplate reader and Magellan software (Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland, http://www.tecan.com).

Intravitreal Cell Transplantations and Immunohistochemistry

NS cells were intravitreally grafted into 7-day-old Pde6b^{rd1} and 14-day-old Pde6b⁻⁰¹⁰ mice. Animals were deeply anesthetized, a glass micropipette was inserted into the vitreous space at the junction between sclera and cornea, and 1 and 2 µl of vitreous fluid were removed from the eyes of Pde6b"#2 and Pde6b"#20 mice, respectively. Pde6b'at mice received injections of 1 µl of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing 3.8 × 10⁵ CNTF-NS cells or no cells into one eye, and 3.8×10^5 control-NS cells in 1 µl of PBS into the contralateral eye. Pde6b'et0 mice received injections of 2 μ l of PBS containing 7.6 \times 10⁵ CNTF-NS cells or no cells into one eye, and 7.6 × 105 control-NS cells in 1 µl of PBS into the contralateral eye. Care was taken not to damage the lens during the removal of vitreous fluid or the injection of cells or vehicle solution. Pde6b^{r01} mutants were analyzed at postnatal day 15 (P15) and P25. Pde6b^{razo} mice were kept in a 12-hourlight/12-hour-dark cycle with illumination levels of -- 200 lux and were analyzed at P30.

Eyes from Pde6b"at, Pde6b"at0, or age-matched untreated wild-type mice were fixed in 4% PA, cryoprotected, frozen, serially sectioned at a thickness of 25 µm, and stained with polyclonal rabbit anti-recoverin antibodies (Millipore). Lenses with attached donor cells were stained with polyclonal rabbit anti-CNTF and anti-GFAP (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark, http://www. dako.com) or anti-β-tubulin III (Sigma-Aldrich) antibodies. Lenses from Pde6b"ato mice with grafted CNTF-NS or control-NS cell bulk cultures, or from Pde6brat mice with grafted CNTF-NS or control-NS cell clones (n = 3 for each genotype and cell population) were stained with polyclonal rabbit anti-Ki67 antibodies (Abcam, Cambridge, U.K., http://www.abcam.com) to identify proliferating donor cells. Between 150 and 400 donor cells were analyzed per lens to determine the percentage of Ki-67-positive donor cells. Sections and lenses were analyzed with an Olympus FV 1000 confocal microscope (Olympus, Hamburg, Germany, http://www.olympus-global.com).

Photoreceptor Counts

Merged images of the entire nasal halves of central (i.e., in the plane of the optic disc) retinal sections were prepared using Photoshop CS3 software (Adobe Systems Inc., San Jose, CA, http:// www.adobe.com). Photoreceptors were counted in three areas located at defined distances from the optic disc, corresponding to 25%, 50%, and 75% of the length of the nasal retina. Each area covered the outer nuclear layer over a length of 220 µm. Photoreceptor numbers were determined in Pde6b^{ratio} mice with intravitreally injected NS cells or PBS, and in 15- and

©AlphaMed Press 2013

1003

-83

30-day-old untreated wild-type mice. Six animals from three independent experiments were analyzed for each experimental group. Statistical analysis of data was performed with the twoway analysis of variance test.

RESULTS

Lentiviral Expression of CNTF in NS Cells

To establish NS cell cultures from the cerebral cortex of embryonic mice, we converted neurosphere cultures into adherently growing cultures and further expanded the cells in the presence of EGF, FGF-2, and N2. Under these conditions, cultures consisted of a pure population of symmetrically dividing clonogenic NS cells with molecular features reminiscent of neurogenic radial glia [32, 33]. To genetically modify these cells, we generated a polycistronic lentiviral vector encoding a secretable variant of mouse CNTF, a Venus reporter gene, and a zeocin resistance gene under control of the CAG promoter (pCAG-CNTF-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO; Fig. 1A). The same construct but lacking the CNTF cDNA served as a control vector (pCAG-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO; Fig. 1A). NS cells were spinoculated with pCAG-CNTF-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO and pCAG-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO to derive CNTF-NS and control-NS cells, respectively. Further cultivation of cells in the presence of zeocin gave rise to CNTF-NS and control-NS cell cultures exclusively composed of Venus-positive cells. Immunocytochemical analysis of these bulk cultures revealed expression of CNTF in virtually every CNTF-NS cell, whereas control-NS cells lacked detectable levels of CNTF immunoreactivity (not shown, but clonal cell lines are given in Fig. 18). Immunoblot analysis of culture supernatants confirmed secretion of CNTF from CNTF-NS cell bulk cultures, whereas supernatants from control-NS cell bulk cultures lacked detectable levels of the cytokine (Fig. 1C). Because NS cells differentiated into astrocytes and neurons after intravitreal transplantations, we additionally analyzed expression of CNTF in differentiated NS cell cultures. CNTF immunoreactivity was detectable in virtually all astrocytes and neurons derived from CNTF-NS cells, but not in astrocytes and neurons derived from control-NS cells (Fig. 2).

CNTF-Secreting NS Cell Clones

To establish NS cell cultures with elevated expression levels of CNTF, we next generated clonally derived CNTF-NS cell lines. Assuming that expression levels of CNTF and the reporter gene from the polycistronic lentiviral vector are proportional to each other, we isolated individual NS cells with the highest expression levels of Venus using FACS to establish clonal cell lines with high levels of CNTF expression. Immunocytochemistry (Fig. 18) and immunoblot analysis of culture supernatants (Fig. 1C) demonstrated expression of CNTF in all CNTF-NS cell clones established, whereas control-NS cell clones lacked expression of the cytokine. ELISA analysis of culture supernatants from a CNTF-NS cell clone that showed high expression levels of CNTF in immunoblots revealed secretion of 5.4 ng of CNTF per 1 × 10⁶ cells in 24 hours. The original CNTF-NS cell bulk culture, in comparison, produced 4.0 ng of CNTF per 1 × 10⁶ cells in 24 hours. Expression of CNTF in the clonal cell line was thus increased by ~35% when compared with the original bulk culture, and the clone was therefore selected for transplantation experiments. Expression of CNTF in the CNTF-NS cell clone remained detectable by immunocytochemistry and immunoblot analysis for at least 40 passages, and

©AlphaMed Press 2013



Figure 2. Analysis of CNTF expression in differentiated neural stem (NS) cell cultures. NS cells were transduced with pCAG-CNTF-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO (D=F, J=L) or the control vector pCAG-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO (A=C, G=I), and positive cells were selected with zeocin and differentiated into astrocytes (A=F) or neurons (G=L). Note the coexpression of Venus and CNTF in virtually all GFAP-positive astrocytes (D=F) and MAP2-positive neurons (J=L) derived from CNTF-NS cells. Astrocytes (A=C) and neurons (G=I) derived from control-NS cells, in comparison, expressed Venus but no detectable levels of CNTF. All cultures were counterstained with DAPI to visualize cell nuclei. Scale bar = 20 µm. Abbreviations: CNTF, ciliary neurotrophic factor; DAPI, 4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; GFAP, gial fibrillary acidic protein; MAP2, microtubule-associated protein 2.

ELISA analysis of culture supernatants revealed secretion of similar quantities of CNTF at passages 33 and 46, demonstrating stable expression of the cytokine.

Characterization of Intravitreally Grafted NS Cells In Vivo

Analysis of eyes from Pde6b"#20 and Pde6b"#2 mice with grafted CNTF-NS or control-NS cells revealed the presence of numerous Venus-positive donor cells that were attached to the posterior pole of the lens (Fig. 3; supplemental online Fig. 1) and the vitreal side of the retina (Fig. 4). Integration of donor cells into the host retinas was not observed (Fig. 4). Immunohistochemical analysis of lenses with attached donor cells revealed that grafted CNTF-NS and control-NS cell bulk cultures (Fig. 3) or clonal cell lines (supplemental online Fig. 1) were differentiated into GFAPpositive astrocytes, and some & tubulin III-positive nerve cells. In addition, we found expression of KI-67 in 2.6% and 1.8% of the grafted CNTF-NS cells and in 3.7% and 1% of the grafted control-NS cells in Pde6b'42 and Pde6b'420 mice, respectively. Furthermore, CNTF immunoreactivity was detectable only in donor cells derived from grafted CNTF-NS cell bulk cultures or clones, but not in donor cells derived from grafted control-NS cell bulk cultures or clones (Fig. 3; supplemental online Fig. 1). Finally, we observed no adverse effects of the grafted NS cells on the morphology of either Pde6b'410 (Fig. 5) or Pde6b'41 retinas (Fig. 4; supplemental online Figs. 2, 3).

STEM CELLS TRANSLATIONAL MEDICINE

Supplements

8



Figure 3. Characterization of intravitreally grafted CNTF-neural stem (NS) and control-NS cell bulk cultures in Pde6b^{ritio} mice. Analysis of eyes from Pde6b^{ritio} mutant mice with intravitreally grafted CNTF-NS (A–F) and control-NS cell bulk cultures (G–L) revealed the presence of dense layers of Venus-positive cells (B, D, F, H, J, L) that were attached to the posterior poles of the lenses. The majority of Venus-positive donor cells were differentiated into GFAP-positive astrocytes (compare [A] with [B], and [G] with [H]), and some into β -tubulin III-positive neurons (compare [C] with [D], and [I] with [J]). Expression of CNTF was detectable in donor cells derived from CNTF-NS cells [E] but not in donor cells derived from control-NS cells (K). Scale bars = 100 μ m (bar in [J] applies to [A–D, G–J] and 50 μ m (bar in [L] applies to [E, F, K, L]). Abbreviations: β -TUB III, β -tubulin III, CNTF, ciliary neurotrophic factor; DAPI, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; GFAP, gial fibrillary acidic protein.

CNTF-NS Cells Protect Photoreceptors in Pde6b^{rd20} and Pde6b^{rd2} Mice

The neuroprotective effect of CNTF-NS cell bulk cultures on photoreceptors was analyzed in 30-day-old Pde6b"#20 mice (Fig. 5). A comparison of eyes with grafted CNTF-NS cell bulk cultures and contralateral eyes with grafted control-NS cell bulk cultures consistently revealed a significantly thicker outer nuclear layer in the CNTF-treated eyes (Fig. 5). Importantly, the photoreceptor rescue in CNTF-treated eves was evident over the entire length of all retinal sections analyzed. To quantify the neuroprotective effect of the CNTF-NS cells, photoreceptor numbers were determined in the nasal halves of retinal sections at three positions, corresponding to 25%, 50%, and 75% of the distance between optic disc and periphery of the retina. In CNTF-treated retinas, 274.8 ± 31.6 (mean ± SEM), 311.5 ± 26.9, and 339.8 ± 23.5 photoreceptors were present at the 25%, 50%, and 75% positions, respectively. In the contralateral control retinas, in comparison, we counted 101.7 ± 18.9, 151.0 ± 25.3, and 181.7 ± 27.3 photoreceptors at the 25%, 50%, and 75% positions, respectively (Fig. 6A). CNTF-treated retinas of Pde6b^{re10} mice thus contained 1.9to 2.7-fold more photoreceptors than the contralateral control



Figure 4. Attenuation of photoreceptor loss in Pde6b^{rd2} mice at advanced stages of retinal degeneration. The clonal ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF)-neural stem (NS) and control-NS cell lines were intravitreally grafted into 7-day-old Pde6b^{r41} mice, and animals were analyzed at postnatal day 25. Note that the transplanted cells had formed a layer of Venus-positive cells that was attached to the vitreal side of the retina (arrowheads in [A, B]). Integration of donor cells into the host retinas was not detectable (A, B). The outer nuclear layer of eyes with the grafted control-NS cell line consisted of only one row of photoreceptor nuclei at this developmental age (C). The outer nuclear layer of the CNTF-treated contralateral retina, in comparison, still consisted of several rows of photoreceptor nuclei (D), demonstrating significant attenuation of photoreceptor loss by the grafted CNTF-NS cell clone. Scale bars = 100 µm (A), 50 µm (B-D). Abbreviations: DAPI, 4', 5-diamidino-2-phenylindole; gcl, ganglion cell layer; inl, inner nuclear layer; onl, outer nuclear layer.

retinas (p < .01), depending on the retinal region analyzed. We additionally evaluated whether control-NS cells also protected photoreceptors in *Pde6b*^{rd10} mice but found no significant differences between photoreceptor numbers in eyes with grafted control-NS cells bulk cultures (132.7 ± 8.8, 134.3 ± 10.5, and 154.0 ± 15.3 cells at the 25%, 50%, and 75% positions, respectively) and contralateral eyes that had received injections of PBS only (129.0 ± 26.8, 128.7 ± 30.0, and 139.0 ± 29.9 cells at the 25%, 50%, and 75% positions, respectively; supplemental online Fig. 4). Retinas from untreated 30-day-old wild-type mice (supplemental online Fig. 4) analyzed for comparison contained 526.2 ± 11.8 (25% position), 531.2 ± 19.8 (50% position), and 503.9 ± 8.6 (75% position) photoreceptors.

CNTF-NS cell bulk cultures also potently protected photoreceptors in the Pde6b'd1 mutant mouse. In 15-day-old Pde6b'd1 mice, the outer nuclear layer was significantly thicker in eyes with grafted CNTF-NS cells than in the contralateral eyes with grafted control-NS cells (supplemental online Fig. 2). As in Pde6b'430 mice, the rescue effect was widespread and evident in all retinal regions analyzed (supplemental online Fig. 2). Quantitative analysis confirmed a significant protective effect of the CNTF-NS cell bulk culture also in this mutant, with 253.7 ± 11.4, 260.5 ± 17.7, and 268.3 ± 13.7 photoreceptors at the 25%, 50%, and 75% positions, respectively, as compared with 109.2 ± 8.6, 110.5 ± 5.6, and 130.7 ± 8.9 photoreceptors at the 25%, 50%, and 75% positions in control retinas, respectively (Fig. 6B). CNTFtreated retinas thus contained 2.1- to 2.4-fold more photoreceptors than the contralateral control eyes (p < .001). Retinas from untreated 15-day-old wild-type mice (supplemental online Fig. analyzed for comparison contained 527.8 ± 9.8, 513.0 ± 12.6. and 487.3 ± 16.3 photoreceptors at the 25%, 50%, and 75% positions, respectively.

©AlphaMed Press 2013

1006

-0



Figure 5. Intravitreally grafted ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF)neural stem (NS) bulk cultures attenuate photoreceptor degenera tion in Pde6b^{rd10} mice. Control-NS cell bulk cultures were grafted into one eye (A, B, E, F) and CNTF-NS cell bulk cultures into the contralateral eye (C, D, G, H) of 14-day-old Pde6b^{rd10} mice, and animals were analyzed 16 days later. Analysis of central retinal sections stained with DAPI and anti-recoverin antibodies revealed a significantly thicker outer nuclear layer in eyes that had received CNTF-NS cell grafts ([C, D], arrowheads in [G, H]) than in the contralateral eyes that had received control-NS cell grafts ([A, B], arrowheads in [E, F]). Note that the rescue effect of the grafted cells was evident along the entire length of the retinal section (C, D). Adverse effects of the grafted cells on the morphology of the host retinas were not detectable (A-H). (E, F) and (G, H) are higher magnifications of the boxed areas in (A, B) and (C, D), respectively. Scale bars = 100 µm (bar in [D] applies to [A-D]) and 50 µm (bar in [H] applies to [E-H]). Abbreviations: DAPI, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; inl, inner nuclear layer; ON, optic nerve; onl, outer nuclear layer.

Neuroprotective Effect of a CNTF-NS Cell Clone in Pde6b^{rds} Mice

Intravitreal transplantations of a clonal cell line with a ~35% increase in CNTF expression into Pde6b^{nt2} (compare supplemental online Figs. 2 and 3) or Pde6b"410 mice (not shown) resulted in a photoreceptor rescue that appeared more pronounced than that observed with the original CNTF-NS cell bulk culture. Quantitative analysis of Pde6b'att retinas confirmed a profound protection of photoreceptors by the grafted CNTF-NS cell clone, with 283.5 ± 13.3 (25% position), 288.7 ± 11.4 (50% position), and 314.5 ± 11.5 (75% position) photoreceptors in CNTF-treated retinas, as compared with 87.8 \pm 3.0, 92.7 \pm 8.9, and 110.0 \pm 6.7 photoreceptors at the 25%, 50%, and 75% positions in control retinas, respectively (Fig. 6C). CNTF-treated Pde6bras eyes thus contained 2.9- to 3.2-fold more photoreceptors than the contralateral eyes with the grafted control-NS cell clone ($\rho < .001$). Transplantations of three other CNTF-NS cell clones also resulted in significant protection of photoreceptors in this mutant (data not shown). A significant neuroprotective effect of the CNTF-NS cell clone was still detectable in 25-day-old Pde6b"47 mice (Fig. 4). At this advanced stage of retinal degeneration, CNTF-treated retinas contained 134.0 \pm 15.5, 154.5 \pm 13.7, and 177.2 \pm 18.3 photoreceptors, whereas the contralateral control retinas contained 41.0 ± 5.3, 40.2 ± 4.4, and 44.2 ± 6.3 photoreceptors at the 25%, 50%, and 75% positions, respectively. CNTF-treated retinas thus contained up to 4.0-fold more photoreceptor cells than

Stem Cell-Based Intraocular Delivery of CNTF

the control retinas (p < .001). We also analyzed whether the control-NS cell clone attenuate photoreceptor loss in Pde6b^{rd2} mice but found similar photoreceptor numbers in eyes with grafted control-NS cells (80.5 \pm 4.9, 88.8 \pm 4.3, and 126.2 \pm 10.5 photoreceptors at the 25%, 50%, and 75% positions, respectively) and contralateral eyes injected with PBS only (97.0 \pm 8.3, 97.2 \pm 12.3, and 117.2 \pm 12.3 photoreceptors at the 25%, 50%, and 75% positions, respectively; supplemental online Fig. 4).

To compare the neuroprotective activity of the CNTF-NS cell bulk culture and the CNTF-NS cell clone in *Pde6b^{rd2}* mice, we calculated the quotients of photoreceptor numbers in retinas with grafted CNTF-NS cells and contralateral retinas with grafted control-NS cells for both experimental groups at the three retinal positions. Values for animals that had received injections of NS cell bulk cultures and animals that had received injections of clonal NS cell lines were 2.42 \pm 0.26 (mean \pm 5EM) and 3.25 \pm 0.2 (25% position), 2.38 \pm 0.17 and 3.24 \pm 0.31 (50% position), and 2.1 \pm 0.17 and 2.92 \pm 0.23 (75% position), respectively (Fig. 6D). The CNTF-NS cell clone thus protected photoreceptors more effectively than the original CNTF-NS cell bulk culture (p < .01; Fig. 6D), in line with the elevated expression level of CNTF in the clonal cell line.

DISCUSSION

The intraocular implantation of genetically modified and encapsulated cells is among the strategies to achieve a local and sustained administration of NFs to the retina, and it has been successfully used in large animal species [17, 18] and human patients with advanced retinitis pigmentosa or geographic atrophy [19–22]. However, the implantation of encapsulated cells is not easily applicable to the numerous genetic or acutely induced mouse models of degenerative retinal disorders because of the small eyes of this species. To establish a cell-based intraocular delivery system for preclinical studies aimed at evaluating and optimizing this therapeutic approach in mouse models of photoreceptor degeneration, we therefore searched for a cell type that allows a sustained administration of NFs to the dystrophic mouse retina without the need of prior encapsulation.

Neural stem/progenitor cells, isolated from the developing or adult brain or derived from ES cells, survive for extended periods of time after intraocular transplantation [23-27]. Furthermore, these cells have been shown to attenuate photoreceptor degeneration in the Royal College of Surgeons (RCS) rat [13, 28, 29] and a mouse model of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinoses [23], even when grafted without prior genetic modifications. We therefore argued that neural stem cells isolated from the embryonic mouse brain and cultivated under adherent conditions in the presence of EGF and FGF-2 may serve as vehicles to deliver NFs to the dystrophic mouse retina. Cells maintained under such conditions give rise to pure populations of symmetrically dividing clonogenic neural stem cells and have therefore been termed NS cells, in analogy to continuously self-renewing ES cells [32]. NS cells can be extensively expanded in vitro and give rise to neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes in culture and after transplantation into the brain [32] or spinal cord [33]. NS cell cultures have also been established from the adult mouse brain, fetal human brain, ES cells, and induced pluripotent stem cells [32, 45-471

To analyze whether a sustained delivery of functionally relevant quantities of NFs to the dystrophic mouse retina can be

©AlphaMed Press 2013

STEM CELLS TRANSLATIONAL MEDICINE

Supplements



Figure 6. Photoreceptor numbers in *Pde6b^{r01}* and *Pde6b^{r010}* mice with intravitreally grafted CNTF-N5 cells and control-NS cells. Eyes from *Pde6b^{r010}* (**A**) and *Pde6b^{r01}* (**B**, **C**) mice that received intravitreal injections of either CNTF-N5 cell bulk cultures (**A**, **B**) or a clonally derived CNTF-N5 cell line (**C**) contained significantly more photoreceptors than the contralateral eyes that received injections of the corresponding control cells. Note that the clonally derived CNTF-N5 cell line selected for high levels of CNTF expression had a significantly more pronounced neuroprotective effect on photoreceptors in *Pde6b^{r01}* mice than the original CNTF-N5 cell bulk culture (**D**). Each bar in (**A**–**C**) represents the photoreceptor number (mean \pm SEM) from six retinas at the indicated retinal positions. Each bar in (**D**) represents the quotient (mean \pm SEM) of photoreceptor numbers in eyes with the grafted CNTF-N5 cell coll coll contralateral eyes with the grafted control-N5 cell clone (*a* = 6; filled bars), or in eyes with the grafted CNTF-N5 cell bulk culture and the contralateral eyes with the grafted control-N5 cell clone (*a* = 6; open bars) at the indicated retinal positions. ***, *p* < .001, according to the two-way analysis of variance test. Abbreviations: CNTF, ciliary neurotrophic factor; N5, neural stem.

achieved by intraocular transplantations of modified NS cells, we expressed a secretable variant of this cytokine in NS cells. CNTF was selected because of its profound neuroprotective effect on photoreceptors, which we used as a measure for the efficacy of our approach. Initially demonstrated to attenuate light-induced degeneration of photoreceptors [48], CNTF has subsequently been shown to protect photoreceptors in a variety of animal models of inherited and acquired photoreceptor loss [3]. Of note, the therapeutic potential of CNTF for the treatment of inherited retinal degenerations and geographic atrophy is currently being evaluated in clinical studies using encapsulated human RPE cells modified to secrete this cytokine, and some positive results have been reported [19-22]. However, although CNTF potently preserves retinal structure, it negatively affects retinal function in a reversible and dose-dependent manner [35-38, 49]. These negative effects of CNTF are accompanied by a dysregulated expression of various genes, including some that encode components of the phototransduction cascade [50, 51].

To express CNTF in NS cells, we used a polycistronic lentiviral vector additionally encoding a resistance and a reporter gene. This construct facilitated the selection of modified NS cells, the characterization of the cells after transplantation, and the generation of clonal NS cell lines with elevated expression levels of CNTF. Analyses of modified NS cell cultures indeed revealed expression of the reporter gene in virtually every cell, and immunocytochemistry and immunoblot analysis of CNTF-NS cells demonstrated expression of the cytokine for at least 40 passages, corresponding to a culture period of more than 6 months. Robust expression of CNTF was also observed in astrocytes and neurons derived from CNTF-NS cells in vitro.

Expression of the Venus reporter gene allowed the identification and characterization of the modified NS cells after transplantation into Pde6b^{reff} and Pde6b^{reff} mice. In both mouse lines, grafted NS cells survived in the vitreous, where they formed dense layers of Venus-positive cells that were attached to the retina and lens. The vast majority of donor cells were identified as astrocytes, and some were identified as neurons. The detection of only a few proliferating donor cells in Pde6b^{reff} and Pde6b^{reff} mice is in line with the rapid neural differentiation of the grafted cells. Furthermore, we found sustained expression

©AlphaMed Press 2013

1008

-63

of CNTF in donor cells derived from CNTF-NS cells, although donor cells derived from control-NS cell lacked detectable levels of the cytokine. Robust survival and sustained expression of transgenes in N5 cell-derived donor cells were also observed in a mouse model of glaucoma, where astrocytes and neurons with an ectopic expression of NFs survived in the vitreous for at least 4 months after transplantations (Kai Flachsbarth and U.B., unpublished results). Despite the presence of numerous Venuspositive donor cells in the vitreous cavity, integration of grafted cells into the host retinas was not apparent. This observation differs from results of other studies that have shown extensive integration of intravitreally grafted neural stem/progenitor cells into developing or dystrophic retinas [26, 52]. Intravitreal transplantations of NS cells into Pde6b"all or Pde6b"all mice before the onset of retinal degeneration and/or intrinsic differences between the neural stem/progenitor cells used in the different studies might account for these discrepant results. In fact, although we have transplanted cell populations highly enriched in neural stem cells, the other studies have grafted murine neural progenitor cells expanded in neurosphere cultures [52] or neural progenitor cells from the hippocampus of adult rats [26, 52].

The neuroprotective potential of the CNTF-secreting NS cells. was evaluated in Pde6b'at and Pde6b'at0 mice, two animal models of retinitis pigmentosa with an early onset and rapid degeneration of photoreceptor cells [39, 40]. Intravitreal injections of CNTF-NS cells from a bulk culture that produced 4.0 ng of CNTF per 1 × 10⁶ cells in 24 hours resulted in significant protection of photoreceptors in Pde6b"at mice. Depending on the retinal region analyzed, CNTF-treated retinas contained up to 2.4-fold more photoreceptors than the contralateral retinas with grafted control-NS cells. Intravitreally grafted CNTF-secreting NS cells from the same bulk culture significantly attenuated photoreceptor degeneration also in Pde6b"#10 mice, with up to 2.7-fold more photoreceptors in CNTF-treated eyes than in control eyes. Of note, the neuroprotective effect was widespread in both mouse lines and evident in all retinal regions analyzed. Furthermore, the grafted NS cells had no adverse effects on the morphology of host retinas in either mouse strain, in contrast to other cell types that we tested in intravitreal transplantation experiments. Mesenchymal stem cells, for instance, attenuate photoreceptor degeneration without prior genetic modification [53] and thus represent another candidate cell type to deliver NFs to the dystrophic retina. In our hands, however, these cells caused local retinal detachments resulting in an aggravated loss of photoreceptors. Furthermore, the immortalized neural progenitor cell line C17.2 [54] continued to proliferate after intravitreal transplantations, and grafted retinal stem cells isolated from the developing neuroretina [55] survived only poorly in the vitreous.

Because nonmodified neural stem/progenitors have been shown to attenuate photoreceptor degeneration [13, 23, 28, 29], we additionally evaluated the neuroprotective potential of control-NS cells in Pde6b^{rd2} and Pde6b^{rd20} mutant mice. Photoreceptor numbers in eyes that had received injections of either control-NS cells or the vehicle only, however, were not significantly different from each other in either mouse line. These apparently discrepant observations might be related to particular properties of the cell populations used for transplantation, to the particular animal model analyzed, or both. For instance, nonmodified human neural progenitor cells attenuate photoreceptor degeneration in the RCS rat in which the inability of RPE cells to phagocytose shed photoreceptor outer segments leads to Stem Cell-Based Intraocular Delivery of CNTF

progressive retinal degeneration. This neuroprotective activity of the human neural progenitor cells has been attributed, at least in part, to the endogenous expression of the neurotrophic factors brain-derived neurotrophic factor, insulin-like growth factor 1, and FGF-2 in this cell population and/or to the capability of subretinally located donor cells to phagocytose shed photoreceptor outer segments [13, 28, 29].

Expression levels of transgenes in modified bulk cultures may differ between different cultures and between different passages of the same culture, impeding the delivery of defined quantities of transgenes and the analysis of dose-dependent effects of secreted gene products using a cell-based delivery system. We therefore took advantage of the fact that NS cell cultures consist of homogeneous populations of clonogenic stem cells, and we established CNTF-secreting clonal NS cell lines from NS cells with high expression levels of the reporter gene to derive NS cell clones with high expression levels of the cytokine. The clonal NS cell lines indeed stably expressed elevated levels of CNTF compared with the original bulk cultures, and they effectively protected photoreceptors in both mutant mouse lines. Furthermore, we found that intravitreal transplantations of a clonal NS cell line with an -35% increase in CNTF expression resulted in a significantly more pronounced photoreceptor protection in Pde6b"11 mice than intravitreal transplantations of the original NS cell bulk culture. Attenuation of photoreceptor degeneration by the clonal cell line was still apparent in Pde6b'st mice at developmental ages when the outer nuclear layer in this mutant is normally almost completely degenerated [56].

CONCLUSION

Intravitreal transplantations of adherently cultivated neural stem cells modified to secrete CNTF resulted in a sustained delivery of functionally relevant quantities of the cytokine to the dystrophic mouse retina, as indicated by the significant attenuation of photoreceptor loss in Pde6b"41 and Pde6b"410 mutant mice. Furthermore, a coexpressed reporter gene greatly facilitated the characterization of the modified stem cells after transplantation and the derivation of clonal NS cell lines with high expression levels of CNTF and profound neuroprotective effects on photoreceptors. Adverse effects of the grafted cells on the morphology of host retinas were not observed. The combined results demonstrate that intravitreal transplantations of genetically modified NS cells represent a useful method for preclinical studies aimed at evaluating the therapeutic potential of a cellbased administration of NFs in mouse models of photoreceptor degeneration.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Elke Becker, Sabine Helbing, Stephen Peters, Stefanie Schlichting, and the FACS-Core Unit of the University Medical Center (UMC) Hamburg-Eppendorf for excellent technical support; Dr. Michael Sendtner (University of Würzburg) for CNTF antibodies; Dr. Fabio Morellini for help with the statistics; Kai Flachsbarth for help with the ELISA; Dr. Susanne Bartsch for comments on the manuscript; and Ali Derin for animal care. This work was supported by grants from the Pro Retina foundation and Ernst-und-Claere-Jung foundation (to U.B.) and the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (SFB841/22; to B.F.). K.R. was Jung, Sun, Petrowitz et al.

1009

8

supported by a young investigator grant within the Forschungsförderungsfonds der Medizinischen Fakultät (FFM) of the UMC Hamburg-Eppendorf (NWF-12/09). J.S. is currently affillated with the Tianjin Medical University Eye Hospital, Tianjin, China.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

G.J.: collection and assembly of data, data analysis and interpretation, manuscript writing, final approval of manuscript; J.S., B.P., K.R., K.K., and W.J.: collection and assembly of data, data analysis and interpretation, final approval of manuscript; F.K. and C.S.: collection and assembly of data; G.R.: financial support, final approval of manuscript; B.F.: provision of study material, data analysis and interpretation, final approval of manuscript; U.B.: conception and design, financial support, data analysis and interpretation, manuscript writing, final approval of manuscript.

DISCLOSURE OF POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The authors indicate no potential conflicts of interest.

REFERENCES

 Wright AF, Chakarova CF, Abd El-Aziz MM et al. Photoreceptor degeneration: Genetic and mechanistic dissection of a complex trait. Nat Rev Genet 2010;11:273–284.

 West EL, Pearson RA, MacLaren RE et al. Cell transplantation strategies for retinal repair. Prog Brain Res 2009;175:3–21.

 Wenzel A, Grimm C, Samardzija M et al. Molecular mechanisms of light-induced photoreceptor apoptosis and neuroprotection for retinal degeneration. Prog Retin Eye Res 2005; 24:275–306.

4 Dagnelie G. Retinal implants: Emergence of a multidisciplinary field. Curr Opin Neurol 2012;25:67–75.

5 Busskamp V, Picaud S, Sahel JA et al. Optogenetic therapy for retinitis pigmentosa. Gene Ther 2012;19:169–175.

6 Smith AJ, Bainbridge JW, Ali RR. Prospects for retinal gene replacement therapy. Trends. Genet 2009;25:156–165.

7 Wen R, Tao W, Li Y et al. CNTF and retina. Prog Retin Eve Res 2012;31:136–151.

8 Cideciyan AV. Leber congenital amaurosis due to RPE65 mutations and its treatment with gene therapy. Prog Retin Eye Res 2010;29: 398–427.

 Schwartz SD, Hubschman JP, Heilwell G et al. Embryonic stem cell trials for macular degeneration: A preliminary report. Lancet 2012; 379:713–720.

10 Buch PK, MacLaren RE, Ali RR. Neuroprotective gene therapy for the treatment of inherited retinal degeneration. Curr Gene Ther 2007;7:434~445.

11 Andrieu-Soler C, Aubert-Pouessel A, Doat M et al. Intravitreous injection of PLGA microspheres encapsulating GDNF promotes the survival of photoreceptors in the rd1/rd1 mouse. Mol Vis 2005;11:1002–1011.

12 Cayouette M, Gravel C. Adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of ciliary neurotrophic factor can prevent photoreceptor degeneration in the retinal degeneration (rd) mouse. Hum Gene Ther 1997;8:423–430.

13 Gamm DM, Wang S, Lu B et al. Protection of visual functions by human neural progenitors in a rat model of retinal disease. PLoS One 2007;2:e338.

14 McGee Sanftner LH, Abel H, Hauswirth WW et al. Gilal cell line derived neurotrophic factor delays photoreceptor degeneration in a transgeric rat model of retinitis pigmentosa. Mol Ther 2001;4:622–629.

15 Miyazaki M, Ikeda Y, Yonemitsu Y et al. Simian lentiviral vector-mediated retinal gene

www.StemCellsTM.com

transfer of pigment epithelium-derived factor protects retinal degeneration and electrical defect in Royal College of Surgeom rats. Gene Ther 2003;10:1503–1511.

16 Read SP, Cashman SM, Kumar-Singh R. POD nanoparticles expressing GDNF provide structural and functional rescue of light-induced retinal degeneration in an adult mouse. Mol Ther 2010;18:1917–1926.

17 Tao W, Wen R, Goddard MB et al. Encapsulated cell-based delivery of CNTF reduces photoreceptor degeneration in animal models of retinitis pigmentosa. Invest Ophthalmol Vis 5ci 2002;43:3292–3298.

18 Thanos CG, Bell WJ, O'Rourke P et al. Sustained secretion of ciliary neurotrophic factor to the vitreous, using the encapsulated cell therapy-based NT-501 intraocular device. Tissue Eng 2004;10:1617–1622.

19 Sieving PA, Caruso RC, Tao W et al. Ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) for human retinal degeneration: Phase I trial of CNTF delivered by encapsulated cell intraocular implants. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006;103:3896–3901.

20 Talcott KE, Ratnam K, Sundquist SM et al. Longitudinal study of cone photoreceptors during retinal degeneration and in response to ciliary neurotrophic factor treatment. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011;52:2219–2226.

21 Zhang K, Hopkins JJ, Heier JS et al. Cillary neurotrophic factor delivered by encapsulated cell intraocular implants for treatment of geographic atrophy in age-related macular degeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2011;108: 6241–6245.

22 Kauper K, McGovern C, Sherman S et al. Two-year intraocular delivery of ciliary neurotrophic factor by encapsulated cell technology implants in patients with chronic retinal degenerative diseases. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2012;53:7484–7491.

23 Meyer JS, Katz ML, Maruniak JA et al. Embryonic stem cell-derived neural progenitors incorporate into degenerating retina and enhance survival of host photoreceptors. Staw Citus 2006;24:274–283.

24 Pressmar S, Ader M, Richard G et al. The fate of heterotopically grafted neural precursor cells in the normal and dystrophic adult mouse retina. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2001; 42:3311–3319.

25 Takahashi M, Palmer TD, Takahashi J et al, Widespread integration and survival of adult-derived neural progenitor cells in the developing optic retina. Mol Cell Neurosci 1998; 12:340–348.

26 Young MJ, Ray J, Whiteley SJ et al. Neuronal differentiation and morphological integration of hippocampal progenitor cells transplanted to the retina of immature and mature dystrophic rats. Mol Cell Neurosci 2000;16: 197–205.

27 Banin E, Obolensky A, Idelson M et al. Retinal incorporation and differentiation of neural precursors derived from human embryonic stem cells. Stew Crus 2006;24:246–257.

28 McGill TJ, Cottam B, Lu B et al. Transplantation of human central nervous system stem cells: Neuroprotection in retinal degeneration. Eur J Neurosci 2012;35:468~477.

29 Wang S, Girman S, Lu B et al. Long-term vision rescue by human neural progenitors in a rat model of photoreceptor degeneration. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2008;49:3201–3206.

30 Reynolds BA, Weiss S. Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science 1992;255:1707–1710.

31 Tropepe V, Sibilia M, Ciruna BG et al. Distinct neural stem cells proliferate in response to EGF and FGF in the developing mouse telencephalon. Dev Biol 1999;208:166–188.

32 Conti L, Pollard SM, Gorba T et al. Nicheindependent symmetrical self-renewal of a mammalian tissue stem cell. PLoS Biol 2005;3: e283.

33 Glaser T, Pollard 5M, Smith A et al. Tripotential differentiation of adherently expandable neural stem (NS) cells. PLoS One 2007;2: e298.

34 Sendtner M, Carroll P, Holtmann B et al. Cillary neurotrophic factor. J Neurobiol 1994; 25:1436–1453.

35 Liang FQ, Aleman TS, Dejneka NS et al. Long-term protection of retinal structure but not function using RAAV.CNTF in animal models of retinitis pigmentosa. Mol Ther 2001;4: 461–472.

36 McGill TJ, Prusky GT, Douglas RM et al. Intraocular CNTF reduces vision in normal rats in a dose-dependent manner. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007;48:5756–5766.

37 Schlichtenbrede FC, MacNeil A, Bainbridge JW et al. Intraocular gene delivery of ciliary neurotrophic factor results in significant loss of retinal function in normal mice and in the Prph2Rd2/Hd2 model of retinal degeneration. Gene Ther 2003;10:523–527.

38 Wen R, Song Y, Kjellstrom S et al. Regulation of rod phototransduction machinery by ciliary neurotrophic factor. J Neurosci 2006;26: 13523–13530.

39 LaVall MM, Sidman RL. C57BL-6J mice with inherited retinal degeneration. Arch Ophthalmol 1974;91:394–400.

©AlphaMed Press 2013

Stem Cell-Based Intraocular Delivery of CNTF

40 Chang B, Hawes NL, Pardue MT et al. Two mouse retinal degenerations caused by missense mutations in the beta-subunit of rod cGMP phosphodiesterase gene. Vision Res 2007;47:624-633.

41 Gimenez E, Montoliu L A simple polymerase chain reaction assay for genotyping the retinal degeneration mutation (Pdeb[rd1]) in FVB/N-derived transgenic mice. Lab Anim 2001;35:153–156.

42 Ader M, Schachner M, Bartsch U. Integration and differentiation of neural stem cells after transplantation into the dysmyelinated central nervous system of adult mice. Eur J Neurosci 2004;20:1205–1210.

43 Weber K, Bartsch U, Stocking C et al. A multicolor panel of novel lentiviral "gene ontology" (LeGO) vectors for functional gene analysis. Mol Ther 2008;16:698–706.

44 Weber K, Mock U, Petrowitz B et al. Lentiviral gene ontology (LeGO) vectors equipped with novel drug-selectable fluorescent proteins: New building blocks for cell marking and multi-gene analysis. Gene Ther 2010;17:511– 520.

45 Pollard SM, Conti L, Sun Y et al. Adherent neural stem (NS) cells from fetal and adult forebrain. Cereb Cortex 2006;16(suppl 1):112--120.

46 Onorati M, Camnasio S, Binetti M et al. Neuropotent self-renewing neural stem (NS) cells derived from mouse induced pluripotent stem (IPS) cells. Mol Cell Neurosci 2010;43: 287–295.

47 Sun Y, Pollard S, Conti L et al. Long-term tripotent. differentiation capacity of human neural stem (NS) cells in adherent culture. Mol Cell Neurosci 2008;38:245–258.

48 LaVail MM, Unoki K, Yasumura D et al. Multiple growth factors, cytokines, and neurotrophins rescue photoreceptors from the damaging effects of constant light. Proc Nati Acad Sci USA 1992;89:11249–11253.

49 Bush RA, Lei B, Tao W et al. Encapsulated cell-based intraocular delivery of cliary neurotrophic factor in normal rabbit. Dose-dependent effects on ERG and retinal histology. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2004;45:2420–2430.

50 Rhee KD, Ruiz A, Duncan JL et al. Molecular and cellular alterations induced by sustained expression of ciliary neurotrophic factor in a mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2007;48:1389–1400.

51 Wen R, Song Y, Liu Y et al. CNTF negatively regulates the phototransduction machinery in rod photoreceptors: Implication for light-induced photostasis plasticity. Adv Exp Med Biol 2008;613:407-413.

52 Sakaguchi DS, Van Hoffelen SJ, Theusch E et al. Transplantation of neural progenitor cells into the developing retina of the Brazilian opossum: An in vivo system for studying stem/ progenitor cell plasticity. Dev Neurosci 2004; 26:336–345.

53 Inoue Y, Iriyama A, Ueno S et al. Subretinal transplantation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells delays retinal degeneration in the RCS rat model of retinal degeneration. Exp Eye Res 2007;85:234–241.

54 Snyder EY, Deltcher DL, Walsh C et al. Multipotent neural cell lines can engraft and participate in development of mouse cerebellum. Cell 1992;68:33–51.

55 Merhi-Soussi F, Angenieux B, Canola K et al. High yield of cells committed to the photoreceptor fate from expanded mouse retinal stem cells. Srsm Cruss 2006;24:2060– 2020.

56 Carter-Dawson LD, LaVail MM, Sidman RL. Differential effect of the rd mutation on rods and cones in the mouse retina. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1978;17:489–498.

See www.StemCellsTM.com for supporting information available online.



OPEN ACCESS

Citation: Jankowiak W, Kniszewski K, Flachsbarth K, Skeviss C, Richard G, Rúther K, et al. (2015) Sustained Neural Stem Cell-Based Intraocular Delivery of CNTF Attenuates Photoneceptor Loss in the nol?Mouse Model of Neuronal Ceroid Lipofuscinosis. PLoS ONE 10(5): e0127204. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0127204

Academic Editor: Thomas Langmann, University of Cologne, GERMANY

Received: January 20, 2015

Accepted: April 13, 2015

Published: May 20, 2015

Copyright: © 2015 Jankowiak et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution Ucense</u>, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Funding: This work was supported by the European Union Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007– 2013) under Grant 281234 to UB (http://ec.europa.eu/ meanch/(b7/index_en.cfm).

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist. RESEARCH ARTICLE

Sustained Neural Stem Cell-Based Intraocular Delivery of CNTF Attenuates Photoreceptor Loss in the *nclf* Mouse Model of Neuronal Ceroid Lipofuscinosis

Wanda Jankowiak¹, Katharina Kruszewski¹, Kai Flachsbarth¹, Christos Skevas¹, Gisbert Richard¹, Klaus Rüther², Thomas Braulke³, Udo Bartsch¹*

Department of Ophthalmology, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany,
Department of Ophthalmology, Sankt Gertrauden-Krankenhaus, Berlin, Germany,
Department of Biochemistry, Children's Hospital, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

* ubartsch@uke.uni-hamburg.de

Abstract

A sustained intraocular administration of neurotrophic factors is among the strategies aimed at establishing treatments for currently untreatable degenerative retinal disorders. In the present study we have analyzed the neuroprotective effects of a continuous neural stem (NS) cell-based intraocular delivery of ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) on photoreceptor cells in the nclf mouse, an animal model of the neurodegenerative lysosomal storage disorder variant late infantile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (vLINCL). To this aim, we genetically modified adherently cultivated NS cells with a polycistronic lentiviral vector encoding a secretable variant of CNTF together with a Venus reporter gene (CNTF-NS cells). NS cells for control experiments (control-NS cells) were modified with a vector encoding the reporter gene tdTornato. Clonal CNTF-NS and control-NS cell lines were established using fluorescent activated cell sorting and intravitreally grafted into 14 days old nclf mice at the onset of retinal degeneration. The grafted cells preferentially differentiated into astrocytes that were attached to the posterior side of the lenses and the vitreal side of the retinas and stably expressed the transgenes for at least six weeks, the latest post-transplantation time point analyzed. Integration of donor cells into host retinas, ongoing proliferation of grafted cells or adverse effects of the donor cells on the morphology of the host eyes were not observed. Quantitative analyses of host retinas two, four and six weeks after cell transplantation revealed the presence of significantly more photoreceptor cells in eyes with grafted CNTF-NS cells than in eyes with grafted control-NS cells. This is the first demonstration that a continuous intraocular administration of a neurotrophic factor attenuates retinal degeneration in an animal model of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis.

Introduction

Neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (NCL) comprises a heterogeneous group of neurodegenerative lysosomal storage diseases of mainly childhood and youth. At present, mutations in more than a dozen different genes have been identified that cause NCL. Most of these genes encode soluble lysosomal enzymes or transmembrane proteins localized in lysosomes or the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Other locations described for some NCL proteins include the ER-Golgi intermediate complex, the cytosol, synaptic vesicles or the plasma membrane (http://www.ucl.ac, uk/ncl/nutation.shtml) [1–5]. Despite the heterogeneity of the disease-associated genes, several symptoms are common to most of these fatal storage disorders, including progressive mental deterioration, motor malfunctions, seizures, and premature death. Loss of vision due to retinal degeneration is another characteristic symptom of several NCL forms, and has been described in CLN1, CLN2, CLN3, CLN5, CLN6, CLN7 and CLN8 patients [4, 6, 7].

Mutations in the CLN6 gene cause variant late infantile NCL (vLINCL), or in rare cases adult onset Kufs type A disease [8]. The function of CLN6, a polytopic membrane protein of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) with 311 amino acids and 7 predicted transmembrane domains is unknown [9–12]. Until now, 71 pathogenic mutations have been identified in the CLN6 gene (http://www.ocl.ac.uk/ncl/CLN6mutationtable.htm), which may differ significantly in their impact on the severity, time course and the age of onset of the disease [13]. While about 50% of the affected children present an early retinal phenotype [4], the retina has been reported to be unaffected in patients with an CLN6-linked adult onset of the disease [8].

The *nclf* mouse, a naturally occurring mouse model of CLN6 disease [14], carries a c.307insC mutation in the *CLN6* gene that is also present in CLN6 patients of Pakistani origin [9, 10]. The single base insertion leads to a frameshift, resulting in a truncated CLN6 protein with a reduced half-life [15, 16]. Similar to human patients carrying mutations in the *CLN6* gene, the *nclf* mouse is characterized by an early-onset retinal degeneration. Reactive gliosis and apoptotic degeneration of photoreceptor cells becomes detectable in the mutant as early as one month after birth. Other characteristic features of the retinal phenotype of *nclf* mice include accumulation of storage material in various retinal cell types, dysregulation of several lysosomal proteins, and activation of microglial cells. Progressive apoptotic degeneration of photoreceptors in *nclf* mice is nearly complete at the end of the first postnatal year, and paralleled by progressive visual deterioration as measured in electroretinogram (ERG) recordings, optokinetic tracking experiments, and visual cliff tests [17–19].

Approaches to develop treatments for the neurological symptoms associated with NCLs include enzyme replacement therapy, gene therapy, stem cell therapy, and immune therapy [20– 23]. In the retina, a delay in photoreceptor degeneration and/or deterioration of visual function has been reported after intravitreal transplantations of neural progenitor cells in a mouse model of CLN8 disease [24], adeno-associated virus- (AAV) mediated ocular gene transfer of palmitoyl protein thioesterase-1 in a mouse model of CLN1 disease [25] and attenuation of reactive microgliosis in a mouse model of CLN6 disease [18]. Given that a number of growth factors and cytokines have been demonstrated to delay photoreceptor degeneration and visual impairment in various animal models of induced or inherited retinal degeneration [26–29], neuroprotective approaches may represent another strategy to ameliorate retinal degeneration in NCL. However, neurotrophic factors do not ordinarily cross the blood-retina barrier and have short half-life times. Robust neuroprotective effects therefore depend on a sustained intraocular administration of these factors which may be achieved by viral or non-viral gene transfer to endogenous retinal cell types, or by intraocular transplantations of cells that have been genetically modified to secrete these factors [26–29].

In the present study, we have evaluated the neuroprotective effects of a sustained neural stem cell-based intraocular administration of ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), a member of the interleukin-6 family of cytokines [30] that has been shown to potently rescue retinal structure in various animal models of retinal degeneration [26, 28], on photoreceptor cells in the *nclf* mouse. To this aim, we used a polycistronic lentiviral vector to generate clonally derived neural stem (NS) cell lines with an ectopic expression of a secretable variant of the cytokine. The CNTF-secreting NS cells were grafted into the vitreous cavity of *nclf* mice at the onset of retinal degeneration, and the numbers of surviving photoreceptor cells were determined at different post-transplantation time points. This is the first report demonstrating that a sustained intraocular administration of a neurotrophic factor attenuates retinal degeneration in a mouse model of NCL.

Materials and Methods

Animals

Mutant mice harboring the c.307insC frameshift mutation in the CLN6 gene (B6.Cg-Cln6^{nd9}/]; in the following termed *nclf* mice) were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). Mice were maintained on a C57BL/6] genetic background and genotyped by PCR analysis of DNA from tail biopsies and subsequent sequencing of the PCR product [9]. C57BL/6] wildtype mice were used for control experiments. All animal experiments were carried out in accordance with the German Animal Welfare Act on protection of animals and were approved by the local ethics committee (Freie und Hansestadt Hamburg—Amt für Gesundheit und Verbraucherschutz; permit number 59/12). All cell transplantations were performed under ketamine and xylazine anesthesia, and all efforts were made to minimize suffering of the animals.

Lentiviral vectors, NS cell transduction and derivation of a clonal NS cell line with elevated CNTF expression

To generate CNTF-secreting neural stem cells (CNTF-NS cells), the mouse CNTF cDNA was ligated in frame with the Ig κ-chain leader sequence of pSecTag2 B (Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany) and cloned into the polycistronic lentiviral vector pCAG-IRES-VENUS-2A-ZEO, encoding the internal ribosome entry site (IRES) of the encephalomyocarditis virus, a Venus reporter gene, the P2A sequence of porcine teschovirus-1 and a zeocin resistance gene under regulatory control of the cytomegalovirus enhancer/chicken β-actin (CAG) promoter, giving rise to pCAG-CNTF-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO. A vector containing the CAG promoter, the IRES sequence, and a tdTomato reporter gene fused to a blasticidin resistance gene (pCA-G-IRES-tdTomato/BSD) was generated to establish NS cell lines for control experiments (control-NS cells). Lentiviral particles were produced by transient transfection of HEK 293T cells as described (http://www.LentiGo-Vectors.de).

To generate neural stem (NS) cell lines with high expression levels of CNTF, a previously established clonal CNTF-NS cell line [31] was again transduced with pCAG-CNTF-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO. Positive cells were selected by cultivation in DMEM/F12 (Life Technologies) supplemented with 0.3% glucose, 2 mM glutamine, 3 mM sodium bicarbonate, 5 mM HEPES (all from Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO; in the following termed NS cell medium), 10 ng/ml epidermal growth factor (EGF) and 10 ng/ml fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2; both from TEBU, Offenbach, Germany), 1% N2 and 1% B27 (both from Life Technologies) and 200 µg/ml zeocin (InvivoGen, San Diego, CA). Single cells with the highest expression level of the reporter gene in these cultures were selected using fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS; FACSArialllu, BD Bioscience, San Diego, CA), plated into 96 well plates and again clonally expanded. For

Neuroprotection of Photoreceptors in nolf Mice

control experiments, wild-type NS cells were transduced with pCAG-IRES-tdTomato/BSD (control-NS cells). Single cells with the highest expression levels of tdTomato were selected using FACS, and clonally expanded in the presence of 4 µg/ml blasticidin (Life Technologies) to establish clonal control-NS cell lines with high expression levels of the reporter gene.

To semi-quantitatively compare secretion levels of CNTF between different NS cell clones, 0.5 x 10⁶ cells of each clonal cell line were cultivated for 24 hours in 0.5 ml medium, and equal volumes of culture supernatants were analyzed in Western blots using polyclonal rabbit anti-CNTF antibodies (1:500; Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc., Santa Cruz, CA) and horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-rabbit secondary antibodies (1:15.000; Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA). The clonal cell line with the highest expression level of CNTF was selected for further experiments, and the amount of CNTF secreted from this cell line at passage 11 and 19 was estimated in three independent Western blot analyses of culture supernatants using serial dilutions of recombinant mouse CNTF (Biomol, Hamburg, Germany) as a reference. Densitometric analysis of immunoreactive bands was performed using ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD).

In vitro differentiation of NS cells and immunocytochemistry

To analyze expression of CNTF in differentiated neural cell types *in vitro*, CNTF-NS and control-NS cells were differentiated into astrocytes by maintaining the cells for 7 days in NS cell medium supplemented with 1% fetal calf serum (Life Technologies) and 2% B27. To differentiate NS cells into neurons, cells were cultivated for three days in NS cell medium containing 5 ng/ml FGF-2, 1% N2 and 2% B27, followed by cultivation for additional four days in a 1:1 mixture of NS cell medium and Neurobasal medium (Life Technologies) supplemented with 0.25% N2 and 2% B27. Cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PA) in phosphate buffered saline (PBS; pH 7.4), blocked in PBS containing 0.1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 0.3% Triton X-100 (both from Sigma-Aldrich), and simultaneously incubated with polyclonal rabbit anti-CNTF antibodies (1:100) and monoclonal mouse anti-glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP, 1:500; Sigma-Aldrich) or monoclonal mouse anti-microtubule associated protein 2 (MAP2, 1:200) antibodies (Sigma-Aldrich) overnight at room temperature. Cy2-, Cy3- or Cy5-conjugated secondary antibodies (all diluted 1:200; Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories) were applied for 3 hours to detect primary antibodies, and cell nuclei were stained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; Sigma-Aldrich).

Intravitreal cell transplantations and immunohistochemistry

Nclf mice received intravitreal transplantations of NS cells at postnatal day 14. Animals were deeply anesthetized by an intraperitoneal injection of ketamine and xylazine, and 2 μ l of vitreous fluid were slowly removed from the eyes using a glass micropipette that was inserted into the vitreous cavity at the junction between sclera and cornea. Subsequently, 7.6x10⁵ CNTF-NS cells in 2 μ l PBS were injected into one eye, and the same number of control-NS cells in the same volume of PBS into the contralateral eye. Care was taken to not damage the lens or the retina during the removal of the vitreous fluid or the injection of the cells. Eyes were analyzed two, four and six weeks after transplantation.

Eyes from untreated wild-type mice and *nclf* mice with grafted CNTF-NS or control-NS cells were immersion-fixed in 4% PA, cryoprotected in an ascending series of sucrose, frozen and serially sectioned with a cryostat at a thickness of 25 µm. For determination of photoreceptor numbers, central (i.e. in the plane of the optic disc) retina sections were incubated with polyclonal rabbit anti-recoverin antibodies (Millipore, Bedford, MA). To study expression of CNTF and differentiation of grafted cells, lenses with attached donor cells were simultaneously

Neuroprotection of Photoreceptors in nolf Mice

incubated with polyclonal rabbit anti-CNTF (1:100) and either monoclonal mouse anti-GFAP (1:500), monoclonal mouse anti-ß-tubulin III (1:1000; Sigma-Aldrich), or monoclonal rat antimyelin basic protein (MBP: 1:200; Millipore, Bedford, MA) antibodies. Proliferation of grafted NS cells was evaluated by incubating lenses with attached CNTF-NS or control-NS cells with polyclonal rabbit anti-Ki-67 antibodies (1:200; Abcam, Cambridge, MA) one week and six weeks after transplantation (n = 6 for each cell population and post-transplantation time point). At least 1,000 CNTF-NS or control-NS cells were analyzed for expression of Ki-67 at each post-transplantation interval, and the percentage of positive cells was calculated. Primary antibodies were detected with Cy2-, Cy3- or Cy5-conjugated secondary antibodies (all diluted 1:200; Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories), and retinal sections and lenses with attached NS cells were stained with DAPI and analyzed with an Olympus FV 1000 confocal microscope (Olympus, Hamburg, Germany).

Photoreceptor counts and outer nuclear layer thickness

Entire central retinal sections stained with anti-recoverin antibodies and DAPI were photographed and the individual images were merged using Photoshop CS3 software (Adobe Systems Inc., San Jose, CA). Photoreceptors were counted in six defined areas (each covering the outer nuclear layer over a length of 220 μ m) at positions corresponding to 25, 50 and 75% of the distance between the optic disc and the periphery of the temporal or nasal retina. Photoreceptor numbers were determined in *nclf* mice two, four and six weeks after transplantation (6 mice for each post-transplantation interval) and in one month old untreated wild-type mice (n = 6). Statistical analysis of data was performed with a mixed two-way ANOVA (having Time as between groups factor and Treatment as within groups factor) followed by Newman-Keuls post-hoc analyses.

The thickness of the outer nuclear layer (defined as DAPI-positive photoreceptor nuclei) was measured in central retinal sections at nine equidistant positions between the optic nerve head and the peripheral margin of the nasal and temporal retina, respectively. Statistical analysis of data was performed with the Student's t-test for paired samples.

Results

Generation of clonal CNTF-NS and control-NS cell lines

A previously established clonal NS cell line expressing CNTF together with a Venus reporter and a zeocin resistance gene (designated clone 1) [31] was again transduced with the polycistronic lentiviral vector pCAG-CNTF-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO (Fig 1a) to generate a NS cell line with elevated expression levels of the cytokine. Cells with the highest expression levels of the Venus reporter gene were selected by FACS and clonally expanded. After five rounds of transductions and clonal expansions, semi-quantitative Western blot analyses of culture supernatants from the clonal cell lines revealed significantly increased levels of CNTF when compared to supernatants of the original CNTF-NS cell line, and one of these novel cell lines (designated clone 2) was selected for all further experiments (Fig.1c). Western blot analyses of culture supernatants from this cell line at passage 11 revealed secretion of about 83.7 ±6.8ng CNTF per 105 cells in 24 hours (mean ±SEM from three independent experiments). Similar amounts of CNTF were found in culture supernatants from passage 19, suggesting stable expression of the cytokine in this cell line. Clonal NS cell lines for control experiments were generated by transducing wild-type NS cells with the lentiviral vector pCAG-IRES-tdTomato/BSD (Fig 1b). Western blot analyses of these control-NS cell clones revealed no detectable amounts of CNTF in the culture supernatants (Fig.1c).

Neuroprotection of Photoreceptors in nolf Mice



Fig 1. Lentiviral vectors and immunoblot analyses of culture supernatants from clonal CNTF-NS and control-NS cell lines. A lentiviral vector encoding a secretable variant of mouse ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), an internal ribosome entry site (IRES) sequence of the encephalomyocardifis virus and a Venus reporter and a zeocin (ZEO) resistance gene separated by a P2A sequence of porcine teachovirus-1 (2A) under regulatory control of the cytomegalovirus enhancer/chicken 8-actin (CAG) promoter (a) was used to generate CNTF-secreting NS cells. NS cells for control experiments were transduced with a vector containing the CAG promoter, an IRES sequence and a toTomato (dTom) reporter gene fused to a blasticidin (BSD) resistance gene (b). Immunoblot analysis (c) of culture supernatants from the newly established CNTF-NS cell clone (clone 2) revealed elevated secretion levels of CNTF when compared to the original clonal CNTF-NS cell line (clone 1). Supernatants from control-NS cell clones (control) lacked detectable levels of the cytokine (c). Recombinant mouse CNTF (rmCNTF) was loaded as a reference. Ψ, packaging signal; cPPT, central polypurine tract; LoxP, recognition site of Cre recombinase; RRE, rev-responsive element; SIN-LTR, self-inactivating long-terminal repeat; wPRE, woodchuck hepatitis virus posttranscriptional regulatory element.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0127204.g001

Immunocytochemical analyses of undifferentiated NS cells revealed co-expression of CNTF (Fig.2b) and the fluorescent reporter protein Venus (Fig.2a) in all cells of the CNTF-NS cell line. Cells in the control-NS cell line, in comparison, expressed the reporter gene tdTomato (Fig.2c) but no detectable levels of the cytokine (Fig.2d). Moreover, CNTF-immunoreactivity was detectable at similar intensities in the CNTF-NS cell line for at least 23 passages (higher passages were not analyzed), in line with the data obtained by Western blot analyses.

To analyze transgene expression in neural cell types derived from CNTF-NS or control-NS cells *in vitro*, clonal cell lines were differentiated into nerve cells (Fig <u>3a-3f</u>) or astrocytes (Fig <u>3g-3l</u>) using directed differentiation protocols. Expression of CNTF in these cultures was analyzed seven days after induction of differentiation. While all MAP-2-positive neurons (Fig <u>3a-3c</u>) and GFAP-positive astrocytes (Fig <u>3g-3j</u>) derived from CNTF-NS cells co-expressed the reporter gene Venus and the cytokine, neurons (Fig <u>3d-3f</u>) and astrocytes (Fig <u>3j-3l</u>) derived from control-NS cells expressed the reporter gene tdTomato but no detectable levels of CNTF.

Analysis of intravitreally grafted CNTF-NS and control-NS cells in vivo

Six weeks after intravitreal transplantation into two weeks old *nclf* mice, grafted CNTF-NS and control-NS cells were identified in the recipient eyes by their expression of the fluorescent reporter proteins Venus (Fig.4a) and tdTomato (Fig.4d), respectively. Both CNTF-NS and control-NS cells had formed dense cell layers that were attached to the posterior poles of the lenses (Fig.4, S1 Fig) or to the vitreal surface of the host retinas (S1 Fig). Formation of tumors or



Fig 2. Expression of CNTF and the reporter genes in clonal CNTF-NS and control-NS cell lines. All cells in the clonal CNTF-NS cell line expressed the reporter gene Venus (a) and showed CNTF-immunoreactivity in the perinuclear region (b). Control-NS cells, in comparison, expressed the reporter gene tdTomato (c) but lacked detectable expression of the cytokine (d). CNTF, ciliary neurotrophic factor; DAPI, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole. Bar in d (for a-d): 20 µm.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0127204.g002

integration of donor cells into the host retinas (SLFig) was not observed. Furthermore, we found that 2.1% ±0.36% (mean ± SEM; 6 eyes) of the grafted CNTF-NS cells and 1.8% ±0.38% (6 eyes) of the grafted control-NS cells expressed Ki-67 one week after the transplantation. In comparison, no Ki-67-positive donor cells were detectable six weeks after transplantation of CNTF-NS or control-NS cells (6 eyes for each cell population). The vast majority of the transplanted CNTF-NS and control-NS cells were identified as GFAP-positive astrocytes (Fig 4b and 4c). A few grafted NS cells were differentiated into 6-tubulin III-positive nerve cells, while differentiation of donor cells into myelin-basic protein-positive oligodendrocytes was not observed. Of note, immunocytochemical analyses revealed robust expression of CNTF in CNTF-NS cell-derived astrocytes for at least six weeks after transplantation (Fig 4c), the latest post-transplantation time point analyzed. Donor cells derived from control-NS cells, in comparison, lacked detectable expression of the cytokine (Fig 4f).

Intravitreally grafted CNTF-NS cells attenuate photoreceptor loss in the nclf mouse

CNTF-NS cells were intravitreally grafted into 14 days old *nclf* mice, and the neuroprotective effect of the modified cells on photoreceptors was analyzed two, four and six weeks after transplantation (Fig <u>5a</u>, <u>5c</u> and <u>5c</u>). Intravitreal injections of control-NS cells into the contralateral eye of each animal served as a control (Fig <u>5b</u>, <u>5d</u> and <u>5f</u>). Analyses of central (i.e. in the plane of the optic disc) retinal sections that were stained with anti-recoverin antibodies and DAP1 consistently revealed a thicker outer nuclear layer of the CNTF-treated retinas when compared to the contralateral control retinas of the same animals at all post-transplantation time points (Fig <u>5t</u>; <u>52</u> and <u>53</u> Figs). Importantly, this neuroprotective effect on photoreceptor cells was not regionally restricted but evident in all regions of CNTF-treated retinas (<u>52</u> and <u>53</u> Figs). Adverse effects of the grafted CNTF-NS or control-NS cells on the general histology of the

Supplements

PLOS ONE

Neuroprotection of Photoreceptors in nolf Mice



Fig 3. CNTF and reporter gene expression in neural cell types derived from CNTF-NS cells and control-NS cells in vitro. CNTF-NS (a-c, g-i) and control-NS cells (d-f, j-l) were differentiated into neurons (a-f) or astrocytes (g-i). Note that all MAP-2-positive neurons (b) and GFAP-positive astrocytes (h) derived from CNTF-NS cells co-expressed the reporter gene Venus (a, g) and CNTF (c, i). Neurons (e) and astrocytes (k) derived from control-NS cells, in comparison, expressed the reporter gene tdTomato (d, j) but no detectable levels of the cytokine (f, l). CNTF, ciliary neurotrophic factor; DAPI, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; MAP2, microtubule-associated protein 2. Bar in I (for a-I): 50 µm.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0127204.g003

recipient retinas were not observed (Fig.5: S1 and S2 Figs), with the exception of some smallsized retinal folds in a fraction of the CNTF-treated retinas.

Determination of photoreceptor numbers in six defined retinal areas located at positions that corresponded to 25%, 50% and 75% of the distance between the optic disc and the periphery of the nasal and temporal retina confirmed a significant protection of photoreceptor cells by the grafted CNTF-NS cells. Two weeks after transplantation, we counted 2,526.2 \pm 24.8





doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0127204.g004

(mean \pm SEM) photoreceptors in the eyes with grafted CNTF-NS cells, compared to 2,206.3 \pm 34.8 photoreceptors in the contralateral control eyes with grafted control-NS cells (p<0.001 according to the mixed two-way ANOVA test; Fig.6). At four and six weeks after transplantation, CNTF-treated retinas contained 2,150.5 \pm 45.9 and 1,921.0 \pm 29.8 photoreceptors, while the contralateral control retinas contained 1,740.2 \pm 49.5 and 1,570.0 \pm 29.8 photoreceptors, respectively (p<0.001 for both post-transplantation time points). CNTF-treated retinas thus contained 14.5%, 23.6% and 22.4% more photoreceptor cells than the control retinas two, four and six weeks after the transplantation, respectively (Fig.6). Untreated retinas from one month old wild-type mice (n = 6) were analyzed for comparison and contained 3,174.7 \pm 60.0 photoreceptor cells.

Discussion

The neuronal ceroid lipofuscinoses (NCLs) comprise a genetically heterogeneous group of neurodegenerative lysosomal storage disorders that are characterized by intracellular accumulation of autofluorescent material. Dementia, epilepsy and motor deterioration are among the characteristic symptoms of these fatal disorders. Visual impairment due to retinal degeneration is another typical symptom of most NCL forms [1, 3, 4, 6, 7]. For NCL forms caused by mutations in genes encoding soluble lysosomal enzymes, enzyme replacement therapy is among the strategies that are being explored as a potential treatment option. Therapeutic options for NCL forms caused by mutations in genes encoding transmembrane proteins, in comparison, are more limited [20–23, 32].

In the present study, we evaluated whether a sustained cell-based intraocular delivery of a neurotrophic factor ameliorates neurodegeneration in the retina of the *nclf* mouse, an animal model of CLN6 disease that harbors a frameshift mutation in a gene encoding a

Neuroprotection of Photoreceptors in nolf Mice





doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0127204.g005

transmembrane protein [9, 10] of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) [11]. To this aim, we generated a clonal NS cell line with high expression levels of a secretable variant of mouse CNTF and the fluorescent reporter protein Venus by repeated lentiviral transductions and subsequent clonal expansions. When these cells were grafted into the vitreous cavity of *nclf* mice, they rapidly stopped proliferating and preferentially differentiated into astrocytes that were attached to the posterior surface of the lenses and the vitreal surface of the retinas, similar to our observations in *Pde6b^{rd1}* or *Pde6b^{rd10}* mutant mice [31] and a mouse optic nerve crush model [33]. Integration of control-NS or CNTF-NS cells into the host retinas was not observed over the six weeks post-transplantation time period. The latter finding is in contrast to reports that have shown wide-spread integration of intravitreally grafted neural stem/progenitor cells into developing or dystrophic retinas [24, 34–37]. Intrinsic differences between the neural stem/progenitor cells used in these studies and adherently cultivated NS cells which represent a pure population of symmetrically dividing tripotent neural stem cells [38–40], or the time point of NS cell transplantation prior to the onset of retinal degeneration in the *nclf* mutant [17] may account for these apparently discrepant observations.

10/18

Neuroprotection of Photoreceptors in nolf Mice





doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0127204.g006

Importantly, the NS cell-derived astrocytes survived in the vitreous cavity, stably expressed CNTF and the reporter gene, and significantly delayed the degeneration of photoreceptor cells over a time period of six weeks, the longest post-transplantation interval analyzed. These results are in line with our previous findings in a mouse optic nerve crush model where we observed survival of intravitreally grafted NS cells, stable expression of the cytokine in the donor cells and significant neuroprotective effects on axotomized retinal ganglion cells over a period of four months after cell transplantation [33]. Together, these data suggest that intravitreal transplantations of lentivirally modified NS cells may serve as a useful strategy for preclinical studies aimed at analyzing the long-term effects of cell-based neuroprotective approaches in mouse models of degenerative retinal disorders.

Of note, the protective effect of the CNTF-NS cells on photoreceptor cells in the nclf mouse was not regionally restricted but evident in all regions of the experimental retinas, as may be expected for a neuroprotective factor that is continuously released into the vitreous fluid from where it enters the dystrophic retina. Furthermore, we observed no adverse effects of the grafted control-NS cells on the general morphology of the host retinas. However, we found some small-sized retinal folds in restricted regions of a fraction of nclf retinas from eyes that had received CNTF-NS cell grafts. The formation of retinal folds has also been observed after repeated intravitreal injections of the CNTF analogue axokine in healthy or dystrophic retinas of cats [41] and in a mouse optic nerve crush model after intravitreal injections of CNTF-secreting neural stem cells [33]. Retinal folds thus appear to be among the complications associated with a sustained intraocular delivery of high doses of CNTF, such as a dysregulation of various genes including some encoding components of the phototransduction cascade and negative effects on visual function in a dose-dependent and reversible manner as measured by electroretinogram recordings [42–46].

Neuroprotection of Photoreceptors in nolf Mice

Attenuation of photoreceptor degeneration after intraocular transplantations of cells genetically modified to secrete growth factors or cytokines that exert neuroprotective effects on photoreceptor cells, such as glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), neurotrophin-4 or CNTF, has also been observed in several other animal models of retinal degeneration, including the Royal College of Surgeon (RCS) rat [47, 48], the S334ter rat [49–51], a sodium iodate-induced mouse model of photoreceptor cell loss [52], the rcd1 canine model [50] and the Pde6b^{rd1} and Pde6b^{rd10} mouse [31]. These reports together with the present study demonstrate that intraocular transplantations of genetically engineered cells represent a promising strategy to achieve a sustained administration of neuroprotective factors to the dystrophic retina. In fact, the therapeutic potential of a cell-based delivery of CNTF is currently being explored in human patients with retinitis pigmentosa or geographic atrophy [28] using intravitreal implants of a genetically modified and encapsulated human retinal pigment epithelial (RPE) cell line, indicating the potential relevance of cellbased neuroprotective approaches for clinical applications.

Dietary supplementation with the naturally occurring anti-inflammatory compounds docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and curcumin has recently been evaluated as another strategy to slow down the progression of retinal degeneration in the *nclf* mouse [18]. DHA and curcumin have both been shown to reduce the production of nitric oxide and the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in microglial cells [53–56]. Analyses of retinas from DHA- and curcumintreated animals revealed that the strong reactive microgliosis normally accompanying retinal degeneration in the *nclf* mutant was strongly diminished, as indicated by the significantly decreased numbers of amoeboid microglial cells. Interestingly, dietary supplementation with DHA and curcumin also delayed deterioration of visual function, while preservation of retinal structure was only observed in DHA-treated but not in curcumin-treated *nclf* mutants [18].

The motor neuron degeneration (mnd) mouse represents a naturally occurring animal model of CNL8 disease [57]. Similar to the nclf mouse, the mnd mouse harbors a mutation in a gene encoding a transmembrane protein of the ER [58, 59] and displays progressive apoptotic degeneration of photoreceptor cells [57, 60-62]. A recent study has analyzed the fate of intravitreally grafted neuralized mouse ES cells in this mutant, and observed wide-spread integration of the donor cells into the mnd retinas, where most of the cells acquired a neuronal phenotype. Furthermore and more interestingly, lysosomal storage bodies in mnd retinas were significantly reduced in size and fewer in number, and the loss of photoreceptor cells was significantly delayed in retinal regions with integrated donor cells when compared to regions of the same retinas that were devoid of donor cells or to sham-injected control retinas [24]. While the mechanisms by which the grafted cells exerted their neuroprotective effects in this mouse model of CNL8 disease remain to be elucidated, other studies have also observed amelioration of photoreceptor degeneration and partial preservation of visual function after intraocular transplantations of non-modified cell types, including such diverse cell types as neural progenitor cells [47, 63-65], bone marrow-derived stem cells [66-69] and Schwann cells [70]. In most studies, the neuroprotective effects have been attributed to the release of endogenously expressed growth factors and cytokines from the non-modified donor cells [47, 63, 68], or to the induction of neuroprotective factors in the recipient retinas by the grafted cells [65, 69]. Endogenous expression of neuroprotective factors known to rescue photoreceptor cells from degeneration, such as BDNF, FGF-2 or CNTF, in human neural progenitor cells and mesenchymal stem cells is in line with this view [47, 63, 68]. Although not specifically addressed in the present study, non-modified NS cells exerted no neuroprotective effects on photoreceptor cells in the Pde6b^{rd1} and Pde6b^{rd10} mouse [31], or on retinal ganglion cells in a mouse model of optic nerve injury [33]. To understand these apparently contradictory results, we analyzed non-modified NS cells for the expression of selected growth factors and cytokines by immunocytochemistry and Western blot

Neuroprotection of Photoreceptors in nolf Mice

PLOS ONE

analyses of culture supernatants, and found no detectable expression levels of BDNF, GDNF or CNTF. Furthermore, the ability of a certain cell population to attenuate retinal degeneration may also depend on the specific pathomechanisms ultimately leading to the death of photoreceptor cells and may therefore differ in different animal models of retinal degeneration, as indicated by recent work on the RCS rat. Photoreceptor cells in this mutant die because phagocytosis of photoreceptor outer segments by RPE cells is impaired due to a mutation in the *Mertk* gene. Based on the observation that subretinally grafted human neural progenitor cells are capable to phagocytose shed outer segments in this rat mutant, it has been suggested that the nonmodified neural progenitor cells confer their neuroprotective activity on photoreceptors in this animal model, at least in part, by functionally replacing the dysfunctional RPE [63, 71].

The therapeutic potential of a sustained cell-based administration of CNTF is currently being evaluated in patients with retinitis pigmentosa or geographic atrophy using intravitreal implants of an encapsulated human RPE cell line genetically modified to secrete this cytokine [72–76]. Analyses of the efficacy of this so-called encapsulated cell technology in mouse models of retinal degeneration are impeded by the large size of the encapsulated cell implants. The cell-based neuroprotective approach described in the present study mimics some aspects of the encapsulated cell technology, in that modified and intravitreally located cells provide a continuous supply of a neuroprotective factor to a dystrophic retina. We therefore suggest that this NS cell-based approach represents a useful methodology for preclinical studies aimed at analyzing the therapeutic potential of a cell-based intravitreal delivery of neurotrophic factors on retinal structure and function in mouse models of photoreceptor loss.

Supporting Information

S1 Fig. Localization of intravitreally grafted CNTF-NS cells in eyes of nclf mice. Analysis of eyes from nclf mice six weeks after intravitreal transplantation of CNTF-NS cells revealed the presence of Venus-positive donor cells (arrowheads in a) that were attached to the vitreal surface of the retinas. Integration of Venus-positive cells into the host retinas was not observed. Donor cells were also found on the posterior surfaces of the lenses (arrowheads in b). DAPI, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; gcl, ganglion cell layer; inl, inner nuclear layer; onl, outer nuclear layer. Bar in f (for a-f): 50 µm. (TIF)

S2 Fig. Morphology of host retinas after intravitreal transplantations of NS cells. CNTF-NS cells (a) and control-NS cells (b) were grafted into the vitreous cavity of 14 days old *nclf* mice, and retinas were analyzed six weeks after transplantation. Note the increased thickness of the outer nuclear layer (onl) in all regions of the CNTF-treated retina (a) when compared to the contralateral control retina (b). Adverse effects of the grafted cells on the general morphology of the host retinas were not detectable (a, b). Shown are overviews of the entire nasal half of a CNTF-treated and a contralateral control retina in central retinal sections. DAPI, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; ipl, inner plexiform layer; ON, optic nerve. Bar in b (for a and b): 200 µm.

(TIF)

S3 Fig. Thickness of the outer nuclear layer in CNTF-treated and control retinas. CNTF-NS cells were grafted into one and control NS-cells into the contralateral eye of 14 days old *nclf* mice, and the thickness of the outer nuclear layer was determined at 18 equally spaced positions between the peripheral margins of the nasal and temporal retina two (a), four (b) and six (c) weeks after transplantation. The outer nuclear layer was consistently thicker in CNTF-treated (red circles) when compared to control treated eyes (blue squares) at all post transplantation

time points. Each symbol represents the mean value (\pm SEM) from six retinas, *: p<0.05; **: p<0.01; ***p<0.001 according to the Student's t-test for paired samples. only, optic nerve head. (TIF)

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the excellent technical assistance of Elke Becker, Sabine Helbing, Stephen Peters, Stefanie Schlichting and the FACS-Core Unit of the University Medical Center (UMC) Hamburg-Eppendorf. The authors are also grateful to Dr. Susanne Bartsch for critically reading the manuscript and to Ali Derin and Susanne Conrad for excellent animal care.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: WJ UB. Performed the experiments: WJ KK KF CS. Analyzed the data: WJ UB. Contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools: KR TB. Wrote the paper: WJ GR KR TB UB.

References

- Kollmann K, Uusi-Rauva K, Scifo E, Tyynela J, Jalaniko A, Braufke T. Celi biology and function of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis-related proteins. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2013; 1832(11):1866–81. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.01.019 PMID: 23402926.
- Warrier V, Vieira M, Mole SE. Genetic basis and phenotypic correlations of the neuronal ceroid lipofusinoses. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2013; 1832(11):1827–30. doi: <u>10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.03.017</u> PMID: 23542453.
- Haltia M, Goebel HH. The neuronal ceroid-lipofuscinoses: a historical introduction. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2013; 1832(11):1795–800. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2012.08.012 PMID: 22959893.
- Jalanko A, Braulke T. Neuronal ceroid lipofuscinoses. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2009; 1793 (4):597–709. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2008.11.004 PMID: 19084560.
- Getty AL, Pearce DA. Interactions of the proteins of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis: clues to function. Cellular and molecular life sciences: CMLS. 2011;68(3):453–74. doi: <u>10.1007/s00018-010-0468-6</u> PMID: <u>20680390</u>.
- Anderson GW, Goebel HH, Simonati A. Human pathology in NCL. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2013; 1832(11):1807–26. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadia.2012.11.014 PMID: 23200925.
- Schulz A, Kohischutter A, Mink J, Simonati A, Williams R. NCL diseases—clinical perspectives. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2013; 1832(11):1801–6. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadip.2013.04.008 PMID: 23602993.
- Arsov T, Smith KR, Damiano J, Franceschetti S, Canatoglia L, Bromhead CJ, et al. Kufs disease, the major adult form of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis, caused by mutations in CLN8. American journal of human genetics. 2011; 88(5):566–73. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2011.04.004 PMID: 21549341; PubMed Central PMCiD: PMC3146726.
- Gao H, Boustany RM, Espinola JA, Cotman SL, Srinidhi L, Antonellis KA, et al. Mutations in a novel CLN6-encoded transmembrane protein cause variant neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis in man and mouse. American journal of human genetics. 2002; 70(2):324–35. doi: 10.1086/338190 PMID: 11791207; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC384912.
- Wheeler RB, Sharp JD, Schultz RA, Joslin JM, Williams RE, Mole SE. The gene mutated in variant late-infantile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (CLN6) and in notif mutant mice encodes a novel predicted transmembrane protein. American journal of human genetics. 2002; 70(2):537–42. doi: <u>10.1086/ 338708</u> PMID: <u>11727201</u>; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC384927.
- Heine C, Koch B, Storch S, Kohlschutter A, Palmer DN, Brauke T. Defective endoplasmic reticulumresident membrane protein CLN6 affects tysosomal degradation of endocytosed arylsuifatase A. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2004; 279(21):22347-52. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M400643200 PMID: 15010453.
- Mole SE, Michaux G, Codlin S, Wheeler RB, Sharp JD, Cutler DF. CLN6, which is associated with a lysosomal storage disease, is an endoplasmic reticulum protein. Experimental cell research. 2004; 298 (2):399–406. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2004.04.042 PMID: 15265688.

Neuroprotection of Photoreceptors in nolf Mice

- Kousi M, Lehesjoki AE, Mole SE. Update of the mutation spectrum and clinical correlations of over 360 mutations in eight genes that underlie the neuronal ceroid lipofuscinoses. Human mutation. 2012; 33 (1):42–63. doi: 10.1002/humu.21624 PMID: 21990111.
- Bronson RT, Donahue LR, Johnson KR, Tanner A, Lane PW, Faust JR. Neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (not!), a new disorder of the mouse linked to chromosome 9. American journal of medical genetics. 1998; 77(4):289–97. PMID: <u>9600738</u>.
- Kurze AK, Galliciotti G, Heine C, Mole SE, Quitsch A, Brauke T. Pathogenic mutations cause rapid degradation of lysosomal storage disease-related membrane protein CLN6. Human mutation. 2010; 31 (2):E1163–74. doi: 10.1002/humu.21184 PMID: 20020538.
- Thelen M, Fehr S, Schweizer M, Braulke T, Gallkiotti G. High expression of disease-related Cln6 in the cerebral cortex, purkinje cells, dentate gyrus, and hippocampal ca1 neurons. Journal of neuroscience research. 2012; 90(3):568–74. doi: 10.1002/jnr.22773 PMID: 22012656.
- Bartsch U, Galliciotti G, Jofre GF, Jankowiak W, Hagel C. Braulke T. Apoptotic photoreceptor loss and altered expression of lysosomal proteins in the not! mouse model of neuronal ceroid lipoluscinosis. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2013; 54(10):6952–9. doi: 10.1167/iovs.13-12945 PMID: 24084090.
- Mirza M, Volz C, Karlstetter M, Langiu M, Somogyi A, Ruonala MO, et al. Progressive retinal degeneration and glial activation in the CLN6 (nctl) mouse model of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis: a beneficial effect of DHA and curcumin supplementation. PIoS one. 2013; 8(10):e75963. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0075963 PMID: 24124525: PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3790850.
- Morgan JP, Magee H, Wong A, Nelson T, Koch B. Cooper JD, et al. A murine model of variant late infantile ceroid lipoluscinosis recapitulates behavioral and pathological phenotypes of human disease. PloS one. 2013; 8(11):e78694. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0078694</u> PMID: <u>24223841</u>; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3815212.
- Kohan R, Cismondi IA, Oller-Ramirez AM, Guelbert N, Anzolini TV, Alonso G, et al. Therapeutic approaches to the challenge of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinoses. Current pharmaceutical biotechnology. 2011; 12(6):867–63. doi: <u>1389-2010/11.\$58.00+.00</u> PMID: <u>21235444</u>; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3632406.
- Wong AM, Rahim AA, Waddington SN. Cooper JD. Current therapies for the soluble lysosomal forms of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. Biochemical Society transactions. 2010; 38(6):1484–8. doi: 10.1042/ BST0381484 PMID: 21118112.
- Shacka JJ. Mouse models of neuronal ceroid lipotuscinoses: useful pre-clinical tools to delineate disease pathophysiology and validate therapeutics. Brain research bulletin. 2012; 88(1):43–57. doi: 10. 1016/j.brainresbull.2012.03.003 PMID: 22502604.
- Bond M, Holthaus SM, Tammen I, Tear G, Russell C. Use of model organisms for the study of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2013; 1832(11):1842–65. doi: 10.1016/j.bbodis. 2013.01.009 PMID: 23338040.
- Meyer JS, Katz ML, Maruniak JA, Kirk MD. Embryonic stem cell-derived neural progenitors incorporate into degenerating retina and enhance survival of host photoreceptors. Stem cells. 2006; 24(2):274–83. doi: 10.1634/stemcels.2005-0059 PMID: 16123383; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3381839.
- Griffey M, Macauley SL, Ogilvie JM, Sands MS. AAV2-mediated ocular gene therapy for infantile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. Molecular therapy: the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy. 2005; 12(3):413–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2005.04.018 PMID: 15979943.
- Wenzel A, Grimm C, Samardzija M, Reme CE. Molecular mechanisms of light-induced photoreceptor apoptosis and neuroprotection for retinal degeneration. Progress in retinal and eye research. 2005; 24 (2):275–306. doi: 10.1016/j.prntoyeres.2004.08.002 PMID: 15610977.
- Buch PK, MacLaren RE, Ali RR. Neuroprotective gene therapy for the treatment of inherited retinal degeneration. Current gene therapy. 2007; 7(6):434–45. PMID: 18045103.
- Wen R, Tao W, Li Y, Sieving PA. CNTF and retina. Progress in retinal and eye research. 2012; 31 (2):136–51. doi: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2011.11.005 PMID: 22182585; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3288688.
- Unsicker K. Neurotrophic molecules in the treatment of neurodegenerative disease with focus on the retina: status and perspectives. Cell and tissue research. 2013; 353(2):205–18. doi: <u>10.1007/s00441-013-1585-y</u> PMID: 23463189.
- Bauer S, Kerr BJ, Patterson PH. The neuropoletic cytokine family in development, plasticity, disease and injury. Nature reviews Neuroscience. 2007; 8(3):221–32. doi: 10.1038/nm2054 PMID: 17311007.
- Jung G, Sun J, Pétrowitz B, Riecken K, Kruszewski K, Jankowiak W, et al. Genetically modified neural stem cells for a local and sustained delivery of neuroprotective factors to the dystrophic mouse retina. Stem cells translational medicine. 2013; 2(12):1001–10. doi: 10.5956/sctm.2013-0013 PMID: 24167317; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3841080.

PLOS ONE | DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0127204 May 20, 2015

Neuroprotection of Photoreceptors in nolf Mice

- Hawkins-Salsbury JA. Cooper JD, Sands MS. Pathogenesis and therapies for infantile neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (infantile CLN1 disease). Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2013; 1832(11):1906–9. doi: 10. 1016/j.bbadis.2013.05.026 PMID: 23747979.
- Flachsbarth K, Kruszewski K, Jung G, Jankowiak W, Riecken K, Wagenfeld L, et al. Neural stem cellbased intraocular administration of ciliary neurotrophic factor attenuates the loss of axotomized ganglion cells in adult mice. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2014; 55(11):7029–39. doi: 10, 1167/jovs.14-15266 PMID: 25270193.
- Young MJ, Ray J, Whiteley SJ, Klassen H, Gage FH. Neuronal differentiation and morphological integration of hippocampal progenitor cells transplanted to the retina of immature and mature dystrophic rats. Molecular and cellular neurosciences. 2000; 16(3):197–205. doi: <u>10.1006/mone.2000.0869</u> PMID: 10995547.
- Banin E, Obolensky A, Idelson M, Hemo I, Reinhardtz E, Pikarsky E, et al. Retinal incorporation and differentiation of neural precursors derived from human embryonic stem cells. Stem cells. 2006; 24 (2):246–57. doi: 10.1634/ittemcells.2005-0009 PMID: 16123388.
- Takahashi M, Palmer TD, Takahashi J, Gage FH. Widespread integration and survival of adult-derived neural progenitor cells in the developing optic retina. Molecular and cellular neurosciences. 1998; 12 (6):340–8. doi: 10.1006/mcne.1996.0721 PMID: 9888988.
- Van Hoffelen SJ, Young MJ, Shatos MA, Sakaguchi DS. Incorporation of murine brain progenitor cells into the developing mammalian retina. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2003; 44(1):426– 34. PMID: 12506105.
- Pollard SM, Conti L, Sun Y, Goffredo D, Smith A. Adherent neural stem (NS) cells from fetal and adult forebrain. Cerebral cortex. 2006; 16 Suppl 1:112–20. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bh/167 PMID: 16766697.
- Glaser T, Pollard SM, Smith A, Brustle O. Tripotential differentiation of adherently expandable neural stem (NS) cells. PloS one. 2007; 2(3):e298. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000298 PMID: 17356704; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1808430.
- Conti L, Pollard SM, Gorba T, Reitano E, Toselli M, Biella G, et al. Niche-independent symmetrical selfrenewal of a mammalian tissue stem cell. PLoS biology. 2005; 3(9):e283. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio. 0030283 PMID: 16086633; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1184591.
- Chong NH, Alexander RA, Waters L, Barnett KC; Bird AC, Luthert PJ. Repeated injections of a ciliary neurotrophic factor analogue leading to long-term photoreceptor survival in hereditary retinal degeneration. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 1999; 40(6):1298–305. PMID: 10235570.
- Schlichtenbrede FC, MacNeil A, Bainbridge JW, Tschernutter M, Thrasher AJ, Smith AJ, et al. Intraocular gene delivery of ciliary neurotrophic factor results in significant loss of retinal function in normal mice and in the Prph2Rd2/Rd2 model of retinal degeneration. Gene therapy. 2003; 10(6):523–7. doi: 10. 1038/si.gt.3301929 PMID: 12621456.
- Wen R, Song Y, Kjellstrom S, Tanikawa A, Liu Y, Li Y, et al. Regulation of rod phototransduction machinery by ciliary neurotrophic factor. The Journal of neuroscience: the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 2006; 26(52):13523–30. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4021-06.2006 PMID: 17192435.
- Bush RA, Lei B, Tao W, Raz D, Chan CC, Cox TA, et al. Encapsulated cell-based intraocular delivery of ciliary neurotrophic factor in normal rabbit: dose-dependent effects on ERG and retinal histology. Invessignifice ophthalmology & visual science. 2004; 45(7):2420–30. PMID: <u>15223826</u>.
- Liang FQ, Aleman TS, Dejneka NS, Dudus L, Fisher KJ, Maguire AM, et al. Long-term protection of retinal structure but not function using RAAV.CNTF in animal models of retinitis pigmentosa. Molecular therapy: the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy. 2001; 4(5):461–72. doi: 10.1006/mithe. 2001.0473 PMID: 11708883.
- McGill TJ, Prusky GT, Douglas RM, Yasumura D, Matthes MT, Nune G, et al. Intraocular CNTF reducesvision in normal rats in a dose-dependent manner. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2007; 48(12):5756–66. doi: 10.1167/jovs.07-0054 PMID: 18055829.
- Gamm DM, Wang S, Lu B, Girman S, Holmes T, Bischoff N, et al. Protection of visual functions by human neural progenitors in a rat model of retinal disease. PloS one. 2007; 2(3):e338. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0000338 PMID: 17396165; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1828619.
- Lawrence JM, Keegan DJ, Muir EM. Coffey PJ, Rogers JH, Wilby MJ, et al. Transplantation of Schwann cell line clones secreting GDNF or BDNF into the retinas of dystrophic Royal College of Surgeons rats. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2004; 45(1):267–74. PMID: 14691183.
- Li Y, Tao W, Luo L, Huang D, Kauper K, Stabila P, et al. CNTF induces regeneration of cone outer segments in a rat model of retinal degeneration. PloS one. 2010; 5(3):e9495. doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.</u> 0009495 PMID: 20209157; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2830484.
- Tao W. Wen R. Goddard MB, Sherman SD. O'Rourke PJ, Stabila PF, et al. Encapsulated cell-based delivery of CNTF reduces photoreceptor degeneration in animal models of retinitis pigmentosa. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2002; 43(10):3292–6. PMID: 12356837.

PLOS ONE | DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0127204 May 20, 2015

Neuroprotection of Photoreceptors in nolf Mice

- Gregory-Evans K, Chang F, Hodges MD, Gregory-Evans CY. Ex vivo gene therapy using intravitreal injection of GDNF-secreting mouse embryonic stem cells in a rat model of retinal degeneration. Molecular vision. 2009; 15:962–73. PMID: 19461934; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2684563.
- Machalinska A, Kawa M, Pius-Sadowska E, Stepniewski J, Nowak W, Roginska D, et al. Long-term neuroprotective effects of NT-4-engineered mesenchymal stem cells injected intravitreally in a mouse model of acute retinal injury. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science, 2013; 54(13):8292–305. doi: 10.1167/iove.13-12221 PMID: 24265016.
- Antonietta Ajmone-Cat M, Lavinia Salvatori M, De Simone R, Mancini M, Biagioni S, Bernardo A, et al. Docosahexaenoic acid modulates inflammatory and antineurogenic functions of activated microglial cells. Journal of neuroscience research. 2012; 90(3):575–87. doi: 10.1002/jnr.22783 PMID: 22057807.
- Jin CY, Lee JD, Park C, Choi YH, Kim GY. Curcumin attenuates the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated BV2 microglia. Acta pharmacologica Sinica. 2007; 28 (10):1645–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-7254.2007.00651.x PMID: 17883952.
- Ebert S, Weigelt K, Walczak Y, Drobnik W, Mauerer R, Hume DA, et al. Docosahexaenoic acid attenuates microglial activation and delays early retinal degeneration. Journal of neurochemistry. 2009; 110 (6):1863–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06256.x PMID: 19627444.
- Jung KK, Lee HS, Cho JY, Shin WC, Rhee MH, Kim TG, et al. Inhibitory effect of curcumin on nitric oxide production from lipopolysaccharide-activated primary microglia. Life sciences. 2006; 79 (21):2022–31. doi: 10.1016/j.lls.2006.06.048 PMID: 16934299.
- Bronson RT, Lake BD, Cook S, Taylor S, Davisson MT. Motor neuron degeneration of mice is a model of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis (Batten's disease). Annals of neurology. 1993; 33(4):381–5. doi: 10. 1002/ans.410330408 PMID: 7683855.
- Ranta S, Zhang Y, Ross B, Lonka L, Takkunen E, Messer A, et al. The neuronal ceroid lipofuscinoses in human EPMR and mnd mutant mice are associated with mutations in CLN8. Nature genetics. 1999; 23(2):233–6. doi: 10.1038/13868 PMID: 10508524.
- Lonka L, Kyttala A, Ranta S, Jalanko A, Lehesjoki AE. The neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis CLN8 membrane protein is a resident of the endoplasmic reticulum. Human molecular genetics. 2000; 9 (11):1691–7. PMID: 10861296.
- Seigel GM, Wagner J, Wronska A, Campbell L, Ju W, Zhong N. Progression of early postnatal retinal pathology in a mouse model of neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. Eye. 2005; 19(12):1306–12. doi: 10. 1038/sl.eye.6701770 PMID: 15565184.
- Messer A, Plummer J, Wong V, Lavail MM. Retinal degeneration in motor neuron degeneration (mnd) mutant mice. Experimental eye research. 1993; 57(5):637–41. doi: 10.1006/exer.1993.1169 PMID: 6282051.
- Chang B, Bronson RT, Hawes NL, Roderick TH, Peng C, Hageman GS, et al. Retinal degeneration in motor neuron degeneration: a mouse model of ceroid lipoluscinosis. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 1994; 35(3):1071–6. PMID: 8125718.
- McGill TJ, Cottam B, Lu B, Wang S, Girman S, Tian C, et al. Transplantation of human central nervous system stem cells—neuroprotection in retinal degeneration. The European journal of neuroscience. 2012;35(3):468–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2011.07970.x PMID: 22277045.
- Wang S, Girman S, Lu B, Bischoff N, Holmes T, Shearer R, et al. Long-term vision rescue by human neural progenitors in a rat model of photoreceptor degeneration. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2008; 49(7):3201–6. doi: 10.1167/jovs.08-1831 PMID: 18579765; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3055787.
- Lu B, Morgans CW, Girman S, Luo J, Zhao J, Du H, et al. Neural Stem Cells Derived by Small Molecules Preserve Vision. Translational vision science & technology. 2013; 2(1):1. doi: <u>10.1167/tvst.2.1.1</u> PMID: <u>24049711</u>; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3763886.
- Tzameret A, Sher I, Belkin M, Treves AJ, Meir A, Nagler A, et al. Transplantation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells as a thin subretinal layer ameliorates retinal degeneration in a rat model of retinal dystrophy. Experimental eye research. 2014; 118:135–44. doi: 10.1016/j.exer.2013.10.023 PMID: 24239509.
- Inoue Y, Iriyama A, Ueno S, Takahashi H, Kondo M, Tamaki Y, et al. Subretinal transplantation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells delays retinal degeneration in the RCS rat model of retinal degeneration. Experimental eye research. 2007; 85(2):234–41. doi: <u>10.1016/j.exer.2007.04.007</u> PMID: 17570362.
- Zhang Y, Wang W. Effects of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell transplantation on light-damaged retina. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2010; 51(7):3742–8. doi: <u>10.1167/iovs.08-3314</u> PMID: 20207980.

Neuroprotection of Photoreceptors in nolf Mice

- Wang S, Lu B, Girman S, Duan J, McFarland T, Zhang QS, et al. Non-invasive stem cell therapy in a rat model for retinal degeneration and vascular pathology. PloS one. 2010; 5(2):e9200. doi: <u>10.1371/</u> journal.pone.0009200 PMID: <u>20169156</u>; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2821411.
- Lawrence JM, Sauve Y, Keegan DJ, Coffey PJ, Hetherington L, Girman S, et al. Schwann cell grafting into the retina of the dystrophic RCS rat limits functional deterioration. Royal College of Surgeons. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2000; 41(2):518–28. PMID: 10670484.
- Cuenca N, Fernandez-Sanchez L, McGill TJ, Lu B, Wang S, Lund R, et al. Phagocytosis of photoreceptor outer segments by transplanted human neural stem cells as a neuroprotective mechanism in retinal degeneration. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2013; 54(10):6745–66. doi: <u>10.1167/jovs.</u> <u>13-12660</u> PMID: <u>24045996</u>.
- Talcott KE, Ratnam K, Sundquist SM, Lucero AS, Lujan BJ, Tao W, et al. Longitudinal study of cone photoreceptors during retinal degeneration and in response to ciliary neurotrophic factor treatment. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2011; 52(5):2219–26. doi: 10.1167/iovs.10-6479 PMID: 21087953; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3080173.
- Sieving PA, Caruso RC, Tao W, Coleman HR, Thompson DJ, Fullmer KR, et al. Ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) for human retinal degeneration: phase I trial of CNTF delivered by encapsulated cell intraocular implants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2006: 103(10):3896–901. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0600236103 PMID: 16505355; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC1383495.
- Birch DG, Weleber RG, Duncan JL, Jaffe GJ, Tao W, Ciliary Neurotrophic Factor Retinitis Pigmentosa Study G. Randomized trial of ciliary neurotrophic factor delivered by encapsulated cell intraocular implants for retinitis pigmentosa. American journal of ophthalmology. 2013; 156(2):283–92 e1. doi: 10. 1016/j.ato 2013.03.021 PMID: 23658681.
- Zhang K, Hopkins JJ, Heier JS, Birch DG, Halperin LS, Albini TA, et al. Ciliary neurotrophic factor delivered by encapsulated cell intraocular implants for treatment of geographic atrophy in age-related macular degeneration. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2011; 108(15):6241–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1018987108 PMID; 21444807; PubMed Central PMCID; PMC3076847.
- Kauper K, McGovern C, Sherman S, Heatherton P, Rapoza R, Stabila P, et al. Two-year intraocular delivery of ciliary neurotrophic factor by encapsulated cell technology implants in patients with chronic retinal degenerative diseases. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 2012; 53(12):7484–91. doi: 10.1167/jova.12-9970 PMID: 23049090.

Glaucoma

Neural Stem Cell–Based Intraocular Administration of Ciliary Neurotrophic Factor Attenuates the Loss of Axotomized Ganglion Cells in Adult Mice

Kai Flachsbarth,¹ Katharina Kruszewski,¹ Gila Jung,¹ Wanda Jankowiak,¹ Kristoffer Riecken,² Lars Wagenfeld,¹ Gisbert Richard,¹ Boris Fehse,² and Udo Bartsch¹

¹Department of Ophthalmology, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany ²Research Department Cell and Gene Therapy, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

Correspondence: Udo Bartsch, Department of Ophthalmology, University Medical Center Hamburg Eppendorf, Martinistr. 52, 20246 Hamburg, Germany; ubartschüuke: uni-hamburg, de.

obartscho uke orrenansourg or -

Submitted: July 18, 2014 Accepted: September 16, 2014

Citation: Flachsbarth K, Kruszewski K, Jung G, et al. Neural stem cell-based intraocular administration of ciliary neurotrophic factor attenuates the loss of axotomized ganglion cells in adult mice. *Invest Ophthaluod Vis Sci.* 2014;55:7029-7039. DOI:10.1167/ iovs.14-15266 Prapost, To analyze the neuroprotective effect of intravitreally grafted neural stem (NS) cells genetically modified to secrete ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) on intraorbitally lesioned retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) in adult mice.

Mirmons. Adherently cultivated NS cells were genetically modified to express a secretable variant of mouse CNTF together with the fluorescent reporter protein Venus. Clonal CNTFsecreting NS cell lines were established using fluorescence activated cell sorting, and intravitreally grafted into adult mice 1 day after an intraorbial crush of the optic nerve. Ben-3a-positive RGCs were counted in flat-mounted retinas at different postlesion intervals to evaluate the neuroprotective effect of the CNTF-secreting NS cells on the axotomized RGCs. Anterograde axonal tracing experiments were performed to analyze the regrowth of the injured RGC axons in CNTF-treated retinas.

Restars. Intravitreally grafted NS cells preferentially differentiated into astrocytes that survived in the host eyes, stably expressed CNTF, and significantly attenuated the loss of the axotomized RGCs over a period of at least 4 months, the latest postlesion time point analyzed. Depending on the postlesion interval analyzed, the number of RGCs in eyes with grafted CNTF-secreting NS cells was 2.8-fold to 6.4-fold higher than in eyes with grafted control NS cells. The CNTFsecreting NS cells additionally induced long-distance regrowth of the lesioned RGC axons.

Concessors, Genetically modified clonal NS cell lines may serve as a useful tool for preclinical studies aimed at evaluating the therapeutic potential of a sustained cell-based intravitreal administration of neuroprotective factors in mouse models of glaucoma.

Keywords: axonal regeneration, ciliary neurotrophic factor, glaucoma, intraocular stem cell transplantation, lentiviral vector, neural stem cells, neuroprotection, optic nerve lesion, retinal ganglion cell

aucoma is among the leading causes of blindness, with an Gestimated 80 million people being affected worldwide in 2020.3 It is a complex neurodegenerative disorder of the retina that is characterized by a progressive loss of retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) and their axons, resulting in visual field loss and eventually irreversible blindness.2.3 The pathomechanisms leading to the apoptotic death of RGCs in this age-related and multifactorial disease are not fully understood. Clinically, an increased IOP is known to be a major risk factor for the development of glaucomatous optic neuropathy. Other factors that have been implicated in causing progressive degeneration of RGCs include neurotrophic factor deprivation, mitochondrial dysfunction, excitotoxic damage, vascular dysfunction, oxidative stress, inflammation, and glial cell activation.²⁻⁵ Currently, lowering IOP is the only proven treatment for glaucoma. However, in a significant proportion of glaucoma patients, the disease progresses despite successful IOP reduction,67 indicating the need for alternative treatments

It has been proposed that impaired axonal transport as a result of elevated IOP leads to a scarcity of target-derived neurotrophic factors and subsequent apoptotic degeneration of RGCs.^{8,9} Stimulation of prosurvival signaling pathways by the supplementation of neurotrophic factors has therefore been extensively explored as a strategy to protect RGCs from degeneration. These studies have identified a number of neurotrophic factors that are capable of delaying the degeneration of RGCs in various animal models of RGC loss.^{2,10–13} For instance, intraocular administration of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) or glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor has been demonstrated to significantly delay the degeneration of RGCs in animal models of optic nerve injury^{14–20} or ocular hypertension.^{21–24}

Ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), a member of the IL-6 family of cytokines,²⁵ is another neurotrophic factor that has been shown to potently rescue RGCs in various pathological conditions,^{19,26-35} In addition to protecting RGCs from degeneration, the cytokine has been demonstrated to promote long-distance regrowth of injured RGC axons in the adult mammalian optic nerve.^{26,34-38} However, single intravitreal injections of recombinant CNTF resulted in only limited neuroprotective and axon growth-promoting effects, due to the short half-life of the protein.³⁹ In comparison, more robust

7029

Copyright 2014 The Association for Research in Vision and Ophthalmology, Inc. www.invs.org | BSN: 1552-5783

long-term effects were observed after sustained intraocular administration of the cytokine, which, in most studies, was achieved by virus-mediated gene transfer to the retina.^{2,10,19}

Intraocular transplantations of genetically modified cells represent another strategy to continuously deliver neuroprotective factors to the retina.40.41 Importantly, the use of ex vivo modified cells offers the possibility to adjust the amount of neurotrophic factors administered to the retina before the transplantation. Furthermore, in terms of potential clinical applications, the modified cells can be encapsulated into semipermeable polymer devices that allow diffusion of the neurotrophic factors from the implant to the retina, while protecting the transplanted cells from the immune system of the host and the host retina from potential adverse effects of the grafted cells. Moreover, the encapsulated cell implants can be retrieved from the vitreous in case of complications, adding another important safety aspect to this approach.41-43 In fact, the therapeutic potential of a cell-based intraocular administration of a neurotrophic factor is currently being evaluated in patients with RP or geographic atrophy, using intravitreal implants of an encapsulated RPE cell line genetically modified to secrete CNTE³⁴⁻⁴

In the present study, we used a polycistronic lentiviral vector to generate clonal neural stem cell lines stably expressing a secretable variant of CNTE. The modified cells were grafted into the vitreous cavity of adult wild-type mice 1 day after an intraorbital optic nerve crush to evaluate the effects of a sustained cell-based intraocular administration of the cytokine on axonal regrowth and RGC survival in this animal model of injury-induced RGC loss.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Neural stem cells were isolated from the cerebral cortex of 1-iday-old C57BL/6J mouse embryos. Intraorbital optic nerve lesions and intravitreal neural stem (N5) cell transplantations were performed on adult (i.e., at least 2 months old) C57BL/6J mice. Animals were obtained from the animal facility of the University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf (Hamburg, Germany). All animal experiments were approved by the University and State of Hamburg Animal Care Committees and were in accordance with the ARVO Statement for the Use of Animals in Ophthalmic and Vision Research.

Lentiviral Vectors, NS Cell Transductions, and Generation of Modified Clonal NS Cell Lines

The cDNA of mouse CNTF was ligated in frame with the lg schain leader sequence of pSecTag2 B (Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany) and cloned into the polycistronic lentiviral vector pCAG-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO encoding the internal ribosome entry site from the encephalomyocarditis virus, a Venus reporter gene, a P2A sequence of portine teschovirus-1, and a zeocin resistance gene under regulatory control of the cytomegalovirus enhancer/chicken βactin promoter, giving rise to pCAG-CNTF-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO.⁴⁹ Lentiviral particles were pseudotyped with the envelope G protein of the vesicular stomatitis virus and produced by transient transfection of HEK 293T cells as described elsewhere (http://www. LentiGo-Vectors.de).⁵⁰

To generate cloud NS cell lines with high expression levels of transgenes, we again transduced previously established CNTF-secreting NS cell lines (CNTF-NS cells) and NS cell lines for control experiments (control-NS cells)⁴⁹ with pCAG-CNTF-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO and pCAG-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO, respectiveIOVS | November 2014 | Vol. 55 | No. 11 | 7030

ly. In brief, NS cells were seeded into 24-well plates coated with 0.1% Matrigel (BD Bioscience, Heidelberg, Germany) and cultivated in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium/F12 (Life Technologies) supplemented with 2 mM glutamine, 5 mM HEPES, 3 mM sodium bicarbonate, 0.3% glucose (all from Sigma-Aldrich Corp., St. Louis, MO, USA; in the following termed "NS cell medium"), 10 ng/ml. epidermal growth factor (EGF) and 10 ng/ml, FGF-2 (both from TEBU, Offenbach, Germany), and 1% N2 and 1% B27 (both from Life Technologies). Transduction of cells was performed by spinoculation in the presence of 8 µg/ml, hexadimethrine bromide (Polybrene; Sigma-Aldrich). Positive cells were selected by further cultivating the cells under adherent conditions40-51 in culture flasks coated with poly-Lornithine (Sigma-Aldrich) and 0.1% Matrigel in the same medium but additionally containing 200 µg/mL zeocin (Invivogen, San Diego, CA, USA). Single CNTF-NS cells with the highest expression level of the reporter gene were then sorted into 96-well plates by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS; FACSArialIIu, BD Bioscience, San Diego, CA, USA) to establish clonal CNTF-NS cell lines with elevated expression levels of the cytokine. CNTF levels in culture supernatants of the CNTE-NS cell clones were compared by Western blot analysis using polyclonal rabbit anti-CNTF antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Santa Cruz, CA, USA) and horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-rabbit secondary antibodies (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA, USA). The clonal cell lines with the highest expression levels of the cytokine were selected, and CNTF levels in the culture supernatants were estimated by Western blot analyses using recombinant mouse CNTF (Biomol, Hamburg, Germany) as a reference. Densitometric analysis of immunoreactive bands was performed using ImageJ software (http://imagej.nih.gov/ij/; provided in the public domain by the National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA).

In Vitro Differentiation of NS Cells and Immunocytochemistry

Differentiation of NS cells into astrocytes was induced by cultivating the cells in NS cell medium containing 1% fetal calf serum (Life Technologies) and 2% B27. Astrocytes were maintained for up to 2 months in culture. Neuronal differentiation of NS cells was induced by maintaining the cells for 3 days in NS cell medium supplemented with 5 ng/mL FGF-2, 1% N2, and 2% B27, followed by an additional cultivation period of 4 days in a 1:1 mixture of NS cell medium and Neurobasal medium (Life Technologies) supplemented with 0.25% N2 and 2% B27.

For immunocytochemical analyses of CNTF expression, CNTF-NS and control-NS cell cultures were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PA; Carl Roth GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany) in PBS (pH 7.4), blocked in PBS containing 0.1% BSA and 0.3% Triton X-100 (both from Sigma-Aldrich), and incubated with polyclonal rabbit anti-CNTF antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc.). Cultures were simultaneously incubated with monoclonal mouse anti-glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) antibodies (Sigma-Aldrich) or monoclonal mouse anti-microtubule associated protein 2 (MAP2) antibodies (Sigma-Aldrich) to identify astrocytes or neurons, respectively. Primary antibodies were detected with anti-rabbit Cy3- and anti-mouse Cy5conjugated secondary antibodies (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories). Cell nuclei were stained with 4',6-diamidino-2phenvlindole (DAPI; Sigma-Aldrich).

Intraorbital Optic Nerve Lesions and Intravitreal NS Cell Transplantations

Animals were deeply anesthetized by an intraperitoneal injection of Ketanest 8 (Parke Davis GmbH, Berlin, Germany)

and Rompun (Bayer Vital GmbH, Leverkusen, Germany), and the optic nerve was intraorbitally crushed with watchmaker's forceps for 15 seconds at a distance of 0.5 to 1.0 mm from the eye.5253 Loss of the pupillary light reflex, the presence of wellpreserved blood vessels, and lack of retinal bleeding were considered as criteria for a successful nerve crush. In a fraction of animals, RGC axons were anterogradely labeled (see below) to further control the nerve crush. One day after the crush, animals were again deeply anesthetized, and 2 µl, vitreous fluid were removed from the eye with a fine glass micropipette that was inserted into the vitreous at the junction between sclera and cornea. Subsequently, 2 µL PBS containing either 7.6 × 105 CNTF-NS cells or control-NS cells were slowly injected into the vitreous cavity.^{49,54} Some animals received intravitreal injections of 2 µL PBS without cells. Particular care was taken not to damage the lens during the removal of the vitreous fluid or the injection of the cells or the vehicle solution.

Characterization of Intravitreally Grafted NS Cells

Animals were killed 4 months after transplantation, and eves were immersion-fixed for 1 hour in PBS containing 4% PA. Lenses with attached donor cells were removed and incubated with rabbit anti-CNTF antibodies, mouse anti-GFAP antibodies, rabbit anti-8-tubulin III antibodies (Sigma-Aldrich), or rat antimyelin basic protein (MBP) antibodies (Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA) to evaluate the expression of CNTF and to analyze the differentiation of the grafted NS cells. Primary antibodies were detected with anti-rabbit Cy3-, anti-rat Cy3-, or anti-mouse Cy5conjugated secondary antibodies (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories). Lenses with attached donor cells were stained with DAPI, and confocal z-stacks of the posterior poles of the lenses with attached donor cells were prepared with an Olympus FV 1000 confocal microscope (Olympus, Hamburg, Germany) and processed using FV10-ASW software (Olympus). Confocal z-stacks of flat-mounted retinas that were prepared 4 months after cell transplantation and stained with anti-Brn-3a antibodies (see below) were taken with a Leica TCS SP5 confocal microscope (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany), and processed using Imaris software (Bitplane, Zürich, Switzerland). Some eyes with grafted CNTF- or control-NS cells were immersion-fixed in 4% PA, cryoprotected in an ascending series of sucrose, frozen, serially sectioned at a thickness of 25 µm, and stained with DAPI.

Anterograde Axonal Tracing

To anterogradely label RGC axons, a saturated solution of biotin-N-hydroxysuccinimidester (Sigma-Aldrich) in dimethylformamide (Carl Roth GmbH) was diluted 1:1 with ethanol, and intravitreally injected into the eyes with crushed optic nerves.^{33,55} After 24 hours, animals were killed and eyes with attached optic nerves were immersion-fixed in 4% PA, cryoprotected, and frozen. Longitudinal sections of optic nerves, 25 µm in thickness, were prepared with a cryostat and incubated with Cy3-conjugated streptavidin (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories). The distance between the distal margin of the lesion site and the tip of the longest regrown axon in mice with grafted control-NS or CNTF-NS cells (n = 6 for each experimental group) was determined 1 month after the crush. Analysis of sections was done with an Olympus IX51 fluorescence microscope (Olympus).

Analysis of RGC Survival

Animals were killed 1, 2, 3, or 4 months after the optic nerve crush, and eyes were fixed for 15 minutes in 4% PA. Retinas were flat-mounted on nitrocellulose membranes (Sartorius AG, IOV5 | November 2014 | Vol. 55 | No. 11 | 7031

Göttingen, Germany), fixed again in 4% PA for 1 hour, blocked in PBS containing 0.1% BSA and 1% Triton X-100, and incubated with polyclonal goat anti-Brn-3a antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc.) overnight at room temperature. Subsequently, retirus were incubated with Cy3-conjugated secondary antibodies, stained with DAPI, and mounted onto slides. Retinas were number-coded, and five photomicrographs from the center to the periphery of the superior, inferior, nasal, and temporal retinal quadrant were taken, covering a total retinal area of approximately 1.9 mm². All Brn-3a-positive RGCs visible on these 20 photomicrographs were counted using Adobe Photoshop CS3 software (Adobe Systems, Inc., San Jose, CA, USA), and the number of RGCs per mm2 was calculated. Six eyes with grafted CNTF-NS cells or control-NS cells were analyzed for each postlesion interval (i.e., 1, 2, 3, and 4 months after the optic nerve crush). Retinal ganglion cell densities were additionally determined in eyes with intravitreally injected PBS 1 month after the crush (n = 6), and in normal untreated eves (n = 6). Statistical analysis of data was performed using the Student's Hest.

RESULTS

Neural Stem Cells and Lentiviral Vectors

To express CNTF in adherently cultivated NS cells^{51,56} from the embryonic mouse brain (in the following termed "CNTF-NS cells"), we generated a polycistronic lentiviral vector that is based on the lentiviral "gene ontology" (LeGO) vectors.^{50,57} The vector encoded a secretable variant of mouse CNTF together with a Venus reporter gene and a zeocin resistance gene under regulatory control of the strong and ubiquitously active cytomegalovirus enhancer/chicken β-actin CAG promoter (pCAG-CNTF-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO; Fig. 1Aa) to ensure robust transgene expression in undifferentiated NS cells and their differentiated progeny. Neural stem cells for control experiments (in the following termed "control-NS cells") were transduced with the same vector but lacking the CNTF cDNA (pCAG-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO; Fig. 1Ab).⁴⁹

Generation of Clonal NS Cell Lines With High Expression Levels of Transgenes

To further increase expression levels of transgenes in previously established clonal CNTF-NS and control-NS cell lines,49 cells were again transduced with pCAG-CNTF-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO and pCAG-IRES-Venus-2A-ZEO, respectively. Expansion of the transduced NS cells in the presence of zeocin gave rise to CNTF-NS and control-NS cell bulk cultures that were exclusively composed of Venus-positive cells. Single cells with the highest expression level of Venus in these bulk cultures were isolated using FACS and clonally expanded. After four rounds of transductions and clonal expansions, cell lines were analyzed by fluorescence microscopy, immunocytochemistry, and Western blot. Analyses confirmed elevated expression levels of CNTF and Venus or the reporter gene in the CNTF-NS or control-NS cell lines, respectively, when compared with the original clonal cell lines. The clones with the highest expression levels of transgenes were selected for further experiments. Immunocytochemical analyses revealed that all cells in the CNTF-NS cell line coexpressed Venus and CNTF (Figs. 1Ba, 1Bb). Control-NS cells were also Venus-positive, but lacked detectable levels of CNTF immunoreactivity (Figs. 1Bc, 1Bd). Immunoblot analyses demonstrated secretion of CNTF into the culture supernatant of the CNTF-NS cell lines, whereas supernatants of control-NS cell clones lacked detectable levels of the cytokine (Fig. 1C). Expression of CNTF in the clonal CNTF-NS cell line was



Focuse 1. Lentiviral vectors and expression of CNTF and Venus in genetically modified clonal NS cell lines. (A) Neural stem cells were transduced with a polycistronic lentiviral vector encoding a secretable variant of mouse CNTF under regulatory control of the human CMV enhancer/chicken βactin (CAG) promoter. The vector additionally encoded a Venus reporter gene and a zeocin (ZEO) resistance gene separated from each other by a P2A sequence (2A) of porcine teschovirus-1 (Aa). The same vector but lacking the CNTF cDNA was used to transduce NS cells for control experiments (Ab). (B) Clonally derived CNTF-NS (Ba, Bb) and control-NS cell lines (Bc, Bd) were generated using EMS and immunostained with

IOV5 | November 2014 | Vol. 55 | No. 11 | 7033

anti-CNTF antibodies. Whereas all cells in the CNTF-NS (Ba) and control-NS cell lines (Bc) expressed Venus, expression of CNTF was detectable only in the CNTF-NS cell clone (Bb); some cells labeled with arrow/weater in Ba and Bb), but not in the control-NS cell clone (Bd). (C) Western blot analyses revealed secretion of CNTF into the supernatant of CNTF-NS cell cultures (CNTF-NS), whereas culture supernatants from control-NS cells (control-NS) lacked detectable levels of the cytokine. Ψ , packaging signal; CPPT, central polypurine tract; IRES, internal ribosome entry site; Lozg recognition site of Cre recombinase; nmCNTL recombinant mouse ciliary neurotrophic factor, RRE, reverseponsive element; SN-LTR, selfinactivating long-terminal repeat; wPRE, Woodchuck hepatitis virus posttranscriptional regulatory element. Scale bor in (Bd) for (Ba-Bd): 25 µm.

detectable by immunocytochemical and immunoblot analyses for more than 30 passages, corresponding to a culture period of approximately 6 months. Furthermore, immunoblot analyses (n= 3) of culture supernatants from this cell line revealed secretion of 87.2 \pm 10.1 ng (mean \pm SEM) CNTF per 10⁵ cells in 24 hours at passage 15. Culture supernatants from passage 34 contained similar quantities of CNTE, indicating stable expression of the cytokine in this clonal cell line.

To analyze expression of CNTF in differentiated neural cell types in vitro, we next differentiated the CNTF-NS and control-NS cell lines into neurons or astrocytes (Fig. 2). Whereas all MAP2-positive neurons derived from CNTF-NS and control-NS cells were positive for Venus, expression of CNTF was detectable only in neurons derived from CNTF-NS cells, but not in neurons derived from control-NS cells (Figs. 2A-F). Similarly, GEAP-positive astrocytes from both CNTF-NS and control-NS cells were positive for Venus, whereas expression of CNTF was detectable only in astrocytes derived from CNTF-NS cells, but not in astrocytes derived from control-NS cells (Figs. 2G-L). Of note, expression of CNTF in cultured astrocytes derived from the CNTF-NS cell line remained detectable for at least 2 months (Fig. 2I), the longest cultivation period analyzed.

Intravitreal Transplantations of CNTF-NS and Control-NS Cells

Intravitreally grafted CNTF-NS (Figs. 3A-D; Supplementary Fig. 51) and control-NS cells (Figs. 3E-H) were identified in the host



Figure 2. Expression of CNTF and Venus in differentiated clonal NS cell lines. CNTF-NS (a-c, g-l) and control-NS cell clones (d-f, j-b) were differentiated into MAP2-positive neurons (a-f) or GFAP-positive astrocytes (g-l). The reporter gene Venus was expressed in all neurons (a, d) and astrocytes (g, j) derived from the CNTF-NS (a, g) and control-NS (d), j) CNTF was detectable only in neurons (c) and astrocytes (l) derived from CNTF-NS cells, but not in neurons (f) and astrocytes (l) derived from control-NS cells. Neurons and astrocytes were analyzed for expression of Venus and CNTF-1 week and 2 months after induction of differentiation, respectively. *Scale bar* in (l) (for a-l): 50 µm.



Figure 3. Neural differentiation and expression of CNTF in intravitreally grafted N8 cell lines. Analyses of eyes 4 months after intravitreal transplantations of CNTF-NS (a-d) and control-NS cell lines (e-h) revealed the presence of Venus-positive donor cells (a, e) that were attached to the posterior poles of the lenses. Virtually all CNTF-NS cells (b) and control-NS cells (f) were differentiated into GFAP-positive astrocytes. Expression of CNTF was detectable in cells derived from CNTF-NS cells (c), but not in cells derived from control-NS cells (g) (d) and (h) are merged images of (a) and (c), and (e) and (g), respectively. Some donor cells coexpressing Venus and CNTF are marked with *white arrows* in (a). (c) and (d), *Scale bar* in (h) (for a-h): 100 µm.

eyes by their expression of the reporter gene Venus (Figs. 5A, 3E; Supplementary Figs. S1A-S1E). Of note, both cell populations survived in the vitreous cavity of the recipient eyes for at least 4 months, the longest posttransplantation interval investigated. Both, CNTF-NS and control-NS cells had formed layers of Venus-positive cells that were either attached to the posterior pole of the leases (Fig. 3: Supplementary Fig. SIA) or to the vitreal surface of the retinas (Supplementary Figs. S1B-E). Evidence for the formation of tumors by the grafted cells, or for integration of Venus-positive donor cells into the host retinas (Supplementary Figs. S1B, S1D, S1E) was not observed. However, we found some small-sized retinal folds in locally restricted regions of the flat-mounted host retinas. These retinal folds were observed in a fraction of animals with grafted CNTF-NS cells, but not in animals with grafted control-NS cells.

Immunostainings of donor cells that were attached to the posterior poles of the lenses revealed that most of the CNTF-NS and control-NS cells were differentiated into GFAP-positive astrocytes (Figs. 3B, 3F). A few CNTF-NS and control-NS cells were differentiated into 8 tubulin-III-positive nerve cells (data not shown). Differentiation of grafted cells into MBP-positive oligodendrocytes was not observed. Importantly, robust expression of CNTF was detectable in astrocytes derived from the grafted CNTF-NS cell clone for at least 4 months after transplantation, the latest posttransplantation time point investigated (Figs. 3C, 3D). Astrocytes derived from the control-NS cell clone, in contrast, lacked detectable expression of the cytokine (Figs. 3G, 3H).

Intravitreally Grafted CNTF-NS Cells Attenuate the Degeneration of Axotomized RGCs

The numbers of RGCs in untreated animals and animals that had received an intraorbital crush of the optic nerve were determined in flat-mounted retinas that were stained with antibodies to Brn-3a, a reliable marker for RGCs.⁵⁸ Quantitative analysis of retinas from untreated animals (n = 6) revealed the presence of 3993.8 \pm 54.4 (mean \pm SEM) RGCs/mm². In animals that received an intraorbital crush of the optic nerve and intravitreal transplantation of control-NS cells, RGC numbers decreased to 189.8 ± 13.5 RGCs/mm², 97.0 ± 12.8 RGCs/mm², 50.2 ± 4.2 RGCs/mm², and 62.7 ± 5.0 RGCs/mm² at 1, 2, 3, and 4 months after the lesion, respectively (n = 6 for)each postlesion interval; Figs. 4E-H, Fig. 5). In animals with intravitreally grafted CNTF-NS cells, in comparison, we detected 529.0 ± 20.9 RGCs/mm2 1 month after the lesion, 429.8 ± 30.7 RGCs/mm2 2 months after the lesion, 320.5 ± 11.5 RGCs/mm2 3 months after the lesion, and 302.7 ± 4.3 RGCs/mm² 4 months after the lesion (n=6 for each postlesion interval; Figs. 4A-D. Fig. 5). CNTF-treated retinas thus contained 2.8-, 4.4-, 6.4-, and 4.8-fold more surviving RGCs than control retinas at the 1-, 2-, 3-, and 4-month postlesion interval, respectively. This difference between RGC numbers in CNTF-treated and control retinas was statistically significant at all postlesion time points analyzed (P < 0.001 according to the Student's Mest; Fig. 5). Anterograde axonal tracing experiments performed in a fraction of animals from the different experimental groups at the different postlesion intervals confirmed complete transections of RGC axons in all lesioned nerves analyzed

To evaluate whether control-NS cells also exerted neuroprotective effects on axotomized RGCs, we additionally compared the number of RGCs between eyes that had received intravitreal grafts of control-NS cells and eyes that had received intravitreal injections of the vehicle solution only. One month after an optic nerve crush, eyes with grafted control-NS cells contained 189.8 \pm 13.5 RGCs/mm⁴, a value not significantly different from that obtained for retinas that received injections of the vehicle (156.2 \pm 23.0 RGCs/mm²; n = 6 for each experimental group).

Regrowth of Axotomized RGC Axons in CNTF-Treated Retinas

Anterograde axonal tracing experiments were performed to analyze whether the sustained cell-based intraocular administration of CNTF had stimulated regrowth of the injured RGC axons. To estimate the extent of axonal regrowth, we determined the distance between the distal margin of the lesion site and the tip of the longest regrown axon in longitudinally sectioned optic nerves from animals with grafted





Figure 4. Intravitreally grafted CNTE-NS cells attenuate degeneration of axotomized retinal ganglion cells in adult mice. Adult mice received intravitreal injections of a CNTE-NS cell clone (a-d) or a control-NS cell clone (e-h) 1 day after an intraorbital optic nerve crush. Analysis of flatmounted retinas 1 (a, e), 2 (b, f), 3 (c, g), and 4 months (d, h) after the lesion revealed the presence of significantly more flen-3a-positive ganglion cells in eyes with grafted CNTE-NS cells (a-d) than in eyes with grafted control-NS cells (e-h) at all postlesion intervals. Scale bar in (h) (for a-h): 100 µm.

control-NS cells and grafted CNTF-NS cells (n = 6 for each experimental group) 1 month after an intraorbital nerve crush (Fig. 6). RGC axons in control animals extended for only short distances (459.3 \pm 47.0 µm (mean \pm SEM); Figs. 6A, 6B, 6D) across the lesion site into the distal optic nerve stump. In CNTF-treated animals, in comparison, axotomized RGC axons regrew for up to 2800 µm across the lesion site into the distal optic nerve stump (2302.7 \pm 162.8 µm; Figs. 6C, 6D, 6E). Axons in the distal optic nerve stump of CNTF-treated animals followed an irregular course (Figs. 6C, 6D), indicating that they corresponded to regrown axons and not to axons that had escaped the nerve crush.

Discussion.

Cell-replacement strategies are among the approaches that are currently being explored to develop therapies for yet



FIGURE 5. Quantitative analysis of the neuroprotective effect of intravitreally grafted CNTF-NS cells on axotomized RGCs. The number of Inn-3a-positive RGCs was determined in eyes with intravitreally grafted CNTF-NS cells (*filled bars*) or control-NS cells (*open bars*) 1, 2, 3, and 4 months after an intraorbital optic nerve crush. Note that the CNTF-treated retinas contained significantly more RGCs than the control retinas at all postlesion intervals. Each *bar* represents the mean number (\pm SEM) of RGCs per mm² from six retinas.⁴⁴⁴P < 0.001 according to the Student's Hest. untreatable degenerative retinal disorders. Recent studies have indeed demonstrated the feasibility to replace dysfunctional or degenerated photoreceptor cells or RPE cells by cell transplantation.^{50–62} However, for retinal disorders characterized by the loss of RGCs, cell-replacement strategies are complicated by the fact that the transplanted cells not only have to integrate as functional RGCs into the host retinas, but additionally have to grow their axons over long distances to project in a topographically appropriate manner to the visual centers of the brain. Current therapeutic strategies for glaucomatous or nonglaucomatous optic neuropathies are therefore primarily aimed at delaying the foss of endogenous RGCs rather than at replacing degenerated RGCs.^{2,3,3,10,13}

Neurotrophic factor deprivation due to impaired axonal transport has been suggested to contribute to the loss of RGCs in glaucomatous optic neuropathies, and neurotrophic factor supplementation has therefore been extensively studied as a potential treatment option for glaucoma. Because neurotrophic factors usually have short half-life times and do not ordinarily cross the blood-retina barrier, robust and long-lasting neuroprotective effects likely depend on a sustained intraocular delivery of these factors. A sustained intraocular supply of neurotrophic factors has been achieved by intravitreal implantations of slow-release devices and viral or nonviral gene transfer to retina cells.^{2,10,11,13} Transplantations of cells that have been genetically modified to overexpress neurotrophic factors represent another strategy to continuously deliver these factors to glaucomatous retinas that has been successfully used in preclinical studies. For instance, intravitreal implants of encapsulated cells engineered to secrete glucagon-like peptide-I have recently been reported to delay degeneration of RGCs in a rat model of optic nerve crush.63 Moreover, intravitreal injections of mesenchymal stem cells lentivirally modified to secrete BDNF resulted in significant attenuation of RGC loss in a rat model of ocular hypertension.64 Furthermore, simultaneous intraocular administration of neurotrophin-3, FGF-2, and BDNF through intravitreal transplantations of transfected fibroblasts has been shown to synergistically promote survival and axonal regrowth of axotomized RGCs in adult rats.65

In the present study, we explored the use of neural stem cells from the embryonic mouse brain as cellular vectors to continuously deliver neurotrophic factors to adult mouse retinas with a lesion-induced degeneration of RGCs. When



From 6. Long-distance regrowth of axotomized RGC axons in CNTF-treated retinas. Retinal gauglion cell axons in eyes with intravitreally gathed control-NS cells (a, b) or CNTF-NS cells (c, d) were anterogradely labeled 1 month after an intraorbital optic nerve crush. Retinal gauglion cell axons in control animals extended only a short distance across the lesion site (*asterisk* in [a]) into the distal optic nerve stump (a), and no regrown axons were present 1 mm distal to the lesion (b). In CNTF-treated retinas, in comparison, numerous axons were grown across the lesion site (*asterisk* in [a]) into the distal nerve stump (a), and no regrown axons (c]) into the distal nerve stump, and some were detectable 1 mm distal to the lesion (*arrows* in [d]). Note the irregular trajectory of the labeled axons (c, d). The length of the longest regrown axon in animals with grafted control-NS cells was $459.3 \pm 47.0 \mu m$ (mean ± 580), compared with 2502.7 $\pm 162.8 \mu m$ in animals with grafted CNTF-NS cells (n = 6 for each experimental group; [e]). Arrows in (e) indicate mean values.

these cells are cultivated under adherent conditions in the presence of EGF and FGF-2, they give rise to cultures consisting of homogeneous populations of symmetrically dividing clonogenic stem cells which, in analogy to embryonic stem cells, have been termed NS cells,51.56 To evaluate the efficacy of an NS cell-based neuroprotective approach in an animal model of optic nerve injury, we took advantage of the potent rescue effects of CNTF on RGCs in various pathological conditions, 19,26:33 and expressed the cytokine in NS cells using polycistronic lentiviral vectors. In a recent study, we analyzed the neuroprotective potential of CNTF-NS cells in Pde6b^{rd1} and Pde6b^{rd10} mutant mice, two animal models of retinitis pigmentosa characterized by an early onset and rapid degeneration of photoreceptor cells." We found that intravitreal transplantations of CNTF-NS cells resulted in significant attenuation of photoreceptor degeneration in both mouse mutants, in line with reports that have demonstrated protective effects of the cytokine on photoreceptor cells in a variety of animal models of inherited or acquired retinal degeneration. 41.66 However, retinas of Pde6Drd1 and Pde6Drd10 mice were analyzed already 18 and 16 days after transplantation of the CNTF-NS cells, respectively.⁴⁹ One major interest of the present study was therefore to evaluate the survival, transgene expression, and neuroprotective effects of the CNTF-NS cells on axotomized RGCs in long-term experiments

To this aim, we first increased the expression level of CNTF in a previously established clonal CNTF-NS line*9 by repeated transductions and subsequent clonal expansions of NS cells with the strongest expression of the reporter gene. After several rounds of transductions and clonal expansions, a clonal cell line with high expression levels of CNTF was selected for all further experiments. When this cell line was differentiated into astrocytes in vitro, the glial cells stably expressed the reporter gene and the cytokine for at least 2 months, the longest cultivation period evaluated. More importantly, grafted NS cells survived for at least 4 months in the vitreous cavity of the recipient eyes. Here, the Venus-positive donor cells formed dense cell layers that were attached to the posterior pole of the lenses or the vitreal surface of the retinas. Integration of donor cells into the host retinas was not observed. In addition, there was no evidence for ongoing proliferation of the grafted cells,

in line with our previous findings that the proliferation marker Ki-67 was expressed in only less than 4% and 2% of the donor cells 8 and 16 days after intravitreal transplantations of NS cells into *Pde6b^{nd1}* and *Pde6b^{nd10}* mice, respectively.⁴⁰ Furthermore, we found some small-sized and locally restricted retinal folds in a fraction of eyes with grafted CNTF-NS cells. Retinal folds also have been described in dystrophic and normal retinas of cats that had received repeated intravitreal injections of the human CNTF analogue axokine.⁶⁷ Formation of retinal folds thus appears to be among the complications associated with the intraocular delivery of CNTE⁶⁷⁻⁷¹ provided the cytokine is administered in high amounts and over an extended period of time.

The vast majority of grafted CNTF-NS cells were differentiated into astrocytes that still expressed CNTF 4 months after transplantation. Astrocytes derived from control-NS cells, in contrast, lacked detectable expression levels of the cytokine. Of note, sustained expression of the cytokine in eyes with CNTF-NS cell-derived astrocytes correlated with a significant attenuation of RGC loss, as demonstrated by the presence of 2.8, 4.4, 6.4, and 4.8-fold more surviving RGCs in CNTFtreated retinas than in control retinas at the 1-, 2-, 3-, and 4month postlesion intervals, respectively. Although protection of axotomized RGCs by the CNTF-NS cell grafts was transient and degeneration of RGCs progressed also in CNTF-treated eyes, we consider it remarkable that the NS cell-based intraocular delivery of CNTF attenuated RGC loss over an extended period. Given that intraorbital optic nerve lesions induce a rapid apoptotic degeneration of RGCs,72 it will be interesting to evaluate the neuroprotective potential of the clonal CNTF-NS cell line in animal models of ocular hypertension that more closely mimic the slowly progressing RGC loss in human glaucoma patients.73

In addition to protecting RGCs from degeneration, CNTF has been shown to promote regrowth of injured RGC axons.^{26,35,37,36} In line with these studies, we observed longdistance regeneration of lesioned RGC axons in eyes with grafted CNTF-NS cells. One month after the crush, some axons in CNTF-treated eyes were regrown for more than 2 mm into the distal nerve stump, whereas axons in eyes with grafted control-NS cells extended for only approximately 0.5 mm into

the distal nerve stump. These data further confirm sustained delivery of functionally relevant quantities of the cytokine from the intravitreally located CNTF-secreting donor cells to the adult murine retina.

Recent transplantation studies have identified a variety of cell types that exert neuroprotective effects on RGCs without prior genetic modification, including Schwann cells, olfactory ensheathing cells, oligodendrocyte precursor cells, and mesenchymal stem cells.^{40,70} Although the precise mechanisms by which these cell types rescued RGCs from degeneration are largely unknown, the neuroprotective effects have usually been attributed to the secretion of endogenously expressed neurotrophic factors and/or to immune modulatory effects of the grafted cell types. To analyze whether nonmodified NS cells also exert neuroprotective effects on RGCs, we deter mined the number of RGCs in animals that had received intravitreal injections of control-NS cells or the vehicle only, and found similar numbers of surviving RGCs in both experimental groups 1 month after the nerve crush.

In summary, we have shown that an intravitreally grafted CNTF-secreting clonal N8 cell line survived in the vitreous cavity of the host cyes and significantly attenuated a lesioninduced degeneration of RGCs over a period of 4 months, the longest posttransplantation time period analyzed. Furthermore, we also demonstrated that the grafted NS cells promoted long-distance regrowth of intraorbitally lesioned RGC axons in adult mice. The combined data suggest that genetically modified clonal NS cell lines may represent a useful too for preclinical studies aimed at evaluating the therapeutic potential of a sustained cell-based intraocular administration of neuroprotective factors in mouse models of optic nerve injury or other retinal disorders characterized by a loss of RGCs.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Elke Becker, Sabine Helbing, Stephen Peters, and Stefanie Schlichting for excellent technical assistance. The authors also thank the FACS-Core Unit and the microscopy and imaging facility of the University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf for technical support, and to Ali Derin and Susanne Conrad for animal care.

Supported by the Stiftung Dr. Lisclotte and Dr. Karl-Robert Brauns Foundation (Hamburg) (UB).

Disclosare: K. Flachsbarth, None; K. Kruszewski, None; G. Jung, None; W. Jankowiak, None; K. Riecken, None; L. Wagenfeld, None; G. Richard, None; B. Fehse, None; U. Bartsch, None

References

- Quigley HA, Broman AT. The number of people with glaucoma worldwide in 2010 and 2020. Br J Ophthalmol. 2006;90:262-267.
- Almasich M, Wilson AM, Morquette B, Cueva Vargas JL, Di Polo A. The molecular basis of retinal ganglion cell death in glaucoma. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2012;31:152-181.
- Qu J, Wang D. Grosskreutz CL. Mechanisms of retinal ganglion cell injury and defense in glaucoma. *Exp Eye Res.* 2010;91:48– 53.
- Agarwal R, Gupta SK, Agarwal P. Saxena R, Agrawal SS. Current concepts in the pathophysiology of glaucoma. *Indian J* Ophthalmiol. 2009;57:257-266.
- Pascale A, Drago F, Govoni S. Protecting the retinal neurons from glaucoma: lowering ocular pressure is not enough. *Pharmacol Res.* 2012;66:19–32.
- Caprioli J. Neuroprotection of the optic nerve in glaucoma. Acta Ophthalmol Scand. 1997;75:364-367.

IOV5 | November 2014 | Vol. 55 | No. 11 | 7037

- Leske MC, Heijl A, Hussein M, et al. Factors for glaucoma progression and the effect of treatment: the Early Manifest Glaucoma Trial. Arcb Ophthalmol. 2003;121:48–56.
- Pease ME, McKinnon SJ, Quigley HA, Kerrigan-Baumrind LA, Zack DJ. Obstructed axonal transport of BDNF and its receptor TrkB in experimental glaucoma. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2000;41:764–774.
- Quigley HA, McKinnon SJ, Zack DJ, et al. Retrograde axonal transport of BDNF in retinal ganglion cells is blocked by acute IOP elevation in rats. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2000;41: 3460–3466.
- Harvey AR, Hu Y, Leaver SG, et al. Gene therapy and transplantation in CNS repair: the visual system. *Prog Retin Fyw Res.* 2006;25:449–489.
- Johnson TV, Bull ND, Martin KR. Neurotrophic factor delivery as a protective treatment for glaucoma. *Exp Eye Res.* 2011;95: 196–203.
- Lebrun-Julien F, Di Polo A. Molecular and cell-based approaches for neuroprotection in glaucoma. *Option Vis Sci.* 2008;85: 417–424.
- Wilson AM, Di Polo A. Gene therapy for retinal ganglion cell neuroprotection in glaucoma. Gene Ther. 2012;19:127–136.
- Di Polo A, Aigner LJ, Dunn RJ, Ilray GM, Aguayo AJ. Prolonged delivery of brain-derived neurotrophic factor by adenovirusinfected Muller cells temporarily rescues injured retinal ganglion cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998;95:3978-3983.
- Isenmann S, Klocker N, Gravel C, Bahr M. Short communication: protection of axoromized retinal ganglion cells by adenovirally delivered BDNF in vivo. *Eur J Neurosci*, 1998, 10:2751–2756.
- Klocker N, Braunling F, Isenmann S, Bahr M. In vivo neurotrophic effects of GDNF on axotomized retinal ganglion cells. *Neuroreport*. 1997;8:3439–3442.
- Koeberle PD, Ball AK. Neurturin enhances the survival of axotomized retinal ganglion cells in vivo: combined effects with glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor and brainderived neurotrophic factor. *Neuroscience*. 2002;110:555– 567.
- Mansour-Robaey S, Clarke DB, Wang YC, Bray GM, Aguayo AJ. Effects of ocular injury and administration of brain-derived neurotrophic factor on survival and regrowth of axotomized retinal ganglion cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* 1994;91:1652– 1636.
- Mey J, Thanos S. Intravitreal injections of neurotrophic factors support the survival of axotomized retinal ganglion cells in adult rats in vivo. Brain Res. 1995;602:304–317.
- Yan Q, Wang J, Matheson CR, Urich JL. Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) promotes the survival of axotomized retinal ganglion cells in adult rats: comparison to and combination with brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). J Neurobiol. 1999;58:582–590.
- Fu QL, Hu B, Li X, et al. LINGO-1 negatively regulates TrkB phosphorylation after ocular hypertension. *Eur J Neurosci*. 2010;31:1091–1097.
- Jiang C, Moore MJ, Zhang X, Klassen H, Langer R, Young M. Intravitreal injections of GDNF-loaded biodegradable microspheres are neuroprotective in a rat model of glaucoma. *Mol Vis.* 2007;13:1783-1792.
- Ko ML, Hu DN, Ritch R, Sharma SC. The combined effect of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and a free radical scavenger in experimental glaucoma. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2000; 41:2967–2971.
- Martin KR, Quigley HA, Zack DJ, et al. Gene therapy with brain-derived neurotrophic factor as a protection: retinal ganglion cells in a rat glaucoma model. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2003;44:4357–4365.
- NS Cell-Based Intraocular Administration of CNTF
- Bauer S, Kerr BJ, Patterson PH. The neuropoietic cytokine family in development, plasticity, disease and injury. Nat Rev. Neurosci. 2007;8:221–232.
- Hellstrom M, Pollett MA, Harvey AR. Post-injury delivery of rAAV2-CNTF combined with short-term pharmacotherapy is neuroprotective and promotes extensive axonal regeneration after optic nerve trauma. J Neurotrauma. 2011;28:2475– 2483.
- Ji JZ, Elyaman W, Yip HK, et al. CNTF promotes survival of retinal ganglion cells after induction of ocular hypertension in rats: the possible involvement of STAT3 pathway. Eur J Neurosci. 2004;19:265–272.
- MacLaren RE, Buch PK, Smith AJ, et al. CNTF gene transfer protects ganglion cells in rat retinae undergoing focal injury and branch vessel occlusion. *Exp. Fyv. Res.* 2006;83:1118– 1127.
- Maier K, Rau CR, Storch MK, et al. Ciliary neurotrophic factor protects retinal ganglion cells from secondary cell death during acute autoimmune optic neuritis in rats. *Beatin Patbol*. 2004;14:378–387.
- Parrilla-Reverter G, Agado M, Sohrado-Calvo P, Salinas-Navarro M, Villegas-Perez MP, Vidal-Sanz M. Effects of different neurotrophic factors on the survival of retinal ganglion cells after a complete intraorbital nerve crush injury: a quantitative in vivo study. *Exp. Eye. Res.* 2009;89:32–41.
- Pease ME, Zack DJ, Berlinicke C, et al. Effect of CNTF on retinal gaugiton cell survival in experimental glaucoma. *Invest* Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2009;50:2194–2200.
- van Adel BA, Kostic C, Deglon N, Ball AK, Arsenijevic Y. Delivery of ciliary neurotrophic factor via lentiviral-mediated transfer protects axotomized retinal ganglion cells for an extended period of time. *Hum Gene Ther.* 2005;14:103–115.
- 33. Weise J, Isenmann S, Klocker N, et al. Adenovirus-mediated expression of ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) rescues axotomized rat retinal ganglion cells but does not support axonal regeneration in vivo. *Neurobiol Dis.* 2000;7:212–225.
- Cui Q, Yip HK, Zhao RC, So KE Harvey AR. Intraocular elevation of cyclic AMP potentiates elliary neurotrophic factorinduced regeneration of adult rat retinal ganglion cell axons. *Mol Cell Neurosci*, 2005;22:49-61.
- Leaver SG, Cui Q, Plant GW, et al. AAV-mediated expression of CNTF promotes long-term survival and regeneration of adult rat retinal ganglion cells. *Gene Ther.* 2006;13:1328–1341.
- Lingor P, Tonges L, Pieper N, et al. ROCK inhibition and CNTF interact on intrinsic signalling pathways and differentially regulate survival and regeneration in retinal ganglion cells. *Bruin*, 2008;131:250–263.
- Muller A, Hauk TG, Leibinger M, Marienfeld R, Fischer D. Exogenous CNTF stimulates axon regeneration of retinal ganglion cells partially via endogenous CNTE. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* 2009;41:233–246.
- Pernet V, Joly S, Dalkara D, et al. Long-distance axonal regeneration induced by CNTF gene transfer is impaired by axonal misguidance in the injured adult optic nerve. *Neurobiol Dis.* 2013;51:202-213.
- Dittrich F. Thoenen H. Sendtner M. Ciliary neurotrophic factor: pharmacokinetics and acute-phase response in rat. Ann Neurol. 1994;35:151–163.
- Johnson TV, Martin KR. Cell transplantation approaches to retinal gaugiton cell neuroprotection in glaucoma. *Curr Optin Pharmacol.* 2015;13:78–82.
- Wen R, Tao W, Li Y, Sieving PA. CNTF and retina. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2012;51:136–151.
- Tao W Application of encapsulated cell technology for retinal degenerative diseases. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2006;6:717-726.

IOV5 | November 2014 | Vol. 55 | No. 11 | 7038

- Thanos C, Emerich D. Delivery of neurotrophic factors and therapeutic proteins for retinal diseases. *Expert Opin Biol Ther.* 2005;5:1443–1452.
- Birch DG, Weleber RG, Duncan JL, Jaffe GJ, Tao W. Ciliary Neurotrophic Factor Retinitis Pigmentosa Study G. Randomized trial of ciliary neurotrophic factor delivered by encapsulated cell intraocular implants for retinitis pigmentosa. Am J Ophthalmol. 2013;156:283–292;e1.
- Kauper K, McGovern C, Sherman S, et al. Two-year intraocular delivery of ciliary neurotrophic factor by encapsulated cell technology implants in patients with chronic retinal degenerative diseases. *Invest Ophtbalmol Vis Sci.* 2012;53:7484–7491.
- Sieving PA, Caruso RC, Tao W, et al. Ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) for human retinal degeneration: phase 1 trial of CNTF delivered by encapsulated cell intraocular implants. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006;103:5896-5901.
- Talcott KE, Ratnam K, Sundquist SM, et al. Longitudinal study of cone photoreceptors during retinal degeneration and in response to cillary neurotrophic factor treatment. *Invest* Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2011;52:2219–2226.
- Zhang K, Hopkins JJ, Heier JS, et al. Ciliary neurotrophic factor delivered by encapsulated cell intraocular implants for treatment of geographic atrophy in age-related macular degeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2011;108:6241-6245.
- Jung G, Sun J, Petrowitz B, et al. Genetically modified neural stem cells for a local and sustained delivery of neuroprotective factors to the dystrophic mouse retina. *Stem Cells Transl Med.* 2013;2:1001–1010.
- Weber K, Mock U, Penowitz B, Bartsch U, Fehse B. Lentiviral gene ontology (LeGO) vectors equipped with novel drugselectable fluorescent proteins: new building blocks for cell marking and multi-gene analysis. *Gene Ther.* 2010;17:511–520.
- Conti L, Pollard SM, Gorba T, et al. Niche-independent symmetrical self-renewal of a mammalian tissue stem cell. *PLoS Biol.* 2005;3:e283.
- Bartsch U, Bartsch S, Dorries U, Schachner M. Immunohistological localization of tenascin in the developing and lesioned adult mouse optic nerve. *Eur J Neurosci*, 1992;4:338-352.
- Bartsch U, Bandtlow CE, Schnell L, et al. Lack of evidence that myclin-associated glycoprotein is a major inhibitor of axonal regeneration in the CNS. *Neuron*, 1995;15:1375–1381.
- Pressmar S, Ader M, Richard G, Schachner M, Bartsch U. The fate of beterotopically grafted neural precursor cells in the normal and dystrophic adult mouse retina. *Invest Ophtbalmol Vis Sci.* 2001;42:3311–3319.
- Halfter W. Anterograde tracing of retinal axons in the avian embryo with low molecular weight derivatives of biotin. *Dev Biol.* 1987;119:322–355.
- Pollard SM, Conti L, Sun Y, Goffredo D, Smith A. Adherent neural stem (NS) cells from fetal and adult forebrain. *Cereb Cortex*, 2006;16:112–120.
- Weber K, Bartsch U, Stocking C, Fehse B. A multicolor panel of novel lentiviral "gene ontology" (LeGO) vectors for functional gene analysis. *Mol Ther.* 2008;16:698–706.
- Nadal-Nicolas FM, Jimencz-Lopez M, Sobrado-Calvo P, et al. Brn5a as a marker of retinal ganglion cells: qualitative and quantitative time course studies in naive and optic nerveinjured retinas. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2009;50:3860– 3868.
- Borooah S, Phillips MJ, Bilican B, et al. Using human induced pluripotent stem cells to treat retinal disease. *Prog Retin Eye Res.* 2013;37:163–181.
- Ramsden CM, Powner MB, Carr AJ, Smart MJ, da Cruz L, Coffey PJ. Stem cells in retinal regeneration: past, present and future. *Development*. 2013;140:2576–2585.

- NS Cell-Based Intraocular Administration of CNTF
- Rowland TJ, Buchholz DE, Glegg DO. Pluripotent human stem cells for the treatment of retinal disease. J Coll Physiol. 2012; 227:457–466.
- West EL, Pearson RA, MacLaren RE, Sowden JC, Ali RR. Cell transplantation strategies for retinal repair. Prog Brain Res. 2009;175:3–21.
- Zhang R, Zhang H, Xu L, Ma K, Wallrapp C, Jonas JB. Neuroprotective effect of intravitreal cell-based glucagon-like peptide-1 production in the optic nerve crush model. *Acta Opbtbalmod.* 2011;89:e320–326.
- Harper MM, Grozdanic SD, Blits B, et al. Transplantation of BDNF-secreting mesenchymal stem cells provides neuroprotection in chronically hypertensive rat cyes. *Invest Ophthal*mol Vis Sci. 2011;52:4506-4515.
- Logan A, Ahmed Z, Baird A, Gonzalez AM, Berry M, Neurotrophic factor synergy is required for neuronal survival and disinhibited axon regeneration after CNS injury. *Brain*. 2006;129:490–502.
- Wenzel A, Grimm C, Samardzija M, Reme CE. Molecular mechanisms of light-induced photoreceptor apoptosis and neuroprotection for retinal degeneration. *Prog Retin Eye Res*. 2005;24:275–306.
- Chong NH, Alexander RA, Waters L, Barnett KC, Bird AC, Liathert PJ. Repeated injections of a ciliary neurotrophic factor analogue leading to long-term photoreceptor survival in hereditary retinal degeneration. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 1999;40:1298–1305.

IOV5 | November 2014 | Vol. 55 | No. 11 | 7039

- Wen R, Song Y, Kjellstrom S, et al. Regulation of rod phototransduction machinery by ciliary neurotrophic factor. *J Neurosci*, 2006;26:13523–13530.
- Schlichtenbrede FC, MacNeil A, Bainbridge JW, et al. Intraocular gene delivery of ciliary neurotrophic factor results in significant loss of retinal function in normal mice and in the Prph2Rd2/Rd2 model of retinal degeneration. *Gene Ther.* 2003;10:523–527.
- Liang FQ, Aleman TS, Dejneka NS, et al. Long-term protection of retinal structure but not function using RAAV.CNTF in animal models of retinitis pigmentosa. *Mol Ther.* 2001;4:461–472.
- Rhee KD, Ruiz A, Duncan JL, et al. Molecular and cellular alterations induced by sustained expression of ciliary neurotrophic factor in a mouse model of retinitis pigmentosa. *Invest* Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2007;48:1589–1400.
- Berkelaar M, Clarke DB, Wang YC, Bray GM, Aguayo AJ. Axotomy results in delayed death and apoptosis of retinal ganglion cells in adult rats. *J Neurosci.* 1994;14:4568–4374.
- Johnson TV, Tomarcv SI. Rodent models of glaucoma. Brain Rev Bull. 2010;81:549–358.
- McKinnon SJ, Schlamp CL, Nickells RW. Mouse models of retinal ganglion cell death and glaucoma. *Exp Eje Res.* 2009; 88:816–824.
- Pang IH, Clark AF Rodent models for glaucoma retinopathy and optic neuropathy. J Glaucoma. 2007;16:483–505.
- Bull ND, Martin KR. Concise review: toward stem cell-based therapies for retinal neurodegenerative diseases. *Stem Cells*. 2011;29:1170-1175.

Declaration on oath

I hereby declare, on oath, that I have written the present dissertation by my own and have not used other than the acknowledged resources and aid.

Hamburg, 30.09.2015 City and date

K Kuse Li

Signature